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DiscLAimER

This annual report has been prepared based 
on the information available to the Open Joint 
Stock Company Mining and Metallurgical 
Company Norilsk Nickel (hereinafter, MMC 
Norilsk Nickel or the Company) and its 
subsidiaries (hereinafter, Norilsk Nickel or the 
Group) as at the issue date.

This annual report includes certain 
projection statements with respect to the 
Group’s operations, economic indicators, 
financial position, results of operating and 
production activities, its plans, projects 
and expected results, as well as the trends 
related to commodity prices, production 
and consumption volumes, costs, estimated 
expenses, development prospects, useful 
lives of assets, reserve estimates and other 
similar factors and economic projections with 
respect to the industry and markets, starting 
and completion dates of certain geological 
exploration and production projects, and 
liquidation or disposal of certain entities 
(including related costs). 

Words such as “intends”, “strives”, “projects”, 
“expects”, “estimates”, “plans”, “considers”, 
“assumes”, “may”, “should”, “will”, “continues” 
and other words with similar meanings 
usually indicate the projection nature of the 
statement. 

These projection statements, due to their 
specific nature, involve inherent risks and 
uncertainty, and there is a risk that the 
assumptions, expectations, intentions and 
other projection statements may never 
come to life. In the light of the above risks, 
uncertainties and assumptions, the Company 
notifies that the actual results may differ 
significantly from the indicated, directly or 
indirectly, in the said projection statements 
that are effective only at the date of this annual 
report. 

The Company neither confirms nor guarantees 
that the results indicated in these projection 
statements will be achieved. Norilsk Nickel 
accepts no responsibility for any losses that 
may be incurred by any individual or legal 
entity by their reliance on the projection 

statements. Each particular projection 
statement represents one of the numerous 
developments scenarios and should not be 
treated as the most probable one. 

In particular, other factors that may affect the 
starting date of construction or production, 
estimated expenses and volume of production, 
useful lives of assets include the possibility 
of deriving profit from production, the effect 
of exchange rate changes on commodity 
prices of the goods produced, activities of 
the government authorities in the Russian 
Federation and other jurisdictions where the 
Group explores, develops or uses the assets, 
including changes in tax, environmental 
and other laws and regulations. This list of 
significant factors is not exhaustive. When 
considering projection statements, the 
above factors should be carefully considered 
and taken into account, in particular, the 
economic, social and legal obligations of the 
Group’s activities. 

Except for cases directly provided for by 
the applicable laws, the Company does 
not assume any obligations to publish 
updates and amendments to the projection 
statements, based on either new information 
or subsequent events. 
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cORPORATE OvERviEw

Norilsk Nickel is the world’s largest producer 
of nickel and palladium and one of the leading 
producers of platinum and copper. It also 
produces various by-products, such as cobalt, 
chromium, rhodium, silver, gold, iridium, 
ruthenium, selenium, tellurium and sulfur.

The Group is involved in prospecting, 
exploration, extraction, refining and 
metallurgical processing of minerals, as well 
as in production, marketing and sale of base 
and precious metals.

Norilsk Nickel’s production facilities are 
located on four continents and in six countries: 
Russia, Australia, Botswana, Finland, the 
United States of America and South Africa.

The main Russian production units are 
vertically integrated and include:

the Polar Division (“the Taimyr 
Peninsula”); 
the Kola Mining and Metallurgical 
Company (“Kola MMC” or “the Kola 
Peninsula”).  

The Polar Division is located above the 
Polar Circle on the Taimyr Peninsula in 
the Krasnoyarsky Region. Its entities are 
connected to other regions of the country, via 
the Yenisei river and the Northern Sea Route, 
as well as by air. Kola MMC is located on the 
Kola Peninsula, which is the largest industrial 
producer in the Murmansk region, and is fully 
integrated into the transport infrastructure of 
the Northwest Federal District of the Russian 
Federation.

In Australia, Norilsk Nickel owns:

Norilsk Nickel Cawse, a laterite nickel 
ore production and leaching facility;
Black Swan, Lake Johnston and 
Waterloo, all sulfide nickel producers;
Honeymoon Well, a major sulfide nickel 
ore exploration project.  

In Botswana, Norilsk Nickel holds an 8�% 
interest in Tati Nickel Mining Company, a 
sulfide nickel producer.

•

•

•

•

•

The Group owns Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta, the 
only nickel refining plant in Finland.

Norilsk Nickel is the major shareholder of 
Stillwater Mining Company, the leading 
producer of platinum group metals (PGMs) in 
the United States of America.

In South Africa, the Group holds a �0% interest 
in the Nkomati nickel mine, a joint venture with 
African Rainbow Minerals (ARM).

The Group also includes:

the Gipronickel Institute, a research and 
development facility located in Saint 
Petersburg, with branches in the cities of 
Norilsk and Monchegorsk;
Norilsk Process Technology, a research 
and development facility in Australia. 

Norilsk Nickel has its own global network of 
representative and sales offices in Russia, the 
UK, China, USA and Switzerland.

In Russia, the Company’s shares are traded 
on the Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange 
(MICEX) and the Russian Trading System 
(RTS). The ADRs of the Company’s shares 
are traded over-the-counter (OTC) in the 
United States, on the electronic International 
Order Book Unlisted section of the London 
Stock Exchange and on the Freiverkehr 
(OTC-section) of the Berlin-Bremen Stock 
Exchange. As a result of the share split, the 
Company’s shares convert into ADRs at a 
ratio 1:10 effective since February 19, 2008.

When determining the strategy for its global 
operations and future development, Norilsk 
Nickel is focused on compliance with all social 
and environmental responsibility principles 
in the various countries in which it operates, 
which is essential for ensuring sustainable 
and efficient business development.

•

•
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Pittsburgh

Stillwater Mining Company (53.5%)
Largest PGM producer outside  
of Russia & South Africa

NORiLsk NickEL’s mAiN AssETs

Production assets

Scientific research centers 

Global distribution network
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Zug

London

Beijing

Shanghai

Hong Kong

Gipronickel Scientific 
Research Institute

Norilsk Process 
Technology

Nkomati Nickel (50%)
Ni concentrate and chrome ore

Tati Nickel (85%)
Ni concentrate

Cawse, Black Swan and Lake Johnston
on care and maintenance

NN Harjavalta
Ni refining factory, capacity of  
60 thousand tonnes per year

Kola MMC
Production Ni/Cu/PGM

Polar Division
Production Ni/Cu/PGM
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AwARDs AND AchiEvEmENTs

GOvERNmENT RELATiONs

In March 2008, members of Norilsk Nickel’s 
“government relations” team were recognized 
as the best in Russia’s metals and mining sec-
tor by the “Center for Studying Business and 
Government Relations” (www.lobbying.ru).

Last year, the center called the rating “The 
Most Effective Government Relations Spe-
cialists in Russia”.

When compiling the rating, particular atten-
tion was paid to a company’s ability to work 
effectively with government and to create a 
positive image, to maintain a dialogue with 
other sector players, as well as to coordinate 
the work of other subdivisions during their in-
teraction with state bodies. 

sOciAL PARTNERshiP

In April 2008, Norilsk Nickel won the interna-
tional “Social Partnership” prize at the 20th ju-
bilee award ceremony in Bern, Switzerland.

The prize is awarded for major services ren-
dered in applying international standards of 
social partnership and for applying levels of 
social responsibility in business practice, in 
compliance with the standards of corporate 
social responsibility, the GRI and AA 1000 
parameters.

The competition was organized by the “Euro-
pean Social Commission of the Expert Coun-
cil of the Institute for European Integration”. 
The commission is an international body that 
possesses the right of first instance to deliver 
verdicts on candidates for international quality 
and management awards. It includes recog-
nized leaders in international economic, po-
litical and social cooperation in the European 
Union, and features experts from Germany, 
France, Russia and Switzerland.

iT LEADER

Last spring, Norilsk Nickel won the “Base 
Metals Company” nomination in the annual IT 
Leader award.

The main criteria were innovation, various 
professional accomplishments and qualities 
of IT employees.

The winners are organizations that show a 
systematic approach to IT, are geographically 
diversified, carry out socially important proj-
ects, and are prepared to share experience 
for IT projects.

Entrants are selected by a panel of experts 
who include heads of Russian offices of the 
world’s leading IT companies, representatives 
of major media organizations, and managers 
from large consulting companies.

EUROPEAN LEADER iN iR

In May 2008, the Norilsk Nickel’s “investor 
relations” team was recognized by the “Insti-
tutional Investor” as the best in the European 
metals sector. The survey comprised over 
1,�00 analysts, including both buy and sell 
parties. The Company was the only Russian 
amongst the ten winning names in the sector. 
The survey covered over �2 sectors.

The “Institutional Investor” is a leading interna-
tional business publication, whose main read-
ership consists of people working in finance 
as well as top managers of large companies. 
It regularly conducts various surveys of busi-
ness people and politicians and publishes the 
results, which are used as benchmarks in the 
international business community.

sOciAL REPORTiNG

In June 2008, Norilsk Nickel received a cer-
tificate from the “International Labor Orga-
nization” for its social reporting at a seminar 
named “Strategy for Stable Development and 
Corporate Social Responsibility: Best World 
Practices”. This forms part of the 9�th Interna-
tional Labor Conference in Geneva.

The seminar looked at how business, govern-
ment and society work together when resolv-
ing key social development matters, as well as 
social reporting, as an instrument for imple-
menting stable business strategies.
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The organizers of the seminar were: the “Rus-
sian Managers’ Association”, the “Russian 
Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs” 
(Russian acronym: RSPP), the “Coordinat-
ing Council of Employers’ Unions of Russia” 
(Russian acronym: KSORR), the “Internation-
al Labor Organization and the International 
Organization of Employers”.

ONE Of ThE TOP ThREE cORPORATE wEB siTEs iN 
RUssiA

Last year, Norilsk Nickel’s website was rec-
ognized as one of the top three corporate 
websites amongst Russian companies in a 
rating carried out by the European consult-
ing company Hallvarsson & Halvarsson (www.
webranking.eu).

The prize was awarded following the renewed 
website, which was launched in March 2008. 
It has more sections devoted to the Compa-
ny’s core businesses, more defined struc-
ture, and more stylish design. The decision to 
update the site was motivated by the desire 
to comply with the highest corporate gover-
nance standards and by the Company’s inter-
national status.

BEsT cORPORATE mEDiA

In April 2008, Norilsk Nickel’s corporate 
magazine (published by “Media Platform”, an 
affiliated media holding) won the “In-House 
Publication – Magazine” nomination in the 
“National Best Corporate Media 2008” com-
petition.

The competition was organized by the “Rus-
sian Association of Corporate Media” as part 
of an annual international conference entitled 
“The Role of Corporate Communication and 
Media in a Company’s Strategic Manage-
ment”, the �th of its kind. More than 1�0 com-
panies took part.

In the Company’s official corporate publica-
tion, the magazine talks about employees, 
partners and events in the metals sector, both 
in Russia and abroad. The primary goal is to 
show the role of people in management and 

technological processes in one of the world’s 
largest mining and metallurgical companies, 
as well as to report on the main events in the 
regions in which Norilsk Nickel operates.

BEsT PRAcTicE iN PREPARiNG ANNUAL REPORTs

Last year, Norilsk Nickel won the “Best Prac-
tice in Preparing Annual Reports of the De-
cade – 200�” nomination for non-financial 
companies in the 10th annual Expert RA 
awards. More than 2�� reports from Russian 
and international companies were consid-
ered.

Meanwhile, Norilsk Nickel won the “Best An-
nual Report – Metallurgy” category in the 11th 
annual Federal Annual Report Competition, 
which is organized by MICEX, the Ministry of 
Economic Development and Trade, and the 
“Securities Market” magazine.

RTS, which also hosted the 11th annual Fed-
eral Annual Report Competition, named No-
rilsk Nickel as the winner of the “Best Informa-
tion Disclosure in the Annual Report among 
Companies with a Capitalization of over 100 
Million Rubles” category. RTS also awarded 
the Company the “Greatest Contribution 
to the Growth of the RTS in 200�” prize, an 
achievement that earned Norilsk Nickel a 
place in the index’ record books. 
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LETTER fROm ThE chAiRmAN Of ThE BOARD  
Of DiREcTORs ALExANDER vOLOshiN

DEAR shAREhOLDERs,

The year 2008 will be remembered for its chal-
lenges, sharp changes and failed optimistic 
forecasts. However, this year also provided 
evidence of solid positions of Norilsk Nickel, 
of its scale and influence on the world mining 
and metals industry.

On December 2�, 2008, the Extraordinary 
General Meeting of Shareholders elected 
new enlarged Board of Directors, consisting 
of 1� directors. The first few months of opera-
tion of new Board have proved the willingness 
of the directors to work in a constructive man-
ner, to have open discussions on strategic 
issues and to interact closely with manage-
ment of the Company. As a result, the Board 
managed to approve a balanced and realistic 
budget for 2009, on a common approach with 
respect to the Company’s non-core energy 
assets was forged, and the quality of corpo-
rate governance has been improving.

The management of the Company has under-
taken and continues to undertake significant 
efforts to lower costs of metals produced by 
Norilsk Nickel, to increase the transparency 
and efficiency of cash flows, to create addi-
tional shareholder value, as well as to solve 
social issues. Moreover the Company has 
been successfully interacting with the state 
and is continuing to fulfil all social commit-
ments towards employees and local commu-
nities, where it operates.

We appreciate the trust and help placed with 
us by both large owners – strategic investors 
and minority shareholders. New Board of Di-
rectors will continue to adhere to principles 
of constructive cooperation and working for 
prosperity of Norilsk Nickel during these chal-
lenging times. 

chAiRmAN Of ThE BOARD Of DiREcTORs 
ALExANDER vOLOshiN 
26 mAy 2009
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The main goal of the Board in 2009 is to ensure the stability of the 
company and to create conditions for successful recovery from the 
current economic crisis. The efficiency of the Board will largely depend 
upon safeguarding interests of all groups of shareholders and further 
enhancement of the corporate governance.
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LETTER fROm ThE GENERAL DiREcTOR AND chAiRmAN Of 
ThE mANAGEmENT BOARD vLADimiR sTRzhALkOvsky

DEAR shAREhOLDERs,

Last year was a serious test for the economy 
both globally and in Russia. This was not dif-
ferent for Norilsk Nickel, the country’s largest 
producer of base and precious metals. The 
first consequence of this crisis was a decline 
in demand. Global production of nickel and 
copper, the Company’s main products, sub-
stantially exceeded consumption, resulting in 
plummeted prices in 2008 (prices more than 
halved). 

Last year was characterized by major chan-
ges in Norilsk Nickel’s ownership structure 
and the formation of new management team, 
one that currently operates in difficult con-
ditions. Management intends to work in the 
interests of all shareholders and of the Com-
pany as a whole. Norilsk Nickel has undeni-
ably shown considerable resilience and is in 
a better position, than many other industrial 
companies. Our entities are amongst the 
lowest-cost nickel producers in the world, 
and our unique ore base gives us a major 
competitive advantage. 

Another key point is the existing high level of 
trust between Norilsk Nickel and the govern-
ment. While for a national champion this is 
always an important point, in times of crisis, 
this is vital. I would like to emphasize, how-
ever, that we have not requested any direct 
financial assistance from the state. We do not 
intend to rely on the state to solve problems 
that the Company could and should solve it-
self. We are pushing forward proposals that 
are making our products more competitive on 
the world markets. Constructive cooperation 
at the state level will continue.

The 2009-budget is effectively an anti-crisis 
action plan. It includes the following:

optimization of output, reduction of 
production costs and ensuring greater 
production stability;
making investment plans more effective 
and increasing personal responsibility;
ensuring an efficient sales system;
ensuring tight control of purchases;

•

•

•
•

making management more efficient, 
boosting productivity and ensuring that 
production targets are met;
optimization and increase of the syner-
gies between the Russian and overseas 
assets;
providing for strict financial discipline and 
effective financial management;
tackling embezzlement;
maintaining the Company’s social obli-
gations to its employees;
conducting a balanced HR policy; and
envisaging full cooperation with the 
state. 

We also have to think about our future. The 
major questions here are investment proj-
ects and modernization. The investments, 
envisaged by the budget, prioritise projects 
that will help to steer Norilsk Nickel through 
the crisis smoothly. This will ensure that key 
strategic objectives are achieved, both the 
production and social ones, and that the 
Company remains ahead in innovative tech-
nology, productivity and efficiency. These 
are the parameters that will determine the 
shape of the global economy after the cri-
sis. Deadlines or timing of projects might be 
amended, but the production and techno-
logical projects that are vital to the Compa-
ny’s future will not be abandoned, and they 
will be implemented with strict financial and 
executive discipline.

In the environment of the global crisis, a key 
issue for Norilsk Nickel is diversifying its sales. 
In Europe, which is the Company’s traditional 
market, consumption of our products is de-
clining, due to economic stagnation. We are 
therefore placing more emphasis on the Asian 
markets, particularly China. In March 2009, 
Norilsk Nickel opened a new sales office in 
Shanghai. Since our first China office opened 
in Hong Kong in 200�, our sales have tripled. 
At present, approximately 2�% of imported 
primary nickel is delivered in China by Norilsk 
Nickel. Experts expect the Chinese market 
to recover quicker than most other markets, 
and therefore it should become the driver for 
growth in the worldwide consumption once 
the crisis is over.

•

•

•

•
•

•
•



1�

Norilsk Nickel is a unique mining and metals company, possessing such 
competitive advantages as exceptional mineral resource base with various 
metals mined from one ore, low operating costs, highly experienced 
personnel, as well as energy and transport self-sufficiency.
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Despite the crisis, Norilsk Nickel has been 
fulfilling the obligations to its employees in full, 
and it is one of the few companies that have 
been doing so. Mass redundancies have 
been avoided, vacation and rehabilitation 
packages have been improved, and this year, 
the Company plans to support the affordable 
flights from Norilsk.

So far, the first months of 2009 have given 
grounds for cautious optimism: manage-
ment’s forecasts for prices of the Company’s 
products, as indicated in the 2009-bud-
get, have proved to be conservative, which 
gives us a certain safety cushion. Measures 
aimed at streamlining and enhancing mana-
gerial transparency and efficiency, as well as 
cost-cutting programs and accurate revenue 
forecasting are already bringing their fruits in 
terms of increasing competitiveness of No-
rilsk Nickel and creating sustainable share-
holders’ value.

GENERAL DiREcTOR – chAiRmAN Of ThE 
mANAGEmENT BOARD 
vLADimiR sTRzhALkOvsky 
26 mAy 2009
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NORiLsk NickEL Aims TO sTRENGThEN 
iTs LEADERshiP POsiTiON iN ThE GLOBAL 
miNiNG AND mETALs iNDUsTRy AND iTs ROLE 
Of A RELiABLE PRODUcER AND sUPPLiER 
Of BAsE AND PREciOUs mETALs.

cORPORATE missiON AND sTRATEGic OBjEcTivEs





ONE Of ThE sTRATEGic TARGETs fOR ThE GROUP 
is ThE imPROvEmENT iN cORPORATE GOvERNANcE 
ThROUGh REsTRUcTURiNG Of AssETs AND 
OPTimizATiON Of mANAGEmENT PROcEssEs
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cORPORATE missiON

Norilsk Nickel aims to strengthen its leader-
ship position in the global mining and metals 
industry and its role of a reliable producer 
and supplier of base and precious metals 
through:

effective use of unique mineral resourc-
es and stability of operating costs; 
growth in prospecting, exploration and 
development of world class mineral 
deposits; and
support of sustainable development in 
the regions in which the Company oper-
ates.

sTRATEGic OBjEcTivEs

EffEcTivE UsE Of UNiqUE miNERAL REsOURcEs 
AND sTABiLiTy Of OPERATiNG cOsTs:

effective use of the mineral resources 
and improved capacity utilization of the 
Group’s mining and processing facilities;
modernization of production facilities in 
ore beneficiation and metallurgy in order 
to ensure the most effective processing 
of mined ore and better metals recovery;
sustaining the stable level of costs based 
on strong skills of continuous improve-
ment in operations, development and 
implementation of effective technical 
solutions;
strengthening independence in terms 
of secure supply of low-cost services 
and resources, including energy supply, 
transportation and logistics services; 
and
further improvements in corporate 
governance through restructuring of 
assets and optimization of management 
processes.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

GROwTh iN PROsPEcTiNG, ExPLORATiON AND 
DEvELOPmENT Of wORLD cLAss miNERAL 
DEPOsiTs:

active participation in prospecting, 
geological investigation and exploration 
of new promising world-class mineral 
deposits both in Russia and abroad; and
application of best practices in pros-
pecting, mining and production of base 
and precious metals.

sUPPORT Of sUsTAiNABLE DEvELOPmENT iN ThE 
REGiONs iN which ThE cOmPANy OPERATEs:

personnel development, creating proper 
environment for professional growth of 
highly skilled professionals, ensuring 
safe labor environment, competitive staff 
remuneration and social benefits in ac-
cordance with scope and quality of their 
work;
compliance with both Russian and 
international environmental standards, 
implementation of technologies allowing 
to comply with the limitations imposed 
on pollutant emissions, implementation 
of socially advantageous environmen-
tal protection projects on the regional, 
national and international level; and
implementation of projects in social and 
economic development of communi-
ties in cooperation with the regional and 
municipal authorities.

•

•

•

•

•

Corporate Mission аnd Strategic Objectives |



1. mANAGEmENT sTRUcTURE

ONE Of ThE mAiN REsOURcEs ThAT wiLL 
ENABLE NORiLsk NickEL TO OvERcOmE 
ThE cURRENT EcONOmic DOwNTURN AND LAy 
ThE fOUNDATiONs fOR fUTURE ExPANsiON is AN 
EfficiENT mANAGEmENT sysTEm.





DURiNG ThE sEcOND hALf Of 2008, 
ThE siGNificANT chANGEs TOOk PLAcE iN 
ThE ORGANizATiONAL sTRUcTURE Of ThE GROUP, 
PRimARiLy AimED AT ADjUsTiNG ThE mANAGEmENT 
sTRUcTURE iN REsPONsE TO ThE NEw EcONOmic 
REALiTiEs
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One of the main resources that will enable 
Norilsk Nickel to overcome the current eco-
nomic downturn and lay the foundations for 
future expansion is an efficient management 
system. This will help the Company to be 
adaptable, flexible and effective.

Norilsk Nickel has taken the following actions 
in order to streamline the management 
structure:

created a management structure 
suitable for a diversified international 
major, one with defined areas of 
responsibility and a high level of 
transparency;
decentralized responsibility: delegation 
of the appropriate authority to heads of 
divisions;
reduced headcount and general and 
administrative costs; and
increased efficiency.

In 2008, the efforts to develop the database 
of internal management documentation also 
continued.

During the second half of 2008, the significant 
changes took place in the organizational 
structure of the Group, primarily aimed at 
adjusting the management structure in 
response to the new economic realities.

miNiNG AND mETALLURGicAL BUsiNEss UNiT

The main goal of the Mining and Metallurgical 
Business Unit is to ensure a stable output at 
minimal cost and in compliance with produc-
tion plans approved by head office and the 
Sales Business Unit. The development of the 
Company’s mineral resources, the increase 
in ore extraction as well as the optimization of 
Company’s production capacities are key to 
achieving this.

The Mining and Metallurgical Business Unit 
comprises extracting, concentrating and 
metallurgical entities located in Russia (Taimyr 
and Kola peninsulas), Australia, Botswana, 
Finland and the Republic of South Africa.

•

•

•

•

sALEs BUsiNEss UNiT

The key objectives of the Sales Business Unit 
include:

maximizing profits from product sales;
positioning Norilsk Nickel on the 
commodity markets appropriately; and
influencing the fundamentals of 
commodity markets positively.

GEOLOGy BUsiNEss UNiT

The key objective of the Geology Business 
Unit is the geological support of all activities 
aimed at the exploitation, maintenance, 
replenishment and development of the 
mineral resources base of the Company. The 
Geology Business Unit conducts the following 
types of activities: 

prospecting, surveying and development 
of promising mineral-resource deposits 
in the Russian Federation and abroad;
replenishing reserves in areas where the 
Company is already operating;
managing geological teams at 
production sites, ensuring the veracity 
of the data on the measured and 
developed reserves at operating mines;
managing geological teams surveying 
and drilling at prospective sites; and
ensuring the compliance with license 
agreements.

ENERGy BUsiNEss UNiT

The Energy Business Unit secures energy 
supplies for the Group and the Norilsk 
industrial and Taimyr (Dolgano-Nenets) 
municipal districts.

Due to the absence of alternative energy 
suppliers in the region, this business unit 
provides a complete cycle of energy supply 
services in the Norilsk industrial district.

•
•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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TRANsPORT AND LOGisTics BUsiNEss UNiT

The Transport and Logistics Business Unit is 
responsible for:

transporting the Company’s cargo by 
sea, river, rail, road and air;
handling cargo in sea and river trans-
shipment ports;
storing cargo and overseeing customs 
clearance; and
transporting passengers on local air-
lines.

MMC Norilsk Nickel has made progress with 
streamlining its transportation system, which 
aims to use company-owned icebreaking 
vessels to ship cargo sent along the North-
ern Sea Route. Following the first icebreaker 
commissioned in 200�, another three vessels 
were completed last year. The last one was 
commissioned in February 2009. This marks 
the successful completion of this project.

In 2008, the Company started a project to 
build its own port in Murmansk. The project is 
currently on hold due to the current economic 
crisis, but the Company intends to return to it 
as soon as the situation improves.

Part of the Company’s plan to optimize its lo-
gistics is to replace defunct bridge cranes at 
the Dudinka sea port, part of the Polar trans-
port affiliate, with higher-capacity mobile 
ones. Last year, two mobile cranes were com-
missioned at Dudinka, in addition to the five 
already in operation there. An order has been 
placed for delivery of another four cranes this 
year, which will bring the total to 11. These 
cranes will increase efficiency at the sea and 
river ports.

As part of the technical upgrade at Dudinka, 
a 2,800-horsepower Arctic sea tug was com-
missioned in 2008. A �00-horsepower river 
tug will be added to the port’s fleet this year.

REsEARch AND ENGiNEERiNG BUsiNEss UNiT

The main objective of the Research and En-
gineering Business Unit is to provide a com-

•

•

•

•

plete range of engineering services: from 
blueprinting and design to project manage-
ment, implementation and commissioning. 
The activities conducted are along the follow-
ing lines:

design and development of production 
facilities for divisions, primarily the Mining 
and Metallurgical Business Unit; and
implementation of projects to create and 
promote innovative energy products.

cONsTRUcTiON BUsiNEss UNiT

The principal activities of this business unit 
include general building, preparing mines, 
building underground tunnels, drilling, blast-
ing, special operations, and carrying out 
maintenance at key production assets in the 
Polar Division.

mAiNTENANcE BUsiNEss UNiT

The Maintenance Business Unit is in charge 
of maintenance and repairs at the Group’s 
main production assets.

•

•



2�1. Management Structure |



2. Risk mANAGEmENT

Risk mANAGEmENT is AN iNTEGRAL PART Of ThE 
cOmPANy’s cORPORATE GOvERNANcE sysTEm.





NORiLsk NickEL REGULARLy AssEsEs ExTERNAL 
AND iNTERNAL fAcTORs ThAT cOULD NEGATivELy 
AffEcT iTs BUsiNEss
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Norilsk Nickel’s operations entail a number 
of risks, which under certain circumstances 
could significantly affect the financial and op-
erating performance. To mitigate the negative 
impacts, the Group implemented a Risk Man-
agement System.

Risk management is conducted in accor-
dance with the Corporate Risk Management 
Program. It constitutes a systematic process 
of identifying, evaluating and managing risks 
in all business areas in order to increase the 
certainty of achieving objectives, ensure sta-
ble development, and make resource alloca-
tion more efficient.

Risk iDENTificATiON

Norilsk Nickel regularly asseses external and 
internal factors that could negatively affect its 
business. This process includes analyzing fi-
nancial and management accounts, statisti-
cal data, material and informational flowcharts, 
checklists, material from working groups’ meet-
ings, and other information.

The Group has developed a Unified Risk Reg-
ister, where key data about identified risks are 
accumulated, including:

unfavorable events or trends;
possible reasons and conditions that 
could cause a risk to materialize;
potential implications for the Company’s 
business and goals;

•
•

•

links with other events or trends;
business units and employees who are 
responsible for the causes and/or con-
sequences of an unfavorable event; 
and
proposals on remediation of possible 
consequences of unfavorable events.

Risk AssEssmENT

The Company seeks to evaluate every identi-
fied risk and to assess the implications for its 
business objectives during the period under 
review. The parameters for evaluating risks 
include potential impact and likelihood, which 
are measured on a five-point scale.

Risk PRiORiTizATiON

The acceptable risk levels are established in 
accordance with the Corporate Risk Man-
agement System. Depending on certain pa-
rameters and the presence of any non-finan-
cial factors, risks are categorized as critical, 
significant or moderate.

Risk AGGREGATiON AND sysTEmATizATiON

The “state-of-the-art” risk assessment meth-
ods are used to gauge the possible impact 
of unfavorable events on the Company’s 
financial and operating results, business 
objectives and cash flows. These include 
quantitative and qualitative assessment and 
mathematical modeling.

•
•

•
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Risk LEvELs

No. Category Acceptable risk level to be 
decided by

Action to be decided by 

1. Critical Management Management

2. Significant Management Sector units, subdivisions/
production facilities

�. Moderate Sector units, subdivisions Production facilities
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Risk REGULATiON

Depending on the extent to which risk’s 
parameters and the cost of action can be 
mitigated, various methods are used to 
reduce, eliminate, transfer or accept risks. The 
system for regulating such risks is controlled 
centrally.

Risk management is an integral part of the 
Company’s corporate governance system. 
Subdivisions and employees participate 
actively in the process of identifying and 
evaluating risks by continuously widening 
the scope of research for potential threats, 
and the use of information about risks when 
making management decisions.

Norilsk Nickel’s Risk Management System is 
designed to detect a wide range of potential 
issues:

natural and industrial risks (technical/
production and environmental);
personnel risks (social and labor 
relations, health and safety);
social and demographic risks;
merger and acquisition risks;
regulatory risks; and
financial risks.

The most significant types of risks that can 
affect the Company’s business are described 
below:

•

•

•
•
•
•

TEchNicAL/PRODUcTiON Risks

The foundation for Norilsk Nickel’s success 
is its production operations, whose stability 
and efficiency affect the Company’s ability to 
meet its business objectives.

The main production facilities are in the Far 
North of Russia. Because of the weather 
conditions in the region, complex technical 
issues are encountered when conducting 
geological exploration, mining and processing 
of ore, providing energy to production 
facilities and cities, and transporting products 
to customers.

The region’s adverse weather conditions 
(extremely low temperatures, “black” 
snowstorms, problems with ice, navigability of 
the Yenisei, etc) can have a major impact on 
Norilsk Nickel’s operations. To deal with these, 
the Company uses the latest technology and 
takes all necessary measures.

In addition, equipment and buildings are 
exposed to standard industrial risks. These 
include:

miNiNG AND mETALLURGicAL BUsiNEss UNiT:

flooding at mines or quarries;
accidents and incidents involving mining 
equipment;
dealing with flammable gases and toxic 
substances; and 

•
•

•

TyPEs Of AcTiON TO REGULATE Risks

Reduce probability or impact

Technical measures
Organizational measures
Diversification
Reorganization of business processes

Avoid

Sale of assets
Rejection of deal

•
•
•
•

•
•

Transfer

Insurance
Hedging
Joint ventures or strategic partnerships
Outsourcing

Accept

Limitation
Financial reserves

•
•
•
•

•
•
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accidents and incidents at certain 
stages of ore-processing.

ENERGy BUsiNEss UNiT:

accidents involving pipelines and gas 
transportation systems;
accidents involving electricity lines; and
accidents at heating stations.

TRANsPORT AND LOGisTics BUsiNEss UNiT:

drop in the navigation depth of rivers;
damage (including subsidence) to river 
terminals;
decommissioning of infrastructure at 
alykel airport; and
accidents and incidents involving cargo 
vessels, tugboats and cranes at ports.

OiL DEPOTs iN ThE NORiLsk iNDUsTRiAL 
DisTRicT:

damage (including subsidence) to 
buildings; and
decommissioning of equipment.

To reduce the probability of negative events at 
production facilities, Norilsk Nickel regularly 
evaluates the risk of unplanned disruptions 
to process and develop measures to prevent 
and limit the potential consequences of acci-
dents and incidents.
 
Registers for technical and production risks 
have been created for the Mining and Metal-
lurgical Business Unit, Energy Business Unit, 
Transport and Logistics Business Unit, and the 
oil depots in the Norilsk industrial district. These 
define the various risk categories.

The Company has developed and is 
implementing a program of organizational 
and technical work aimed at the most serious 
technical and production risks. In addition, a 
system of insurance has been set up to cover 
production-related risks.

All facilities have established safety regulations 
regarding hazardous production materials.

•

•

•
•

•
•

•

•

•

•

ENviRONmENTAL Risks

Several aspects of the Company’s production 
can affect the environment, such as:

emitting waste and pollutants;
disturbing the ground during mining; and
potentially harming the flora and fauna of 
nearby areas.

The Russian and international environmental 
agencies supervise and regulate Norilsk 
Nickel’s work in full accordance with the 
applicable laws and regulations. Recognizing 
the scale and complexity of the environmental 
issues management considers environmental 
protection to be an integral part of its 
business and strives to ensure that all laws 
and regulations are complied with and that 
resources are used reasonably. 

The main goals of Norilsk Nickel’s environ-
mental policy are to:

reduce emissions of waste and 
pollutants into the atmosphere and 
bodies of water; and
create waste disposal sites to alleviate 
the industrial burden on the environment.

The Company is currently implementing a major 
program to reduce the impact of its production 
on the environment.

To fulfill its environmental obligations, Norilsk 
Nickel follows the principles and requirements 
of the international standard: ISO 1�001:200�.

Expenses related to installing anti-pollution 
equipment and cleanup work may affect the 
financial results.

sOciAL AND LABOR RELATiONs

Norilsk Nickel’s social and labor relations are 
regulated by employment laws and HR strategy. 
The Company is currently implementing a range 
of programs to train employees, offer social 
support, safeguard and improve employment 
rights, provide pension, and relocate.

•
•
•

•

•

2. Risk Management |
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Changes in social and pension laws may have 
an adverse effect on the Group’s business.

hEALTh AND sAfETy Risks

The nature of the operations of Norilsk Nickel 
requires serious professional training for 
employees, including health and safety training.

Accidents at production facilities can threaten 
the health and life of employees, disrupt 
operations and damage property.

To mitigate these risks, the Company has 
developed an industrial health and safety 
policy.

Norilsk Nickel is constantly training health 
and safety experts, is providing work safety 
courses, is reviewing employees’ knowledge 
of health and safety issues, and is ensuring 
that all requirements are met. The latest 
international knowledge on health and safety 
is reviewed and applied by the Company.

sOciAL AND DEmOGRAPhic Risks

Norilsk Nickel’s success depends greatly 
on the input of employees engaged in the 
production process.

A shortage of qualified personnel at the Min-
ing and Metallurgical, Energy and Transport 
and Logistics Business Units could have a 
major effect on the quality, timeframe and 
cost of production programs.

The Company has devised a range of 
initiatives to resolve staffing and social issues 
and to attract and retain qualified employees. 
It also continuously monitors the local labor 
market, the social and demographic situation, 
and migration. 

mERGER AND AcqUisiTiON Risks

As part of the drive to develop an international 
and geographically diversified business, 
Norilsk Nickel may make strategic acquisitions 
of mining and metals companies that offer 
potential.

The success of such moves depends on 
how efficiently the assets acquired can be 
integrated into the Company’s management 
and production processes and whether the 
research, technological and production 
synergies can be exploited.

Risks RELATED TO iNTERNATiONAL AssETs

Norilsk Nickel’s assets in Africa are subject to 
certain risks, including currency fluctuations 
and possible political instability that may 
result in the impairment or loss of mineral 
concessions or other rights to conduct 
exploration or mining work. Political instability 
in neighboring countries and the prevalence 
of HIV could also affect the political, social 
and economic situation in Botswana and 
South Africa. Any changes in legislation or 
in the social and economic situation, are 
beyond the Group’s control and may affect its 
business adversely.

Operations may be affected by government 
restrictions on production, price controls, 
export controls, income taxes, property 
expropriation, environmental legislation and 
mine safety. Africa’s status as a developing 
continent may make it more difficult for Norilsk 
Nickel to obtain any required exploration, 
development and production financing for its 
projects there. The consequences of each 
of the above risks could have an adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, revenues, 
financial condition, operational results and 
ADR price.

The mining industry in South Africa is 
extensively regulated through legislation and 
policies issued by government administrative 
bodies. These include directives on health 
and safety, exploration and mining, and the 
effect of mining on the environment. Various 
permits and licenses are required to mine 
legally. South African law includes currency 
control regulations that restrict the export 
of capital from the Common Monetary Area, 
which includes South Africa.

On May 1, 200� the Republic of South Africa 
enacted the Broad-Based Socio-economic 
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Empowerment Charter of the South African 
mining industry (the Mining Charter). It 
seeks to transform equity participation in the 
country’s mining industry. In particular, that 
every mining company in South Africa ensures 
that historically disadvantaged South Africans 
own 1�% of assets within five years of May 1, 
200�, and 2�% within ten years. Failure to 
comply with the charter’s requirements could 
have negative consequences, including the 
risk of not being granted new exploration and 
mining rights, which could have an adverse 
effect on the Company’s business, revenues, 
financial condition, operational results and 
ADR price.

On May 1, 200�, the Minerals and Petroleum 
Resources Development Act came into effect 
in South Africa, placing all mineral resources 
under the custodianship of the government. 
Together with African Rainbow Minerals, its 
joint-venture partner in South Africa, Norilsk 
Nickel is required to comply with the act re-
garding converting the existing mining rights 
for the Nkomati deposit to new ones under 
the new regime. In the Group’s opinion, the 
risk that new rights to the deposit will not be 
granted is minimal. However, a refusal by the 
South African government to grant new rights 
could have an adverse effect on the Compa-
ny’s business, revenues, financial condition, 
operational results and ADR price.

To carry out its operations, Norilsk Nickel uses 
third parties:

the processing facilities depend on the 
availability of raw materials, some of 
which are supplied by third parties that 
the Group does not control. If there is 
a shortage of these raw materials, the 
Group’s processing facilities might 
not be able to run at full capacity. For 
example, before the Harjavalta nickel 
refinery in Finland was bought by Norilsk 
Nickel, it experienced raw material 
shortages and did not operate at full 
capacity;
all of the concentrate from Tati Nickel 
is processed at the smelter owned by 
Botswana Company Limited, where 
in the past the production has been 

•

•

disrupted for varying lengths of time due 
to equipment failure.
the supply of materials and spare parts 
may also be affected. One example 
was when the Group was forced to halt 
production at one of its entities due to 
problems with supplies of sulfuric acid. 

Issues with third-party supplies of raw 
materials, spare parts or other products, or 
with third-party smelting facilities, could have 
an adverse effect on the Company’s business, 
revenues, financial condition, operational 
results and ADR price.

REGULATORy Risks

Norilsk Nickel’s operations are regulated by 
numerous laws, standards and guidelines in 
various areas, such as:

processing raw materials and producing 
finished goods;
environmental protection;
foreign trade;
taxation; and
employment.

As its facilities are spread out internationally, 
the Company needs to ensure that it complies 
with all applicable standards and require-
ments of the countries in which it operates.

New regulations can affect operations 
significantly. To avoid any impact on the 
stability of its business and its ability to fulfill 
obligations to shareholders, Norilsk Nickel 
constantly monitors the legislation relating 
to its operations. This enables it to react to 
any changes and adjust operating practices 
promptly.

fiNANciAL Risks

Norilsk Nickel’s financial risks comprise mar-
ket (commodity price, currency and interest 
rate), credit and liquidity risks. Financial risk 
management at the Company is centralized 
and based on internal regulations and meth-
odologies approved by management.

•

•

•
•
•
•

2. Risk Management |
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Efforts to streamline the quantitative risk as-
sessment procedures and the risk reduction 
measures continue.

Revenues are largely influenced by prices on 
the world’s leading commodity exchanges, 
which move in accordance with the market 
conditions. The bulk of Norilsk Nickel’s reve-
nues is in US dollars, while the main expenses 
are paid in rubles. In 2008, the steep decline 
in metal prices was partly offset by the posi-
tive effect from the ruble devaluation.

The interest rate risk involves the risk that a 
potential change in the cost of servicing debt 
can affect financial performance. The major 
part of the Group’s loans and borrowings has 
floating interest rates, in particular linked to 
LIBOR (London Interbank Offering Rate). The 
substantial decrease in LIBOR in the second 
half of 2008 allowed the Group to maintain 
the debt servicing expenses mostly at the 
level of 200�.

The credit risk is the possibility that a coun-
terparty may not meet its obligations to the 
Company on time, which would lead to finan-
cial losses. Norilsk Nickel minimizes its credit 
risk by spreading it among a large number of 
counterparties and setting credit limits based 
on a counterparty’s financial standing and us-
ing the latest methods.

The liquidity risk is the possibility that the Com-
pany may not be able to settle all liabilities as 
they fall due. The corporate treasury ensures 
centralized liquidity management through-
out the Group. Liquidity is managed using 
detailed budgeting procedures, maintaining 
daily payment positions with a horizon of up 
to one month, and conducting monthly cash 
planning to ensure that the budget is met for a 
period of up to 12 months.

Norilsk Nickel uses a corporate cash flow 
management system, which enables the col-
lection and analysis of forthcoming payment 
data for a period of up to one month. To man-
age liquidity, the Company has a reserve of 
liquid funds and has confirmed credit lines 
with numerous banks. These would be suf-

ficient to compensate for potential revenue 
fluctuations, based on given price, currency 
and interest rate risks.

Given the global economic crisis, Norilsk 
Nickel is closely monitoring risks so that it can 
move quickly to minimize any negative effects 
should the need arise.
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DEPOsiTs ON ThE TAimyR PENiNsULA OffER A 
vAsT POTENTiAL AND shOULD hELP TO mAiNTAiN 
REsERvEs AT ThE REqUiRED LEvEL ThROUGh 
ExPLORATiON EffORTs AT BOTh ThE cURRENT 
OPERATiONs AND ThE UNExPLOiTED DEPOsiTs.

3. miNERAL REsOURcEs AND 
ORE REsERvEs





ThE wORk TO OPEN NEw Rich-ORE fiELDs 
AT TALNAkh wiLL sUBsTANTiALLy iNcREAsE 
ThE qUANTiTy AND qUALiTy Of ThE iNDicATED 
BALANcED REsERvEs iN ThE NEAR fUTURE
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Data for Norilsk Nickel’s mineral resources and 
ore reserves as of December �1, 200�, are 
based on the results of an independent tech-
nical audit performed by Micon International 
Co Ltd (Micon) between March and October 
2008. The audit was conducted in accordance 
with the principles of the Joint Ore Reserves 
Committee (JORC) Code of the Australasian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, the Austra-
lian Institute of Geoscientists and the Minerals 
Council of Australia, at all of the deposits on 
the Taimyr and Kola peninsulas as well as in 
Australia, Botswana and South Africa.

RUssiA

The technical audit of Norilsk Nickel’s Rus-
sian entities is based on the operating results 
for 200�. Micon audited the reserves and 
resources of all ore types at the Group’s de-
posits on the Taimyr (Polar Division) and Kola 
(Kola MMC) peninsulas.

The proved and probable reserves of the Tai-
myr and Kola Peninsulas contain ca. �.8 mil-
lion tonnes of nickel, ca. 8.� million tonnes of 
copper and more than 80 million ounces of 
platinum group metals (PGMs). In addition the 
measured and indicated mineral resources 
contain more than 10 million tonnes of nickel, 
more than 1� million tonnes of copper, and 
around 190 million ounces of PGMs.

Approximately 280,�00 tonnes of nickel and 
�92,000 tonnes of copper in ore were mined 
at the Taimyr peninsula deposits in 2008, while 
underground exploration work increased the 
proved and probable reserves by 2�0,200 
tonnes of nickel and by ���,200 tonnes of 
copper. Approximately �0% of this increase 
came from advance exploration work at the 
Severny-2 rich-ore field of the Oktyabrsky 
deposit.

Deposits on the Taimyr Peninsula (Norilsk-1, 
Talnakh and Oktyabrsky) offer a vast poten-
tial and should help to maintain reserves at 
the required level through exploration efforts 
at both the current operations and the unex-
ploited deposits. The reserves of rich and cu-
prous ore from current mines will be replaced 

mainly with inferred resources on the flanks 
until rich-ore fields and disseminated-ore ho-
rizons are brought online. The work to open 
new rich-ore fields at Talnakh will substantially 
increase the quantity and quality of the indi-
cated balanced reserves in the near future.

As for the Kola Peninsula, the main objective is 
to conduct a detailed exploration of the deep 
horizons at the existing Zhdanovskoe deposit, 
audit its reserves using the new industry ap-
proach, and develop it as part of the Severny-
Gluboky deposit. At the beginning of 2008, 
after mining, exploring and re-evaluating the 
resources at Zhdanovskoe, Micon confirmed 
the proved and probable reserves at 10�.8 
million tonnes. All of the ore is concentrated in 
a well-developed block, with a cut-off grade 
of 0.�% of nickel and located at a depth of up 
to ��0 meters.

The only changes to the reserves in 2008 at 
the existing deposits on the Kola Peninsula 
were due to mining and operating losses. The 
proved and probable reserves decreased by 
�0,800 tonnes of nickel and 21,800 tonnes of 
copper.

The reserve deposits at the Pechengsk ore 
field contain ca. 1�8.1 million tonnes of nickel 
resources. Final exploration activities and op-
erations will be launched there as soon as this 
becomes economically viable.

When copper and nickel ore are added up, 
the Kola Peninsula deposits have approxi-
mately �00 million tonnes of measured and 
indicated resources and more than 220 mil-
lion tonnes of inferred resources. This will 
enable Kola MMC to sustain output over the 
medium term. If deemed necessary, the cur-
rent exploration activities will be carried out 
on a permanent basis.

sTiLLwATER miNiNG

Data on the ore reserves of Stillwater Mining 
Company as of December �1, 2008, is provid-
ed in accordance with Industry Guide No. �, as 
approved by the US Securities and Exchange 
Commission.

�. Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves |
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Notes:

(1) The mineral resources and ore reserves of the deposits 

of the Taimyr and Kola peninsulas were classified 

according to the Australasian Code for Reporting of 

Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code), 

developed by the Australasian Joint Ore Reserves 

Committee (JORC), created by the Australasian Institute 

of Mining and Metallurgy, the Australian Institute of 

Geoscientists and the Minerals Council of Australia.

(2) The reserves were classified in accordance with the 

JORC principles by the following competent person: 

Stanley C Bartlett, PGeo, Managing Director of Micon 

International Co Limited.

(�) The reserves are based on the current detailed mine 

production plan for 200�-20 and the base-case 

conceptual mine plan covering the life of a mine. The 

life of a mine is based on economically mineable ore in 

miNERAL REsOURcEs AND ORE REsERvEs Of ThE TAimyR AND kOLA PENiNsUALs As Of DEcEmBER 31, 2007

Taimyr Peninsula

Proved ore reserves
 Talnakh ore field
  Rich
  Cuprous
  Disseminated
 Total Talnakh ore field – combined ore types
 Norilsk-1 deposit (disseminated ore)
Probable ore reserves
 Talnakh ore field
  Rich
  Cuprous
  Disseminated
 Total Talnakh ore field – combined ore types
 Norilsk-1 deposit (disseminated ore)
Total proved and probable ore reserves

Measured and indicated mineral resources
 Talnakh ore field
  Rich
  Cuprous
  Disseminated
 Total Talnakh ore field – combined ore types
 Norilsk-1 deposit (disseminated ore)
Total measured and indicated mineral resources

Total inferred mineral resources

Kola Peninsula (disseminated ore)

Proved ore reserves (operating mines)
Probable ore reserves (operating mines)
Total proved and probable ore reserves

Measured and indicated mineral resources
 Operating mines
 Undeveloped deposits
Total measured and indicated mineral resources

Total inferred mineral resources

Region/Category

000’ tonnes

��,�2�
22,1��
29,���
9�,���
�9,�22

9�,�0�
�2,1��
1,92�

1�0,�9�
2�,�98

319,948

20,��0
��1

1,���,10�
1,�8�,92�

2�,�2�
1,413,449

471,845

�8,92�
�9,��8

128,301

��8,988
1�8,09�
497,082

220,648

Ore type Ore tonnage
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the A, B and C1 Russian categories at the end of a given 

calendar year.

(�) Subtotal and total figures may differ to the sum of 

individual numbers due to rounding. Certain values may 

in some instances vary slightly from previously published 

values.

(�) The six PGMs are platinum, palladium, rhodium, 

ruthenium, osmium and iridium. Hereafter in the annual 

report the troy ounces used as a weight measure for 

PGM. 

(�) Proved and probable ore reserves are not included in 

mineral resources.

(�) Ore losses applied ranged from 1.�% to 20% and dilution 

from �% to 1�%. Mining dilution was assumed to have a 

nil grade.

6PGM
000’ 

ounces

12,898
�,���
�,���

2�,8��
8,0�1

20,��1
19,28�

19�
�9,828

�,8��
80,610

10,��9
�9

1�1,��2
182,110

�,1�2
187,243

88,148

1��
1��
301

���
�8�

1,042

461

Au
000’ 

ounces

�28
��1
2��

1,0��
2�0

�98
1,190

1�
1,�01

1��
3,124

���
�

8,2�9
8,��9

12�
8,705

4,019

2�
2�
48

��
92

169

74

Pt
000’ 

ounces

2,1��
1,829
1,�8�
�,���
2,2�2

�,088
�,8��

�2
�,00�
1,��9

15,932

1,���
1�

��,��8
�8,�29

1,��9
39,783

17,199

��
�8

125

208
1��
344

159

Pd
000’ 

ounces

10,10�
�,�8�
�,��2

21,���
�,��9

1�,�9�
1�,98�

1�9
�0,81�

�,2�9
61,098

8,�2�
�0

12�,118
1��,�92

�,��2
139,144

67,344

�8
��

153

��1
21�

646

283

Cu
000’ 

tonnes

1,���
1,01�

2��
�,0�2

19�

2,�81
2,190

1�
�,98�

8�
8,318

1,19�
�

1�,1��
1�,���

11�
15,462

8,737

21�
21�
428

�29
���

1,174

522

Ni
000’ 

tonnes

1,2��
2�1
1��

1,��1
1��

2,�0�
�0�

8
�,020

��
4,892

8��
�

�,0��
�,9��

8�
8,018

4,232

��8
���
904

1,��0
8��

2,607

1,134

6PGM
g/t

8.99
1�.�2

�.��
9.01
�.�0

�.�8
9.��
�.1�
�.�2
�.�2
7.84

1�.90
�.12
�.91
�.08
�.2�
4.12

5.81

0.0�
0.09
0.07

0.0�
0.09
0.06

0.06

Au
g/t

0.2�
0.��
0.2�
0.��
0.19

0.1�
0.�0
0.21
0.��
0.19

0.30

0.�1
0.��
0.19
0.19
0.1�
0.19

0.26

0.01
0.01
0.01

0.01
0.02
0.01

0.01

Pt
g/t

1.�9
2.��
1.��
1.��
1.��

1.00
1.9�
0.�8
1.��
1.�8
1.55

2.��
1.21
0.8�
0.8�
1.��
0.88

1.13

0.0�
0.0�
0.03

0.02
0.0�
0.02

0.02

Pd
g/t

�.0�
10.80

�.9�
�.9�
�.2�

�.0�
�.�0
2.2�
�.98
�.�2
5.94

12.9�
�.��
2.89
�.0�
�.21
3.06

4.44

0.0�
0.0�
0.04

0.0�
0.0�
0.04

0.04

Cu
%

�.98
�.�8
0.89
�.1�
0.�9

2.89
�.�2
0.��
�.11
0.��
2.60

�.8�
1.9�
1.0�
1.11

0.��
1.09

1.85

0.�1
0.��
0.33

0.21
0.�0
0.24

0.24

Ni
%

2.8�
1.1�
0.�9
1.��
0.��

2.�0
0.81
0.�1
1.88
0.28
1.53

�.2�
0.�1
0.�2
0.��
0.��
0.57

0.90

0.��
0.��
0.70

0.�0
0.�9
0.52

0.51

Metal Grade Metal Content
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The ore reserves of Stillwater Mining Com-
pany are located in the J-M Reef deposit in the 
Beartooth Mountain Range in the central and 
southern areas of the US state of Montana.

As of December �1, 2008, Stillwater Mining 
Company’s proved reserves totaled approxi-
mately �.98 million tons1 of ore, with aver-
age palladium and platinum contents of 0.�� 
ounces per ton1, giving a total of 2.8� million 
ounces of palladium and platinum2. The ton-
nage of proved ore reserves increased by 
�.�% compared to prior year.

Meanwhile, the probable reserves totaled ap-
proximately ��.2 million tons1 of ore, with aver-
age palladium and platinum contents of 0.�� 
ounces per ton1, giving a total of 1�.�� million 
ounces of palladium and platinum. The ton-
nage of probable reserves was down �.��% 
compared with prior year.

Stillwater Mining Company’s proved and 
probable ore reserves changed compared to 
prior year due to the following reasons: 

an increase in proved ore reserves 
following the exploration drilling;
a decrease in proved ore reserves due 
to mining;
a decrease in probable ore reserves due 
to a partial reclassification to the proved 
ore reserves category;
an increase in ore reserves due to the 
exploration of the resource base; and
a change in volume of ore reserves due 
to an adjustment of reserve estimates 
and amendments to the mining plan.

NORiLsk NickEL iNTERNATiONAL

In 2008, Micon conducted an audit of the 
Group’s overseas assets in South Africa and 
Western Australia.

1 Ton (or short ton) is the weight measure used in US 

reporting. It equals 90�.18 kg.

2 Expressed as palladium plus platinum in-situ ounces at a 

ratio of around �.�� parts Pd to 1 part Pt.

•

•

•

•

•

DEfiNiTiON Of miNERAL REsOURcEs AND ORE 
REsERvEs As PER ThE jORc cODE

A “Mineral Resource” is a concentration or 
an occurrence of material of intrinsic eco-
nomic interest, in or on the earth’s crust in 
such form, quality and quantity that there 
are reasonable prospects for its eventual 
economic extraction. The location, quantity, 
grade, geological characteristics and conti-
nuity of a Mineral Resource are known, esti-
mated or interpreted from specific geological 
evidence and knowledge. Mineral Resources 
are subdivided in order of increasing geologi-
cal confidence into Inferred, Indicated and 
Measured categories.

An “Inferred Mineral Resource” is that part of 
a Mineral Resource for which tonnage, grade 
and mineral content can be estimated with a 
low level of confidence. It is inferred from geo-
logical evidence and has an assumed, but not 
verified, geological and/or grade continuity. 
It is based on information, gathered through 
appropriate techniques from locations such 
as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill 
holes, which is limited or of uncertain quality 
and reliability. 

In geological terms, this mainly corresponds 
to the C2 category of the Russian classifica-
tion system.

An “Indicated Mineral Resource” is that part 
of a Mineral Resource for which tonnage, den-
sities, shape, physical characteristics, grade 
and mineral content can be estimated with a 
reasonable level of confidence. It is based on 
exploration, sampling and testing information 
gathered through appropriate techniques 
from locations such as outcrops, trenches, 
pits, workings and drill holes. The locations 
are too widely or inappropriately spaced to 
confirm geological and/or grade continuity 
but are spaced closely enough for continuity 
to be assumed. 

In geological terms, this mainly corresponds 
to the C1 category of the Russian classifica-
tion system.
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A “Measured Mineral Resource” is that part 
of a Mineral Resource for which tonnage, den-
sities, shape, physical characteristics, grade 
and mineral content can be estimated with 
a high level of confidence. It is based on de-
tailed and reliable exploration, sampling and 
testing information gathered through appro-
priate techniques from locations such as out-
crops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes. 
The locations are spaced closely enough to 
confirm geological and/or grade continuity. 

In geological terms, this mainly corresponds 
to the A+B categories of the Russian classifi-
cation system.

An “Ore Reserve” is the economically mine-
able part of a Measured or Indicated Mineral 
Resource. It includes diluting materials and 
allowances for losses, which may occur when 
the material is mined. Appropriate assess-
ments and studies have been carried out, and 
include consideration of and modification by 
realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, 
economic, marketing, legal, environmental, 
social and governmental factors. These as-
sessments demonstrate at the time of report-
ing that extraction could reasonably be justi-
fied. Ore Reserves are subdivided in order of 
increasing confidence into Probable Ore Re-
serves and Proved Ore Reserves.

ORE REsERvEs Of ThE j-m REEf DEPOsiT (mONTANA) As Of DEcEmBER 31, 2008

Stillwater mine
Proved reserves
Probable reserves
Total for Stillwater mine

East Boulder mine
Proved reserves
Probable reserves
Total for East Boulder mine

Total for Stillwater Mining Company
Proved reserves
Probable reserves

Total proved and probable reserves

Ore
Volume

(‘000 tons)

2,911
1�,0�0
16,941

2,0��
19,202
21,268

�,9��
��,2�2

38,232

Metal grade
(Pd+Pt)
(oz/ton)

0.��
0.��
0.64

0.��
0.��
0.45

0.��
0.��

0.54

Metal content
(Pd+Pt)

(‘000 oz)

1,898
8,911

10,809

9��
8,�1�

9,652

2,8��
1�,�28

20,461(5)

Notes:

(1) Ton (or short ton) is the weight measure used in US 

reporting. It equals 90�.18 kg.

(2) Expressed as palladium plus platinum in-situ ounces at a 

ratio of around �.�� parts Pd to 1 part Pt.

(�) In calculating ore reserves, Stillwater Mining Company 

has used the trailing 12-quarter combined average PGM 

market price of US$���.91 per ounce, which consists of 

US$��2.21 per ounce for palladium and US$1,��0.9� 

per ounce for platinum.

(�) Subtotal and total figures may differ to the sum of individual 

numbers due to rounding. Certain values may in some 

instances vary slightly from previously published values.

(�) Average mining and processing losses of around 1�.�% 

must be deducted to arrive at the estimated recoverable 

ounces.

(�) Ore and metal reserves figures are in accordance with 

the results of the reserve audit performed by Behre 

Dolbear & Company Inc. on December �1, 2008.
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miNERAL REsOURcEs AND ORE REsERvEs Of NORiLsk NickEL iNTERNATiONAL As Of DEcEmBER 31, 2007

Region / Category Ore 
tonnage Metal Grade Contained Metal

000’t 
 

Ni
% 

Cu
% 

6 PGM
g/t 

Ni
000’t 

Cu
000’t 

6 PGM
000’ 

ounces

Australia

Lake Johnston Operations

Total proved and probable ore 
reserves

�,000 1.2� �0 

Measured and indicated mineral 
resources

�,228 1.�� 1�� 

Inferred mineral resources 2,��� 1.�� ��

Black Swan

Measured and indicated mineral 
resources

�,9�1 0.�2 �� 

Silver Swan

Measured and indicated mineral 
resources

8� 10.9 9 

Cawse

Total proved and probable ore 
reserves

8,8�� 0.�9 �9 

Measured and indicated mineral 
resources

��,82� 0.�1 �20 

Mineralised Stockpile �,�88 0.�� 2�

Waterloo

Total proved and probable ore 
reserves

99 2.9� � 

Measured and indicated mineral 
resources

�8 �.�8 � 

Inferred mineral resources ��� 1.�9 11

Honeymoon Well

Measured mineral resources 12�,�00 0.�� 809

Indicated mineral resources �9,100 0.��  ���

Inferred mineral resources 11,900 0.�8 81
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A “Probable Ore Reserve” is the economi-
cally mineable part of an Indicated, and in 
some circumstances, a Measured Mineral 
Resource. It includes diluting materials and 
allowances for losses, which may occur when 
the material is mined. Appropriate assess-
ments and studies have been carried out, and 
include consideration of and modification by 
realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, 
economic, marketing, legal, environmental, 
social and governmental factors. These as-
sessments demonstrate at the time of report-
ing that extraction could reasonably be justi-
fied. 

In geological terms, this mainly corresponds 
to the C1 category of the Russian classifica-
tion system.

A “Proved Ore Reserve” is the economically 
mineable part of a Measured Mineral Re-
source. It includes diluting materials and al-
lowances for losses, which may occur when 
the material is mined. Appropriate assess-
ments and studies have been carried out, and 
include consideration of and modification by 
realistically assumed mining, metallurgical, 
economic, marketing, legal, environmental, 
social and governmental factors. These as-
sessments demonstrate at the time of report-
ing that extraction could reasonably be justi-
fied. 

In geological terms, this mainly corresponds 
to the A+B categories of the Russian classifi-
cation system.

Region / Category Ore 
tonnage Metal Grade Contained Metal

000’t 
 

Ni
% 

Cu
% 

6 PGM
g/t 

Ni
000’t 

Cu
000’t 

6 PGM
000’ 

ounces

Botswana

Selkirk

Measured and indicated mineral 
resources

12�,000 0.2� 0.2� 0.�� 28� ��� 

Phoenix

Probable ore reserves 9�,200 0.28 0.21 2�� 200 2,2�2

Measured and indicated mineral 
resources

98,000 0.28 0.21 2�� 20� 

Inferred mineral resources 2,�00 0.28 0.2� � �

South Africa

Nkomati

Total proved and probable ore 
reserves

1��,809 0.�� 0.12 0.8� ��1 201 �,�0� 

Inferred mineral resources 2�� ��� 0.�8 0.1� 0.9� 890 ��2 �,00�

miNERALs REsOURcEs AND ORE REsERvEs Of NORiLsk NickEL iNTERNATiONAL As Of DEcEmBER 31, 2007 (cONTiNUED)
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hyDROcARBONs REsERvEs

Norilsk Nickel currently extracts hydrocar-
bons (natural gas and gas condensate) at the 
Pelyatka deposit, owned by a subsidiary of 
the Company – Taimyrgaz. In addition, OJSC 
Norislgazprom, an associated company of 
the Group, exctracts the hydrocarbons on 
three other deposits:

Severo-Soleninskoye;
Yuzhno-Soleninskoye; and
Messoyakhskoye.

The gas produced is sold to Norilskenergo, a 
branch of Norilsk Nickel, as a raw material for 
heat and power generation and for the Com-
pany’s production needs.

The Pelyatka deposit is the largest of all gas 
condensate deposits that Norilsk Nickel is 
currently developing. The construction and 
improvement of deposit facilities is currently 
underway, which includes more than 200 
complex technological facilities at various 
stages in the production chain, from gas and 
gas condensate extraction to its preparation 
for shipment to customers. The development 
occupies more than 22 hectares of land and 
has more than 180 kilometers of gas and gas 
product pipelines.

•
•
•

The following activities were performed in 
2008 at the Pelyatka deposit:

the gas condensate reserves were re-
evaluated;
the Rosnedra (“State Reserves Commit-
tee”) commission approved the technical 
plan for developing the Pelyatka gas 
condensate deposit;
two exploration wells were drilled; and
geophysical exploration and blasting 
was carried out at two wells;
repairs were carried out at three wells;
seismic exploration was conducted at 
than 19� kilometers. 

The following activities are planned to be 
performed in 2009 at the Pelyatka gas con-
densate deposit: 

repairs of ten wells; and
in-depth appraisal work to determine the 
characteristics of gas condensate fields 
at Pelyatka.

The total production volume by Taimyrgaz in 
2008 was 1,1�� million cubic meters of natu-
ral gas and �9,000 tonnes of gas conden-
sate.

•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

GAs AND GAs cONDENsATE REsERvEs As Of DEcEmBER 31, 2008 

Deposit Reserves (А+В+С1) 
Gas  

(bln m)
Condensate 

(‘000 tonnes)
Ethane 

(‘000 tonnes)
Propane 

(‘000 tonnes)
Butane (‘000 

tonnes)

Pelyatka 2�9 12,��1 12,1�� �,�90 �,�2�

GAs AND GAs cONDENsATE PRODUcTiON

Volume              2008 2007 2006

Natural gas (million m�) 1,1�� 898 ���

Gas condensate (‘000 tonnes) �9 �� �2
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ThE GEOLOGicAL ExPLORATiON AcTiviTiEs 
iN RUssiA ARE mOsTLy cONDUcTED iN ThE 
kRAsNOyARsk AND zABAikALsk REGiONs 
Of siBERiA, As wELL As AT ThE kOLA PENiNsULA 
iN ThE mURmANsk REGiON.

4. GEOLOGicAL ExPLORATiON





ONE Of NORiLsk NickEL’s LARGEsT iNvEsTmENT 
PROjEcTs is ThE DEvELOPmENT Of vARiOUs 
POLymETALLic DEPOsiTs (cONTAiNiNG 
cOPPER, mOLyBDENUm, GOLD AND iRON ORE) 
iN ThE zABAikALsk REGiON: BysTRiNkOyE, 
BUGDAiNskOyE, kULTUmiNskOyE, LUGOkANskOyE 
AND sOLONEchENskOyE
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The geological exploration activities in Rus-
sia are mostly conducted in the Krasnoyarsk 
and Zabaikalsk regions of Siberia, as well as 
at the Kola peninsula in the Murmansk re-
gion. The exploration activities are carried 
out by four specialized subsidiaries of the 
Company.

TAimyR PENiNsULA (kRAsNOyARsk REGiON)

The aim of the geological exploration activi-
ties carried out at the Taimyr Peninsula, is in-
creasing the copper, nickel and other mineral 
resources of the Polar Division and ensuring 
that the whole mining and metallurgical com-
plex in Norilsk is running smoothly. 

mAsLOvskOyE DEPOsiT

Following drilling activities in the 1980s, a 
mass of nickel sulfides of the Norilsk type was 
discovered at a depth of ��0-1,100 meters at 
the Maslovskoye site, 8-10 kilometers south 
of the Bear Springs mine, part of the Norilsk-1 
open-pit project.

Upon completion of the drilling activities at 
Maslovskoye in 2008, a pre-feasibility study 
was drawn up and a resource assessment 
was submitted to the “State Reserves Com-
mittee”.

�. Geological Exploration |

Norilsk

Kayerkan

Valek

Talnakh

mAsLOvskOyE DEPOsiT

mAsLOvskOyE DEPOsiT

OkTyABRsky, TALNAkh, NORiLsk-1 DEPOsiTs

As a result of exploration drilling of operating 
deposits in 2008 (Oktyabsky, Talnakh, No-
rilsk-1), additional ore resources were dis-
covered totaling �.� million tonnes with av-
erage nickel grade �.�2%, copper – �.��%, 
PGMs – 9.88 g/tonne. 

miNERAL REsOURcEs AT ThE mAsLOvskOyE DEPOsiT

Ore (mln tonnes)
Nickel (‘000 tonnes)
Copper (‘000 tonnes)
Cobalt (‘000 tonnes)
Palladium(‘000 ounces)
Platinum (‘000 ounces)
Gold (‘000 ounces)                   
                    

Expected С1+С2 resources

21�
��9

1,1�9
��

��,��1
12,��2

1,�1�

Metal grade
 
 

0.��%
0.��%

0.01�%
�.�2 g/tonne
1.9� g/tonne
0.22 g/tonne
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and five kilometers from the site of the Seve-
ronickel plant.

Last year, the “State Reserves Committee” con-
firmed the deposit’s resources as follows:

kOLA PENiNsULA (mURmANsk REGiON)

Last year, Norilsk Nickel continued its geolog-
ical exploration activities at the Kola Peninsu-
la in order to increase its resource base there. 
The main targets are the Yugo-Vostochnaya 
Gremyakha and Vuruchuaivench deposits.

The Yugo-Vostochnaya Gremyakha titanium 
deposit is in the north of the peninsula, �0 
kilometers outside of Murmansk. It contains 
ilmenite and titanomagnetite.

In 2008, the geological exploration and a fea-
sibility study were completed. In December 
2008, a resource assessment was sent to 
the “State Reserves Committee” for inclusion 
onto its books. The В+С1+С2 resources are 
as follows:

vURUchUAivENch DEPOsiT

The Vuruchuaivench PGM, copper and nickel 
deposit is located in the center of the Kola Pen-
insula, 10 kilometers outside of Monchegorsk 

Murmansk

Monchegorsk

kOLA PENiNsULA (mURmANsk REGiON)

vURUchUAivENch 
DEPOsiT

yUGO-vOsTOchNAyA  
GREmyAkhA DEPOsiT

REsOURcEs AT ThE yUGO-vOsTOchNAyA GREmyAkhA DEPOsiT

Metal type

Ore (‘000 tonnes)
Ti O2 (‘000 tonnes)
Fe (‘000 tonnes)
V2 O� (tonnes)

Metal grade

 
9.�2 %

20.�� %
0.10 %

Resources

���,��1
�9,902

10�,9��
�8�,8��

REsOURcEs AT ThE vURUchUAivENch DEPOsiT

Metal type

Ore (‘000 tonnes)
Nickel (‘000 tonnes)
Copper (‘000 tonnes)
Cobalt (tonnes)
Platinum (‘000 ounces)
Palladium (‘000 ounces)
Gold (‘000 ounces)

С1+ С2 resources

10,�20
21,180

28,2��
��2
1�0 
9�1 

�1 

  Metal grade
 
 
0.20�%
0.2�1%
0.00�%
0.�88 g/t
2.89� g/t
0.1�1 g/t
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The deposit is to be developed by open-pit 
and followed by underground mining. The 
first ore will be processed at an ore-con-
centration plant with a capacity of �20,000 
tonnes per annum, implying an life span of 
19 years. Thereafter, concentrate and other 
metals mined will be processed at Seve-
ronickel and Pechenganickel, both subsid-
iaries of the Kola MMC.

In 2008, the discovery of the Vuruchuaivench 
deposit by Norilsk Nickel was confirmed. 

kiNGAshsky NickEL PROjEcT  
(kRAsNOyARsk REGiON)

The Kingashsky nickel project comprises 
numerous industrial-scale fields of cobalt, 
copper, nickel, PGMs and gold in the 
southern part of the Krasnoyarsk Region, 
280 kilometers from the regional capital of 
Krasnoyarsk and 12� kilometers from the 
railway station of Sayansk (on the Abakan-
Taishet railroad).

The project currently features two deposits: 
Verkhnekingashskoye and Kingashskoye, 
which reserves were confirmed by geological 
exploration activities in 2008, including the 
international auditor Micon International Co 
Limited (“Micon”).

In 2008, the discovery of the Verkhnek-
ingashskoye copper and nickel deposit was 
confirmed. The geological resources in the 
flanks have been added to the state’s books. 
Last year, Norilsk Nickel also applied for a li-
cense to explore and mine the resources at 
the deposit.

In 2008, Norilsk Nickel completed geologi-
cal exploration of Kingashskoye and made 
a preliminary assesment of its В+С1+С2 re-
sources.

This year, Norilsk Nickel intends to complete 
the resource assessment, after which the 

“State Reserves Committee” should confirm 
the numbers and add them to its books.

chiTA PROjEcT (zABAikALsk REGiON)

One of Norilsk Nickel’s largest investment proj-
ects is the development of various polymetal-
lic deposits (containing copper, molybdenum, 
gold and iron ore) in the Zabaikalsk region: 
Bystrinkoye, Bugdainskoye, Kultuminskoye, 
Lugokanskoye and Solonechenskoye. The 
realization of this project will result in the cre-
ation of a major mining complex beyond the 
main areas where the Company traditionally 
operates.

The project is part of a partnership between 
the state and the private sector. The main 
parameters are given in a Passport of project 
approved by government decree 1�08-p (of 
November �0, 200�), with amendments in 
government decree 1�9�-p (of November 10, 
200�). Alongside building ore-concentration 
plants, the project involves laying railroad in-
frastructure to access the deposits.

The creation of Bystrinskoye and Bugdain-
skoye ore-concentration plants should be-
come a hub of the project.

BysTRiNskOyE DEPOsiT

The Bystrinskoye deposit is located in the 
Gazimur-Zavodsky district of the Zabaikalsk 
region. The nearest inhabited areas are the 
Novoshirokinskoye settlement, 1� kilometers 
to the northeast, and Gazimursky Zavod, the 
district center, 2� kilometers to the northwest.

Ore(1), (‘000 tonnes)
Nickel, (‘000 tonnes)
Copper, (‘000 tonnes)
Cobalt, (‘000 tonnes)
Platinum, (‘000 ounces)
Palladium, (‘000 ounces)
Gold, (‘000 ounces)

Resources
 

�8�,��2
2,122

98�
8�

�,�01
�,�0�

9�2

(1) Average nickel content is 0.��–0.��%
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The resources of the deposit under B+C1+C2 
categories are the following: 292,000,000 
tonnes of ore, 2,0��,000 tonnes of copper, 
2�� tonnes of gold, 1,0�0 tonnes of silver, 
�8,000,000 tonnes of iron ore.

As of the end of 2008, the budget allocated 
to build the Bystrinskoye ore-concentration 
plant amounted to USD �9 million, including 
USD �2 million for geological exploration and 
USD � million for planning and surveying. The 
following activities enabled Norilsk Nickel to 
gather the initial information required to plan 
the project:

public meetings have been held to 
discuss the location of the Bystrinskoye 
ore-concentration plant. The head of the 
Gazimursky Zavod municipal body has 
signed an act selecting the site and land-
lease agreements have been signed;
the information required to lease land 
from the Forestry Fund during construc-
tion has been handed to the Forestry 
Commission. Documents are being 
prepared to change the status of land 
plots from residential and agricultural to 
industrial and transportation;
all technical tests have been completed 
and operating procedures devised, as 
well as audited by international experts;
all the surveying needed for stage P has 
been conducted, namely:

checks for barren deposits;
radiation tests on construction sites; 
and
environmental checks;

an assessment of the electricity and 
building material requirements have 
been completed.

BUGDAiNskOyE DEPOsiT

The Bugdainskoye molybdenum deposit is 
located in the Alexandrov-Zavodsky district 
of the Zabaikalsk region on the northern flank 
of the Kukulbeisky mountain range, on the left 
side of the upstream Unda River, between 
its left tributaries, the Kudikan and Bugdaya 
springs.

•

•

•

•

—
—

—
•

In 200�-0�, geological exploration was con-
ducted at the deposit with a view to prepare for 
commercial development. In December 200�, 
the “State Reserve Committee” confirmed 
B+С1+C2 resources of �00,000 tonnes of 
molybdenum, 11 tonnes of gold, 19� tonnes 
of silver and �1,000 tonnes of lead.

As of the end of 2008, the amount budgeted 
to build the Bugdainskoye ore-concentration 
plant amounted to USD 22 million, including 
USD 18 million for geological exploration and 
USD � million for planning and surveying. No-
rilsk Nickel has carried out the following proj-
ect-planning work:

public meetings have been held to dis-
cuss the location of the Bugdainskoye 
ore-concentration plant. The head of the 
Alexandrov-Zavodsky municipal body 
has signed an act selecting the site;
the land-lease agreements have been 
signed with residents for the duration of 
the project-planning work;
the environmental surveys have been 
conducted at the construction site, as 
well as audited by international experts;
various surveying work has been carried 
out, namely:

checks for barren deposits;
geological, geophysical and geode-
sic surveys on the building sites and 
linear structures;
an evaluation of local building materi-
als;
checks for underground water sourc-
es are being completed; and
radiation tests on construction sites. 

kULTUmiNskAyA AREA

The Kultuminskaya area is located in the 
Gazimur-Zavodsky district of the Zabaikalsk 
region, 90 kilometers north of Gazimursky 
Zavod, district center.

Following geochemical, geophysical and 
drilling activities in 200�–2008, the Kul-
tuminskoye polymetallic skarn deposit (con-
taining gold, iron ore, copper and some sil-
ver) was discovered. A pre-feasibility study 

•

•

•

•

—
—

—

—

—
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was conducted and a resource assessment 
was prepared. The “State Reserves Com-
mittee” (Rosnedra) reviewed the study in No-
vember 2008, confirming С1+C2 resources 
of �8�,000 tonnes of copper, 121 tonnes of 
gold, 9�8 tonnes of silver and ��,000,000 
tonnes of iron ore.

As of the end of 2008, the amount set aside 
for geological exploration amounted to USD 
1� million.

LUGOkANskAyA AREA

The Lugokanskaya area is located in the 
Gazimur-Zavodsky district of the Zabaikalsk 
region, 280 kilometers outside of Gazimur-
sky Zavod. The deposit lies in the basin of 
the Budyumkan river, on the east flanks of 
the Gazimursky mountain range.

The Lugokanskoye gold, copper and silver 
skarn deposit was appraised in 200�-08. A 
pre-feasibility study and a resource assess-
ment are being done. The initial informa-
tion suggests С1+C2 resources of �00,000 

sOUTh-EAsT Of zABAikALsk REGiON mAP

Chita

Borzya

Zabaykalsk

Krasnokamensk

Priargunsk

Gazimurksy Zavod

Lugokan

chiNA

Lugokanskaya area
С1+C2 resources: �00,000 tonnes of copper, 
 �0 tonnes of gold and ��0 tonnes of silver
Capacity – 1 million tonnes of ore per annum.

Solonechenskoye ore field
C1+C2 resources: �0,000 tonnes of antimony  
and � tonnes of gold.  
Capacity – 1 million tonnes of ore per annum.

Kultuminskaya area
С1+C2 resources: �8�,000 tonnes of copper,  
121 tonnes of gold, 9�8 tonnes of silver and  
��,000,000 tonnes of iron ore.
Capacity – 8 million tonnes of ore per annum.

Bystrinskoye deposit
B+C1+C2 resources: 292,000,000 tonnes of ore,  
2,0��,000 tonnes of copper, 2�� tonnes of gold,  
1,0�0 tonnes of silver, �8,000,000 tonnes of iron ore.
Capacity –10 million tonnes of ore per annum.

Bugdainskoye deposit
B+С1+C2 resources: �00,000 tonnes  
of molybdenum, 11 tonnes of gold, 19� tonnes  
of silver and �1,000 tonnes of lead.
Capacity –1� million tonnes of ore per annum.

Planned railroad Borzya – Lugokan

Deposits

Potential area of further exploration
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tonnes of copper, �0 tonnes of gold and ��0 
tonnes of silver.

As of the end of 2008, the budget for geologi-
cal exploration amounted to USD 1� million.

sOLONEchENskOyE ORE fiELD

The Solonechenskoye ore field is located in 
the Gazimur-Zavodsky district of the Zabai-
kalsk region, near the Lugokanskaya area.

The on-site geochemical and geophysical re-
search activities started up in 200�, followed 
by evaluation and exploration activities in 
200�–2008. Currently, a pre-feasibility study 
and a resource assessment are being con-
ducted. The initial estimates indicate C1+C2 
resources of �0,000 tonnes of antimony and 
� tonnes of gold.

As of the end of 2008, the amount budgeted 
for geological exploration amounted to USD 
� million.

The exploration activities conducted on the Lu-
gokansky and the Solonechensky deposits 
have not confirmed mineral resources sufficient 
for commercially efficient production. Accord-
ing to the pre-feasibility study, the development 

of the Kultuminsky deposit is efficient at copper 
prices above USD � �00 per tonne.

In 2009, the Company plans to additionally 
study the economic efficiency of the whole Chi-
ta project taking into account the economic 
conditions that have substantially changed.

iNTERNATiONAL cOOPERATiON

In 2008, Norilsk Nickel continued to focus 
on cooperating with a number of the leading 
international mining companies in relation to 
commercial exploration activities.

The Company continued its joint venture with 
Rio Tinto. The aim is to examine the potential 
of copper, porphyry and gold deposits, par-
ticularly in the Far East of Russia.

The joint venture has conducted geological 
exploration and identified possible gold, cop-
per and porphyry targets. 

In 2008, the alliance with BHP Billiton has 
continued exploration activities on a number 
of sites in the Northwest of the Russian Fed-
eration as well as in the Krasnoyarsk region. 

In 2009, the Company plans to review the col-
laboration with Rio Tinto and BHP Billiton.

ExPENsEs’ BUDGET fOR GEOLOGicAL ExPLORATiON

Unit Deposit

Bystrin-
skoye 

Bugdain-
skoye 

Kultu- 
minskoye 

Lugo- 
kanskoye 

Solo-
nechen-

skoye

Total 
 

Geological 
exploration, incl:

US$ mln 32 18 16 17 7 90 

drilling linear m 101,080 �0,2�9 ��,�8� ��,�00 21,18� 28�,912

US$ mln 1� 11 10 10 � �8

mining sq m 1�0,�00 – ���,000 19�,000 1�1,000 8�1,�00

US$ mln 1 – � 1 1 �

technological 
research

US$ mln 1 1 – – – 2 

other US$ mln 1� � � � 2 ��

Surveying work US$ mln 7 4 – – – 11

Total US$ mln 39 22 16 17 7 101
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iN 2008, ThE miNiNG ENTiTiEs Of ThE TAimyR 
PENiNsULA PRODUcED 15 miLLiON TONNEs 
Of ORE.

5. REviEw Of OPERATiNG PERfORmANcE





iN 2008, ThE TOTAL ORE PRODUcED iN ThE 
kOLA PENiNsULA wAs 8.1 miLLiON TONNEs, 
513,000 TONNEs mORE ThAN iN PRiOR yEAR
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GROUP ORE PRODUcTiON (1) (‘000 TONNEs)

2008 2007 2006

Russia 23,183 22,673 21,761

Taimyr Peninsula 1�,0�� 1�,0�� 1�,12�
Kola Peninsula 8,1�9 �,��� �,���

Australia (2) 5,168 4,444 –

Black Swan 2,8�� 2,�8� –
Cawse ��8 1,09� –
Lake Johnston 1,�91 ��9 –
Waterloo 2�� 18� –

Botswana (2)

Tati Nickel 9,�29 �,98� –

USA

Stillwater Mining Company 1,0�0 1,1�9 1,289

Group total, excluding South Africa 39,040 34,272 23,050

South Africa (3)

Nkomati ��� ��2 –

Group total, including South Africa 39,685 34,644 23,050

Notes:

(1) All information is presented for 12 months and based on 

100% ownership of subsidiaries. 

(2) The assets in Australia, Botswana and �0% stake in 

Nkomati (South Africa) were acquired by the Group in 

200�.

(�) Results of Nkomati are presented based on a �0% 

interest. Nkomati is treated as an associate.

GROUP AvERAGE mETAL GRADEs

Nickel, % Copper, % PGM, g/tonne

2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Russia

Taimyr Peninsula 1.�� 1.�� 1.�� 2.�� 2.�� 2.9� 8.�2 8.91 9.�9
Kola Peninsula 0.�9 0.�� 0.�0 0.2� 0.�0 0.�� 0.10 0.10 0.10

Australia (1)

Black Swan 0.8� 0.8� – – – – –
Cawse 0.�9 0.�2 – – – – –
Lake Johnston 1.�� 1.�� – – – – –
Waterloo 2.�� 2.�� – – – – –

Botswana (1)

Tati Nickel 0.29 0.�0 – 0.21 0.2� – – –

USA

Stillwater Mining 
Company – – – – – 1�.�1 1�.9� 1�.2�

South Africa (1)

Nkomati 0.�� 1.11 – 0.2� 0.�8 – 0.�1 0.89 –

Note:

(1) The assets in Australia, Botswana and �0% stake in Nkomati (South Africa) were acquired by the Group in 200�.
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REcOvERy iN cONcENTRATiON

Nickel, % Copper, % PGM, %
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Russia

Taimyr Peninsula 8�.8 8�.� 8�.8 9�.� 9�.� 9�.8 – – –
Kola Peninsula �9.� �0.� ��.� ��.0 �8.� ��.9 – – –

Australia (1)

Black Swan ��.� ��.9 – – – – –
Cawse (2) �8.� 88.1 – – – – –
Lake Johnston �2.8 ��.� – – – – –

Botswana (1)

Tati Nickel 8�.1 8�.� – 8�.� – – ��.1 – –

USA

Stillwater Mining 
Company – – – – – 91.0 91.0 91.0

South Africa (1)

Nkomati �9.0 �0.0 – �9.0 8�.0 – 0.�2 0.�� –

Notes:

(1) The assets in Australia, Botswana and �0% stake in 

Nkomati (South Africa) were acquired by the Group in 

200�.

(2) From ore to Ni-Co carbonate.

REcOvERy iN mETALLURGy

Nickel, % Copper, %
2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Russia

Taimyr Peninsula 92.8 9�.1 9�.1 9�.� 9�.9 9�.8
Kola Peninsula 9�.� 9�.� 9�.1 9�.0 9�.9 9�.�

Finland

Harjavalta (1, 2) 9�.� 9�.2 – 9�.� 9�.� –

Notes:

(1) Harjavalta was aquired by the Group in 200�. 

(2) Includes smelting process.
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GROUP sALEABLE mETAL PRODUcTiON (1) (TONNEs OR As NOTED)

2008 2007
2007  

from the date  
of acquisition (2)

2006

Russia

Nickel 2�2,�02 2��,��� 2��,��� 2��,98�
Copper �00,��� �0�,��� �0�,��� �2�,10�
Palladium (‘000 ounces) 2,�02 �,0�0 �,0�9 �,1��
Platinum (‘000 ounces) ��2 �28 �28 ��2

Australia (2, 6)

Nickel (�) 1�,�28 11,��� �,��9 –

Botswana (2, 6)

Nickel 20,��9 20,8�1 10,09� –
Copper 1�,29� 12,908 �,92� –
Palladium (‘000 ounces) 9� 1�2 �� –
Platinum (‘000 ounces) 19 2� 9 –

Finland (2)

Nickel (�) 29,��� ��,��0 29,��9 –
Copper �,2�0 �,80� �,081 –

USA

Palladium (‘000 ounces) �8� �1� �1� ���
Platinum (‘000 ounces) 11� 12� 12� 1�8
Group total, excluding South Africa (6)

Nickel 297,943 301,298 279,229 243,985
Copper 417,871 423,180 415,472 425,107
Palladium (‘000 ounces) 3,181 3,614 3,517 3,627
Platinum (‘000 ounces) 766 876 861 890

South Africa (3, 6)

Nickel 2,��2 2,0�2 1,1�� –
Copper 1,��� 1,19� ��� –
Palladium (‘000 ounces) 1� 1� � –
Platinum (‘000 ounces) � � � –
Group total, including South Africa (6)

Nickel 300,585 303,370 280,402 243,985
Copper 419,218 424,375 416,128 425,107
Palladium (‘000 ounces) 3,194 3,628 3,524 3,627
Platinum (‘000 ounces) 771 881 864 890

Notes:
(1) All information is presented for 12 months and on 100% 

ownership for subsidiaries, and includes a �0% interest in 
Nkomati, which is treated as an associate.

(2) The assets in Australia, Botswana and �0% stake in 
Nkomati (South Africa) were acquired by the Group in 
200�.

(�) Saleable nickel output only for Lake Johnston, Waterloo 
and partially Black Swan production realized to third parties 
(net of intercompany output of Black Swan and Cawse). 
Metal content in concentrate is shown.

(�) Internal refined nickel production output of Norilsk Nickel 
Harjavalta, not including tolling production of nickel (21,800 
tonnes).

(�) Total may differ from the sum due to rounding. In some 
cases, the figures may differ slightly from those previously 
published.

(�) Metal content in concentrate is shown. Until 2008, the 
Group published results for the entities in Australia, 
Botswana and South Africa based on metal in concentrate 
paid. The production results for previous years have been 
revised based on the methodology used in 2008.
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In 2008, the mining entities of the Taimyr 
Peninsula produced 1� million tonnes of ore, 
which is the same as in 200�.

Ore output changed in all ore grades:

the output of rich ore rose by 129,000 
tonnes (or 1.8%), due to an increased 
production at the Taimyrsky and Ska-
listy mines;
the output of cuprous ore rose by 
�09,000 tonnes (or 9.2%), due to an 
increase in capacity at the Oktyabrsky 
and Komsomolsky mines; and

•

•

RUssiA

ORE PRODUcTiON

TAimyR PENiNsULA ORE PRODUcTiON (‘000 TONNEs)

Ore type 2008 2007 2006

Rich �,1�� �,00� �,2�9
Cuprous �,8�� �,��� �,��0
Disseminated �,0�� �,�8� �,�18

Total (1) 15,033 15,037 14,127

Note:

(1) Total may differ from the sum due to rounding. In 

some cases, the figures may differ slightly from those 

previously published.

BREAkDOwN Of TAimyR PENiNsULA ORE PRODUcTiON iN 2008 (%)

PGM

Copper

Nickel

49 17 23 5 6

57 23 18 11

39 37 21 2 2

Oktyabrsky

Taimyrsky

Talnakh mining department

Medvezhy Ruchey

Zapolyarny

the output of disseminated ore de-
creased by ��2,000 tonnes (or 1�.1%), 
due to lower production at the Za-
polyarny and Medvezhy Ruchey mines. 

Last year, Norilsk Nickel continued the 
expansion of its mining facilities at Komso-
molsky:

the new capacity to extract dissemi-
nated ore was brought on line;
additional facilities were commis-
sioned as part of the project to mine 
the rich-ore flanks; and

•

•

•
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the skip-winding equipment was mo-
dernized.

The Company continued its research, plan-
ning and construction activities for other stra-
tegic projects at the Oktyabrsky, Taimyrsky, 
Mayak, Skalisty and Zapolyarny mines, in-
cluding at:

the Taimyrsky mine, continued activities 
of stripping and mining a part of mineral-
ization zone “Bolshoi Gorst” and “Sever-
naya Vtoraya” in order to replace defunct 
rich-ore mining capacity;
the Oktyabrsky mine, continued activi-
ties to develop and boost cuprous-ore 
mining capacity;
the Skalisty mine, continued activities 
for stripping, preparation and mining of 
rich- and cuprous-ores, including the 
construction of a VS-10 ventilation shaft; 
and
the Zapolyarny mine, continued activities 
to increase disseminated-ore output of 
the Norilsk-1 deposit to replace defunct 
disseminated-ore mining capacity.

cONcENTRATiON

The existing production facilities of the two 
concentrators in the Taimyr Peninsula en-
sure the processing of 1�.� million tonnes of 
ore (rich, cuprous and disseminated) and up 
to 9�0,000 tonnes of industrial raw materials 
(previously stored pyrrhotite concentrate) per 
year.

In 2008, the Company slightly reduced the re-
covery rates in concentration for base metals. 
The recovery rate of collective concentrate 
was 8�.8% for nickel (– 0.8%) and 9�.�% for 
copper (– 0.2%).

The reduction in recovery rates of the Tal-
nakh Concentrator was primarily due to the 
processing of large amounts of cuprous ore 
from the Oktyabrsky mine (up 2�.2% in com-
parison with prior year). The nickel recovery to 
collective concentrate from the ore, using tra-
ditional technology, is much lower than from 
rich ore.

•

•

•

•

•

The reduction in recovery rates of the Norilsk 
Concentrator was primarily due to the pro-
cessing of more hard-to-process pyrrhotite 
concentrate with a lower nickel content than 
in 200�.

Last year, the Company completed testing of 
more advanced concentration technologies 
aimed at increasing nickel recovery to con-
centrate and reducing the amount of sulfide 
sent for smelting. A technical plan to modern-
ize the Talnakh Concentrator was prepared. 
The aim is to boost the annual processing ca-
pacity up to 10.� million tonnes of ore, using 
the new technology.

The program to develop production assets 
last year also included investment projects to 
rebuild the Norilsk Concentrator and boost 
the annual processing capacity up to 8.2 mil-
lion tonnes of ore and 1.� million tonnes of 
stockpiled pyrrhotite concentrate. The plan is 
to complete the work in 2009.

mETALLURGy

In 2008, the metallurgical plants of the Tai-
myr Peninsula continued to streamline their 
technological processes and modernize their 
main equipment.

At the Nadezhda Metallurgical Plant, on the 
first production line, the flash smelter was re-
built and the waste-heat boiler was modern-
ized.

The recovery rates at the metallurgical plants 
of the Taimyr Peninsula decreased by 0.�1% 
for nickel and 0.22% for copper. This results 
from the need to redirect raw materials, as the 
Nadezhda Metallurgical Plant’s first construc-
tion line was overhauled, and the tailings pro-
cessing section was being modernized.

Last year, the production of refined nickel and 
copper remained unchanged. 
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vALERy mATviENkO

fiRsT DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR – mEmBER 
Of ThE mANAGEmENT BOARD siNcE 
DEcEmBER 26, 2008

BORN ON jUNE 21, 1955. 

GRADUATED iN 1977 fROm ThE ORDzhONikiDzE 
siBERiAN mETALLURGicAL iNsTiTUTE wiTh A 
DEGREE As A mETALLURGisT AND ENGiNEER iN 
fERROUs mETALLURGy.

fROm 2002 TO 2003 – DiREcTOR fOR 
PRODUcTiON Of Ojsc RUssiAN ALUmiNUm 
mANAGEmENT. 

fROm 2003 TO 2005, iN vARiOUs yEARs sERvED 
As PRODUcTiON DiREcTOR, DEPUTy GENERAL 
DiREcTOR fOR PRODUcTiON AND DEPUTy 
GENERAL DiREcTOR fOR ThE ALUmiNUm 
BUsiNEss Of LLc RUsAL mANAGEmENT 
cOmPANy. 

iN 2005 – DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR fOR 
ENGiNEERiNG AND cONsTRUcTiON BUsiNEss Of 
LLc RUsAL mANAGEmENT cOmPANy. 

fROm 2005 TO 2008 – GENERAL DiREcTOR Of 
LLc RUssiAN ENGiNEERiNG cOmPANy. 

fROm 2007 TO 2008 – DiREcTOR fOR 
ENGiNEERiNG AND cONsTRUcTiON BUsiNEss 
AND mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT BOARD Of 
cjsc RUsAL GLOBAL mANAGEmENT B.v.

fROm 2008 UNTiL ThE PREsENT – fiRsT  
DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR AND mEmBER 
Of ThE mANAGEmENT BOARD Of Ojsc mmc 
NORiLsk NickEL.
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The main strategic goal of the mining and metallurgical Business Unit is to 
maintain sustainable production profile in the long term, keeping the costs 
under strict control. 
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kOLA PENiNsULA

ORE PRODUcTiON

In 2008, the total ore produced in the Kola 
Peninsula was 8.1 million tonnes, �1�,000 
tonnes more than in prior year. The output from 
the Tsentralny mine fell by 91�,000 tonnes, or 
20.�%.

Meanwhile, mining activities continued at the 
Severny mine to utilize the first and second lines 
of the second start-up facility, brought online in 
200�. The annual capacity was raised to 2.� mil-
lion tonnes of ore. This compensated the drop in 
ore output at the Tsentralny mine as its reserves 
were exhausted. Work also continued to build 
facilities at the Kaula-Kotselvaara mine and thus 
extract the remaining reserves at the Kotsel-
vaara-Kammikivi and Semiletka deposits. 

cONcENTRATiON

The recovery rates on the Kola Peninsula 
dipped slightly in 2008, as more hard-to-
process finely disseminated ore with a com-
plex morphology was used in the feedstock. 
The metal content of the feedstock also de-
creased, by 0.0�% for nickel and 0.0�% for 
copper. 

This year, in order to stabilize and increase the 
recovery rates at the Kola concentrator, the 
Gipronickel Institute and Lakefield Research 
Limited intend to continue the research and 
development of the technology required to 
concentrate the talcose, finely disseminated 
sulfide copper and nickel ores, discovered in 
the Pechengsk industrial district. In order to 
find the most efficient technology, plans will 
be submitted for expert review.
The new technology is expected to:

increase the nickel content in concen-
trate up to 12–1�%;
reduce the magnesium oxide content to 
no more than �%;

•

•

boost nickel recovery by �–�%; and
reduce volumes of and thus spending on 
pyrrhotite concentrate processing.

mETALLURGy

The projects to modernize the metallurgical 
production on the Kola Peninsula continued. 
This included the overhaul of the pelleting and 
roasting unit, in order to move to new briquet-
ting technology.

The activities on the first briquetting line and 
the launch of operations is expected to com-
mence by the end of the first half of 2010. For 
the second briquetting line, it is expected to 
be launched by the end of 2010. 

mETAL PRODUcTiON iN RUssiA

In 2008, the Company’s Russian entities pro-
duced ca. 2�2,000 tonnes of nickel, a de-
crease of 0.9% compared to prior year, and ca. 
�00,000 tonnes of copper, a decrease of 1.0%. 
The most significant change in production was 
for PGMs, whose output fell by 1�.1%.

•
•

BREAkDOwN Of kOLA PENiNsULA ORE PRODUcTiON iN 2008 (%)

PGM

Copper

Nickel

28 54 18

25 60 15

30 56 14

Tsentralny

Severny

Kaula-Kotselvaara
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The main reasons behind the drop in metal 
output in Russia were the lower metal con-
tent of mined ores and lower recovery rates 
at the concentration stage, resulting from 

mETAL PRODUcTiON ON ThE TAimyR AND kOLA PENiNsULAs (TONNEs OR As NOTED)

2008 2007 2006

Taimyr Peninsula

Nickel 122,000 118,809 121,��0

Nickel in nickel concentrate to Norilsk Nickel 
Harjavalta

– �,�2� – 

Copper ��8,�11 ��8,��� ��1,180

Kola Peninsula

Nickel 110,�02 11�,��� 122,2��
from own ore �8,�0� �8,22� ��,00�

from materials of the Taimyr Peninsula �1,99� ��,�22 8�,2�9

Copper �1,8�� ��,0�0 ��,92�

from own ore 18,��� 19,�9� 1�,928
from materials of the Taimyr Peninsula ��,0�� ��,��� ��,999

GROUP TOTAL iN RUSSiA

Nickel 232,302 234,454 243,985

Nickel in nickel concentrate to Norilsk Nickel 
Harjavalta

– 3,627 – 

Copper 400,344 404,465 425,107

Palladium (‘000 ounces) 2,702 3,050 3,164

Platinum (‘000 ounces) 632 728 752

the changes in structure of material fed and 
stockpiled pyrrhotite concentrate, due to lim-
ited concentrating capacity.

AUsTRALiA

In 2008, Lake Johnston, Black Swan, Water-
loo and Cawse were managed by the Group. 
Following a rise in operating expenses and 
the slump in the nickel price, production was 
put on “care and maintenance” for an indefi-
nite period of time as from October 2008 for 
Cawse. For Silver Swan (part of Black Swan) 
and Waterloo as from November 2008, and 
for Lake Johnston and Black Swan as from 
February 2009.

miNiNG AND cONcENTRATiON

Mining activities were carried out at the Caw- 
se laterite facility and three sulfide operations:

Lake Johnston, at the Maggie Hays 
underground mine;
Black Swan, at the Silver Swan under-
ground mine and the Black Swan open 
pit; and
Waterloo, at the underground mine. 

The production at all Australian operations in 
2008 increased substantially with more than 
0.� million tonnes of ore (or 1�%) compared to 
prior year, despite the decision to put Cawse, 
Silver Swan and Waterloo on “care and main-
tenance” in the fourth quarter of 2008. 

In 2008, Black Swan produced 2.8 million 
tonnes of ore, which represented an increase 
of 19%. The output of saleable nickel amoun-

•

•

•
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ted to 1�,�00 tonnes, which is 10% higher 
than budgeted. Out of this total production, 
ca. 1�,800 tonnes was sent for refining to No-
rilsk Nickel Harjavalta and the remaining 8�� 
tonnes was sold to BHP Billiton. 

Cawse mined 0.� million tonnes of ore less 
than in 200�, and the output of saleable nickel 
was 1,�00 tonnes. The drop in nickel produc-
tion was due to a disruption in gas supplies in 
Western Australia in June and the decision to 

put Cawse on “care and maintenance” in Oc-
tober in the environment of plummeting nickel 
price and soaring production costs. 

Lake Johnston mined 1.� million tonnes of 
ore, produced 8,800 tonnes of saleable nickel 
from its own operations.

Waterloo produced 2��,000 tonnes of ore, 
which is ��% more than budgeted, and �,800 
tonnes of saleable nickel.

ORE PRODUcTiON iN AUsTRALiA (%)

Black Swan

Lake Johnston

Cawse

Waterloo

55%

27%

13%

5%

100% = �.2 million tonnes

sALEABLE NickEL PRODUcTiON iN AUsTRALiA (1, 3) (TONNEs)

2008 2007
2007  

from date of 
acquisition

Black Swan (2) (sold to third parties) 8�� – –
Lake Johnston 8,8�9 �,800 2,�8�
Waterloo �,81� �,��� 2,��2

GROUP TOTAL iN AUSTRALiA 15,528 11,433 5,339

Notes:

(1) The Australian assets were aquired by the Group in 200�. 

(2) Saleable nickel from Black Swan includes sales to third 

parties only, ie it does not include any intergroup supplies 

to Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta. 

(�) Metal content in concentrate is shown.
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BOTswANA

TATi NickEL

The Group presents operating results of Tati 
Nickel in full, although its stake in Tati Nickel 
amounts to 8�%.

PhOENix

In 2008, the ore output from the Phoenix 
open-pit mine totaled 9.� million tonnes. The 
nickel grade in mined ore was lower than ex-
pected, at 0.29%.

The construction of the main concentrator 
was completed last year. The concentrator 
employs Dense Media Separation (DMS) 
technology and has an annual capacity of 12 
million tonnes.

The aim of the modernization was to increase 
the annual filtration and thickening capacity 
from �00,000 tonnes to �00,000 tonnes of 
concentrate. Ultimately, the project was ex-
panded to include the production of concen-
trate with a low nickel content and concen-
trate rich in nickel, while ensuring minimum 
losses in the recovery rates.

Overall, last year, Phoenix produced ��2,000 
tonnes of concentrate with an average nickel 
content of �.�%.

sELkiRk

The Selkirk underground mine is currently 
put on “care and maintenance”. In 2008, the 
research into the immediate or delayed com-
missioning of an open-pit was completed.

Regular inspections and ground subsidence 
monitoring were carried out in 2008.

fiNLAND

fEEDsTOck sUPPLiEs

In 2008, the capacity utilization at the Norilsk 
Nickel Harjavalta refinery decreased in com-
parison with prior year due to lower feedstock 

supplies. The amount of nickel concentrate 
processed under the tolling agreement with 
Inco (Vale) was in line with the production 
plans. The three year agreement will end in 
mid 2009.

An investment project aimed at building a new 
leaching and concentrate-reprocessing line 
was launched in 2008. This should enable the 
refinery to boost its refining capacity in the fu-
ture.

Refining volumes at Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta 
are expected to rise, once deliveries of con-
centrate begin from the Talvivaara deposit in 
Finland, which is expected in course of 2009.

NORiLsk NickEL hARjAvALTA cAPAciTy 
UTiLizATiON (%)
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80

�0

�0
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mETAL PRODUcTiON

Last year, Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta produced 
�1,100 tonnes of refined nickel and hit a new 
monthly output record of �,�00 tonnes in No-
vember. The amount of own processed ma-
terials amounted to 29,�00 tonnes and the 
volume under tolling agreements amounted to 
21,800 tonnes.

Meanwhile, last year the refinery began the 
project to expand briquette production ca-
pacity to �0,000 tonnes this year.

�. Review of Operating Performance |
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In 2008, the refinery continued its strate-
gic partnership with the Harjavalta Boliden 
smelter, which processes copper and nickel 
concentrates. Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta also 

NORiLsk NickEL hARjAvALTA NickEL OUTPUT (%)

Cathodes, briquettes

Tolling agreement  
with Inco (Vale)

Chemicals

44%

43%

13%

100% = �1,000 tonnes

NORiLsk NickEL hARjAvALTA mETAL PRODUcTiON (1) (TONNEs)

2008 2007 
2007  

from date of 
acquisition

Saleable nickel from own production, including: 29,344 34,550 29,339
intergroup supplies from Australia: 1�,22� 1�,��0 11,��1

Black Swan 1�,81� 1�,20� �,��1

Cawse 1,�09 �,��� �,010

Purchases from third parties 1�,120 1�,990 1�,�88

Saleable nickel from tolling 21,768 20,414 17,098
Saleable copper from own production 4,230 5,807 5,081

Note:

(1) Harjavalta was aquired by the Group in 200�.

has agreements to process copper cake and 
cobalt semi-finished products with Kokkola 
Chemicals Oy.

UsA

sTiLLwATER miNiNG cOmPANy

Last year, Stillwater Mining Company pro-
duced �99,000 ounces of PGMs, includ-
ing ��9,000 ounces from the Stillwater op-
erations and 1�0,000 ounces from the East 

Boulder operations. In 200�, PGMs output 
totaled ���,000 ounces.

The fall stemmed from a drop in overall metal 
content at Stillwater Mine, a short-term dis-
ruption to mining and further restructuring at 
operations at East Boulder Mine and lower 
output in the fourth quarter.
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sOUTh AfRicA

NkOmATi

Nkomati is a joint venture with the African 
Rainbow Minerals. For accounting purposes 
Norilsk Nickel treats Nkomati as an associ-
ate.

miNiNG AND cONcENTRATiON

In 2008, the sulfide nickel ore output amount-
ed to 1.291 million tonnes of ore at a grade 
of 0.��% nickel (100% of output). The con-
centrator plant treated 1.288 million tonnes of 
ore (100% of output). Additionally, the entity 
mined around 1.1 million tonnes of oxidised 
chrome material overlying the nickel bearing 
ore. The chrome production significantly sup-
ported the cash flows of the operations dur-
ing 2008 and generated revenue of USD �9.2 
million from chrome ore sales.

In September 200�, the joint venture partners 
approved the “Nkomati Phase 2 Large Scale 
Expansion” in order to increase the average 
annual nickel production to 20,�00 tonnes 
per annum (from �,000 tonnes per annum) 
and to extend the life of the mine by 18 years 
till 202�.

This “Phase 2 Large Scale Mining Expan-
sion” will exploit two zones of the large layered 
polymetallic disseminated sulfide resource, 
which contains some 900,000 tonnes of 
nickel. The first zone – Main Mineralized Zone 
(MMZ) – is being exploited by underground 
and open-pit mining during the interim expan-
sion phase. The second zone – the Peridotite 

Chromititic Mineralised Zone (PCMZ) – is to 
be developed as an open-pit basis. In addi-
tion to nickel, the project involves the produc-
tion of by-products, such as copper, cobalt, 
chrome and platinum group metals. 

The mining activities will continue from the un-
derground mine, at the rate of ��,000 tonnes 
per month, and the development of two new 
open-pits, which will produce ��8,000 tonnes 
of ore per month, at steady-state production. 

A new ���,000 tonnes per month concen-
trator (Phase 2a) will be constructed and the 
current 100,000 tonnes per month concen-
trator will be upgraded to 2�0,000 tonnes per 
month (phase 2b) to process the PCMZ ore. 
This will result in an overall concentrator ca-
pacity of �2�,000 tonnes per month. The full 
scale production process is expected to be 
launched in 2011. In addition to the nickel pro-
duction, it is planned to produce 9,000 tonnes 
of copper and 110,000 ounces of platinum 
group metals annually.

sTiLLwATER miNiNG cOmPANy mETAL PRODUcTiON (1) (‘000 OUNcEs)

2008 2007 2006

Palladium �8� �1� ���

Platinum 11� 12� 1�8

Note:

(1) This excludes secondary material processed, which 

amouted to �98,000 ounces of catalytic material in 2008, 

up slightly from the ���,000 ounces in 200�.
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ThE mAiN iNvEsTmENT GOALs sET By 
mANAGEmENT iN 2008 wERE ThE cONsTRUcTiON 
Of miNiNG fAciLiTiEs AND imPLEmENTATiON Of 
ENviRONmENTAL mEAsUREs.

6. cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs





iN 2008, ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs 
AmOUNTED TO UsD 2,127 miLLiON



��

BREAkDOwN Of ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs (miLLiON Us DOLLARs)

Group’s capital investments (1) 2008 2007 2006

Russia (2) 1,��� ��� ���
Australia (�) 10� 9� –

Botswana (�) ��0 291 –

Finland �0 1� –
USA (�) 82 88 98

GROUP TOTAL, ExCLUDiNG SOUTH AFRiCA 2,053 1,254 874

South Africa �� �� –

GROUP TOTAL, iNCLUDiNG SOUTH AFRiCA 2,127 1,288 874

Notes:

(1) The assets in Australia, Botswana, Finland and �0% stake 

in Nkomati (South Africa) were acquired by the Group in 

200�.

(2) The data represents management accounts and does not 

include capital investments of OGK-�.

(�) IFRS data was adjusted for the sum of the prepaid 

expenses on dismantling of the equipment and restoration 

of the site upon termination of an operation.

(�) IFRS data was adjusted for the sum of the operational 

leasing classified under IFRS as a financial leasing.

(�) Stillwater Mining Company’s data is presented according 

to GAAP.

RUssiA

BREAkDOwN Of ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs (1) iN RUssiA (miLLiON Us DOLLARs)

Purpose 2008 2007 2006 

Production assets 1,127 524 433
Mining ��� 288 21�

Concentration 2� 29 ��

Metallurgy 1�8 �8 ��

Auxiliary facilities ��� 1�9 1�9

Non-production assets 15 32 80

Equipment not included in construction budget 
and for the replacement of obsolete equipment 334 210 263

GROUP TOTAL iN RUSSiA 1,476 766 776

Note:

(1) Capital investments do not include prepaid expenses 

like exploration, research and development, automated 

control systems and long-term financial investments.

�. Capital investments |
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The main investment goals set by manage-
ment in 2008 were: 

constructing mining facilities to strip and 
develop new ore deposits, increase ore 
mining output, replace decommissioned 
capacity and introduce new technology. 
This includes: 

continuing to build the Skalisty mine 
(Taimyr Peninsula) and prepare to 
mine the deep ores;
increasing the productivity of the skip 
winches at the Taimyrsky and Kom-
somolsky mines, after overhauling 
the equipment; and

•

—

—

BREAkDOwN Of ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs iN RUssiA By TyPE

Production assets

Equipment not included  
in construction budget 
and for the replacement of 
obsolete equipment

Non-production assets

76%

23%

1%

BREAkDOwN Of ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs iN PRODUcTiON AssETs iN RUssiA

Auxiliary

Mining

Metallurgy

Concentration

51%

33%

14%

2%

continuing the construction of the 
Severny Gluboky mine (Kola Penin-
sula).

modernizing and re-equipping the 
concentrators and metallurgical facilities. 
This includes: 

continuing decommission the nickel 
sintering and smelting shops at the 
Nickel Plant and boost pyrometal-
lurgical capacity at the Nadezhda 
Metallurgical Plant to treat all nickel 
material; and

—

•

—
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improving the oxygen-supply at the 
metallurgical facilities.

Implementing environmental measures, 
including new technology to reduce 
emissions.

In 2008, the Group’s capital investments in 
Russian operations amounted to USD 1,��� 
million, of which USD 1,12� million was spent 
on building production facilities.

miNiNG

Last year, Norilsk Nickel invested USD ��� 
million in developing its mining operations. 
The majority of this, ca. USD �0� million, was 
spent on building, repairing and modernizing 
the facilities on the Taimyr Peninsula.

TAimyR PENiNsULA

In 2008, various investment projects contin-
ued at the main mining operations.

USD 118 million was budgeted to maintain and 
expand capacity at the Skalisty mine. Out of 
this amount:

USD 91 million was used to replace the 
depleted reserves and to mining rich and 
cuprous ore; and
USD 2� million was used to strip, pre-
pare and mine the rich- and cuprous-ore 
mines at the Talnakhsky deposit and the 
deep mines at the Oktyabrsky deposit.

USD �� million was budgeted to maintain and 
expand capacity at the Taimyrsky mine, of 
which:

USD 29 million was spent on stripping 
new horizons (at depths of 1,�00 and 
1,�00 meters) and replacing old capacity;
USD 1� million was spent on stripping 
and developing part of the Bolshoi Gorst 
deposit, which will help to compen-
sate for the old capacity to the tune of 
800,000 tonnes of solid sulfide ore per 
year. The project is due to be completed 
in 2012; and

—

•

•

•

•

•

DyNAmics Of ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL 
iNvEsTmENTs iN RUssiA, 
miLLiON Us DOLLARs
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Auxiliary

Metallurgy

Mining

Concentration

USD 8 million was spent on modern-
izing the Taimyrsky mine: re-equipping, 
introducing safety measures, installing 
a communication system between the 
surface and underground, and boosting 
annual productivity to �.� million tonnes 
of ore.

USD �� million was budgeted to maintain and 
expand capacity at the Komsomolsky mine. 
Out of this amount:

USD 21 million was invested in new skip-
winching equipment;
USD 1� million was spent on mining rich 
and cuprous ore from the flanks; and

•

•

•
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USD 9 million was spent on increasing 
output of disseminated ore.

USD �� million was budgeted to maintain and 
expand capacity at the Oktyabrsky mine. Out 
of this amount:

USD 2� million was spent on expanding 
annual production capacity for cuprous 
ore to � million tonnes, which is expected 
to be reached in 201�;
USD � million was spent on opening, 
preparing and mining a cuprous-ore 
area, with an annual production target of 
1.� million tonnes; and
USD � million was used for installing a 
communications system between the 
surface and underground and on intro-
ducing safety procedures.

At the Angidrit mine, USD 2� million was bud-
geted to maintain and expand production ca-
pacity at 1.� million tonnes per year.

USD 20 million was spent on increasing out-
put of disseminated ore at the Zapolyarny 
mine at the Norilsk-1 deposit.

USD � million was spent on the project to 
use the dump tailings from the Talnakh con-
centrator to fill the area mined at the Talnakh 
deposit. The aim is to improve the productiv-
ity of the filling divisions at Talnakh, to reduce 
tailing stockpiles and to gradually replace the 
system of filling divisions with technology that 
allows anhydrite-free stockpiling.

USD � million was allocated to various other 
projects, including the preparation of project 
documentation for future investment proj-
ects.

kOLA PENiNsULA

In 2008, Norilsk Nickel invested USD �1 mil-
lion in developing the ore base of the Kola 
Peninsula.

USD �0 million was spent on building the 
Severny-Gluboky underground mine, which 
is due to replace the decommissioned Tsen-

•

•

•

•

tralny mine and ensure that the Kola repro-
cessing facilities run optimally. The designed 
capacity is expected to be reached in 2012.

USD 1 million was spent on the project to ex-
tract the remaining reserves from the Kotsel-
vaara-Kammikivi and Semiletka (Kaula-Kot-
selvaara) mines.

OThER PROjEcTs

Last year, Norilsk Nickel invested USD 11 mil-
lion in creating the infrastructure required to 
exploit the mineral resources in the southeast 
of Zabaikalsk region. As part of a private state 
partnership, the work involves laying a new 
railroad between Borzya and Lugokan and 
building and bringing to design capacity five 
mining and concentrating plants: Bugdains-
koye, Bystrinskoye, Kultuminskoye, Lugokan-
skoye and Solonechenskoye.

cONcENTRATiON

TAimyR PENiNsULA

Last year, the Group invested USD 2� million 
in developing the concentration facilities on 
the Taimyr Peninsula. Most of this was used 
on the ongoing overhaul at the Norilsk and 
Talnakh concentrators, where the aim is to 
handle more disseminated and cuprous ore 
and streamline the tailing storage.

kOLA PENiNsULA

USD 1 million was invested in improving effi-
ciencies at the local concentrator.

mETALLURGy

TAimyR PENiNsULA

Last year, Norilsk Nickel invested USD 1�0 
million in the metallurgical production on the 
Taimyr Peninsula. 

Efforts to decommission the nickel sintering 
and smelting shops at the Nickel Plant and 
boost pyrometallurgical capacity at the Na-
dezhda Metallurgical Plant continued. The 
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goal is to process all nickel ore, including 
scrap and help to improve the environment in 
the Norilsk industrial area.

USD 120 million was allocated for projects at 
the Nadezhda Metallurgical Plant, of which: 

USD �1 million was spent on boosting 
pyrometallurgical capacity to process all 
nickel ore from the Taimyr Peninsula; and
USD �9 million was spent on repairing 
the oxygen stations, which involved fit-
ting air-separation units with capacities 
of 22,000 and �0,000 nm� per hour.

USD 1� million was budgeted to complete 
projects at the Copper Plant. Out of this total:

USD � million was invested in building a 
water-treatment facility;
USD � million was spent on repairing the 
gas supply system;
USD � million was spent on overhaul-
ing cooling towers 1 and 2 to reduce 
the environmental impact on the Norilsk 
industrial area;
USD 1 million was invested in equipment 
to extract sulfide and bisulfide reagent 
from the gases from the Vanunkov fur-
nance, as part of the project to decom-
mission the nickel sintering and smelting 
shops of the Nickel Plant and boost 
capacity at the Nadezhda Metallurgi-
cal Plant in order to process all nickel 
concentrate;
USD 1 million was spent on improving 
the area around the site; and
USD 1 million was allocated for other 
work aimed at ensuring the secure, 
uninterrupted functioning of the Copper 
Plant.

USD � million was spent on repairing the 
chimneys at the Nickel Plant. This was need-
ed before they could be decommissioned for 
a long period.

More than USD 1 million was spent on other 
projects, including the preparation of project 
documentation for future investment proj-
ects.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

kOLA PENiNsULA

Last year, Norilsk Nickel invested USD 18 mil-
lion in the metallurgical production on the Kola 
Peninsula. Out of this total:

USD � million was spent on a project to 
gradually replace reinforced concrete 
tanks with polymer concrete ones, in the 
nickel electrolysis shop. The aim is to de-
crease repair costs, nickel losses and the 
cost of power supplies and consumables;
USD � million was spent on overhaul-
ing the roasting division to produce 
hardened briquettes, which will reduce 
sulfur dioxide emissions in the city of 
Zapolyarny;
USD � million was used to repair the 
nickel electrolysis unit to boost annual 
output of cathode nickel to 120,000 
tonnes. This will reduce operating costs, 
output waste and nickel loss; 
USD � million was spent on planning 
a project to modernize metallurgical 
production and revamp sulfur produc-
tion; and

Approximately USD 2 million was invested in 
other projects.

iNvEsTmENT iN AUxiLiARy fAciLiTiEs

Last year, the investment in auxiliary facili-
ties totaled USD ��� million. The bulk of this 
amount was spent on completing the Com-
pany’s new transport and logistics system; 
supplying the Taimyr and Kola peninsulas and 
the residential areas of the Norilsk industrial 
district with heat, power, water and sewage 
facilities; streamlining production; and im-
proving security.

USD �0� million was budgeted for developing 
transport and logistics. Out of this total:

USD ��� million was spent on build-
ing an icebreaking fleet, the core of the 
Company’s new transport and logistics 
system;
USD 20 million was spent on building 
and modernizing the infrastructure at 

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Alykel Airport, in line with modern safety 
standards; 
USD � million was spent on replacing 
equipment at Yenisei River Shipping to 
ensure that the entity operates stably 
and securely; and
USD � million was spent on maintain-
ing and modernizing the Transport and 
Logistics Business unit.

USD 92 million was invested in the Energy 
Business Unit, of which:

USD �2 million was used to continue 
exploiting the Pelyatkinskoye gas con-
densate deposit on the Taimyr Penin-
sula. The development of the deposit is 
currently at the pre-industrial production 
stage. The full scale production at the 
Pelyatkinskoye gas condensate deposit 
will provide enough gas to supply power 
to both the Group’s entities and resi-
dents in the Norilsk industrial district;
USD 21 million was spent on building 
new gas and gas condensate pipelines 
from Pelyatkinskoye deposit to Dudinka. 
This will reduce the risk of accidents 
when transporting gas and gas conden-
sate, improve throughput and create the 
reserve needed for both supplying and 
transporting gas; 
USD 1� million was invested in explora-
tion drilling;
USD 11 million was spent on repairing 
and maintaining heat generation facilities 
in the Norilsk industrial district; and
USD 1 million was invested in projects to 
automate the production process.

USD �� million was spent on building facili-
ties for the Mining and Metallurgical Business 
Unit. This included work to secure production 
units, to automate management systems, and 
to implement energy projects. Out of this to-
tal:

USD 2� million was spent on projects on 
the Taimyr Peninsula; and
USD 20 million was spent on projects on 
the Kola Peninsula. 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

USD � million was spent on maintaining 
existing oil depots, to bring them in line with 
current safety standards and ensure uninter-
rupted supplies of oil products for the Group.

USD � million was allocated for projects to 
streamline wholesale and retail operations in 
the Norilsk industrial district.

USD � million was invested in the Geology 
Business Unit. Out of this total: 

USD � million was spent on expanding 
production in the city of Chita and the 
settlement of Gazimursky Zavod; and
some USD 2 million was spent on build-
ing a geological exploration base at the 
Kingashskaya mining company. 

USD 2 million was allocated to the Research 
and Engineering Business Unit.

NON-PRODUcTiON AssETs

USD 1� million was spent on building non-
production facilities, to improve the infra-
structure and living conditions for employees, 
and on social projects in the Norilsk industrial 
district.

EqUiPmENT NOT iNcLUDED iN ThE cONsTRUc-
TiON BUDGET AND fOR ThE REPLAcEmENT Of 
OBsOLETE EqUiPmENT

In 2008, USD ��� million was invested in 
equipment not included in construction 
budget and for the replacement of obsolete 
equipment.

USD 200 million was budgeted to buy equip-
ment for the Mining and Metallurgical Busi-
ness Unit.

TAimyR PENiNsULA

USD 1�� million was invested in equipment 
that is for the replacement of obsolete equip-
ment on the Taimyr Peninsula, and not in-
cluded in the construction budget. Out of this 
total:

•

•
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USD �� million was spent on mining and 
drilling equipment;
USD �� million was spent on mechanical 
and technological equipment;
USD 21 million was spent on lifting and 
transportation equipment;
USD 1� million was spent on power 
equipment;
USD 10 million was spent on automating 
equipment;
USD � million was spent on IT equipment;
USD � million was spent on control and 
analytical equipment; and
USD 2 million was spent on auxiliary 
equipment.

kOLA PENiNsULA

USD �� million was invested in equipment, 
that is for the replacement of obsolete equip-
ment on the Kola Peninsula and not included 
in the construction budget. Out of this total: 

USD 2� million was spent on mining and 
drilling equipment;
USD 1� million was spent on heavy and 
transportation equipment;
USD 8 million was spent on auxiliary and 
technological equipment;
USD � million was spent on general plant 
and chemical equipment; 

•

•

•

•

•

•
•

•

•

•

•

•

USD � million was spent on power 
equipment; and
Around USD 2 million was spent on com-
munications and control and analytical 
equipment.

USD 1�� million was spent on equipment 
needed to support the subsidiaries and affili-
ates. Out of this total:

USD �1 million was invested in the Trans-
port and Logistics Business Unit;
USD �9 million was invested in the En-
ergy Business Unit;
USD 2� million was invested in the Geol-
ogy Business Unit;
USD 10 million was invested in the units 
run by the head office and the Polar Divi-
sion;
USD � million was invested in the Con-
struction Business Unit;
USD � million was invested in the Main-
tenance Business Unit;
USD � million was invested in the Sup-
port Business Unit; and
USD 1 million was invested in the Re-
search and Engineering Business Unit.

AUsTRALiA

In 2008, Norilsk Nickel’s capital investments 
in Australia amounted to USD 10� million.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

BREAkDOwN Of ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs iN AUsTRALiA iN 2008 (miLLiON Us DOLLARs)

Purpose Capital investments

Production assets 73
Mining �9

Concentration 10

Auxiliary facilities �

Non-production assets 32

GROUP TOTAL iN AUSTRALiA (1) 105

Note:

(1) IFRS data was adjusted for the sum of the prepaid 

expenses on dismantling of the equipment and 

restoration of the site upon termination of an operation.

�. Capital investments |
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miNiNG

USD �9 million was invested in mining opera-
tions, including:

USD 1� million on developing the Silver 
Swan underground mine, part of Black 
Swan mine;
USD 12 million on building the Maggie 
Hays underground mine, part of Lake 
Johnston mine;
USD 10 million on geological exploration 
around Waterloo mine;
USD � million on developing Waterloo 
mine and assessing its reserves;
USD � million on geological exploration 
around Black Swan mine;
USD � million on geological exploration 
around Lake Johnston mine;
USD � million on developing mining at 
Cawse mine; and
USD 2 million on geological exploration 
around Cawse mine.

cONcENTRATiON

USD 10 million was invested in concentration 
operations, including:

USD � million on concentration equip-
ment for Black Swan mine;
USD � million on concentration equip-
ment for Lake Johnston mine; and
USD 2 million on the Avalon project, aimed 
at supplying Black Swan’s water needs.

AUxiLiARy fAciLiTiEs

Investment in auxiliary facilities amounted to 
USD � million.

NON-PRODUcTiON AssETs

Norilsk Nickel spent USD �2 million on non-
production assets, including:

USD 1� million on a bankable feasibility 
study at the Wedgetail deposit and other 
Honeymoon Well projects;
USD 8 million on geological exploration 
at Honeymoon Well;

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

USD 2 million on exploring for ore with 
a high talc-carbonate content around 
Black Swan mine;
USD 2 million on geological exploration 
near Perth in Australia;
USD 2 million on geological exploration 
at the Avalon industrial site;
USD 1 million on various projects to ex-
plore for laterite and sulfide ores; and
USD 1 million on expanding capacity at 
Cawse mine.

BOTswANA

In 2008, Norilsk Nickel’s capital investments 
in Tati Nickel in Botswana totaled USD ��0 
million.

The main investment projects were:

construction of the Dense Media Sepa-
ration (DMS) Phase II plant; and
construction of an Activox metallurgical 
plant.

miNiNG

USD �� million was spent on mining opera-
tions, including:

USD �� million on preparing and strip-
ping the Phoenix open pit; and
USD 2 million on restoring pillars, per-
forming purification work and conducting 
a bankable feasibility study for open-pit 
mining at the Selkirk mine. At the end 
of 2008, the Selkirk project was sus-
pended.

cONcENTRATiON

USD �9 million was invested in concentration 
operations, including:

USD �0 million on building the Dense 
Media Separation (DMS) Phase II con-
centrator;
USD 1� million on increasing the capac-
ity for supplying electricity to industrial 
sites; and

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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USD � million on modernizing and install-
ing additional filtration and concentration 
equipment at Phoenix site.

mETALLURGy

Norilsk Nickel’s capital investments in metal-
lurgical production totaled USD 200 million. 
Most of the funds were used to build an Ac-
tivox metallurgical plant in Botswana in the 
first half of the year. This project was frozen in 
the second half of 2008 and most of the in-
vestment was written off during the year. 

AUxiLiARy fAciLiTiEs

Norilsk Nickel spent USD 1� million on auxiliary 
facilities, mostly on developing real estate and 
land and buying IT and other administrative 
systems.

•

BREAkDOwN Of ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs iN BOTswANA iN 2008 (miLLiON Us DOLLARs)

Purpose Capital investments

Production assets 315
Mining ��

Concentration �9

Metallurgy 200
Auxiliary facilities 15

GROUP TOTAL iN BOTSWANA (1, 2) 330

Notes:

(1) Capital investment in Tati Nickel is shown on a 100% 

basis.

(2) IFRS data was adjusted for the sum of the operational 

leasing classified under IFRS as a financial leasing.

fiNLAND

In 2008, Norilsk Nickel’s capital investments 
in Finland amounted to USD �0 million.

mETALLURGy

USD �1 million was invested in the metallurgi-
cal production, including:

USD �0 million on new metallurgical 
equipment;
USD � million on boosting production 
capacity; and
USD 2 million on environmental matters, 
employee security and health care.

NON-PRODUcTiON AssETs

Investment in non-production assets amounted 
to USD 9 million. This was used to build a new 
laboratory and offices and set up a resource 
management system.

•

•

•

BREAkDOwN Of ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs iN NORiLsk NickEL hARjAvALTA iN 2008 
(miLLiON Us DOLLARs)

Purpose Capital investments

Production assets 51
Metallurgy �1

Non-production assets 9

GROUP TOTAL iN FiNLAND 60

�. Capital investments |
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UsA

sTiLLwATER miNiNG cOmPANy

BREAkDOwN Of ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs iN ThE Us iN 2008 (1, 2) (miLLiON Us DOLLARs)

Purpose 2008 2007 2006

Production assets 82 88 98
Mining �� 81 9�

Concentration 1 1 1
Metallurgy 1� � �

TOTAL STiLLWATER MiNiNG COMPANY 82 88 98

Notes:

(1) Capital investments in Stillwater Mining Company are 

shown on a 100% basis.

(2) Stillwater Mining Company’s data is presented according 

to GAAP.

In 2008, Norilsk Nickel’s capital investments 
in Stillwater Mining Company amounted to 
USD 82 million. This was lower than in 200�, 
as some of the spending planned for the sec-
ond half of last year was postponed due to the 
sharp fall in metal prices.

The main investment projects were:

developing mines and increasing ex-
plored resources; and
developing infrastructure to increase 
production efficiency.

miNiNG

USD �� million was spent on mining opera-
tions, USD 1� million less than in 200�. The 
drop was due to several projects being re-
scheduled, particularly at the East Boulder 
mine. 

USD �� million was invested in the Stillwater 
mine, including:

USD �� million on capital construction;
USD � million on acquisition of equip-
ment; and
USD � million on infrastructure develop-
ment.

•

•

•
•

•

USD 19 million was spent on the East Boulder 
project, including:

USD 1� million on capital construction; 
USD 2 million on acquisition of equip-
ment; and
USD 1 million on infrastructure develop-
ment.

cONcENTRATiON

USD 1 million was invested in the concentra-
tors at Stillwater and East Boulder sites.

mETALLURGy

USD 1� million was invested in metallurgical 
production, including:

USD 1� million on a new electrical fur-
nance at the smelter;
USD 2 million on the construction and 
maintenance of buildings; and
USD 1 million on refining equipment for 
the secondary reprocessing of catalytic 
material.

The new furnance is expected to be launched 
this year.

•
•

•

•

•

•
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sOUTh AfRicA

Last year, Norilsk Nickel’s capital investments 
in the Nkomati joint venture totaled USD �� 
million, based on the Group’s �0% stake. The 
main investment projects were:

expanding the monthly processing ca-
pacity from 100,000 tonnes to ���,000 
tonnes of raw material; and
increasing output of chromiferous ore 
from the Nkomati mine.

miNiNG

Investment in mining operations amounted to 
USD 11 million, most of which went on devel-
oping the Main mineralization area.

cONcENTRATiON

USD �8 million was spent on developing the 
concentration facilities, including:

more than USD �� million on equipment 
for the new concentrator, which has a 
monthly capacity of ���,000 tonnes; and
more than USD � million on upgrad-
ing the existing concentrating facili-
ties, which have a monthly capacity of 
100,000 tonnes.

AUxiLiARy fAciLiTiEs

USD � million was invested in auxiliary facili-
ties.

•

•

•

•

BREAkDOwN Of ThE GROUP’s cAPiTAL iNvEsTmENTs iN NkOmATi (1) iN 2008 (miLLiON Us DOLLARs)

Purpose Capital investments

Production assets 69
Mining 11

Concentration �8
Auxiliary facilities 5

GROUP TOTAL iN SOUTH AFRiCA 74

Notes:

(1) Capital investments in the Nkomati joint venture are 

shown on a �0% basis.

�. Capital investments |



iN 2008, NORiLsk NickEL sOLD AT ThE mARkET 
ALL mETAL PRODUcED.

7. REviEw Of sALEs PERfORmANcE AND mARkET 
DEvELOPmENTs





iT is fOREcAsTED ThAT cONsUmPTiON 
Of sTAiNLEss sTEEL wiTh hiGh NickEL cONTENT 
shOULD sUffER LEss iN cOmPARisON wiTh 
sTEELs wiTh LOw NickEL cONTENT OR sTEELs 
wiThOUT NickEL
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REviEw Of sALEs PERfORmANcE AND mARkET  
DEvELOPmENTs

sALEs Of mETAL PRODUcED

Metal

Russia

Nickel (‘000 tonnes)
Copper (‘000 tonnes)
Palladium (‘000 ounces)
Platinum (‘000 ounces) 

Australia (1, 2)

Nickel (‘000 tonnes)

Botswana (1, 2)

Nickel (‘000 tonnes)
Copper (‘000 tonnes)
Palladium (‘000 ounces) 
Platinum (‘000 ounces) 

Finland (1, 2)

Nickel (‘000 tonnes)
Copper (‘000 tonnes)

USA (2)

Palladium (‘000 ounces) 
Platinum (‘000 ounces) 

Group total, excluding South Africa

Nickel (‘000 tonnes)
Copper (‘000 tonnes)
Palladium (‘000 ounces) 
Platinum (‘000 ounces) 

South Africa (1, 3)

Nickel (‘000 tonnes)
Copper (‘000 tonnes)
Palladium (‘000 ounces) 
Platinum (‘000 ounces) 

Group total, including South Africa

Nickel (‘000 tonnes)
Copper (‘000 tonnes)
Palladium (‘000 ounces) 
Platinum (‘000 ounces) 

2008

229
�82

2,8��
���

1�

1�
11
��

�

29
�

���
2��

287
397

3,467
887

2
1
�
2

289
398

3,473
889

2007

2��
�0�

�,12�
��2

8

1�
9

�1
�

�2
�

��1
2�9

288
419

3,727
1,017

1
1
9
�

289
420

3,736
1,021

2006

2��
�2�

�,220
��0

–

–
–
–
–

–
–

��2
2�8

257
424

3,882
1,018

–
–
–
–

257
424

3,882
1,018

Sales volume

Notes:

(1) The assets in Australia, Botswana and �0% stake in 

Nkomati (South Africa) were acquired by the Group in 

200�.

(2) All of the information is for 12 months and on the basis of 

100% ownership of subsidiaries and associates.

(�) Results of Nkomati are presented based on a �0% 

interest. Nkomati is treated as an associate.

�. Review of Sales Performance and Market Developments |
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RUssiA

AvERAGE sALEs PRicE iN RUssiA

Metal

Nickel (US dollars per tonne)
Copper (US dollars per tonne)
Palladium (US dollars per ounce)
Platinum (US dollars per ounce)

2008

21,�1�
�,0�2

���
1,�1�

2007

��,210
�,1��

��0
1,�01

2006

2�,081
�,�89

�21
1,1��

AUsTRALiA

In 2008, the Group sold all 1�,000 tonnes of 
nickel produced in Australia.

fiNLAND

BOTswANA

Last year, Tati Nickel sold 1�,000 tonnes of 
nickel, 11,000 tonnes of copper, ��,000 
ounces of palladium, and �,000 ounces of 
platinum.

sALEs Of mETAL PRODUcED By NORiLsk NickEL hARjAvALTA (‘000 TONNEs)

Metal

Nickel, including:

Cathodes
Briquettes
Salts, etc.

Copper

2008

29

10
12

�

4

2007

32

12
1�

�

6

In 2008, Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta sold 29,000 
tonnes of its own refined nickel and �,000 
tonnes of copper.

UsA

In 2008, Stillwater Mining sold ���,000 ounc-
es of palladium (��1,000 ounces in 200�) 
and 2��,000 ounces of platinum (2�9,000 
ounces in 200�), including primary and scrap 
metal.

Stillwater Mining sells most of its platinum and 
palladium to automakers under long-term 
contracts, which set minimum prices. For 
2009, the floor prices are set at USD ��� per 

ounce of palladium and USD �2� per ounce 
of platinum. In some instances, contracts also 
stipulate maximum prices. For 2009, these 
are USD 9�� per ounce of palladium and 
USD 8�0 per ounce of platinum. At present, 
Stillwater Mining has signed contracts to sell 
100% of palladium and �0% of platinum, that 
is expected to be produced until 2010. There-
after, contracts are in place covering 20% of 
its expected palladium output in 2011 and 
2012. The platinum production is not hedged.
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AvERAGE sALEs PRicE Of PRimARy mETAL By sTiLLwATER miNiNG cOmPANy (Us DOLLARs PER OUNcE)

Palladium
Platinum 

2008

�0�
1,��2

2007

���
1,099

2006

��0
8�0

sOUTh AfRicA

Last year, the Nkomati joint venture sold 
2,000 tonnes of nickel, 1,000 tonnes of cop-
per, �,000 ounces of palladium, and 2,000 
ounces of platinum.

mARkET DEvELOPmENTs

NickEL

Nickel is the Group’s main product. The metal 
is widely applied, as it is corrosive resistant 
and retains its mechanical and physical prop-
erties in alloys under extreme temperatures, 
in which nickel is often a key component.

Nickel is mostly used in the production of 
stainless and special steel (around ��% of 
global consumption in 2008), as it improves 
steel’s resistance to corrosive and aggres-
sive environments. The combination of these 
characteristics makes stainless steel an es-
sential material in many industries.

Other applications for nickel include special 
alloys, electroplating, the chemical industry 
and the production of rechargeable batteries.

When the global economic crisis erupted in 
the second half of 2008, the stainless steel 
production plummeted, driving down nickel 
consumption sharply.

In recent years, China’s rapid expansion has 
triggered record demand for stainless steel 
in the country. From just �00,000 tonnes in 
1999, China’s stainless steel output soared 
to �.� million tonnes in 200� (up �2.�% com-
pared with 200�). During that period, the 
country’s nickel consumption grew from 

�0,000 tonnes to �10,000 tonnes, or 22% of 
global demand. Last year, however, China’s 
stainless steel output dropped to �� million 
tonnes (down 1�% against 200�) as the eco-
nomic crisis took hold.

At the same time, there were signs that China’s 
output of �00-series steel (which has a high 
nickel content) was recovering. This resulted 
from government measures to stimulate the 
Chinese economy, by pushing forward do-
mestic infrastructure projects, in which �00-
series steel is used heavily.

During the economic crisis, the consumption 
of stainless steel with a high nickel content, 
like �00 series, is expected to fall by less than 
that of steel with a lower nickel content (200 
series and duplexes) and the nickel-free �00 
series. This is due to the following:

�00-series steel has unique mechani-
cal properties, while its universal nature 
makes it irreplaceble for cheaper, similar 
metals;
the global crisis hitting automakers and 
construction companies severely, who 
are key consumers of �00-series steel. 
the situation is expected to be less se-
vere for other sectors, particularly con-
sumers of stainless steel (and especially 
�00 series);
the measures taken by monetary 
authorities worldwide to stabilize econo-
mies and provide additional financing for 
infrastructure projects; and
the low stocks of �00-series stainless 
steel globally.

•

•

•

•

�. Review of Sales Performance and Market Developments |
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NickEL mARkET DEvELOPmENTs iN 2008

For 2008, the average price of nickel on the 
London Metal Exchange (LME) was USD 
21,0�8 per tonne, which is ��.�% lower than 
in 200�.

Meanwhile, the LME warehouse stocks of 
nickel grew by ��.�%, from �8,000 to �8,000 
tonnes, mainly due to the decline in industrial 
demand.

cONsUmPTiON

Last year, world nickel consumption plum-
meted due to the economic slump, although 
its peak was in the fourth quarter.

PRODUcTiON

Last year, after the economic crisis gathered 
pace and the nickel price declined to USD 
9,000–10,000 per tonne, many nickel pro-
ducers with high costs had to halt operations. 
Those most affected were producers of nickel 

GLOBAL NickEL cONsUmPTiON By iNDUsTRiAL UsE iN 2008

Stainless steel

Alloys

Electroplating

Special steels

Other

60,2%

14,0%

8,3%

5,5%

12,0%

Source: Brook Hunt Nickel Metal Service, January 2009.

GLOBAL NickEL cONsUmPTiON By REGiON iN 2008

Europe

China

Other Asia

Japan

USA

Russia

Other (Africa and Oceania)

31,0%

21,0%

15,0%

14,0%

14,0%

2,0%

3,0%

Source: Brook Hunt Nickel Metal Service, January 2009.
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Source: Brook Hunt Nickel Metal Service, 

January 2009.
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Source: London Metal Exchange.
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OLEG PivOvARchUk 

fiRsT DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR – mEmBER Of 
ThE mANAGEmENT BOARD siNcE OcTOBER 2008 

BORN ON sEPTEmBER 25, 1953. 

iN 1975, GRADUATED fROm ThE mOscOw 
iNsTiTUTE Of sTEEL AND ALLOys wiTh 
A sPEciALizATiON As ENGiNEER AND 
mETALLURGisT (fERROUs mETALs); iN 1992 
GRADUATED fROm ThE RUssiAN AcADEmy Of 
fOREiGN TRADE wiTh A DEGREE As EcONOmisT 
wiTh kNOwLEDGE Of A fOREiGN LANGUAGE 
(iNTERNATiONAL EcONOmic RELATiONs).

fROm 2002 TO 2006 – DEPUTy GENERAL 
DiREcTOR fOR cOmmERciAL issUEs Of cjsc 
mANAGEmENT cOmPANy DiNAmO. 

iN 2006 – DEPUTy DiREcTOR fOR fOREiGN 
EcONOmic AcTiviTy Of Ojsc AvTOvAz.

fROm 2007 TO 2008 – ExEcUTivE DiREcTOR Of 
cjsc DiNAmO-TELEcOm. 

siNcE 2008 – fiRsT DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR 
AND mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT BOARD Of 
Ojsc mmc NORiLsk NickEL.
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Norilsk Nickel does not experience any difficulties with distribution of 
metals produced, thanks to the growing demand from new markets 
in Asian region. The chinese market has been playing more and more 
important role in the sales and marketing activity of the company.

�. Review of Sales Performance and Market Developments |
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pig-iron and ferronickel. The reduction in sup-
ply, however, helped to compensate for the 
drop in consumption.

In 2009, the Company expects nickel output 
to shrink further, as figures from the Brook 
Hunt research agency suggest that more 
than 20% of the world’s nickel is being pro-
duced at a cost that exceeded LME prices at 
end 2008.

cOPPER

In the second half of 2008, the economic crisis 
caused speculative investors to flee the com-
modity markets and the consumption of all 
metals dropped. After reaching a new record 
high of USD 8,98� per tonne at the beginning 
of July, the price of copper plummeted, hitting 
a four-year low of USD 2,��0 per tonne by the 
end of December. The average price for the 
year was USD �,9�2 per tonne, which is 2.�% 
lower compared to 200�.

Industry experts estimate that there was a 
surplus of around �00,000 tonnes of cop-
per on the market at the end of 2008, which 
is slightly above the forecasts of 2�0,000-
�00,000 tonnes produced during the same 
period in prior year.

Last year, world copper inventories grew by 
�2.8%, from 2�9,000 to �89,000 tonnes:

inventories on the LME rose by �1.2%, 
from 198,000 to ��9,000 tonnes;
inventories on the COMEX in New York 
rose by 12�.2%, from 1�,000 to ��,000 
tonnes; and
inventories on the Shanghai Metal 
Exchange fell by �0.1%, from 2�,000 to 
1�,000 tonnes.

•

•

•

The warehouse stocks of copper, however, 
stayed at historical lows (around eight days of 
global consumption).

cONsUmPTiON

Brook Hunt estimates that the world copper 
consumption was slightly above 18 million 
tonnes in 2008, demonstrating annual growth 
of 0.�% in 2008 comparing to 2.�% in 200�. 
The strongest growth in demand came from 
China (up 8%) and India (up �%), although the 
growth rates declined by 1�% and 20%, re-
spectively.

The demand for copper fell across the main 
developed markets: in the USA (–8.�%), 
Europe (–�.�%) and Japan (–2.�%). At the 
beginning of 2008, the decline in copper 
consumption was partially due to the switch 
to cheaper substitutes, while at the end of 
the year, the main reason was the industrial 
downturn, particularly in the construction and 
automotive sectors.

PRODUcTiON

Brook Hunt estimates that the global produc-
tion of refined copper at 18.� million tonnes 
in 2008, a rise of 2.�% in compariosn with 
the prior year, compared with �.�% in 200�. 
While industrial production dipped by 2.2% in 
the USA, this was offset by increases of �.2% 
in China and �.�% in Europe. Scrap copper 
processing increased significantly, by 1�%.

This year, Norilsk Nickel expects that the cop-
per consumption will be influenced by the 
developments in the global economy and the 
level of demand from China. The production 
may exceed consumption, in which case the 
first half of 2009 would see the copper price 

AvERAGE NickEL PRicE (Us DOLLARs PER TONNE)

Nickel

2007

��,181

2006

2�,28�

2005

1�,���

2008

21,0�8

Source: London Metal Exchange.
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GLOBAL cOPPER cONsUmPTiON By sEcTOR iN 2008

Source: Brook Hunt, 2008.

Construction

Electronics

Machine building

Transport

Consumer goods

35%

32%

12%

11%

10%

GLOBAL cOPPER cONsUmPTiON By REGiON iN 2008

Source: Brook Hunt, 2008.

China

Asia

Western Europe

North America

Latin America

Other

28%

27%

19%

12%

5%

9%

AvERAGE cOPPER PRicE (Us DOLLARs PER TONNE)

Copper

2007

�,12�

2006

�,��1

2005

�,�8�

2008

�,9�2

Source: London Metal Exchange.
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remain low. In the second half of the year, if 
the global economic outlook improves and 
investors return to the commodity markets, 
the price may pick up.

PLATiNUm GROUP mETALs

The platinum group metals are used mainly in 
the production of autocatalysts, which are fit-
ted to internal combustion engines to reduce 
exhaust emissions like carbon oxides, nitro-
gen oxides and unburned hydrocarbons.

PALLADiUm

PALLADiUm mARkET DEvELOPmENTs iN 2008

In 2008, the average price of palladium on the 
London Platinum and Palladium Market was 
USD ��2 per ounce, which represents a de-
crease of 1% compared to 200�.

The price fluctuated by �2%, from USD 1�� to 
USD �88 per ounce.

cONsUmPTiON

The GFMS estimated that the industrial de-
mand for palladium, including restocking by 
industrial consumers, exceeded 8.� million 

ounces (around 2�0 tonnes), which is 0.1% 
more than in prior year (�,000 ounces). The 
main drivers of the growth in demand were 
the jewelry sector (whose consumption rose 
by 8.2%, or 91,000 ounces) and the elec-
tronics sector (up �%, or �8,000 ounces). 
Demand from the latter is expected to climb 
further.

The consumption by autocatalyst producers 
decreased slightly (– 1��,000 tonnes), par-
ticularly in North America.

PRODUcTiON

The GFMS estimated that global palladium 
production declined by �.�% (���,000 ounc-
es). The output of primary metal totaled �.� 
million ounces (–8.2%). The main reason for 
the drop was lower mining volumes in the 
main producing countries: Russia (– 11%, 
2.� million ounces) and South Africa (– 10%, 
2.� million ounces). The output in North 
America dropped slightly (– 1%). As for sec-
ondary metal, the GFMS estimates that pro-
duction increased by 20% (2�8,000 ounces). 
The bulk of that growth historically came from 
North American companies (around �0%), 
with the remainder coming from European 
and Japanese producers.

9,000

8,000

�,000

�,000

�,000

�,000

�,000

cOPPER PRicE ON ThE LONDON mETAL ExchANGE iN 2008 (Us DOLLARs PER TONNE)
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Source: London Metal Exchange.
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Source: GFMS, 2008.
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This year and last year have seen a supply def-
icit on the palladium market. In 2008, this was 
estimated at �0�,000 ounces. The shortfall 
was due to greater demand from the jewelry 
sector and a sharp fall in supply.

PLATiNUm

PLATiNUm mARkET DEvELOPmENTs iN 2008

In 2008, the average price of platinum on 
the London Platinum and Palladium Market 
was USD 1,��� per ounce, increased by 21% 
compared to prior year.

The price fluctuated by ��%, from a high of 
USD 2,2�� per ounce in March to a low of 
USD ��� in October.

cONsUmPTiON

Last year, the industrial demand for platinum 
fell by �.�%. While the demand from the au-
tomotive industry dropped by �.�% (down 
�2�,000 ounces), manufacturers of autocat-
alysts remained the leading users of platinum, 
consuming more than �.9 million ounces. Fol-
lowing stricter environmental legislation on 

exhaust emissions, the demand for platinum 
rose in Europe, where the main consumers 
are diesel car manufacturers. The demand 
also decreased in the electronical sector 
(– 8�,000 ounces) and the oil refining industry 
(– 28,000 ounces), while a slight increase was 
observed in the chemical industry (+ 8,000 
ounces). 

Demand for platinum from the jewelry sector 
totaled 1 million ounces, which is 2.2% lower 
compared to prior year (2�,000 ounces), due 
to the high cost of the metal. Meanwhile, the 
consumption in the glassmaking industry 
soared to some �80,000 ounces, up 1�.�%. 
Stocks of unfinished metal dwindled, while 
more second-hand or unsold jewelry was 
processed.

PRODUcTiON

Last year, the supply of platinum worldwide 
declined by �.�% (down ��0,000 tonnes), 
with the production of primary metal falling 
by �09,000 ounces. This was mainly caused 
by numerous strikes in protest of incidents at 
mines in South Africa, where platinum out-
put dropped by �.�% to �.� million ounces. In 
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Source: GFMS, 2008.
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Russia, the production of the metal contractedussia, the production of the metal contracted 
by 10.�% to 0.8 million ounces. This had little 
effect on global supply. The output in North 
America and Zimbabwe dipped slightly. The 
global production of secondary metal totaled 
1 million ounces, up �.9% (�9,000 ounces). 

In 2008, the platinum market experienced 
a deficit of �2,000 ounces due to the lower 
output of primary metal and stronger demand 
from glassmakers worldwide.
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8. REviEw Of fiNANciAL PERfORmANcE

mmc NORiLsk NickEL issUED cONsOLiDATED 
fiNANciAL sTATEmENTs As AT 31 DEcEmBER 
2008 AND fOR ThE yEAR ThEN ENDED iN 
cOmPLiANcE wiTh iNTERNATiONAL fiNANciAL 
REPORTiNG sTANDARDs (“ifRs”). 





ThE fiNANciAL sTATEmENTs hAvE BEEN AUDiTED 
iN AccORDANcE wiTh iNTERNATiONAL sTANDARDs 
ON AUDiTiNG By DELOiTTE AND TOUchE, AND ThEy 
hAvE issUED AN UNqUALifiED AUDiT OPiNiON
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Norilsk Nickel issued consolidated financial 
statements as at �1 December 2008 and 
for the year then ended in compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). The financial statements have been 
audited in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing by Deloitte and Tou-
che, and they have issued an unqualified au-
dit opinion.

The Russian Rouble (“RUR”) is the functional 
currency of the Company and all foreign sub-

sidiaries of the Group, except for the following 
subsidiaries operating with a significant de-
gree of autonomy:

The presentation currency of these con-
solidated financial statements is the United 
States of America Dollar (“USD”). Using USD 
as a presentation currency is common prac-
tice for global mining companies. In addition, 
USD is a more relevant presentation currency 
for international users of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of the Group.

Subsidiary Functional currency

Stillwater Mining Company US Dollar

Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta Oy US Dollar

Norilsk Nickel Finland Oy US Dollar

MPI Nickel Limited Australian Dollar

Norilsk Nickel Cawse Proprietary Limited Australian Dollar

Tati Nickel Mining Company Proprietary Limited Botswana Pula
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cONsOLiDATED iNcOmE sTATEmENT fOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DEcEmBER 2008 (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Notes 
 

Year ended 
31 December 

2008

Year ended 
31 December 

2007

% 
change 
y-o-y(1)

Revenue 1

Nickel �,081 10,21� (�0)

Copper 2,89� 2,9�8 (2)

Palladium 1,282 1,�2� (�)

Platinum 1,�20 1,2�2 12

Gold 12� 1�8 (1�)

Metal sales 1.1 11,799 15,909 (26)

Other sales 1.2 2,181 1,210 80

Total revenue 13,980 17,119 (18)

Cost of metal sales 2.1 (�,�0�) (�,�19) 1�

Cost of other sales 2.2 (2,122) (1,1��) 82

Gross profit 6,354 11,237 (43)

Gross profit margin, % �� ��

Selling and distribution expenses � (�2�) (��0) (28)

General and administrative expenses � (1,0�1) (89�) 20

Impairment of non-financial assets � (�,�28) (1,8�9) 1�2

Income on derivatives classified as held for trading �� �8 (��)

Other net operating expenses � (2��) (���) (2�)

Operating (loss)/profit (199) 7,437 (103)

Finance costs � (�9�) (�0�) 29

Income from investments, net 8 2�� 21� 2�

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net (�9�) 1�� (��2)

Excess of interest in the Group’s share in the fair value 
of net assets acquired over the cost of acquisition

�18 1�� ���

Share of (losses)/profits of associates 9 (2�2) �� (��8)

(Loss)/profit before income tax (273) 7,735 (104)

Income tax expense 10 (282) (2,��9) (89)

(Loss)/profit for the year 11 (555) 5,276 (111)

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company (��9) �,�2�

Minority interest (10�) (�1)

(���) �,2��

Profit margin, % (�) �1

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
during the year

18�,10�,1�1 182,��2,98�

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable 
to shareholders of the parent company (US Dollars)

 (2,�) 29,2 

Note:

(1) Year-on-year (y-o-y) comparison.
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1. REvENUE

Year-on-year the total revenue which consists 
from metal and other sales decreased by 
�,1�9 (or 18%) from USD 1�,119 million in 
200� to USD 1�,980 million in 2008.

1.1. mETAL sALEs

In 2008, revenue from metal sales totaled 
USD 11,�99 million, which represented a 
2�% decrease as compared to 200�. The 
main factor of it is substantial decrease of 

sales prices for nickel (details see table 
below). In addition slight decrease of physical 
volumes of metals sold contributed to the fall 
in revenue of the Group.

Generally unfavorable situation in base 
metal prices (nickel and copper) led to the 
decrease of base metal sales by USD �,190 
million (or �2%). At the same time generally 
favorable, at least in the first half of the year, 
situation in the prices for PGM enabled the 
Group to realise a revenue increase for all 
PGM metals by USD 80 million (or �%).

Notes:

(1) Excluding the sales of metal purchased from third parties. 

PhysicAL vOLUmEs Of mETAL sALEs (1)

Year ended 31 
December 2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007

% change y-o-y 

MMC Norilsk Nickel

Nickel (‘000 tonnes) 229 2�� (2)

Copper (‘000 tonnes) �82 �0� (�)

Palladium (‘000 ounces) 2,8�� �,12� (9)

Platinum (‘000 ounces) ��� ��2 (18)

Gold (‘000 ounces) 1�1 1�� (1�)

Stillwater Mining Company

Palladium (‘000 ounces) ��� ��1 (1)

Platinum (‘000 ounces) 2�� 2�9 �

Gold (‘000 ounces) 9 11 (18)

Norilsk Nickel international

Nickel (‘000 tonnes) �8 �� �

Copper (‘000 tonnes) 1� 1� –
TOTAL GROUP

Nickel (‘000 tonnes) 287 288 –

Copper (‘000 tonnes) 397 419 (5)

Palladium (‘000 ounces) 3,423 3,696 (7)

Platinum (‘000 ounces) 880 1,011 (13)

Gold (‘000 ounces) 140 164 (15)

8. Review of Financial Performance |
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Nickel

The revenue from nickel sales contributed �1% 
to total metal sale revenue and decreased by 
�0% in 2008 to USD �,081 million compare to 
USD 10,21� million, mainly due to a significant 
decrease in the adjusted average selling price 
of nickel by �2% – from USD ��,210 per tonne 
in 200� to USD 21,�1� per tonne in 2008. 
During 2008 the physical volume of nickel 
sales (excluding sales of metal purchased 
from third parties) produced in the Russian 
Federation decreased by 2% (or � thousand 
tonnes) to 229 thousand tonnes as compared 
to 2�� thousand in 200�, which was partially 
compensated by �% (or � thousand tonnes) 
increase of physical volume of nickel sales 
produced by Norilsk Nickel International. 

In addition, the revenue from nickel sales by 
Stillwater Mining Company amounted to USD 9 
million in 2008 compared to USD 20 million in 
200� and revenue from nickel sales purchased 
from third parties amounted to USD 2� million 
compared to USD 2�1 million in 200�.

ADjUsTED (1) AvERAGE sELLiNG PRicEs Of mETALs

Year ended 31 
December 2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007

% change y-o-y 

MMC Norilsk Nickel

Nickel (US Dollars per tonne) 21,�1� ��,210 (�2)

Copper (US Dollars per tonne) �,0�2 �,1�� (2)

Palladium (US Dollars per ounce) ��� ��0 2

Platinum (US Dollars per ounce) 1,�1� 1,�01 2�

Gold (US Dollars per ounce) 8�� �01 2�

Stillwater Mining Company

Palladium (US Dollars per ounce) �0� ��� 8

Platinum (US Dollars per ounce) 1,��2 1,099 ��

Gold (US Dollars per ounce) 8�� �99 2�

Norilsk Nickel international

Nickel (US Dollars per tonne) 19,�08 22,91� (1�)

Copper (US Dollars per tonne) �,�2� �,�00 �

Notes:

(1) Excluding the sales of metal purchased from third parties. 

copper

The revenue from copper sales amounted to 
2�% of metal sales revenues and decreased 
by 2% in 2008 to USD 2,89� million compare 
to USD 2,9�8 million mainly due to decrease 
in physical volume of copper sales (excluding 
sales of metal purchased from third parties) 
produced in the Russian Federation by �% (or 
22 thousand tonnes) to �82 thousand tonnes 
as compared to �0� thousand in 200� and 
decrease of the adjusted average selling price 
of copper by 2% – from USD �,1�� per tonne 
in 200� to USD �,0�2 per tonne in 2008. 
The decrease was partially compensated by 
copper sales purchased from third parties in 
the amount of USD 1�1 million.

In addition, sales of copper by Norilsk Nickel 
International amounted to USD �� million in 
2008 compared to USD �1 million in 200� 
and revenue from copper sales by Stillwater 
Mining Company amounted to USD � million 
in 2008 and it didn’t change compared to 
200�. 
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Palladium

Palladium sales contributed 11% of metal 
sales of the Group and decreased by �% 
from USD 1,�2� million in 200� to USD 1,282 
million in 2008.

Palladium sales produced by the Group in 
the Russian Federation decreased by �% 
from USD 1,09� million in 200� to USD 1,020 
million in 2008. In physical terms, sales of 
palladium produced by the Group in Russia 
amounted to 2,8�� thousand ounces in 2008, 
which is 9% lower compared to the sales for 
200� which amounted to �,12� thousand 
ounces. The decrease of physical volume 
of was partially compensated by increase of 
adjusted average selling price by 2% from 
USD ��0 per ounce in 200� to USD ��� per 
ounce in 2008. 

Palladium sales by Stillwater Mining Company 
increased by �% from USD 21� million in 200�  
to USD 2�1 million in 2008. Physical volumes 
of palladium sales produced by Stillwater 
Mining Company amounted to ��� thousand 
ounces in 2008 compared to ��1 thousand 
ounces in 200�. Slight decrease  in physical 
volume of sales was offset by 8% growth in 
the adjusted average sales price.

In addition, revenue from palladium sales 
produced by Norilsk Nickel International 
amounted to USD 10 million in 2008 
compared to USD � million in 200� and 
revenue from palladium sales purchased from 
third parties amounted to USD 21 million in 
2008 compared to USD 12 million in 200�.

Platinum

Platinum sales contributed 12% of metal 
sales of the Group in 2008. Platinum sales 
increased by 12% from USD 1,2�2 million in 
200� to USD 1,�20 million in 2008. 

Sales of platinum produced by the Group 
in the Russian Federation increased by 
2% from USD 1,00� million in 200� to 
USD 1,02� million in 2008. The increase is 
explained mainly by the significant increase 

of the sales price by 2�% from USD 1,�01 
per ounce in 200� to USD 1,�1� per ounce 
in 2008. Growth of selling price was offset 
by decrease in the physical sales volume 
by 18% (or 1�8 thousand ounces) from ��2 
thousand ounces  in 200� to ��� thousand 
ounces in 2008.

Platinum sales by Stillwater Mining Company 
increased by ��% from USD 2�� million 
in 200� to USD �8� million in 2008. The 
increase in revenue is explained by a ��% 
growth in the adjusted average sales price, 
mainly in first half of the year and increase 
by �% in physical volumes of sales to 2�� 
thousand ounces in 2008 compared to 2�9 
thousand ounces in 200�. 

In addition, revenue from platinum sales 
produced by Norilsk Nickel International 
amounted to USD 9 million in 2008 compared 
to USD � million in 200�.

Gold

Gold sales decreased by 1�% from USD 
1�8 million in 200� to USD 12� million in 
2008. The decrease is explained mainly by 
the abandonment of the gold operations in 
Australia in 2008, which led to the decrease in 
gold revenue by USD �� million (gold sales by 
Norilsk Nickel International amounted to USD 
1 million in 2008 compared to USD �� million 
in 200�). In physical terms, sales of gold 
produced by the Group in Russia amounted 
to 1�1 thousand ounces and by Stillwater 
Mining Company to 9 thousand ounces or 
1�0 thousand ounces in total as compared 
to 1�� thousand ounces of gold in 200�. 
The adjusted average sales price in 2008 
increased by 2�% from USD �01 and �99 
(for Russian part of the Group and Stillwater 
Mining Company, respectively) to USD 8�� 
and 8��, accordingly.

1.2. OThER sALEs

Revenue from non-mining operations 
increased by USD 9�1 million (or 80%) and 
amounted to USD 2,181 million in 2008 
compared to USD 1,210 million in 200� mainly 
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due to full inclusion of 2008 results instead of 
partial incorporation of OGK-� results starting 
from � August 200� in prior year. 

In 2008 revenue generated by OGK-� was 
USD 1,��� million compared to USD �2� mil-

lion in 200�. In addition, revenue from trans-
port and logistics and other sales increased 
mainly due to increase of transportation ser-
vices provided by OJCS “Yenisey River Ship-
ping Company” and growth of mining and 
geological services provided to third parties.

2. cOsT Of sALEs

2.1. cOsT Of mETAL sALEs

Cost of metal sales increased by 1�% from 
USD �,�19 million in 200� to USD �,�0� 
million in 2008.

cash operating costs

Cash operating costs increased by 1�% 
and amounted to USD �,�10 million in 2008 
against USD �,81� million in 200�.

OThER sALEs (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Year ended 31 
December 2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007

% change y-o-y 

Energy and utilities 1,�9� �89 11�

Transport and logistics �1� 298 �

Other 1�2 12� �0

Total 2,181 1,210 80

The cash operating costs structure changed 
slightly in 2008 compared to 200� mainly due 
to the acquisition of Norilsk Nickel International 
operation in 200� financial year and its full con-
solidation in 2008, for the details see the sched-
ule of cash operating costs, presented below.

The breakdown of cash operating costs by 
major operating segments of the Group in 
2008 is as follows:

Russian operations of the Group – �8%;
Norilsk Nickel International – 20%;
Stillwater Mining Company – 12%.

•
•
•

cOsT Of mETAL sALEs fOR ThE yEAR (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Year ended 31 December 2008 Year ended 31 December 2007
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Total cash operating 
costs (see table below)

4,410 80 2,995 84 874 66 541 95 3,817 82 2,543 82 790 77 484 95 16 12

Depreciation of 
operating assets

1,069 20 585 16 457 34 27 5 824 18 563 18 236 23 25 5 30 4

Total production costs 5,479 100 3,580 100 1,331 100 568 100 4,641 100 3,106 100 1,026 100 509 100 18 10
Decrease/(increase) in 
metal inventories

25 (49) 16 58 78 9 88 (19) (68) (644)

cost of metal sales 5,504 3,531 1,347 626 4,719 3,115 1,114 490 17 9
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The key reasons for the growth of total cash 
operating costs of USD �98 million (or 12%) in 
2008, before revenue from sales of by-prod-
ucts, compared to 200� included:

absolute increase of cash operating 
costs by USD �8� million; 
consolidation of cash operating costs of 
Norilsk Nickel International subsidiaries 

•

•

for whole 2008 instead of presentation of 
only Harjavalta Nickel Oy and Cawse (ex-
OMG nickel business) results starting 
from 1 March 200� in 200� and other 
Norilsk Nickel International subsidiaries’ 
results for the second half of 200� 
financial year – USD 11� million; and
effect of translation to presentation 
currency by USD 9� million.

•

cAsh OPERATiNG cOsTs fOR ThE yEAR (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Year ended 31 December 2008 Year ended 31 December 2007
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Labour 1,638 30 1,414 38 111 10 113 15 1,552 31 1,317 40 119 12 116 18 6 7
consumables and 
spares

1,272 23 1,128 30 95 9 49 6 999 20 899 26 51 5 49 8 27 25

PGm scrap purchased 416 8 – – – – 416 54 310 6 – – – – 310 48 34 N/A
Purchase of nickel 
concentrate

332 6 27 1 305 28 – – 482 10 – – 482 50 – – (31) N/A

Transportation 276 5 196 5 72 7 8 1 270 5 237 7 26 3 7 1 2 (17)
Repairs and 
maintenance

235 4 135 4 34 3 66 9 220 4 123 4 36 4 61 9 7 10

Outsourced mining 225 4 – – 205 19 20 3 45 1 – – 25 3 20 3 400 N/A
Tax on mining and 
pollution levies

191 3 162 4 – – 29 4 150 3 122 4 – – 28 4 27 33

Utilities  185 3 77 2  80 7  28 4  156 3 57 2 77 8 22 3 19 35 
cost of refined 
metals purchased 
from third parties

 176 3  176 5 – – – –  127 3 127 4 – – – – 39 39 

PGm toll refining costs  122 2  63 2  54 5  5 1  147 3 77 2 65 7 5 1 (17)  (18)
insurance  109 2  103 3  1 –  5 1  137 3 130 4 2 – 5 1 (20)  (21)
Exploration expenses  101 2  58 2  43 4 – –  113 2 103 3 10 1 – – (11)  (44)
Other costs  256 5  152 4  85 8 19 2  228 6  128 4 75 7 25 4 12 19 
Total cash 
operating costs

5,534 100 3,691 100 1,085 100 758 100 4,936 100 3,320 100 968 100 648 100 12 11 

Revenue from the 
sale of by-products

(1,124)  (696)  (211)  (217)  (1,119) (777) (178) (164) – 9 

Total cash 
operating costs

4,410  2,995  874   541  3,817 2,543 790 484 16 12 

Labour

Labour remained the most significant item 
of cash operating costs. Share of labour 

expenses in the general structure of operating 
costs decreased from �1% in 200� to �0% 
in 2008. In 2008, labour costs increased by 
USD 8� million (or �%) to USD 1,��8 million.
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Such increase was mainly due to:

a general increase of labour expenses 
by USD �8 million mainly relate to the 
Russian operations of the Group due to 
increase of labour expenses in second 
and third quarters of 200�; and
the effect of translation to presentation 
currency of USD �8 million.

consumables and spares

Consumables and spares costs in 2008 
increased by USD 2�� million (or 2�%) to 
USD 1,2�2 million. 

Such increase was mainly due to:

a general increase in prices caused by 
inflation of USD 20� million;
full consolidation of Norilsk Nickel 
International subsidiaries in 2008 with the 
aggregated effect of USD �� million; and
the effect of translation to presentation 
currency of USD 2� million.

PGm scrap purchased

In 2008, purchase of PGM scrap increased 
by USD 10� million (or ��%) to USD �1� 
million due to the increase of market prices 
in the first half of 2008 financial year with a 
corresponding increase in purchase prices 
and an increase in the physical volume 
purchased by Stillwater Mining Company 
to effectively load the existing production 
capacities and increase PGM production.

Purchase of nickel concentrate

Purchase of nickel concentrate in 2008 
significantly decreased by USD 1�0 million (or 
�1%) to USD ��2 million. 

Such decrease was mainly due to:

significant decrease in nickel and 
accordingly of nickel concentrate prices 
in 2008 compare to 200� by �9%; and
full consolidation of MPI Nickel 
Proprietary Limited results in 2008 and 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

second half of 200� financial years which 
was an associate of the Group in first 
half of 200� and major supplier of nickel 
concentrate (USD 1�2 million in first half 
of 200�).

The decrease of purchase of nickel concen-
trate was partially offset by usage of external 
suppliers in order to feed in refining facilities 
of Harjavalta Nickel Oy, Finland due to plac-
ing on indefinite care and maintenance in 
second half of 2008 certain Australian mining 
operations of Norilsk Nickel International (e.g. 
Cawse Proprietary Limited).

Transportation

The transportation costs increased by USD � 
million (or 2%) to USD 2�� million in 2008. 

Such increase was mainly due to consolida-
tion of Norilsk Nickel International operations 
for the whole year by USD �� million which 
was compensated by the decrease of trans-
portation costs of USD �1 million related to 
Russian operations of the Group due to ex-
panding of transport fleet of the Group dur-
ing 2008 year and decrease of metal volume 
delivered.

Repairs and maintenance

In 2008, repairs and maintenance costs 
increased by USD 1� million (or �%) to USD 
2�� million was mainly due to the effect of 
inflation.

Outsourced mining services

Outsourced mining services in 2008 in-
creased by USD 180 million (or �00%) to USD 
22� million, which relates to consolidation of 
Norilsk Nickel International operations only.

Tax on mining and pollution levies

Tax on mining and pollution levies increased 
by USD �1 million (or 2�%) to USD 191 
million in 2008, which is mainly caused by an 
increase in the taxable base of the Group’s 
Russian operations due to the increase in 
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production cost and the effect of translation 
to presentation currency in the amount of 
USD � million.

Utilities

In 2008, expenses on utilities increased by 
USD 29 million (or 19%) to USD 18� million. 
Without the effect of consolidation of Norilsk 
Nickel International operations which con-
tributed an additional USD � million the main 
reason for the increase was the significant 
increase of utility tariffs in Russia and USA. 
Share of expenses on utilities remained stable 
in 2008 comparing to 200� and amounted to 
�% of cash operating costs.

cost of refined metals purchased from third parties

In 2008, the cost of refined metal purchased 
from third parties increased by USD �9 million 
(or �9%) to USD 1�� million. This was mainly 
due to significant increase of physical quantity 
of copper acquired by the Group, which was 
partially compensated by decrease of nickel 
purchased.

PGm toll refining costs

PGM toll refining costs in 2008 decreased by 
USD 2� million (or 1�%) to USD 122 million. 
The main reason for this is the decrease 
of PGM produced by the Group in 2008 
comparing to 200�, which is explained by the 
fall in metal grades in ore mined. 

insurance

Insurance expenses in 2008 decreased by 
USD 28 million (or 20%) to USD 109 million, 
which is mainly caused by the cessation of 
certain insurance agreements which were 
either not renewed or renegotiated at discount 
rates compare to the previously used.

Exploration expenses

The exploration expenses in 2008 were 
USD 101 million, which is USD 12 million (or 
11%) less then in 200�. There was significant 
decrease volume of exploration expenses 

on the territory of the Russian Federation by 
USD �� million (or ��%), which was partially 
compensated by the full consolidation of 
Norilsk Nickel International results which 
contributed an additional USD �� million.

Other cash costs

In 2008, other cash costs increased by USD 
28 million (or 12%) to USD 2�� million, which 
is relate to full consolidation of Norilsk Nickel 
International operations and some increase 
of such expenses at other Group’s operations 
due to inflation.

Revenue from the sale of by-products

Sales of by-products in 2008 was USD 1,12� 
million did not change significantly compared 
to the 200� results (USD 1,119 million).

Total amount of revenue from the sale of by-
products of the Group relates to:

Russian operations of the Group – 
USD �9� million (or �2%):
Stillwater Mining Company – USD 21� 
million (or 19%); and
Norilsk Nickel International – USD 211 
million (or 19%).

Depreciation of operating assets

In 2008, depreciation of operating assets 
increased by USD 2�� million (or �0%) to 
USD 1,0�9 million. Such increase was main-
ly due to additional depreciation charge of 
USD 221 million due to full consolidation of 
Norilsk Nickel International results in 2008 
and significant amount of capital expendi-
tures done by the Group in 2008 financial 
year that increase overall base for deprecia-
tion charge.

Decrease in metal inventories

In 2008 metal inventories of the Group 
decreased by USD 2� million. The main 
reasons for the decrease in the balance of 
metal inventories in 2008 were as follows:

•

•

•
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significant decrease in selling price 
for all metals in second half of the year 
which led to write-off of inventories to 
net realisable value as well as decrease 
of physical volume of metal stock at 
Stillwater Mining Company amounted to 
USD �� million; and

• the overall increase of production costs 
in the Taymyr and Kola Peninsulas which 
led to the general increase of cost 
per unit and accordingly to increase 
amount of inventories as well as growth 
of physical volumes of base metals 
stocks in Russia led to increase of metal 
inventories for USD �9 million.

•

2.2. cOsT Of OThER sALEs Us DOLLARs miLLiON

Year ended 31 
December 2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007

% change y-o-y 

Consumables and spares 900 �0� �9

Labour �0� 22� �9

Utilities �8� 19� 9�

Amortisation and depreciation 180 81 122

Repair and maintenance 88 �8 �2

Transportation �1 2� 1��

Taxes �1 29 ��

Outsourced third party services 2� 1 2,�00

Rent expenses 18 1� 29

Insurance � � –

Other 8 2� (�0)

Total 2,122 1,163 82

3. sELLiNG AND DisTRiBUTiON ExPENsEs (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Year ended 31 
December 2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007

% change y-o-y 

Export customs duties �2� ��� (��)

Transportation expenses �2 �1 ��

Labour 2� 2� �

Commission paid 1� 1� (�)

Insurance 8 � ��

Other � 9 (22)

Total 524 730 (28)

The costs of other sales increased by USD 
9�9 million (or 82%). The increase is mainly 
due to consolidation of OGK-� results starting 
from � August 200�, the date when the Group 
obtained a control over OGK-�.

Cost of other sales related to OGK-� amount-
ed to USD 1,��9 million compared to USD 
�1� million in 200�.
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In 2008 selling and distribution expenses 
decreased by USD 20� million (or 28%) to 
USD �2� million as compared to USD ��0 
million in 200�. The decrease was mainly 
due to significant decrease of custom duties 
expenses which are completely in line with 
the dynamics of export revenue generated by 
the Russian subsidiaries of the Group, which 

basically form the basis for calculation of 
custom duties. 

Some increase in other lines of selling 
expenses is due to consolidation of Norilsk 
Nickel International results in 2008 amounted 
to USD 12 million.

4. GENERAL AND ADmiNisTRATivE ExPENsEs (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Year ended 31 
December 2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007

% change y-o-y 

Labour ��� ��� �2

Taxes other than mining and income taxes 
and pollution levies 11� 90 28

Consulting and other professional 
services �� �8 ��

Advertising �� 102 (��)

Legal and audit services �� 2� ��

Depreciation 29 �2 (9)

Transportation expenses 21 21 –

External research costs 19 18 �

Repairs and maintenance 19 18 �

Insurance 1� 12 ��

Other 12� 9� �1

Total 1,071 894 20

In 2008 general and administrative expenses 
increased by USD 1�� million (or 20%) to 
USD 1,0�1 million in 2008 as compared to 
USD 89� million in 200�. 

The increase of general and administrative 
expenses was mainly due to:

increase of general and administrative 
expenses by USD 81 million mainly 
related to the Russian operations of the 
Group;
increase of general and administrative 
expenses by USD �� million due to 
consolidation of OGK-� and Norilsk 
Nickel International; and
effect of translation to presentation 
currency of USD 22 million.

•

•

•
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DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR – mEmBER Of ThE 
mANAGEmENT BOARD siNcE fEBRUARy 2009 
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GRADUATED fROm A cOURsE fOR iNcREAsiNG 
qUALificATiONs AND RE-TRAiNiNG mANAGERs 
AND sPEciALisTs AT ThE PLEkhANOv RUssiAN 
AcADEmy Of EcONOmics. 

wORkED AT kPmG AND mORGAN sTANLEy. 

sERvED As DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR 
AT AUDiTiNG AND cONsULTiNG cOmPANy 
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Of DiREcTORs Of vERkhNEchONskNEfTEGAz 
AND PROfmEDiA.

wORkED AT cjsc hOLDiNG cOmPANy iNTERROs 
fROm 2003; fROm DEcEmBER 2006, OccUPiED 
ThE POsiTiON Of mANAGiNG DiREcTOR fOR 
iNvEsTmENTs. 

UsED TO BE A mEmBER Of ThE BOARDs Of 
DiREcTORs Of cjsc hOLDiNG cOmPANy 
iNTERROs, cjsc AGROs, Ojsc OPEN 
iNvEsTmENTs, LLc sOGLAsiE AND LLc PROf-
mEDiA mANAGEmENT. 

mEmBER Of ThE BOARDs Of DiREcTORs Of 
Ojsc RUsiA PETROLEUm AND Ojsc OGk-3. 
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Obviously, the 2008 financial results of the Group were heavily impacted by 
the global financial crisis. Nevertheless, even in such turbulent times, the 
company continues to operate steadily and to generate a decent cash flow 
from operations.
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Impairment of non-financial assets amounted 
to USD �,�28 million in 2008 as compared to 
USD 1,8�9 million in 200�. 

Such increase was mainly due to:

impairment of property, plant and 
equipment at Norilsk Nickel International 

•

and OGK-� in the amounts of USD 2,�81 
and 1�� million, respectively;
impairment of goodwill recognised at 
Norilsk Nickel International in the amount 
of USD 1,��1 million; and
impairment of refining technology 
registered under trade mark Activox in 
the amount of USD �90 million.

•

•

5. imPAiRmENT Of NON-fiNANciAL AssETs (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Year ended 31 
December 2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007

% change y-o-y 

Impairment of property, plant and 
equipment, including:

Norilsk Nickel International 2,�81 ��� 22�

OGK-� 1�� – N/A

Other 28 �� (20)

Impairment of goodwill, including:

Norilsk Nickel International 1,��1 �2� �8�

OGK-� – ��� (100)

Impairment of intangible assets, including:

Refining technology registered under 
trade mark Activox

�90 – N/A 

Other 1 – N/A

Total 4,728 1,879 152

6. OThER NET OPERATiNG ExPENsEs (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Year ended 31 
December 2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007

% change y-o-y 

Donations and maintenance of social 
sphere facilities 108 1�8 (�2)

Change in provision for value added tax 
recoverable 8� 1�9 (��)

Change in provision for onerous contracts �1 – N/A

Change in allowance for doubtful debts �2 (8) (�2�)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 2� 2� �

Loss on disposal of investments in 
subsidiaries � 18 (8�)

Change in provision for tax penalties (�2) 29 (2�9)

Other 1� � 22�

Total 274 375 (27)
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In 2008 other net operating expenses 
decreased by USD 101 million (or 2�%) to 
USD 2�� million as compared to USD ��� 
million in 200�. 

The main reasons for the decrease were:

significant reduction of donation 
expenses by USD �0 million (or �2%) to 
USD 108 million in 2008 as compared to 
USD 1�8 million in 200�; and

•

decrease in the amount of accrued 
provisions by USD �� million due to: 

decrease in provision for tax penalties by 
USD 81 million and value added tax by 
USD �� million; and
increase in provision for onerous contracts 
of USD �1 million associated with on-going 
reassessment of impairment provision of 
Botswana and Australian operations and 
increase in allowance for doubtful debts 
in the amount of USD �0 million.

•

—

—

In 2008 finance costs increased by USD 
90 million to USD �9� million as compared 
to USD �0� million in 200�. The increase 
of finance costs was mainly due to new 
borrowings made by the Group in June and 
second half of 200�, proceeds of which were 
used to acquire LionOre and OGK-�.

8. NET iNcOmE fROm iNvEsTmENTs

In 2008 net income from investments 
increased by USD �� million (or 2�%) to USD 
2�� million as compared to USD 21� million 
in 200�. 

The main reasons for the increase were:

increase of interest income on bank 
deposits by USD 228 million to USD ��0 
million; 
increase of interest income on securities 
available-for-sale by USD �9 million to 
USD �� million; and

•

•

realised gain of disposal of available-for-
sale investments in OGK-� and Polyus 
Gold shares of USD 118 million. 

Increase of income from investments was 
offset by change in impairment of available-
for-sale investments and loans advanced in 
the amount of USD �18 million.

9. shARE Of (LOssEs)/PROfiTs Of AssOciATEs

In 2008 share of losses of associates 
amounted USD 2�2 million compared to USD 
�� million of profits in 200�. The main reason 
for the decrease was significant impairment 
provisions recognised by the Group in 2008.

The most significant amount of impairment 
provision was allocated between associates 
as follows:

Nkomati Nickel Mine – USD 1�� million;
TGK-1� – USD �� million; and
Plug Power – USD �2 million.

•

•
•
•

7. fiNANcE cOsTs (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Year ended 31 
December 2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007

% change y-o-y 

Interest expense on borrowings ��2 280 2�

Unwinding of discount on environmental 
obligations

�� 2� �� 

Interest on obligations under finance leases 9 � 200

Interest on convertible notes � 1 200

Total 397 307 29
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In 2008 income tax expense decreased by 
89% to USD 282 million from USD 2,��9 mil-
lion in 200�. This decrease was mainly due to 
the pre-tax loss of the Group in the amount 
USD 2�� million in 2008 compared to USD 
�,��� million of pre-tax profit in 200�. 

11. (LOss)/PROfiT fOR ThE yEAR

Financial result of the Group decreased from 
USD �,2�� million of profit in 200� to USD ��� 

million of loss in 2008 as a result of decreased 
gross profit by ��% due to the lower prices for 
metals sold and impairment of non-financial 
assets in the amount of USD �,�28 million.

In 2008 adjusted EBITDA decreased from 
USD 10,2�� million to USD �,80� million (or 
by ��%). Adjusted EBITDA margin was �2% 
in 2008 versus �0% in 200�.

10. iNcOmE TAx ExPENsE (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Year ended 31 
December 2008

Year ended 31 
December 2007

% change y-o-y 

Current tax expense 1,�2� 2,�22 (��)
Deferred tax benefit (1,1�1) (1��) �00

Total 282 2,459 (89)

cONsOLiDATED BALANcE shEET As Of 31 DEcEmBER 2008 (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Notes 31 December 
2008

% of 
total

31 December 
2007

% of 
total

% 
change

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 10,��� 1�,981 (28)
Goodwill 1� 1,2�� �,��0 (��)
Intangible assets 1� 209 8�9 (��)
Investments in associates 1� 9�1 8�9 8
Other financial assets 1� �2� 2,982 (82)
Other taxes receivable �9 �8 108
Deferred tax assets �0 89 (��)
Pension plans assets – 8 (100)

13,764 66 23,186 65 (41)
Current assets
Inventories 1� 1,9�9 2,108 (�)
Trade and other receivables ��9 9�9 (�0)
Advances paid and prepaid expenses 118 18� (��)
Other financial assets 1� 1,�1� �,��� (�1)
Income tax receivable ��8 1�� 29�
Other taxes receivable �21 �8� (11)
Cash and cash equivalents 18 1,99� �,008 (�0)

7,046 12,450 (43)
Assets classified as held for sale 1� �0 (�8)

7,059 34 12,510 35 (44)

TOTAL ASSETS 20,823 100 35,696 100 (42)
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The balance sheet total as at �1 December 
2008 was USD 20,82� million and decreased 
for 2008 by USD 1�,8�� million (or �2%). The 
reasons of main changes in balance sheet 
lines are presented below.

Notes 31 December 
2008

% of 
total

31 December 
2007

% of 
total

% 
change 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves 19 11,785 57 21,821 61 (46)

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings 20 �,��8 �,101 ��

Obligations under financial leases �1 2 1,9�0

Employee benefit obligations 11 11 –

Share appreciation rights � – N/A

Environmental obligations ��� �8� (�)

Derivative financial instruments – �  (100)

Deferred tax liabilities 21 �2� 2,��1 (��)

6,912 33 7,441 21 (7)

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings 20 8�2 �,9�1 (�8)

Obligations under financial leases 1� 2 ��0

Current portion of employee benefit 
obligations

�8� ��8 2

Share appreciation rights � – N/A

Trade and other payables �9� �8� 2

Advances received �9 �1 (�)

Income tax payable 22 �22 (9�)

Other taxes payable 1�1 19� (1�)

Derivative financial instruments 1� 2� (�8)

Dividends payable � 80� (99)

2,126 6,425 (67)

Liabilities associated with assets 
classified as held for sale

– 9 (100) 

2,126 10 6,434 18 (67)

TOTAL EQUiTY AND LiABiLiTiES 20,823 100 35,696 100 (42)
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12. PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUiPmENT

At �1 December 2008, property, plant and 
equipment amounted to USD 10,��� million 
as compared to USD 1�,981 million as at �1 
December 200�. 

The decrease of property, plant and 
equipment by USD �,2�� million (or 28%) was 
due to:

impairment provision for property, plant 
and equipment in the amount of USD 
2,��� million, including Norilsk Nickel 
International – USD 2,�81 million,  
OGK-� – USD 1�� million and other – 
USD 28 million;
depreciation charge for the year of USD 
1,2�� million; and
the effect of translation to the 
presentation currency by USD 2,�11 
million.

The decrease was partially offset by an 
increase of capital construction-in-progress 
of USD 2,��� million.

13. GOODwiLL

At �1 December 2008, goodwill amounted to 
USD 1,2�� million compared to USD �,��0 
million as at �1 December 200�. 

The decrease of goodwill by USD 2,12� million 
(or ��%) was mainly due to:

impairment of goodwill in the amount of 
USD 1,��1 million; and
effect of translation to presentation 
currency of USD ��� million. 

The decrease was partially offset by additional 
goodwill undertaken together with increase of 
ownership in OGK-� and Arkhangelsk Sea 
Commercial Port in the amount of USD 80 
million.

14. iNTANGiBLE AssETs

At �1 December 2008, intangible assets 
amounted to USD 209 million compared to 

•

•

•

•

•

USD 8�9 million as at �1 December 200�. 
The decrease of intangible assets by USD 
��0 million was mainly due to impairment loss 
on refining technology registered under the 
trade mark Activox in the amount of USD �90 
million, effect of translation to presentation 
currency of USD 1�� million and depreciation 
charge for the year of USD �8 million. The 
decrease was partially compensated by 
additions of intangible assets in the amount of 
USD �� million.

15. iNvEsTmENTs iN AssOciATEs

At �1 December 2008, investments in 
associates amounted to USD 9�1 million 
compared to USD 8�9 million as at �1 
December 200�. 

The increase of investments in associates 
by USD �2 million (or 8%) was mainly due to 
acquisitions during 2008 year, namely: 

acquisitions of 2�% of shares of RUSIA 
Petroleum for a cash consideration of USD 
��� million; 
acquisition of ��% of Plug Power shares 
from Smart Hydrogen, a joint venture of 
the Group, for a cash consideration of 
USD �� million; and
additional contribution to share capital of 
TGK-1� and Nkomati Nickel Mine in the 
amounts of USD �1 million and USD 1� 
million, respectively.

The increase was partially offset by following 
reasons:

impairment loss in the amount of USD 
28� million;
reclassification of USD �9 
million of investments in OJSC 
“Krasnoyarskenergo” and OJSC 
“Kolenergo” to investments available-
for-sale in the course of restructuring 
process of RAO “UES”; and
USD 2�0 million of effect of translation to 
presentation currency.

•

•

•

•

•

•
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16. OThER fiNANciAL AssETs

At �1 December 2008, the current and non-
current other financial assets amounted to 
USD 1,8�9 million compared to USD �,��� 
million as at �1 December 200�.

The decrease by USD �,�1� million is mainly 
due to:

decrease of short- and long-term 
deposits by USD 1,9�� million to USD 
1,�88 million; 
settlement of promissory notes in the 
amount of USD 1,�0� million; and
remaining portion mainly consists of the 
change in the market value of available-
for-sale securities in the amount of USD 
2,01� million and disposal of Group’s 
investments in OGK-� and Polyus Gold in 
the amount of USD 19� million.

17. iNvENTORiEs

At �1 December 2008, inventories of finished 
goods, work-in-process and stores and ma-
terials amounted to USD 1,9�9 million as 
compared to USD 2,108 million as at �1 De-
cember 200�. The decrease of balance is 
primarily due to significant decrease in selling 
price for all metals in second half of the year 
which led to write-off of inventories to net re-
alisable value. 

18. cAsh AND cAsh EqUivALENTs

At �1 December 2008, cash and cash equiv-
alents amounted to USD 1,99� million com-
pared to USD �,008 million as at �1 Decem-
ber 200�.

The change in balances of cash and cash 
equivalents is mainly due to:

decrease of bank deposits by USD 2,8�1 
million; and
increase in current accounts 
denominated in foreign currencies 
amounting to USD 8�� million.

•

•

•

•

•

19. cAPiTAL AND REsERvEs

At �1 December 2008, capital and reserves 
amounted to USD 11,�8� million (includ-
ing minority interest of USD 1,0�� million) as 
compared to USD 21,821 million (including 
minority interest of USD 2,�18 million) as at �1 
December 200�.

Key factors that affected capital and reserves 
were as follows:

loss for the year in the amount of 
USD ��� million, including attributable to 
shareholders of the parent company in 
the amount of USD ��9 million; 
dividends declared by the Company 
and OGK-� during 2008 amounted 
to USD 902 million and USD � million, 
accordingly;
decrease in minority interest in the 
amount of USD 1,00� million due to the 
acquisition of minority interest of OGK-�, 
AMTP and RAO NN;
buy-back of issued shares in the amount 
of USD 2,�1� million;
decrease of the revaluation reserve for 
investments available-for-sale in the 
amount of USD 1,�00 million; and
net decrease of the effect of translation to 
presentation currency and translation of 
foreign operations of USD �,�28 million.

20. LONG- AND shORT-TERm BORROwiNGs

At �1 December 2008, loans and borrowings 
of the Group decreased by USD 1,��2 million 
to USD �,��0 million against USD 8,0�2 mil-
lion as at �1 December 200�. 

The decrease was mainly due to repayments 
of BNP Paribas and Sberbank loans in the 
amount of USD 2,�9� million and USD �12 
million, respectively and settlement of prom-
issory notes in the amount of USD �80 mil-
lion. At the same time the Group obtained 
syndicated loan at Calyon amounting to USD 
1,�89 million and Deutsche Zentral-Genos-
senschaftsbank in the amount of USD ��8 
million.

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Total amount of loans and borrowings as at �1 De-
cember 2008 consist of:

long-term loans and borrowings in the amount of 
USD �,��8 million (or 8�%); and
short-term loans and borrowings in the amount of 
USD 8�2 million (or 1�%).

Long-term loans and borrowings are mainly due to 
from 2010 to 2012 years.

21. DEfERRED TAx LiABiLiTiEs

At �1 December 2008, deferred tax liabilities amount-
ed to USD �2� million in 2008 compared to USD 2,��1 
million in 200�. 

•

•

The decrease of deferred tax liabilities by 
USD 2,018 million (or ��%) was mainly due to:

benefits recognised during the year in 
the amount of USD 1,002 million;
revaluation of available-for-sale invest-
ments in the amount of USD �98 mil-
lion;
impact of change in income tax rate in 
Russian Federation in the amount of 
USD 1�9 million; and
effect of translation to presentation 
currency in the amount of USD �10 
million.

•

•

•

•

cONsOLiDATED cAsh fLOw sTATEmENT fOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DEcEmBER 2008 (Us DOLLARs miLLiON)

Note
Year ended 

31 December 
2008

Year ended 
31 December 

2007

% 
change 

y-o-y

Net cash generated from operating activities 22 �,��2 �,���  (�2)

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing 
activities 2�  ��9 (12,���) (10�)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing 
activities 2�  (�,80�) �,1�� (181)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 25 (1,803) 1,758 (203)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
the year 4,008 2,178 

Effect of translation to presentation currency (210)  80 

Сash and cash equivalents of disposal group – (8)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the 
year 1,995 4,008 

22. NET cAsh GENERATED fROm OPERATiNG 
AcTiviTiEs

The main source of cash for the Group is net 
cash flows from operating activities. Due to 
the significant decrease of revenue from met-
al sales in 2008 net cash generated by op-
erations decreased by USD �,�92 million and 
amounted to USD �,��2 million as compared 
to USD �,��� million in 200�.

23. cAsh GENERATED fROm/(UsED iN) iNvEsTiNG 
AcTiviTiEs

Net cash inflow from investing activities in 
2008 amounted to USD ��9 million compare 
of cash outflow in 200� amounted to USD 
12,��� million.
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The main components of the inflow include:

net decrease of deposits placed in the 
amount of USD 2,201 million;
proceeds from disposal of promissory 
notes in the amount of USD 1,18� million;
proceeds from disposal of investments 
in Norilsk Telecom and other subsidiar-
ies of the Group in the amount of USD �� 
million;
proceeds from disposal of OGK-� and 
Polyus Gold shares in the amount of USD 
208 million;
proceeds from loans repaid to the Group 
in the amount of USD 180 million; and
proceeds from sale of property, plant 
and equipment in the amount of USD 88 
million.

The cash outflow as a result of investing ac-
tivities comprised the following key compo-
nents:

purchase of shares and increase of own-
ership in subsidiaries and associates for 
USD 1,0�� million; and
acquisition of property, plant and equip-
ment and intangible assets for USD 
2,�2� million; and
loans given in the amount of USD 2�� 
million.

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

24. NET cAsh (UsED iN)/GENERATED fROm 
fiNANciNG AcTiviTiEs

In 2008, net cash used in financing activities 
amounted to USD �,80� million. 

The cash outflow comprised net cash used 
in repayments of loans and borrowings in the 
amount of USD 1,�1� million, buy back of is-
sued shared in the amount of USD 2,�1� and 
payment of Group’s dividends in the amount 
of USD 1,��0 million.

25. NET DEcREAsE iN cAsh AND cAsh 
EqUivALENTs

Net cash and cash equivalents decreased in 
2008 by USD 2,01� million, including effect 
of translation to presentation currency in the 
amount of USD 210 million to USD 1,99� mil-
lion compare to USD �,008 million in 200�. 

8. Review of Financial Performance |



9. cOmmiTmENT TO ENviRONmENTAL PROTEcTiON

NORiLsk NickEL mANAGEmENT cONsiDERs sAfE 
ENviRONmENTAL PRODUcTiON AND PROTEcTiON 
As TOP PRiORiTiEs.





iN 2008, ThE GROUP sPENT UsD 550 miLLiON 
ON ENviRONmENTAL PROTEcTiON, which is 28% 
mORE ThAN iN PRiOR yEAR
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Norilsk Nickel management considers safe 
environmental production and protection as 
top priorities. The Group recognizes its impact 
on the environment and acts to reduce it by:

complying with the current legislative 
requirements, international agreements, 
international: ISO 1�001:200�, and 
industrial and corporate guidelines 
governing environmental protection;
gradually reducing emissions, pollution 
and waste generated, and expanding the 
possibilities for utilizing by-products;

•

•

using natural resources rationally;
implementing the state-of-the-art 
technology; and
planning operations aimed at reducing 
environmental impact.

Apart from the above mentioned measures, 
the Company also focuses on increasing 
energy efficiency and preservation of bio 
diversity in the regions where the Group’s 
principal business units operate.

•
•

•

GROUP sPENDiNG ON ENviRONmENTAL PROTEcTiON (miLLiON Us DOLLARs)

2008 2007 2006

Russia, including: 539 420 357
current spending �29 ��2 �09

capital investments 110 �8 �8

Australia 3 2 –

Botswana 0.2 0.1 –

Finland 3 2 –
USA 4 3 2

Group total, excluding South Africa 549 427 –

South Africa 1.2 0.4 –

Group total, including South Africa 550 428 359

In 2008, the Group spent USD ��9 million 
on environmental protection, which is 28% 
more than in prior year. It launched a major 
ecological program aimed at modernizing 
production facilities and gradually phasing out 
old capacity. This will result in the reduction of 
air pollution and ensure that water resources 
are used more rationally.

In Russia, Norilsk Nickel’s spending on 
environmental protection totaled USD ��9 
million, which is 28% more than in prior year. 
Out of this total, USD �8� million was spent on 
the Taimyr Peninsula operations and USD �2 
million on the Kola Peninsula operations.

RUssiA

Norilsk Nickel’s Russian mining and 
metallurgical enities are located in the Far 
North of the country, where the ecosystems 
possess the lowered ability for restoration, 
and also in immediate proximity to the national 
border, which creates a threat of cross-border 
pollution, which places more environmental 
responsibility on the Company. 

ENviRONmENTAL mANAGEmENT

Last year, the environmental management 
system (EMS) continued to operate as part 
of the integrated quality and environmental 
management system (IQEMS). This allowed 
ecological work and quality control to 
improve the coordinaion with other tasks, 

9. Commitment to Environmental Protection |
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including production management, finance, 
occupational safety and general security. 
Such an approach creates the right conditions 
for improving performance, both generally 
and environmentally.

The EMS has had a whole range of positive 
results for the Group, helping to:

secure priority funding for environmental 
activity;
improve environmental awareness 
among the Company’s employees;
improve the Company’s public image;
make Norilsk Nickel more competitive 
both domestically and abroad;
demonstrate to clients and other 
parties that the Company complies with 
international environmental standards, 
as well as promote the Company among 
the parties requiring such compliance;
create additional opportunities for 
recognition internationally; and
raise the Company’s investment profile.

As Norilsk Nickel’s three-year environmental 
compliance certificate expired in 2008, 
Bureau Veritas Certification, an international 
certification body, re-evaluated the IQEMS 
last year.

The re-evaluation involved checks at head 
office in Moscow, production sites on the 
Taimyr Peninsula (in Norilsk) and the Polar 
transport division (in Dudinka). These 
confirmed that the IQEMS complies with 
ISO 9001:2000 and ISO 1�001:200�. 
Along with noting some potential areas for 
improvement, the officials from the Bureau 
Veritas Certification praised the Company’s 
strong performance.

In 2008 Bureau Veritas Certification also 
conducted an inspection on the Kola 
Peninsula operations. Again, this confirmed 
that the EMS operates in accordance with 
ISO 1�001:200�.

In 2008, in order to evaluate the IQEMS 
for itself, Norilsk Nickel conducted internal 
audits. In line with ISO 9001:2000 and ISO 

•

•

•
•

•

•

•

1�001:200� and Company’s documents, the 
audits were conducted by staff with special 
training. A register of corporate and internal 
audits has been created and is updated 
regularly, while a system of reporting has also 
been introduced, to monitor how effectively 
the Group’s enities fulfill their environmental 
responsibilities.

TAimyR PENiNsULA

In 2008, the Company continued its work 
aimed to reduce the pollution from its 
operations on the Taimyr Peninsula.

At the Copper Plant, the modernization of the 
first technological line for the sulfur extraction 
was completed. This makes the technological 
process more reliable, improves the sulfur 
utilization rate, and reduces the amount of 
sulfur dioxide emitted by the plant with �0,000 
tonnes a year.

Meanwhile, the construction began of the 
facilities to produce sulfite-bisulfite reagent 
and equipment was acquired to filter pulp to 
cool gas for the Vanyukov furnace. This will 
also help to lower sulfur dioxide emissions.

In 2008, the Company continued the 
implementation of measures to reduce 
pollution during adverse weather conditions. 
Last year, such measures were invoked 20� 
times on the Taimyr Peninsula, 12� times at 
the Copper Plant, �� at the Nickel Plant and 
1� times at the Nadezhda Metallurgical Plant.

In 2008, the overall pollution from operations 
on the Taimyr Peninsula decreased compared 
to prior year. Emissions of sulfur dioxide 
reduced substantially, as did those of nitrogen 
oxides and hard pollutants such as nickel and 
copper oxides.

The new round of measuring pollution from 
the Taimyr Peninsula facilities was completed. 
Based on those results, the Rostekhnadzor 
regional body has set air emission limits for the 
production and transport units in December 
2008.
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The three-phase schedule for reducing emis-
sions of hazardous (polluting) substances to 
the air of the Taimyr Peninsula through to 201� 
was also approved by a Krasnoyarsk region 
government resolution.

Last year, the activities to optimize water con-
sumption and reduce the amount of waste 
water discharged into surface water sources 
continued.

The decrease in water intake from outside 
sources is the result of measures implement-
ed previously at the various divisions, particu-
larly at the concentration and metallurgical 
plants.

As part of the plan to gradually reduce waste 
water, the work to design and build water 
treatment facilities continued. This resulted in 
a substantial decrease in the pollutants dis-
charged into water sources by the Polar Divi-
sion business units.

In 2008, the Company implemented the fol-
lowing water-protection measures:

local treatment facilities were built and 
commissioned at the Stroikomplekt’s 
health and recreation centre, the con-
centration plants’ four pumping stations, 
the mechanization section of Norilsk 
Railways, the timber-processing division 
of Stroikomplekt, and the polymer-con-
crete division of Norilskremont;
a division for cleaning concrete-mixing 
and mortar-mixing trucks was built, and 
a closed-water system able to remove 
gasoline and oil was installed at the main 
site of the central transportation busi-
ness unit;
modernization on the Copper Plant’s 
cooling towers continued, as did the 
construction of local water treatment 
facilities at the Copper Plant;
planning and surveying was conducted 
for a year-round car wash at the main site 
of the Central transportation business 
unit and for local treatment facilities at 
the industrial sites of the Komsomolsky 
and Mayak mines;

•

•

•

•

construction continued of a store for 
flammable lubricants and oil, a sew-
age pumping station near the Talnakh 
concentrator, and a cooling tower and 
circulation pumps at the Skalisty mine;
equipment was bought for the project to 
build drainage and treatment facilities for 
the water from the Zapolyarny and the 
Medvezhy Ruchey mines;
repairs on the sewage pipes running 
from the Taimyrsky mine to the treatment 
facilities at Talnakh are almost complete; 
and
three batches of waste water were neu-
tralized.

As part of the drive to create more waste 
storage, progress was made on the project 
aiming to expand the second field of the 
Lebyazhye tailings pit. The goal is to create 
environmentally safe storage facilities for the 
tailings from the Talnakh and Norilsk con-
centrators with an annual capacity of at least 
11 million tonnes.

Last year, various research and development 
efforts as well as design projects, aimed at 
using waste in production and improving 
waste storage were launched:

tailings pit at the Nadezhda Metallurgi-
cal Plant was overhauled, boosting the 
capacity to �0 million m�; 
activities were carried out to classify 
the danger levels and amounts of the 
various types of waste from the Taimyr 
peninsula operations; and
analysis was conducted of the technical 
requirements and viability of processing 
waste from production and consump-
tion.

In 2009, the main objectives regarding re-
ducing waste and pollution on the Taimyr 
Peninsula are to:

survey for the modernization of the 
auxiliary sulfur production facilities at the 
Copper Plant;
continue repairing the cooling towers at 
the Copper Plant;

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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build a water treatment facility at the 
Copper Plant;
build a treatment facility for the water 
from the Zapolyarny mine;
build a drainage and treatment facility for 
the water from the Medvezhy Ruchey mine;
build a water treatment facility at Zub-
gora industrial site; and
draw up plans to build local water treat-
ment facilities at various locations, 
including the nickel plant, the Nadezhda 
Metallurgical Plant, the Oktyabrsky mine, 
the Mayak mine. 

To mitigate the effect of production waste on 
the environment, activities to expand the Leb-
yazhye tailings pit for accommodation of tail-
ings from both Norilsk and Talnakh Concen-
trators will continue in 2009. This will include: 

devising a plan to update the technology 
used when storing waste in dumps; and
evaluating the potential for re-cultivating/
growing plant-life at Lebyazhye.

In addition, the Company will continue to re-
store stocks of rare fish and support biodiver-
sity on the Taimyr Peninsula by financing the 
work of the Norilsk Fish Breeding Unit, which 
breeds young rare fish and then releases 
them into the wild of Norilsk-Pyasinsko wa-
ter system. Each year, the unit produces 2.� 
million eggs and releases �00,000-800,000 
young fish.

kOLA mmc

In 2008, Kola MMC completed the following 
measures directed at reducing the impact of 
its production on the environment:

continued Reconstruction of a concen-
trate roasting plant for the production of 
hardened briquettes at the Zapolyarny 
site; 
facilities for the water-transport of dust 
in the refining shop at the Monchegorsk 
site were put into operation;
cleaning of the settling basin, with the silt 
processed through an industrial dis-
charge system; 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

work was completed on the cleaning of 
the emergency basin of the tailing pit of 
the concentrator plant at the Zapolyarny 
site; 
work was continued on the project ‘Cop-
per production. Production of ��,000 
tonnes of cathode copper at the Mon-
chegorsk site’;
planning work continued on the program 
for the modernization of metallurgical 
production as well as:
the reconstruction of the sulfuric-acid 
plant at Monchegorsk;
the modernization of the cobalt purifica-
tion system at Monchegorsk;
the utilization of salt discharge at the 
electrolytic shops at Monchegorsk.

In order to reduce the man-made impact 
on the environment, a modern dump for the 
burial of production waste was put into op-
eration at the Monchegorsk industrial site in 
2008. 

In order to restore the natural environment in 
the districts where the enmities of Kola MMC 
operate, during the reporting year work was 
completed on:

the re-cultivation and growing of plant 
life on a total area of around 20 hect-
ares of land, which had been damaged 
by industrial pollutants in Pechensk and 
Monchegorsk districts; 
an investigation of the state of the 
ecosystem of the Nickel settlement 
by the Forest-Technical Academy (St. 
Petersburg) with conclusions about its 
condition and recommendations for the 
restoration and development of green 
areas;
the clearing, planning and planting of 
green areas in the Nickel settlement in 
the Mir Street district;
the landscaping of a total of 1.�� hect-
ares of land around industrial sites.

During the reporting year, a survey was com-
pleted of discharges into the atmosphere and 
projects were developed to establish limits 
for permissible emissions at the Nickel and 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•
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Monchegorsk sites. Work was completed 
on scientific research work to calculate the 
technical norms for the discharge of harmful 
materials for the main production facilities at 
Kola MMC. 

A reduction in waste water discharge and its 
pollution content was linked with a reduc-
tion of water pumping at the Tsentralny and 
Zapadny open mines through a reduction in 
volumes of open mining activities as well as 
a reduction in the discharge of mine waste 
water at Kaula Kotselvaar mine through the 
use of mine water to feed the circulating water 
supply of the smelting plant.

In 2008, the discharge of waste water at Mon-
chegorsk site significantly reduced compared 
to 200�. This was due to the repair of the circu-
lating water supply system of the sulfuric-acid 
section of the refining plant and measures 
undertaken to save on the use of energy re-
sources. The discharge of pollutants in waste 
water significantly reduced compared to 
200�. The reduction in discharge was made 
possible by the following measures:

introduction of two-stage cobalt purifi-
cation in the hydro-metallurgical section 
of the nickel electrolytic shop;
substitution of autoclave leaching with 
chloride in the second hydro-metal-
lurgical section of the nickel electrolytic 
shop;
an increase in expenditure on reagents 
for the lime-treatment of drainage; 
an annual cleaning of technological 
sedimentation – in 2008 �0,�00 m� of 
silt was removed. 

A reduction in waste generation was made 
possible following a reduction in the volume 
of waste rock due to changes in ore-mining 
technology and the gradual transition from 
open mining to underground mining (Za-
polyarny and Nickel sites).

The volume of utilized waste diminished due 
to the lower quantity of waste, in particular 
waste rock, and a lower quantity of tailings 
used for the construction of dam walls in ac-

•

•

•

•

cordance with the project for the utilization of 
the tailings dump. 

The volume of waste temporarily stored at 
Company waste storage facilities increased 
with the aim of storing waste until the time it 
is transferred to outside organizations be-
cause the quantity of waste transferred to 
outside organizations for utilization and de-
toxification decreased.

A strategic area for reducing the impact of 
waste discharge into the environment is the 
modernization of production at Kola MMC, 
including:

transfer to cold-briquette technology 
at the pellet plant and roasting shop 
(Zapolyarny site) with a reduction of 
sulfur dioxide emissions, including from 
the heat and energy complex, to a level 
below �,000 tonnes per year (a 10-fold 
reduction in comparison with 2008 
levels);
transfer of metallurgical production from 
the Nickel site to the Monchegorsk site;
reconstruction of sulfuric-acid produc-
tion with an increase in the volume of 
production of saleable sulfuric acid and 
increasing its quality.

In the next few years, in order to protect water 
bodies, it is planned to: 

develop an optimal plan for the utilization 
of the salt discharge at the electrolytic 
shops at Monchegorsk site with the aim 
of achieving acceptable levels of dis-
charge into water;
construct a station for the cleaning of 
mine waste-water and the use of the 
purified water for the technical needs of 
the Zapolyarny site.

•

•

•

•

•
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ThE ENviRONmENTAL imPAcT Of ThE GROUP’s OPERATiONs iN ThE RUssiAN fEDERATiON

indicator 2008 2007 2006

Emissions of atmospheric pollutants including: 2,116 2,162 2,157
sulfur dioxide (‘000 tonnes) 2,0�2 2,09� 2,088

solid substances (‘000 tonnes) 21 22 22

Waste water (mln m3) 163 177 217

Waste intake (mln m3) 350 355 308

internal waste utilization and detoxification 
(mln tonnes) 25 26 31

Waste disposal (mln tonnes) 23 22 23

PROvisiON Of AiD TO sTATE NATURE REsERvEs 
TO mAiNTAiN BiODivERsiTy

In 2008, the Polar Division of the Company 
provided a total of RUB 2.8 million in financial 
assistance to the Putoransk State Nature 
Reserve and the Tamyr State Nature Bio-
sphere Reserve.

In addition, Kola MMC continued its coop-
eration with state nature sanctuaries located 
in Murmansk Region. The Company’s funds 
allowed for continued work on the monitor-
ing of the state of the natural environment of 
the area adjoining the Severonickel Plant, 
including Monchegorsk and its environs and 
the Lapland State Biosphere Reserve. The 
latter has been carried out by scientists from 
the Lapland Sanctuary as part of a contract 
with Kola MMC. 

The Zapolyarny site is near a specially pro-
tected natural area, the Pasvik State Nature 
Reserve, which is included in the Fyarvann-
Skonnig Polygon List of Wetlands of Interna-
tional Importance. The total area of the wet-
lands sanctuary is 1�,�2�.� hectares. 

Research conducted to provide an evalua-
tion of the natural environment in the vicinity 
of the Pechenganickel Combine from 200� 
to 2008 by experts from the Pasvik Reserve, 
identified that the territory of the sanctuary 
“has practically not experienced a negative 
impact from the industrial complex”. In re-
spect to 2008, it was noted that no negative 

trends were observed in the ecosystem in 
comparison to 200� and 200�. 

AUsTRALiA

By 2001, the business units of Norilsk Nickel 
Australia had introduced an Environmen-
tal Management System / Environmental 
Management Plan (EMS/EMP). During the 
operational life of the mines, all produc-
tion activities are assessed with respect to 
their compliance with Australia’s industrial 
standards and laws on environmental pro-
tection. The EMS/EMP are based on ISO 
1�001:200�.

From 200� to 200�, the URS environmental 
agency conducted a comprehensive review 
of the requirements for decommissioning 
mining enities. Norilsk Nickel Australia has a 
detailed closure plan for mines that also pro-
vides for their possible return to production 
in the future. The plan encompasses three 
main components: the environment, finance 
and social responsibility. In 2008, the Com-
pany supplemented this analysis. 

In 2008, the enities of Norilsk Nickel Austra-
lia carried out a range of environmental ini-
tiatives, including: 

declaration and achievement of energy 
efficiency targets; 
implementation of measures aimed at 
reducing greenhouse-gas emissions; 

•

•
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completion of the closure Thunderbox 
mine; 
development of a care and mainte-
nance plan for the Cawse nickel mine;
implementation of a rehabilitation plan 
for the Lake Johnston operations; 
rehabilitation of historical exploration 
drill sites at Lake Johnston and Ban-
nockburn; as well as
assessing dedicated database to man-
age groundwater and surface water 
abstraction, discharge and water quality.

•

•

•

•

•

In 2009, Norilsk Nickel Australia planned the 
implementation of the following environmen-
tal measures: 

refurbishment of the tailings dump of 
the Bannockburn gold mine; 
development of care and maintenance 
plans for the Lake Johnston, Black 
Swan and Waterloo mines; as well as
compliance with legal requirements to 
maintain leased land in proper condi-
tion.

•

•

•

imPAcT ON ENviRONmENT Of ThE GROUP’s OPERATiONs iN AUsTRALiA

indicator 2008 2007

Volume of industrial waste-water (million m�) �.0 �.0
Total water consumption (million of m�) �.0 �.0
Greenhouse gas emissions (‘000 tonnes of CO

2
-equiv.) ��� 2�8

Waste generation (million tonnes) �.� 2.�
Waste disposal (million tonnes) �.� 1.�

BOTswANA

In 2008, an inspection was carried out ton 2008, an inspection was carried out to 
determine the adherence of the Company’s 
mines to the requirements of ISO 1�001:200�. 
In January 2009, the Environmental Manage-
ment System at Tati Nickel was re-certified. 
Key environment protection measures were 
undertaken during this reporting period in-
cluded: 

the construction and launch into opera-
tion of a dam for removing water from the 
mine;
the launch into operation of a facility 
for the suppression of dust in overhead 
crusher No.1, leading to a significant 
reduction in dust levels in the district; and
monitoring of the emission of dust on ter-
ritory of the enitiy. 

•

•

•

During 2009, Tati Nickel plans to carry out the 
following environmental measures:

conducting an analysis of environmental 
risks and updating the register of con-
trolling factors;
monitoring the state of surface waters in 
the mine; 
developing procedures in the event of 
moderate or severe environmental ac-
cidents; and
educating and informing more than ��% 
of employees about systems of quality 
management and environmental safety. 

•

•

•

•
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imPAcT ON ThE ENviRONmENT Of ThE OPERATiONs Of TATi NickEL

indicator 2008 2007

Volume of industrial waste-waters (‘000 m�) �.1 �.�
Waste generation (tonnes) �9� 2,800
Waste disposal (tonnes) �1� �1�

Total water consumption (million m�) 2.� 2.�

fiNLAND

Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta Oy possesses all 
necessary environmental permits and ap-
plies a certified comprehensive manage-
ment system that complies with ISO 9001, 
ISO 1�001 and OHSAS 18001. Measures to 
protect the environment include measures 
such as the reduction of emissions of am-
monia and nickel into the atmosphere as 
well as the disposal of nickel, sodium sulfate 
and ammonia nitrogen (NH

�
-N) into water. In 

2008, the volume of ammonia emissions did 
not exceed in the level of 200�. However, in 
2008, significantly tougher maximum emis-
sion levels were set at 2�0 tonnes, and these 
were exceeded by 1�9 tonnes. The following 
measures now undertaken should allow a re-
duction in ammonia emissions by more than 
�0% and keep them below the maximum 
permitted levels: 

shift of flow analyzers installed during this 
reporting period to their design capacity; 
installation of new ammonia filters at the 
beginning of 2009; and
increasing the frequency of emissions 
measurement.

The volume of discharge of other pollutants at 
Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta in 2008 did not ex-
ceeded maximum permitted levels in 2008.

In 2008, the total volume of emissions amount-
ed to 1�,�00 tonnes, compared to 18,000 
tonnes in 200�. The volume of waste utilization 
amounted to 1�,�00 tonnes, compared 1�,000 
in prior year. The reduction of the volume of 
waste utilization in 2008 can be explained by 
the overall reduction of emissions. 

In 2009, new cooling towers will be put into 
operation at the leaching plants, representing 
an investment of USD �.� million.

•

•

•

imPAcT ON ThE ENviRONmENT Of ThE GROUP’s OPERATiONs iN fiNLAND

indicator 2008 2007

Volume of industrial waste-waters (thousands m3) 650 748
Pollutants weight as part of industrial waste-water (tonnes)

nickel � 2

sodium sulfate 2�,1�� 2�, ��1

ammonium nitrogen �� ��

Total water consumption (million m3) 13 15

Total emission of pollutants to the atmosphere (tonnes)

nickel 2 2

ammonia �89 �29

Waste generation (‘000 tonnes) 16 18
Waste disposal (‘000 tonnes) 16 17
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UNiTED sTATEs Of AmERicA

The operations of Stillwater Mining in geologi-
cal exploration, extraction and processing of 
minerals are governed by a number of US laws 
requiring licensing and permits, establishing 
standards for emissions of pollutants into the 
atmosphere and their content in waste water. 
They also set limits on the storage and utiliza-
tion of waste and set out accounting and re-
porting procedures. 

Stillwater Mining is particularly focused on en-
vironmental issues due to its close proximity to 
the Absaroka-Beartooth Wilderness Reserve 
and Yellowstone National Park. With the sup-
port of local environmental organizations, the 
Company undertakes a bulk of environmental 
measures and continuously seeks to identify 
and rapidly resolve any problems that arise. 
During 2008, Stillwater Mining continued 
to implement programs for the reduction of 
emissions of pollutants into the atmosphere 
at the Stillwater and East Boulder mines. In 
addition, Stillwater Mining provides financial 
support for environmental programs aimed 
at protecting the Boulder River basin directed 
at improving the quality of surface and under-
ground water.

sOUTh AfRicA

Nkomati operates under an integrated man-
agement system based on the standards set 
out by ISO 1�001, 9001 and OHSAS 18001. 

In 2008, the following measures were under-
taken:

a comprehensive analysis was com-
pleted of Nkomati’s adherence to the 
requirement of ISO 1�001 with the reten-
tion of independent international auditor 
DQS; 
an evaluation was made of the environ-
mental impact of such facilities as ware-
houses for explosive substances and 
diesel fuel, as well as a project to expand 
facilities for cleaning waste water. The 
results of these analyses were presented 
to the relevant state agencies for their 

•

•

review, and approvals are expected dur-
ing 2009;
a comprehensive forecasting model of 
the water balance of the enitiy (GOLD-
SIM) was carried out in cooperation with 
Golder and Associates; 
a detailed plan for the management of 
run-off waste water was developed and 
introduced with the aim of minimizing 
harm to natural water sources; 
in accordance with best international 
practices, a project is being carried out 
to construct tailings pits as part of the 
second phase of a project designed 
to expand capacity which foresees the 
installation of pipelines made from high-
density polyethylene in order to minimize 
any negative impact on the quality of 
ground water; 
detailed hydrological research of the soil 
was undertaken, additional wells were 
drilled for analysis in order to improve the 
efficiency of the ground-water monitor-
ing program; and
the quality of interaction with the local 
community and other stakeholders was 
improved by creating new opportunities 
for formalized exchanges of opinion.

In 2009, Nkomati plans to carry out the follow-
ing environmental protection measures: 

obtaining ISO 1�001 certification; 
obtaining a new, integrated license for 
the use of water resources from the au-
thorized state agency in South Africa;
improving management of water re-
sources through increasing the efficien-
cy of how the GOLDSIM model is used 
and hiring a hydro-technical engineer;
conducting a detailed analysis of the 
impact and requirements arising from the 
activities of the Company as well as the 
drafting of a plan for the re-cultivation and 
renewal of the surrounding environment;
evaluating the salt balance of circulating 
water with the aim of identifying potential 
damage from discharges into natural 
water sources; and
improving the quality of environmental 
accounting.

•

•

•

•

•

•
•

•

•

•

•
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imPAcT ON ThE ENviRONmENT Of ThE GROUP’s OPERATiONs iN ThE REPUBLic Of sOUTh AfRicA

indicator 2008 2007 (4)

Waste generation (‘000 tonnes) (1) 15,767 2,884
Waste Rock 1�,�91 n/a

Tailings deposition 1,��� n/a

Hazardous Waste 0.119 n/a

Non Hazardous Waste 0.1�� n/a

Waste disposal (‘000 tonnes) 15,767 2,882

Waste Rock 1�,�91 n/a

Tailings deposition 1,��� n/a

Hazardous Waste 0.119 n/a

Non Hazardous Waste 0.1�� n/a

Total water consumption (million m3) (2) 0.496 2.4

Greenhouse gas emissions (‘000 tonnes of CO
2
-equiv.) (3) 134 n/a

indirect Emission – Electricity Consumption 133.75 n/a

Direct Emissions – Vehicle Emissions 0.082 n/a

Notes:

(1) Waste Generation figures consist of total tailings 

depositions tonnes, Hazardous Waste (Oil, batteries) and 

Non Hazardous Waste as well as Waste Rock mined and 

disposed at the Company’s Disposal Facility.

(2) Water consumption consists of make up water where the 

200� figures included recycled water as well.

(�) Green House gases were calculated using the Forum for 

Economics and Environment CO
2
 calculator.

(�) Detailed breakdown for 200� is absent.
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10. OvERviEw Of hUmAN REsOURcEs AND sOciAL 
POLiciEs
ThE hUmAN REsOURcEs AND sOciAL POLiciEs 
Of ThE cOmPANy ARE BUiLT ON ThE PRiNciPLEs 
Of cORPORATE sOciAL REsPONsiBiLiTy.





TO mEET ThE REqUiREmENTs iN PERsONNEL NEEDs, 
mORE ThAN 7,200 PEOPLE wERE REcRUiTED iN  
2008 By ThE GROUP’s ENTiTiEs iN RUssiA
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The human resources and social policies 
of the Company are built on the principles 
of corporate social responsibility and have 
received top marks from Russian and inter-
national government as well as from social 
organizations. The Federation Council of the 
Federal Assembly of the Russian Federation 
awarded Norilsk Nickel a diploma for its sig-
nificant contribution to the development of 
corporate social responsibility and reporting 
in Russia. In 2008, the Company received the 
Certificate of the International Organization 
of Labor for its contribution to the develop-
ment of corporate social responsibility. Dur-
ing this reporting year, Norilsk Nickel was also 
awarded by the European Social Commission 
of the European Commission in a nomination 
for ”Social Partnership”. 

In 2008, the Polar Division of Norilsk Nickel 
received a “First Degree Certificate for High 
Social Responsibility” for services provided 
by the entity and its management in the area 
of obligatory pension insurance and obser-
vance of the social guarantees of insured 
persons. The decision to award the Cer-
tificate was taken by a trilateral commission 
composed of representatives from the Ad-
ministration of Kransoyarsk region, the Union 
Federation of the region and the Krasnoyarsk 
region Division of the Pension Fund of the 
Russian Federation. 

DisTRiBUTiON Of ThE sTAff Of ThE GROUP iN RUssiA iN 2008

Taimyr Peninsula

Kola Peninsula and 
Northwest region

Moscow & other Russian 
regions

Krasnoyarsk region

64%

19%

11%

6%

The Company also won the All-Russian com-
petition, ‘Best Russian Entities: Dynamism, 
Efficiency, Responsibility’ held by the Russian 
Union of Industrialists and Entrepreneurs, in 
the nomination ‘Social Responsibility’ in the 
category ‘Commitment to the Development 
of Non-Financial Reporting’. 

sTAff REcRUiTmENT AND DEvELOPmENT

To meet the staffing needs, more than �,2001 
people were recruited in 2008 by the Group’s 
entities in Russia.

998 people, including graduates and students 
from 1� industry-related institutes of higher 
education, participated in the corporate pro-
gram for the recruitment of young workers 
and specialists for the entities located on the 
territory of Norilsk city and Taimyr (Dolgano-
Nenetsk) municipal district. 

In course of 2008, an increased number of 
Group’s companies participated in the so-
cial program designed to provide assistance 
to young specialists to settle when arriving at 
their new place of residence to Norilsk and 
the Taimyr (Dolgano-Nenetsk) municipal 
district. In 2008, the program’s conditions 

1 Data for Russian entities of the Group with more than �00 

employees.
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were extended to the Polar transport branch, 
OJSC “NTEK”, LLC “Norilsknickelremont” 
and LLC “Polar Construction Company”. The 
package includes compensation for the cost 
of transport, payment for the rental (sublet) of 
commercial residential space or residency in 
municipal dormitories as well as other com-
pensation for setting up residency. This was 
provided to 1�9 young workers. 

In 2008, additional training, advanced pro-
fessional training and various opportunities 
to increase qualifications, were provided for 
�2,1�� workers (�2% of the average person-
nel headcount) within the Group.

The Company pays particular attention to 
the professional training of its internal pool 
of potential future managers (known as the 
‘staff reserve’) as well as to increasing the 
qualifications of managers and specialists. It 
is also focused on programs for the devel-
opment of a number of specifically targeted 
staff groups (Mentor Academy, Master Uni-
versity, etc.). Aiming at meeting the Group’s 
requirements for line managers at every lev-
el of management, steps were taken in 2008 
to fill and renew the staff reserve amongst 
Group employees (at the starting level – �08 
people, middle level – �8� people and top 
level – 1�� people). This reserve of promis-
ing talent is composed of young workers un-
der �0-years who have leadership potential, 
which is required for efficient management 
of divisions at varying levels, and who are 
highly motivated to work at the Company. In 
2008, the first 28 young specialists of this 
staff reserve, successfully completed their 
training of this corporate educational pro-
gram and received state-issued training di-
plomas.

During this reporting period, efforts intended 
to facilitate the retention and development of 
employees as well as to improve the efficiency 
of internal communications continued with 
targeted groups of employees. More than 
��,000 employees took part in various 
competitive, cultural and other events 
organized by groups, and designed to reach 
specific groups of employees, such as the 

GROUP’s AvERAGE hEADcOUNT
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‘Movement of Young Specialists’, ‘Leader’, 
‘Woman’s View’ and ‘Master University’. 

sTAff mOTivATiON

The average monthly salary of Norilsk Nickel’s 
employee in Russia in 2008 grew by 1�% 
compared to prior year and amounted to 
RUB ��.�00 (USD 1,900), which is almost 2.8 
times higher than the average salary in Russia 
and 2.� times higher than the average for the 
Russian metallurgical industry. The average 
monthly salary of a worker at the Polar Division 
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87,969
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Europe

The Republic of 
South Africa
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in 2008 was RUB ��.�00 (US$2,200), which 
is 10% higher than in prior year. 

In order to increase labor efficiency and cre-
ate incentives for the long-term retention of 
key workers in the Group, the Company offers 
employees, who don’t have penalties, addi-
tional benefit packages provided in the form 
of additional corporate transportation com-
pensation, discounted loans, a joint corporate 
pension and so forth in addition to benefits 
provided for all workers. In 2008, the Com-
pany continued to develop additional benefits 
offered to its best employees. 

The implementation of a joint program run in 
partnership with Rosbank offering discount-
ed loans to Company employees, who have 
passed a selection process and signed labor 
contracts based on special terms and accord-
ing to an established procedure, continued. 
The purpose of this program is to motivate 
and retain the Company’s best employees, 
who have distinguished themselves through 
superior work and professional skills. From 
December 200� to December 2008, during 
the period when the program has been effec-
tive, loans were extended to �2� employees, 
of which 8� loans are already retired. The 
most popular purpose of applying for loans is 
the acquisition of real estate. Such loans have 
a �-year maturity period. 

mORAL REwARDiNG

The Company emphasizes non-financial in-
centives for personnel, based on the idea 
that timely, performance related incentives 
assist employees with their contribution 
and achievement of corporate goals. It also 
strengthens the interest in improving the per-
formance of individual business units and the 
Company in general.

sTRUcTURE Of ThE cOmPENsATiON PAckAGE fOR ThE GROUP iN RUssiA iN 2008 (1)

Base pay

Performance based bonus

Current bonus

Social package

61%

18%

12%

9%

AvERAGE mONThLy sALARy fOR EmPLOyEEs Of 
ThE GROUP iN RUssiA (iN RUBLEs)

�0,000

�0,000

�0,000

�0,000
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Note:

(1) Amount of average compensation package at the 

Russian operations was �� thousand roubles in 2008.
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An efficient instrument for non-financial stim-
ulation of groups and individual employees is 
to reward the best performance in produc-
tion with sector, ministerial, government and 
corporate awards.

In 2008, �,0�� employees of the Group’s 
entities received awards for the highest 
achievements in production and for long and 
loyal service. Amongst them 29 employees 
received state awards; 2�8 employees re-
ceived awards from various ministries and 
governmental departments; �81 employees 
received awards from regional and municipal 
authorities; 222 employees received corpo-
rate awards from the Company and 2,��� 
employees received awards from Group’s 
entities. 

PENsiON PROGRAms

A distinctive feature in the development of 
corporate non-state pension plan last year 
was the growth in the number of participants 
in the program. It provides for the joint 
participation of the Company and employees 
in the building up of an additional contribution-
based pension. During this reporting year, 
more than 2�,000 employees of entities 
located in the Norilsk industrial district and 
around 1,�00 employees of Kola MMC and 
its subsidiaries took part in the “Accrued 
Equity Pension Program”, which is available 
to every employee regardless of their age 
and length of service in the Company. 
In order to reward individual production 
achievements, the Company made additional 
pension contributions in 2008 in the individual 
accounts of �,�00 of its best workers in the 
form of a pension bonus. As from the start of 
the program in mid-200�, it has encompassed 
more than �0,000 workers in the primary 
entities of the Norilsk Nickel Group.

The Joint Corporate Pension program, 
which was launched in December 2002, also 
includes an accrual element, whereby the 
employee accumulates funds during his or her 
time working at the Company. This program 
is primarily aimed at ensuring the long-term 
productivity of highly qualified professional 

personnel. The participants of this program 
are workers in the essential trades, mining, 
concentrating and metallurgical areas of the 
Polar Division of the Company. At the end of 
2008, the total number of participants in the 
Joint Corporate Pension approximated 2,200 
people, of which 19� employees entered 
the program during 2008, ��� reached the 
status of corporate pensioners, including 81 
employees in 2008.

hEALThcARE PROGRAms

For many years, the programs aimed at en-
suring health and wellbeing to employees 
and members of their families, have been 
implemented at the majority of Group’s enti-
ties. Funds are set aside to reimburse work-
ers for a significant portion of their health 
costs. In 2008, workers of Group’s entities 
on the territory of the Norilsk industrial dis-
trict and Kola MMC as well as members of 
their families were provided with approxi-
mately 1�,000 vouchers to the Zapolyarie 
health resort and external health resorts. 
Approximately 1,900 vouchers were pro-
vided for children of employees in order for 
them to attend children’s summer camps. 
The Health program, under the auspices of 
which workers are provided with funds for 
the arrangement of different types of rest 
and relaxation, was used by approximately 
�,000 people in 2008. 

hEALTh AND sAfETy

The Group operates many industrial facilities 
associated with production risks. Various 
dangerous substances are applied in the 
course of technical processes, including 
toxic, explosive, acidic and other substances. 
The policy of the Company in the area of 
industrial and worker safety sets the priority of 
the life and health of workers over production 
results and places the responsibility on the 
management of the Company to create 
healthy and safe working conditions for all of 
the Company’s employees while establishing 
a stable mechanism for motivating safe 
behavior in the production process. 
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Safe labor conditions are principally ensured 
by: 

technical upgrades of production 
equipment and increasing the level 
of industrial safety of the Company’s 
production facilities; 
work on improving the worker-protection 
system by teaching workers the rules 
and norms of safety and motivating staff 
to rigorously observe these rules;
regular checks of working conditions at 
sites;
providing workers with modern and 
effective equipment for individual and 
group protection, special clothing, 
sanitary/hygienic and therapeutic 
preventative products;
monitoring and control of industrial 
health and safety.

•

•

•

•

•

In 2008, there was a reduction of injuries with 
��% compared to 200�, and there were no 
group accidents. In addition, during this re-
porting year, there was a �0% reduction in 
fatal injuries and a 22% reduction in traumas 
with serious outcome. The frequency of pro-
duction injuries in the Group’s entities were 
�0% lower than in the Russian Federation in 
200� (for 2008 official data for injuries in the 
Russian Federation is not yet available) as a 
whole and 28% lower than for the non-ferrous 
metallurgy in Russia.

DEvELOPmENT Of cORPORATE cULTURE

The Company demonstrated a clear interest in 
improving the health of its employees, in sup-
porting their aspirations towards regular physi-
cal exercise and sport and also in conducting 
annual sporting contests, tournaments and 
mass events across a wide range of sports.

OccUPATiONAL iNjURy fREqUENcy AT POLAR DivisiON Of mmc NORiLsk NickEL fOR ThE PERiOD 
fROm 2004 TO 2008 
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During this reporting year, a number of gen-
eral corporate competitions were held across 
the territories where the entities of the Group 
are located: the Norilsk Nickel Ski Race, a run 
covering the 1�0-kilometer route Dudinka –
Alykel – Talnakh – Norilsk; “Papa, Mama and 
me – Sporting Family” family competition; 
and a mini-football tournament. Some 12� 
teams representing Group workplaces took 
part in corporate sporting events in 2008, as 
well as teams from youth sports academies, 
children’s and youth homes, military detach-
ments and local residents of cities and towns. 
In all, more than 2�,000 workers took part in 
sporting events in 2008.

A corporate comedy and entertainment club, 
the ‘Happy Norilsk Nickel Club’, was active in 
the Polar Division and is helping to develop 
the creative potential of its young employees 
in the Norilsk industrial district. In 2008, 12 
teams from various Group’s entities and ap-
proximately �,000 supporters took part in the 
Club’s events. 

The creative competition ‘Road to Tomor-
row’ was held as part of the Children’s Club 
project in which more than �,200 children 
took part, developing and publishing books 
for first-year students, providing support 
for children’s social institutions in the No-
rilsk industrial district and maintaining the  
www.nickelca.ru corporate cite (more than 
80,000 users per month). In 2008, more than 
��,000 children of employees of the Norilsk 
Nickel Group received New Year’s presents.

LOcAL cOmmUNiTy AssisTANcE

An important component of the social policy 
of the Company is to provide assistance for 
the social and economic development of the 
communities where it is present. This includes 
programs conducted in partnership with 
regional and municipal authorities. 

The Company participates in providing edu-
cational equipment for both general and spe-
cialized use for primary, middle and higher 
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Note:

(1) Coefficient of occupational injury frequency – number 

of registered accidents per 1 000 employees.

 For 2008 official data for injuries in the Russian 

Federation is not available.
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professional educational institutions located 
in Norilsk and the Taimyr Dolgano-Nenetsk 
municipal district, as well as giving financial 
support for the repair and upgrade of build-
ings used by educational institutions. 

In accordance with the existing cooperation 
agreement between the Agency of Profes-
sional Education and Science of Krasnoyarsk 
region and Norilsk Nickel, a Resource Center 
was established at the Professional Acad-
emy No. 10� in Norilsk. The equipment and 
innovative educational programs run by the 
center make it possible to train, in a targeted 
way, young workers possessing the right skills 
needed for the Company’s production work. 

In 2008, in order to carry out the timely review 
and resolution of issues linked to the training 
of workers and specialists in Norilsk, the Co-
ordinating Committee of Norilsk Nickel was 
created to facilitate work with local profes-
sional educational institutions. 

The “Program for the Development of the 
Material and Technical Base for Athletics and 
Sport in Norilsk for the period from 200� to 
2010”, approved together with the Adminis-
tration of Norilsk, was ongoing in this report-
ing year. In 2008, within the framework of the 
program, the upgrade of four sporting facili-
ties was financed by the Company: two swim-
ming pools, Youth Sports School � and the 
Gornyak Gym. The Company has now com-
pletely fulfilled its commitments to fund the 
upgrade of these facilities. 

In the interest of preserving the social stability 
of the regions where the Company conducts 
business, the Company, in cooperation with 
local authorities, provides assistance to the 
most vulnerable groups of society. In 2008, 
the “Veteran” program was developed by the 
Company, which is implemented jointly with 
the Administration of Norilsk city on the basis 
of an agreement signed in June 2008. Former 
Company employees, pensioners who live 
permanently in Norilsk and Taimyr Dolgano-
Nenets municipal district obtained material 
aid of RUB �,�00. 

sOciAL PARTNERshiP

In 2008, in accordance with legislation and 
obligations assumed by the employer, the 
practice of collective bargaining agreements 
regulating the salaries of employees contin-
ued. Collective bargaining agreements are 
in effect at the primary production entities of 
the Group and regulate salary issues for em-
ployees in more than �00 professions, while 
“uniform” salary rates have been established 
for the �0 most popular progressions.

In 2008, the Collective Agreement Commis-
sion of MMC Norilsk Nickel took �0 decisions 
on general matters (i.e. salaries, improving 
systems for worker safety, preventing occu-
pational illness, social programs, non-state 
pension provision, recruiting and retaining 
youth employment, etc.) and �2 decisions 
on individual applications submitted by em-
ployees. 

In February 2008, following the initiative of 
the Corporate Social and Labor Committee, 
the Regional Corporate Forum was held for 
Group’s entities located in Norilsk where the 
results of the development of social and la-
bor relations in the Company’s business units 
were assessed and goals for the following 
year were set. 

In 2008, the social partnership of the Com-
pany was not limited to the cooperation with 
its social partners at the local level. The Com-
pany also participated actively in this field, at 
both federal and international level. Further 
development of mechanisms for social part-
nerships is ensured through the development 
of direct dialog between the employer and 
its employees, as well as the direct commu-
nication between workers and management, 
which allows for timely decision-making on 
urgent matters when and where they arise.

Details of the MMC Norilsk Nickel social 
policy are disclosed in more detail in the 
Company’s 2008 Social Report.

10. Overview of Human Resources and Social Policies |



11. shARE cAPiTAL AND sTOck mARkETs

iN RUssiA, ThE shAREs Of NORiLsk NickEL 
ARE TRADED ON ThE micEx AND iN ThE RTs. 
ThE ADRs ARE TRADED OvER-ThE-cOUNTER iN 
ThE UNiTED sTATEs AND ON ThE ELEcTRONic 
iNTERNATiONAL ORDER BOOk sEcTiON Of ThE 
LONDON AND ThE fREivERkEhR sEcTiON Of 
BERLiN sTOck ExchANGEs.





iN ThE ENviRONmENT Of ThE GLOBAL fiNANciAL 
cRisis AND siGNificANT DEcREAsE iN mETAL 
PRicEs, ThE BOARD Of DiREcTORs, AT iTs mEETiNG 
ON mAy 21, 2009, DEciDED TO REcOmmEND TO ThE 
ANNUAL GENERAL mEETiNG Of shAREhOLDERs 
Of ThE cOmPANy TO APPROvE NO PAymENT Of 
DiviDENDs fOR 2008
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As at December �1, 2008, Norilsk Nickel 
had an issued share capital of 190,�2�,��� 
ordinary shares with a par value of RUB 1 per 
share.

BUy-BAck Of OwN shAREs

In August 2008, the Board of Directors 
of the Company decided to acquire up to 
�,9��,000 of Norilsk Nickel’s issued shares 
(around �.1�% of the issued share capi-
tal) at the price of RUB �,1�� (around USD 
2��) per share. Tender applications were 
accepted from September 29, 2008 to Oc-
tober 28, 2008. For the first time, holders 
of American Depositary Shares (ADRs) had 
the opportunity to take part in this type of a 
transaction. The quantity of shares which the 
Company acquired from each shareholder 
making a tender application was determined 
on a proportional basis. The quantity of 
shares indicated in the tender applications 
received from shareholders amounted to 
110,��0,008 (around ��.98% of the issued 
share capital). This exceeded the quantity 
of shares which the Company intended to 
acquire and thus the coefficient of the ac-
quisition amounted to 0.0�189902���. The 
acquisition of shares took place beginning 
October 29, 2008 and continued from De-
cember 12, 2008 to January 1�, 2009. As a 

result, the Company bought back �,8��,80� 
shares (around �.12% of its share capital) for 
a total sum of RUB �8,���,�2�,��9. 

In accordance with Clause � of Article �2 of 
the Federal Law On Joint Stock Companies, 
the shares repurchased by the Company 
carry no voting rights, are not taken into ac-
count in voting counts, and do not partici-
pate in dividend distributions. These shares 
should be sold at a price no lower than their 
market value within one year from the date 
of their purchase. Otherwise, the General 
Meeting of Shareholders will have to pass a 
resolution to decrease the share capital of 
the Company and cancel these shares.

On May 21, 2009, the Board of Directors de-
cided to transfer the treasury shares (about 
�.12% of share capital), which are on the bal-
ance of Norilsk Nickel, to subsidiary compa-
nies – OJSC Norilsk Zaveniagyn Combine 
(2.�%) and OJSC Kola MMC (1.�%).

shAREs

In Russia, the shares of Norilsk Nickel are 
traded on the MICEX and in the RTS under 
a single state registration number: 1-01-
�01��-F assigned on December 12, 200�.

shARE TickERs

Trading Platform Bloomberg Code Reuters Code

МICEX – Moscow, Russia GMKN RM GMKN.MM
RТS – Moscow, Russia GMKN RU GMKN.RTS

iNTERNATiONAL shARE iDENTificATiON cODEs

Description Code

ISIN RU000�288�11
SEDOL �1�1��1
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| MMC Norilsk Nickel | Annual Report 20081�8

PRicE AND TRADiNG vOLUmE Of NORiLsk NickEL shAREs

Share price on MiCEx (in rubles)

Minimum Maximum At the end  
of period

Volume of 
shares traded

200� 1,���.9� 2,�9�.2� 2,���.�� 1��,�2�,89�
200� 2,1�2.�� �,1�1.�9 �,9��.�2 21�,��1,02�

200� �,�18.�0 �,���.�9 �,���.�� �9�,���,�89

2008 1,171.15 7,348.55 1,967.07 828,270,462

1st quarter �,281.09 �,��8.�� �,��2.00 19�,99�,�82

2nd quarter �,�90.�2 �,2�2.�� �,8��.1� 1��,091,�9�

�rd quarter 2,29�.�� �,8��.�0 �,��9.00 ��2,���,298

�th quarter 1,1�1.1� �,���.00 1,9��.0� 128,��0,�8�

AmERicAN DEPOsiTARy REcEiPTsmERicAN DEPOsiTARy REcEiPTs

In June 2001, the Group signed a depository 
agreement with the Bank of New York, under 
which the issue of Level-1 American Deposi-
tory Receipts (ADRs) for Norilsk Nickel was 
initiated. Custodial services for ADR transac-
tions are rendered by the depository of CJSC 
ING Bank (Eurasia).

As of December �1, 2008, the total num-
ber of ADRs issued in exchange for shares 
of Norilsk Nickel amounted to �2�,���,0�0 
ADRs or 28% of the Company’s issued share 
capital.

The ADRs are traded over-the-counter (OTC) 
in the United States and on the electronic In-
ternational Order Book section of the London 
and the Freiverkehr section of Berlin stock ex-
changes.

In accordance with the FCSM Regulation on 
the Procedure for the Issuance of Permits by 
the Federal Financial Markets Service, for an 
offer and/or floatation of issued securities of 
Russian issuers outside the Russian Federa-
tion, the number of shares of a Russian issuer 
it plans to offer and/or float outside of the 
Russian Federation, including through the of-
fering of foreign securities, should not exceed 
��% of the overall number of the outstand-
ing shares of the Russian issuer of the same 
share category. Due to the fact that Norilsk 

Nickel launched its Level-1 ADR program be-
fore this Regulation came into effect, the cap 
for the number of foreign securities offered 
remained the same at �0% of the overall 
number of shares outstanding.

The Company discloses information and 
makes it available to all ADR holders in Eng-
lish according to the Rule 12g�-2(b) of the US 
Securities Exchange Act of 19��.

ADR sPLiT

On February �, 2008, the Board of Directors 
passed a resolution to execute a split of the 
Company’s ADRs. The primary goal of the 
split was to increase the market capitalization 
of the Company and to increase the liquid-
ity of the Norilsk Nickel ADR’s. The split was 
carried out with the assistance of the Bank of 
New York and affected ADR holders only. As 
result of the split, as from February 2008, the 
ratio of the ordinary shares of the Company to 
ADR has been 1:10. 
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ADR TickERs

Trading Platform Bloomberg Code Reuters Code

IOB, London Stock Exchange – London, UK MNOD LI NKELyq.L
OTC Market – New York, USA NILSY US NILSY.PK

Freiverkehr, Berlin-Bremen Stock Exchange – Berlin, 
Germany

NNIA GR NKELy.F 

iNTERNATiONAL ADR iDENTificATiON cODEs

Description Code

ISIN US���2�D1081
CUSIP ���2�D108

SEDOL B11�RK�

PRicE AND TRADiNG vOLUmE Of NORiLsk NickEL ADR

ADR Price on the iOB Section of the London Stock Exchange (in US dollars)

Minimum Maximum End of period Volume

200� �9.00 99.00 9�.00 11�,20�,�90
200� �1.�0 1��.00 1�8.00 10�,0�0,��0

200� 1�2.�0 ���.00 2�0.�� 1��,808,002

2008 4.85 31.30 6.36 2,262,926,758

1st quarter (1) 21.8� �0.�� 28.1� ��2,���,���

2nd quarter (1) 2�.20 �1.�0 2�.�0 ��9,20�,��8

�rd quarter (1) 10.�� 2�.�� 1�.�� 8�2,999,9�8

�th quarter (1) �.8� 1�.00 �.�� �0�,888,�19

Note:

(1) From February 19, 2008, the conversion ratio for 

the Company’s ADRs changed from one American 

Depositary Share (ADS) per one outstanding ordinary 

share to ten ADSs per one outstanding ordinary share.

sTOck mARkET iNDicEs

The Company’s market capitalization indi-
cator is used to calculate the key stock ex-
change indices, both Russian and leading 
international institutions and brokers.
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wEiGhT Of ThE cOmPANy iN kEy sTOck ExchANGE iNDicEs

index Weight, %

RTS Index �.�1
RTS Metals and Mining Index 1�.�2

MICEX Index �.8�

AK&M Industrial Index ��.8�

FTSE LSE Russia IOB Index �.��

Vienna Stock Exchange RTX Index �.�8

MSCI Russia Index �.��

CSFB Russia Index �.90

HSBC Global Mining Diversified Index �.20

NERAX Eco Index �.88

DyNAmics Of sTOck ExchANGE TRADiNG vOLUmE
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mAjOR shAREhOLDERs Of NORiLsk NickEL (1) (As Of APRiL 30, 2009)

Company name Number of shares
(million)

% of share capital 

The Bank of New York International Nominees (2) �8.1 2�.21
Gershvin Investments Corp. Limited (�) ��.� 2�.00

BONICO HOLDING CO. LIMITED (�) 29.� 1�.�9

MONTEBELLA HOLDINGS LIMITED (�) 1�.1 �.�0

ICFI (CYPRUS) LIMITED (�) �.� 1.89

Notes:

(1) As of May 2�, 2009, the registrar contains �0 legal 

entities (including 1� nominal holders) and ��,�08 

individuals.

(2) Depository which runs the ADR program of the 

Company. The number of ADRs excludes ADRs of ICFI 

(Cyprus) Limited.

(�) This stake is pledged to Vnesheconombank under the 

loan to UC RUSAL.

(�) The beneficiary of these companies is Mr. Potanin V.O.

As of April �0, 2009 Mr. Potanin V.O. was 
the beneficiary of ��.8� million shares and 
28.�1 million ADRs of Norilsk Nickel, which 
is 2�.00% + 1 share of the Company’s share 
capital.

As of April �0, 2009 UC RUSAL (through 
Gershvin Investments Corp. Limited) was the 
beneficiary of ��.�� million shares of Norilsk 
Nickel, which is 2�.00% of the Company’s 
share capital. 

In an interview to Russian business newspa-
per Kommersant № 1�(�0�0) dated January 
29, 2009, Mr. Usmanov A.B. said that he is 
a minority shareholder of Norilsk Nickel fol-
lowing the acquisition of �% stake, above 
which 1% is placed in derivative instruments 
through western banks. The management of 
the Company sent requests to OJSC “Hold-
ing Company “Metalloinvest”, Gallagher 
Holdings Limited and personally to Mr. Us-
manov A.B. asking to disclose the sharehold-
ing in the Company either in form of ordinary 
shares or ADRs, however as of May 2�, 2009 
no confirmation of the claimed ownership in 
Norilsk Nickel has been received from Mr. 
Usmanov A.B.

shAREhOLDER RiGhTs

In accordance with provisions of Article �1 of 
the Federal Law On Joint Stock Companies 
No. 208-FZ dated December 2�, 199�, all 
ordinary shares of the Company grant equal 
rights to their holders. 

In accordance with the Russian legislation 
and the Company’s Charter, shareholders of 
Norilsk Nickel have the right to: 

participate in the General Meeting and 
vote on all issues falling under its remit;
receive dividends;
receive part of the property upon the 
liquidation of the Company;
freely dispose of their shares;
exercise the pre-emptive right to pur-
chase additional shares and securities 
convertible into shares placed by open 
subscription, in a quantity proportionate 
to the number of shares of the respective 
category held by them; 
receive information on the Company’s 
activities in accordance with the Federal 
Law and other regulations of the Russian 
Federation, as well as the Company’s 
Charter;

•

•
•

•
•

•
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read the agenda of the General Meeting 
before it is held; and
exercise other rights as provided by 
Federal Law and other regulations of 
the Russian Federation, the Company’s 
Charter and decisions of the General 
Meeting taken within the remit of its 
authority.

Shareholders included in the list of persons 
eligible to participate in the General Meet-
ing of Shareholders and holding at least 1% 
of votes may have access to the list in accor-
dance with Clause � of Article �1 of Russian 
Federal Law.

In accordance with Clause �.� of the Com-
pany’s Charter, a shareholder (shareholders) 
owning a total of at least 2% of voting shares 
of the Company may add issues to the agen-
da of the Annual and Extraordinary General 
Meetings of Shareholders and nominate can-
didates to the Company’s Board of Directors, 
the collective executive body, the Revision 
Commission and the Accounting Commis-
sion, the number of which may not exceed the 
number of members in the respective body, 
as well as a candidate to act as the Compa-
ny’s sole executive body. 

A shareholder holding at least 10% of the 
Company’s voting shares may demand the 
convening of an Extraordinary General Meet-
ing of Shareholders.

Holders of voting shares may demand that the 
Company buy out all or part of their shares in 
the following cases:

the Company’s reorganization or enter-
ing into a major transaction subject to 
approval by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders in accordance with Clause 
� of Article �9 of Russian Federal Law, 
in the event that they voted against the 
decision to reorganize or approve the 
said transaction or did not participate in 
the voting on these issues;
amendments to the Company’s Charter 
or approval of the new version of the 
Company’s Charter that limit their rights 

•

•

•

•

in cases where they voted against the 
decision or did not participate in the 
voting.

In accordance with Clause � of Article �2 of 
the Federal Law, a person who intends to ac-
quire more than �0% of the total number of 
the Company’s ordinary voting shares, includ-
ing the shares held by such person and its af-
filiates, has the right to send the Company a 
public offer addressed to holders of Com-
pany shares offering to buy out their shares in 
the Company.

GENERAL mEETiNG Of shAREhOLDERs

The Annual Shareholders Meeting will be held 
in Moscow on �0th June 2009 at �:00 p.m. 
(Moscow time): 2�, Big Yakimanka Street, 
Moscow, President Hotel, meeting room 
“Bolshoi Petrovsky”. Registration of the par-
ticipants of the Annual General Sharehold-
ers Meeting of Norilsk Nickel will start on �0th 

June 2009 at 12:00 p.m (Moscow time).

The Company is required by its Charter to no-
tify the shareholders at least �0 days in ad-
vance of any Meeting and, in relation to an Ex-
traordinary General Meeting of Shareholders 
to elect Board of Directors (and certain other 
matters), the Law on Joint Stock Companies 
Law requires at least �0 days notice. Holders 
of the shares receive notice directly from the 
Company and have the opportunity to exer-
cise their voting rights by either mailing the 
voting bulletin or attending the General Meet-
ing (in person or by proxy).

ADR holders will not receive notice directly 
from the Company. Rather, in accordance 
with the Deposit Agreement, the Company 
will provide notice to the Depositary. The De-
positary has undertaken, in its turn, as soon 
as is practicable thereafter, provided there 
are no Russian legal prohibitions, to distribute 
to ADR holders notice of such Meeting, cop-
ies of voting materials (if and when received 
by the Depositary from the Company) and a 
statement as to the manner in which the in-
structions may be presented by ADR holders. 
To exercise their voting rights, ADR holders 
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should provide relevant instructions to the 
Depositary. Because of the involvement of 
the Depositary, the process for exercising vot-
ing for ADR holders may be subject to delay. 
The Company cannot assure ADR holders 
that they will receive voting materials in time 
to enable them to return voting instructions to 
the Depositary in a timely manner. ADRs, for 
which the Depositary does not receive timely 
voting instructions, will not be considered for 
voting purposes.

Voting at the General Meeting of Sharehold-
ers is based on the principle of “one share – 
one vote”, unless otherwise provided for by 
Federal Law. The members of the Company’s 
Board of Directors are elected by a cumula-
tive vote, with the number of votes held by 
each shareholder multiplied by the number of 
persons to be elected to the Board of Direc-
tors. 

DiviDENDs DisTRiBUTiON

According to Norilsk Nickel Dividend Policy, 
approved by the Board of Directors in 2002, 
the Company strives to distribute from 20% 
to 2�% of its annual net profit for the year, as 
calculated in accordance with IFRS in form of 
dividends. 

The decision to distribute dividends on the 
Company’s shares is taken by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders based on the rec-
ommendation of the Board of Directors. The 
Company pays dividends via postal and/or 
bank transfer. The method of dividend pay-
ment to a particular shareholder is indicated 
in the registered person questionnaire to be 
completed and signed by each shareholder 
that has an account in the Company’s share-
holder register. The shareholders may submit 
the registered person questionnaire to the 
offices of the Company’s registrar, CJSC Na-
tional Registry Company, which is located at 
the addresses specified in the Contact Infor-
mation section of this report.

If a shareholder opts to receive dividends via 
bank transfer, the registered-person ques-
tionnaire should specify the full details of a 

bank account opened at any bank in the Rus-
sian Federation. The Company announces its 
dividends in rubles.

In accordance with Article �2 of Federal Law, 
the timing of the dividend distribution is es-
tablished by the Charter or a resolution of the 
General Meeting of Shareholders on the dis-
tribution of dividends. In the event the Charter 
does not specify the timing for dividend dis-
tribution, such timing should not exceed �0 
days from the decision on dividend distribu-
tion. The list of persons entitled to dividends 
is compiled as of the date of preparation of 
the list of persons eligible to participate in the 
General Meeting of Shareholders which de-
cides on distribution of respective dividends.

In the environment of the global financial cri-
sis and significant decrease in metal prices, 
the Board of Directors, at its meeting on May 
21, 2009, decided to recommend to the An-
nual General Meeting of Shareholders of the 
Company to approve no payment of dividends 
for 2008.

DEscRiPTiON Of ThE TAxATiON PROcEDURE 
fOR iNcOmE REcEivED By LEGAL ENTiTiEs AND 
iNDiviDUAL ON sEcURiTiEs iN AccORDANcE wiTh 
LEGisLATiON Of ThE RUssiAN fEDERATiON

Income received on the shares of Norilsk 
Nickel is taxed in accordance with the ef-
fective Russian tax legislation (Chapter 2�, 
Personal Income Tax, and Chapter 2�, Cor-
porate Income Tax, of the Russian Tax Code 
(Tax Code)).

1. TAxATiON Of iNcOmE fROm ThE sALE Of 
sEcURiTiEs

1.1. Taxation of individual income from the sale of 
securities

The taxation procedure for income of individ-
uals from the sale of securities is established 
by Chapter 2�, Personal Income Tax, of the 
Tax Code (Article 21�-1 of the Tax Code).

Income (loss) on the purchase and sale of 
securities is defined as the aggregate income 
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on all transactions with securities of the re-
spective category made within a tax period, 
net of losses.

Income (loss) on the purchase and sale of se-
curities is defined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the documented ex-
penses on the purchase, sale and holding of 
securities actually incurred by the taxpayer.

Such expenses, in particular, are:

sums paid to the seller in accordance 
with a contract;
payment for services provided by the 
depositary;
commission payments to professional 
securities markets participants; 
exchange duty (commission);
payment for registrar services;
inheritance tax paid by the taxpayer 
receiving securities in the course of 
inheritance;
tax paid by the taxpayer receiving shares 
as a gift; and
other expenses directly linked to the 
purchase, sale and holding of securities 
which have been generated for ser-
vices provided by professional security 
market’s participants in the course of 
their professional activity.

The documented expenses may be deduct-
ed by a taxpayer when the tax is being cal-
culated and paid to the budget at the source 
of disbursement of income (a broker, trustee, 
unit investment trust management company 
or another person accomplishing transac-
tions under an agency agreement or another 
agreement of a similar nature for the taxpay-
er’s benefit), or upon the expiration of the tax 
period when the tax return is filed with the tax 
authorities.

The tax base on securities sale and purchase 
transactions is determined after the end of 
the tax period. The tax is calculated and paid 
by the tax agent after the end of the tax period 
or upon distribution of funds to the taxpayer 
before the expiration of the tax period.

•

•

•

•
•
•

•

•

In the event the source of payment is unable 
to withhold the assessed tax amount, the 
tax agent (broker, trust manager or another 
person accomplishing transactions under an 
agency or brokerage agreement or another 
agreement of similar nature for the taxpay-
er’s benefit) must notify in writing the tax au-
thority where it is registered of its inability to 
withhold the tax and of the amount of such 
tax within one month.

In this case, as well as when the sale and pur-
chase of securities took place without involve-
ment of a person recognized as a tax agent, 
the tax shall be paid by the taxpayer (Article 
228 of the Tax Code) on the basis of a tax re-
turn (Article 229 of the Tax Code) filed with the 
tax authorities. 

In accordance with existing legislation since 
the tax agent in the indicated transactions is 
acknowledged to be a broker, trust manager 
or another person, accomplishing transac-
tions under an agency or brokerage agree-
ment or another agreement of similar nature 
for the taxpayer’s benefit, the Company, in 
the absence of such relationships with indi-
viduals, will not act as the tax agent in such 
transactions. 

The tax rate established for this type of income 
for individuals resident in Russia for tax pur-
poses is 1�% (Article 22� of the Tax Code).

The tax rate established for this type of in-
come for individuals who are not residents in 
Russia for tax purposes is �0% (Article 22� of 
the Tax Code).

1.2. Taxation of income of legal entities from the 
sale of securities

The taxation procedure for the income of le-
gal entities from the sale of securities is es-
tablished by Chapter 2�, Corporate Income 
Tax, of the Tax Code (Article 280 of the Tax 
Code).

The Tax Code establishes a special proce-
dure to account for profit and loss of securi-
ties sold. 
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A taxpayer’s income on the sale or other dis-
posal of securities (including redemption) is 
determined on the basis of the price of sale or 
other disposal of securities plus the amount of 
accumulated interest (coupon) income paid 
by the buyer to the taxpayer, and the interest 
(coupon) income paid to the taxpayer by the 
issuer. However, the taxpayer’s income from 
the sale or other disposal of securities does 
not include the amount of interest (coupon) 
income previously taken into account in tax 
obligations.

Expenses incurred on the sale (or other dis-
posal) of securities are defined by reference 
to the price of the acquisition of the secu-
rity (including expenses on the acquisition), 
expenses on its sale and the amount of ac-
cumulated interest (coupon) income paid by 
the taxpayer to the seller. However, these ex-
penses do not include sums of accumulated 
interest (coupon) income previously taken 
into account in tax obligations. 

For tax purposes, the market value of securi-
ties traded in the organized securities market 
is assumed to be equal to its actual transac-
tion price if the actual transaction price is in 
the range between the minimum and maxi-
mum price (price range) of transactions with 
the concerned security as registered by the 
securities market trade organizer as of the 
date of the transaction. 

In the event of the completion of the trans-
action through a trade organizer, the date of 
the completion of the deal should be under-
stood as the date of the conduct of trades, 
in the course of which the relevant securi-
ties transaction was conducted. In the event 
of the sale of securities outside of the or-
ganized securities market, the date of the 
completion of the transaction is considered 
to be the date on which all significant condi-
tions for the transfer of the security was de-
termined, i.e. the date of the signing of the 
contract.

In the event of the sale of securities which are 
traded on the organized securities market, for 

a price lower than the minimum deal price on 
the organized securities market, the minimal 
deal price on the organized securities market 
is used in determining the financial result. 

The tax base for a securities transaction is de-
termined separately by the taxpayer, with the 
exception of the tax base for transactions with 
securities, which is determined by professional 
securities markets participants. The taxpay-
ers should determine the tax base for trans-
actions with securities traded in an organized 
securities market separately from the tax base 
on transactions with securities not traded in 
an organized securities market. The taxpayer 
(with the exception of professional securities 
markets participants carrying out dealing ac-
tivity) determines the tax base for transactions 
with securities traded on organized securities 
markets separately from the tax base for trans-
actions with securities not trading on the orga-
nized securities market. 

Taxpayers who have incurred losses from 
securities transactions in the previous tax 
period(s) may reduce the current period’s tax 
base on securities transactions (carry forward 
the loss) in the manner established by the Tax 
Code.

The tax rate established for Russian entities 
and foreign entities operating through a per-
manent establishment in Russia is 2�% (20% 
from January 1, 2009; Article 28� of the Tax 
Code). 

Foreign entities not operating in Russia 
through a permanent establishment and re-
ceiving income from sources in the Russian 
Federation, in particular income from the sale 
of shares in Russian companies with more 
than �0% of assets composed of immovable 
property located in the Russian Federation 
and financial instruments derived from such 
shares, are taxed by withholding tax (Article 
�09 of the Tax Code). In this case the source 
of income payment acts as the tax agent li-
able to assess, withhold and remit tax to the 
budget indicating the type of income (Articles 
�09 and �10 of the Tax Code).
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When determining the tax base for this income, 
it may be reduced by expenses incurred in the 
manner specified in the Tax Code (Article �09 
of the Tax Code). 

In this case, the difference between income 
from the sale of shares and expenses of the 
foreign entity from their sale is liable to tax at 
the rate of 2�% (20% from January 1, 2009; 
Articles �10 and 28� of the Tax Code). 

If these expenses are not deductible for tax 
purposes, income is taxed at 20% (Articles 
�10 and 28� of the Tax Code).

2. TAxATiON Of DiviDENDs REcEivED ON sEcURi-
TiEs

2.1. Taxation of dividends received on securities 
owned by individuals

The taxation procedure for dividend income 
of individuals is established by Chapter 2�, 
Personal Income Tax, of the Tax Code.

If the source of a taxpayer’s dividend income 
is a Russian entity, the entity is recognized as 
the tax agent and shall calculate the tax for 
each taxpayer separately, according to rate 
applicable to each payment of the indicated 
income as established by the Tax Code, tak-
ing into account the specific circumstances 
established by the Tax Code. 

Accordingly, Norilsk Nickel will act as the tax 
agent for the dividend income of individuals 
holding its shares. 

The tax rate is equal to 9% in relation to in-
come derived from equity participation in the 
activity of organizations and which is received 
in the form of dividends by individuals who are 
tax residents of the Russian Federation (Ar-
ticle 22� of the Tax Code). 

The tax rate is equal to 1�% in relation to in-
come derived from equity participation in the 
activity of organizations and which is received 
in the form of dividends by individuals who are 
not tax residents of the Russian Federation 
(Article 22� of the Tax Code). 

Therefore, when paying dividends to individu-
als holding its stock, the Company will with-
hold the dividend income tax in the amount 
established by Russian legislation. 

The tax agent shall withhold the assessed 
amount of tax out of any money which is pay-
able by the tax agent to the taxpayer when 
these amounts are actually paid to the tax-
payer or to a third party on behalf of the tax-
payer.

If the tax agent is unable to withhold the as-
sessed tax amount from the taxpayer, it shall 
notify in writing the tax authority with which it 
is registered of its inability to withhold tax and 
the amount of such tax within one month. 

Shareholders should take into account that 
the income tax may not be paid out of the 
funds of tax agents (Article 22� of the Tax 
Code).

2.2. Taxation of dividends received on securities by 
legal entities

The taxation procedure for dividend incomes 
of legal entities is established by Chapter 2�, 
Corporate Income Tax, of the Tax Code.

The tax base for income received from equity 
participations in other entities is regulated by 
Article 2�� of the Tax Code.

OJSC Norilsk Nickel will act as the tax agent 
for income in the form of dividends distributed 
to its shareholders.

If a Russian tax agent pays dividends to a for-
eign entity and/or individual not resident in 
the Russian Federation, the tax base of the 
dividend recipient for each disbursement is 
determined as the amount of dividends dis-
tributed and is liable to a tax rate established 
by the Tax Code (Article 22� and Article 28� 
of the Code).

If a Russian tax agent distributes dividends to 
a Russian entity and/or individual resident in 
the Russian Federation for tax purposes, the 
tax base is determined in accordance with 
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the special rules provided by the Tax Code 
(Clause 2 of Article 2�� of the Tax Code).

Dividend income is taxed at the following rates 
(Article 28� of the Tax Code):

0% – on dividend income received by 
Russian entities provided that at the 
date of the decision on dividend distri-
bution the recipient has been continu-
ously holding at least �0% of the equity 
of the entity distributing dividends, or 
depositary receipts entitling it to divi-
dends equal to at least �0% of the total 
dividends distributed by the entity for at 
least ��� days and also provided that the 
share in the equity of the entity distrib-
uting dividends or depositary receipts 
entitling to dividends was acquired for an 
amount exceeding RUB �00 million. This 
provision applies subject to the special 
provisions established by the Russian 
Tax Code;
9% – on dividend income received from 
Russian and foreign entities by Russian 
entities which do not meet the criteria 
established by the Russian Tax code for 
a 0% tax rate on dividends; 
1�% – on dividends received from Rus-
sian entities by foreign entities.

3. PEcULiARiTiEs Of DiviDEND iNcOmE TAxATiON 
EsTABLishED By ThE RUssiAN TAx cODE

The Tax Code establishes a special proce-
dure for assessing the tax which the Russian 
tax agent shall withhold and pay to the budget 
on dividend income paid to shareholders resi-
dent in Russia for tax purposes.

If the income is paid by a Russian entity, such 
entity is treated as the tax agent and shall as-
sess the tax on the following basis: 

T = R * Tr * (d – D), where:

T – is the amount of tax to be withheld;
R – is the ratio between dividends distribut-
able to the dividend recipient and the total 
amount of dividends to be distributed by the 
tax agent;

•

•

•

Tr – the appropriate tax rate established by 
the Tax Code;
d – total amount of dividends distributed by 
the tax agent to all of the dividend recipients;
D – total amount of dividends received by the 
tax agent in the current reporting (tax) period 
and the previous reporting (tax) period (with 
the exception of revenue received in the form 
of dividends which are subject to a 0% tax rate) 
by the time of dividend distribution to dividend 
recipients provided that such dividends were 
not earlier taken into account in determining 
the tax base for dividend income received by 
the tax agent.

If T has a negative value, then no tax liability 
arises and no reimbursement from the budget 
is made. 

4. TAxATiON Of iNcOmE fROm sEcURiTiEs ON 
ThE BAsis Of iNTERNATiONAL TREATiEs

If a tax treaty of the Russian Federation which 
contains provisions concerning taxation es-
tablishes rules and standards other than those 
provided by the Russian Tax Code or other tax 
regulations adopted in accordance with it, the 
terms and provisions of the tax treaties of the 
Russian Federation shall prevail (Article � of 
Tax Code).

When applying the provisions of the Russian 
tax treaties, a foreign entity shall provide the tax 
agent which pays income with a confirmation 
that it has permanent residence in a country 
that has an international treaty with the Russian 
Federation regulating tax issues, certified by a 
competent authority of the foreign country.
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12. cORPORATE GOvERNANcE REPORT

ON jUNE 30, 2008, REsOLUTiON wAs PAssED 
AT ThE ANNUAL GENERAL mEETiNG Of 
shAREhOLDERs iNcREAsiNG ThE sizE Of ThE 
BOARD Of DiREcTORs fROm 9 mEmBERs TO 13.





DURiNG 2008, ThE BOARD Of DiREcTORs  
Of mmc NORiLsk NickEL REviEwED vARiOUs 
AsPEcTs Of ThE cOmPANy’s BUsiNEss  
wiThiN iTs cOmPETENcE



The Board of Directors was elected in the 
course of the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders of MMC Norilsk Nickel which 
took place on June �0, 2008. The following 
directors were elected: Mr. V. Potanin, Mr. A. 
Bougrov, Mr. A. Klishas, Mr. M. Prokhorov, Mr. 
O. Deripaska, Mr. M. Levitt, Mr. H. Schimmel-
busch and Mr. G. de Selliers.  

Mr. Potanin was elected the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of the Company at the 
first meeting of the new Board of Directors, 
which took place after the General Meeting of 
Shareholders on June �0, 2008. 

In addition, a resolution was passed at the 
General Meeting of Shareholders increasing 
the size of the following Board of Directors 
from 9 members to 1�. 

Upon the request of a shareholder owning 
more than 10% of the issued, voting shares 
of the Company, on December 2�, 2008, 
an Extraordinary General Meeting of Share-
holders was held. A motion to terminate early 
the mandate of the Board of Directors of the 
Company and to elect new Board of Directors 
was approved. New Board of Directors con-
sisting of 1� members was duly elected. 

At its first meeting, Mr. A. Voloshin was elect-
ed the Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
the Company. 

BOARD Of DiREcTORs Of mmc NORiLsk NickEL
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AT PREsENT TimE, BOARD Of DiREcTORs cONsisTs Of ThE 
fOLLOwiNG PERsONs:

ALExANDER vOLOshiN 
 
mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs siNcE DEcEmBER 
2008, chAiRmAN Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs

Born on March �, 19��. 
Graduated from the Moscow In-
stitute of Transport Engineers. 
From 2002 to 200� – Head of the 
Administration of the President of 
the Russian Federation.
From 2002 to 2008 – Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of OJSC 
RAO UES Russia.
In 2008 – a member of the Board 
of Directors of OJSC MRSK Hold-
ing and a member of the Board of 
Directors of OJSC RAO Energy 
Systems of the East. 
From December 2�, 2008 to 
present – Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of OJSC MMC No-
rilsk Nickel.

DmiTRy AfANAsiEv  
 
mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of DiREcTORs 
siNcE DEcEmBER 2008

Born on September 29, 19�9. 
In 199�, graduated from St Pe-
tersburg State University with 
a degree in Legal Studies, also 
studied law at the University of 
Pennsylvania and St. Petersburg 
Institute of Law. 
From 1991 to 199� – worked at 
law firms Sneider Harrison and 
Wolf Block in the USA. 
Since 1999 – Chairman of the 
Partners Committee of Yegorov, 
Puginsky, Afanasiev and Partners 
Law Firm, where he started work-
ing in 199� as a consultant. 
On March 2�, 200� was elected 
as a member of the Board of Di-
rectors of UC RUSAL.
Since December 2�, 2008 – 
member of the Board of Directors 
of OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel. 
Awarded a medal by the Federal 
Law Chambers of the Russian 
Federation for Loyalty to Legal 
Duty and was thanked by the Rus-
sian President for his achieve-
ments in securing civil interests 
and rights. Member of the Gener-
al Council of the Business Russia 
public organization, and Executive 

Secretary of the Board of Trustees 
of the Russian-American Busi-
ness Cooperation Council.



1��

sERGEy BATEkhiN 
 
mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of DiREcTORs 
siNcE DEcEmBER 2008, chAiRmAN Of 
ThE sTRATEGy cOmmiTTEE

Born of September 22, 19��. 
In 198�, graduated from the Kras-
noznamenny Military Institute of 
the USSR Ministry of Defense and 
in 1998 from the Plekhanov Rus-
sian Academy of Economics with 
a degree in finance and credit. 
Holds a MBA degree and a PhD in 
Economics.
Worked at the State Committee 
for Labor and Social Issues of 
the USSR, and then for the USSR 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
From 1990 to 1992 – worked at 
the Permanent Delegation of the 
USSR to UNESCO in France.
From 1992 to 199� – occupied 
management posts at the Russian 
Industrial and Investment Fund as 
well as at the international auditing 
company Deloitte & Touche. 
From 199� – worked in defense 
industry and occupied the post of 
General Director of the Defense 
Systems management company. 
From 2000 to 200� – headed 
OJSC Defense Systems which 
was created on the basis of an or-
der of the Russian President and 
an agreement between the gov-

ernments of the Russian Federa-
tion and Republic of Belarus. 
From 200� to 2008 – Deputy 
General Director of CJSC Hold-
ing Company Interros and in 2008 
was also a member of the Man-
agement Board, from 200� to 
present days he occupies the po-
sition of Chairman of the Board of 
Directors. 
From 200� to 200� – Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Power Machines – ZTL, LMZ, 
Electrosila and Energomashex-
port. 
From 200� to 200� – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Kaluga Turbine Factory.
From 200� to 2008 – member 
of the Board of Directors of Plug 
Power Inc.. 
From 200� to 2008 – Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of CJSC 
Race Telecom.
From 200� to 2008 – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Polyus Gold. 
In 2008 – First Deputy General 
Director, Executive Director and 
Deputy Chairman of the Manage-
ment Board of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel. 
From 2009 – Deputy General Di-
rector of CJSC Holding Company 
Interros.
From 2009 – member of the Board 
of Directors of OJSC OGK-�.

From 2009 – member of the 
Board of Directors of LLC Conti-
nental Hockey League.
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ANDREi BOUGROv

mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of DiREcTORs 
siNcE 2002, mEmBER Of ThE AUDiT 
cOmmiTTEE siNcE 2004

Born in 19�2. 
After graduation from the Mos-
cow State Institute of International 
Relations (MSIIR), enrolled in the 
MSIIR post-graduate school and 
after graduation received a PhD in 
economics. 
From 199� until 2002 – Represen-
tative of the Russian Federation 
with the World Bank Group, and 
Executive Director of the Interna-
tional Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development (IBRD), International 
Finance Corporation (IFC) and 
Multilateral Investment Guarantee 
Agency (MIGA).
From 2002 to 200� – Deputy 
Chairman of the Management 
Board of CJSC Holding Company 
Interros.
From 2002 to 200� – member of 
the Management Board as well as 
member of the Committee on Fi-
nancial Markets and Credit Orga-
nizations of the Russian Chamber 
of Commerce.
From 2002 to 2009 – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
AKB Rosbank.

From 200� to 200� – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Russian Communal Systems. 
From 200� to 200� – Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board of LLC 
Fincom Investments and Manage-
ment.
From 200� to 200� – Director of 
the company AIG-Interros Advisor 
Ltd and the company AIG-Interros 
RCF, LTD.
From 200� to 200� – Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Open Investments. 
From 200� to 200� – Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of CJSC 
Prof-Media Publishing. 
From 200� to 2008 – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
RAO UES Russia. 
In 200� – member of the Board 
of Directors of OJSC TGK-1 and 
OJSC Power Machines – LMZ, 
ZTL, Elektrosila and Energomash-
export. 
From 200� to 200�, occupied the 
post of Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of LLC Prof-Media Man-
agement. 
From 200� to 200� – member of 
the Management Board of the Bu-
reau of Economic Analysis Fund.
From 200� to 2009 – Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of OJSC 
OGK-�. 
Since 2002 – member of the 
Board of the Non-Governmental 

Public Association Committee for 
Foreign and Defense Policy. 
Since 2002 – member of the Board 
of Directors of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel. 
Since 200�, has worked at CJSC 
Holding Company Interros, and in 
various years has held the posts of 
Managing Director, member of the 
Management Board and member 
of the Board of Directors. 
Since 200� – member of the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Direc-
tors of OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel.
Since 200� – member of the Man-
agement Board of the Russian 
Union of Industrialists and Entre-
preneurs. 
Since 200� – member of the Board 
of Directors of IST Capital GP LLC. 
Since 200� to 2008 – member of 
the Board of Directors of Advanced 
Metallurgical Group N.V.
Since 200� – member of the Board 
of Directors of LLC Prof-Media 
Management. 
Since 2008 – Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of LLC Prof-
Media Management.
Since 200� – Chairman of the Man-
agement Board of the Bureau of 
Economic Analysis Fund and also 
member of the Board of Managers 
of the Autonomous Non-Profit Or-
ganization Center for Sustainable 
Economic Development. 
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ALExANDER BULyGiN 
 
mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs siNcE DEcEmBER 2008

Born on May �, 19�8. 
Graduated in 1991 with honors 
from the Bauman Moscow State 
Technical University with a degree 
as an engineer and mechanic. 
From 199� to 199� – headed the 
Department for External Relations 
of RosAluminProduct. 
From 199� – occupied various 
management positions at united 
company Siberian Aluminum and 
headed the company from 1999. 
From 2000 to 200� – First Deputy 
General Director of RUSAL. 
From 200� to 200� – General 
Director of LLC RUSAL Manage-
ment Company. 
From 200� to 2009 – General 
director of OJSC Russian Alumi-
num. 
Since 200� – Director of the Mos-
cow Branch and General Director 
of CJSC RUSAL Global Manage-
ment B.V.
From 200� to 2009, occupied the 
position of Executive Director and 
member of the Board of Directors 
of UC RUSAL.

Since 200� – President of OJSC 
Sual Holding. 
Since 2009 – Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of En+ Group.

ANDREy kLishAs

mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs siNcE 2001, chAiRmAN 
Of ThE cOmmiTTEE fOR cORPORATE 
GOvERNANcE, NOmiNATiON AND 
REmUNERATiON

Born in 19�2. 
In 199�, graduated from Urals State 
University with a degree in the His-
tory of Philosophy. In 1998, was 
awarded bachelor’s degree in law 
from the Russian Peoples Friend-
ship University. In 2000, gradu-
ated with honors and a Master’s of 
Law degree from Russian Peoples 
Friendship University. Doctor of Le-
gal Sciences and an Assistant Pro-
fessor of Constitutional and Munic-
ipal Law in the Legal Department 
of the Russian Peoples Friendship 
University. An Assistant Professor 
of Constitutional and Municipal 
Law in the Legal Department of 
Moscow University at Department 
of Interior of Russia. Since 2002 
has published more than �� pro-
ceedings by the constitutional and 
municipal Law of Russia and for-
eign countries and questions of the 
constitutional justice of Russia and 
foreign countries.
2001–2008 – Chairman of the 
Board of Directors, since 2008 
member of the Board of Directors 
of OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel. 
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1998–2009 – Member of the 
Board of Directors of OJSC RAO 
Norilsk Nickel. 
2001–2008 – Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of OJSC RAO 
Norilsk Nickel. 
2001–2008 – General Director 
of CJSC Holding Company Inter-
ros, 2001 – 2008 – Chairman of 
the Management Board and since 
200� till 2008 – member of the 
Board of Directors of CJSC Hold-
ing Company Interros.
In 2008 – Vice-Chairman of Man-
agement Board of CJSC Holding 
Company Interros.
Since 2008 – Vice President and 
Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors of CJSC Holding Company 
Interros.
1998–200�; 2008–2009 – mem-
ber of the Board of Directors of 
OJSC AKB Rosbank and 200�–
2008 – Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of OJSC AKB Rosbank. 
2002–2008 – member of the 
Board of Directors of CJSC Agros.
2002–200� – member of the 
Board of Directors of OJSC Power 
machines – ZTL, LMZ, Electrosila, 
Energomashexport.
200�–200� – member of the Su-
pervisory Board of LLC Fincom In-
vestments and Management. 
200�–200�, 2008–2009 – mem-
ber of the Board of Directors of 
OJSC Polyus Gold.

200�–200� – member of the 
Board of Directors of LLC Ski Re-
sort Development Company Rosa 
Khutor. 
200�–2008 – Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of OJSC Open 
Investments. 
200�–2008 – member of CJSC 
KM Invest Board of Directors.
In 2008 – General Director of 
CJSC KM Invest. 
Since 200� – member of the Na-
tional Council on Corporate Gov-
ernance. 
Since 200� – member of the Ex-
pert Council of the Russian Minis-
try of Domestic Affairs. 
Since 200� – member of the Pub-
lic Council of the Russian Ministry 
of Domestic Affairs. 
Since 200� – member of the Trust-
ee Council of Russian Lawyers As-
sociation.
Since 200� – President of Russian 
public organization Federation of 
Hunting Dog Breeding. 

Awarded with the Russian Ortho-
dox Church Order of the Reverend 
Sergiy Radonejskiy of the II De-
gree.
Awarded with the Order of the Rus-
sian Orthodox Church of the Saint 
Duke Daniel Moskovskiy of III De-
gree.
Awarded with the memorable 
award of the Russian Orthodox 

Church of the Saint Nikolay of I De-
gree. 
For considerable input into the re-
alization of the state policy in justice, 
for securing the rights and legal in-
terests of Russia and its’ citizens, 
for active assistance in resolving 
various tasks of the Russian Minis-
try of Justice awarded with Anatoly 
Koni medal. 
Awarded with the Honored Deed, 
for great personal contribution into 
the industry development, for con-
scientious work and as regards the 
memorable date of OJSC MMC 
Norilsk Nickel incorporation, by 
the Russian Minister of Industry 
and Energy. 
Awarded with the medal of the Or-
der of Merit for the Fatherland of 
the II degree.



1�9

BRADfORD ALLAN miLLs 
 
mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs siNcE DEcEmBER 
2008, mEmBER Of ThE sTRATEGy 
cOmmiTTEE

Born on September 12, 19��. 
In 19�9, graduated from Stanford 
University (Bachelor’s Degree, 
Master of Sciences with a degree in 
Geology and Economic Geology). 
From 2001 to 200� – President of 
BHP Billiton Base Metals. 
From 200� to 2008 – General 
Director of Lonmin Plc. 
From December 2�, 2008 – 
member of the Board of Directors 
of OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel. 

ARDAvAN mOshiRi  
 
mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs siNcE DEcEmBER 2008, 
mEmBER Of ThE AUDiT cOmmiTTEE, 
sTRATEGy cOmmiTTEE, BUDGET 
cOmmiTTEE AND cOmmiTTEE 
ON cORPORATE GOvERNANcE, 
NOmiNATiON AND REmUNERATiON

Born on May 18, 19��. 
Graduated from University of Lon-
don.
From 199� to 200� – Financial 
Control Officer, Managing Director 
and Executive Director of Global 
Natural Energy Plc (previously 
Middlesex Holdings Plc). 
From 1998 to 2008 – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Oskolsky Electro-Metallurgical 
Factory. 
From 1999 to 2008 – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Lebedinsky Mining and Concen-
tration Plant. 
From 2000 to 2008 – Executive 
Director of Europe Steel Plc. 
From 200� to 2008 – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Ural Steel. 
Since 200� – member of the Board 
of Directors of Gallagher Holdings 
Limited. 
Since 200� – the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of LLC Man-
agement Company Metalloinvest 

as well as a member of the Board 
of Directors of Cortland Trading 
Limited. 
Since 200� – member of the 
Board of Directors of the compa-
nies Epion Holdings Limited, Red 
and White Holdings Limited and 
Nautilus Minerals Inc. 
From 200� to 2008 – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Mikhailovsky GOK. 
Since 2008– member of the Board 
of Directors of Strike Resources 
Limited. 
From 2008 to 2009 – Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Holding Company Metalloinvest.
On December 2�, 2008, was 
elected as a member of the Board 
of Directors of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel. 
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ALExANDER POLEvOy 
 
mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of DiREcTORs 
siNcE DEcEmBER 2008, mEmBER Of ThE 
BUDGET cOmmiTTEE AND cOmmiTTEE ON 
cORPORATE GOvERNANcE, NOmiNATiON 
AND REmUNERATiON

Born on December 9, 19�0. 
Graduated from Northern Alberta 
Institute of Technology with a de-
gree in Finance and Financial Re-
porting and McGill University with 
a degree in Advanced Financial 
Planning and Management Ac-
counting. 
From 2001 to 200� – Head of the 
Supervision and Control Group of 
LLC TNK BP Management. 
From 200� to 200� – Director of 
the Department for Corporate Au-
dit of LLC TNK BP Management.
From 200� to 200� – Vice Presi-
dent for Finance at OJSC Mechel, 
and from 200� to 2008, member 
of the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Mechel. 
From 200� to 2008 – Head Finan-
cial Director of CJSC Integra Man-
agement. 
From 2008 to 2009 – Deputy Gen-
eral Director for Finances of CJSC 
Holding Company Interros.
From 2008 to 2009 – member of 
the Board of Directors of LLC Prof-
Media Management and CJSC 
Holding Company Interros. 

From December 2�, 2008 – mem-
ber of the Board of Directors of 
OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel.

mAxim sOkOv 
 
mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of DiREcTORs 
siNcE DEcEmBER 2008, mEmBER Of 
ThE AUDiT cOmmiTTEE

Born on January 1, 19�9. 
In 2000, graduated with honors 
from the Russian State Tax Acad-
emy under the Russian Ministry of 
Taxes (major – law) and in 2002 
from New York University School 
of Law as a Master’s of Law de-
gree.
From 2002 to 200� – lawyer for 
the Moscow Representative Of-
fice of law firm Herbert Smith CIS 
Legal Services. 
From 200� to 200� – Head of the 
Department for Mergers and Ac-
quisitions of LLC RUSAL – Man-
agement Company. 
From 200� to 2008 – Director of 
the Department for Strategic Proj-
ects of CJSC RUSAL Global Man-
agement B.V. 
Since 2008 – Director of Invest-
ment Management of OJSC 
MMC Norilsk Nickel, CJSC RUS-
AL Global Management B.V. and 
General Director of LLC OK RUS-
AL Investment Management. 
Since 2009 – member of the 
Board of Directors of OJSC  
OGK-�.
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On December 2�, 2008, elected 
as a member of the Board of Di-
rectors of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel. 

vLADimiR sOLOviEv  
 
mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs siNcE DEcEmBER 
2008, chAiRmAN Of ThE BUDGET 
cOmmiTTEE, mEmBER Of ThE 
sTRATEGy cOmmiTTEE

Born on May 1�, 19��.
In 199�, graduated from the High 
School Management of the State 
Academy of Management with a 
degree in Financial Management. 
In 199�, received a degree in Pro-
cess and Production Automation 
from the Stankin Moscow State 
Technology University. In 2002, 
graduated from the Russian State 
Tax Academy of the Russian Min-
istry for Taxes and Collections with 
a specialty in Jurisprudence. In 
200�, completed his education at 
the Institute for Business Admin-
istration, School of Management, 
UAMS University of Antwerp, Bel-
gium, and obtained an MBA.
From 200� to 200� – Deputy Gen-
eral Director of Finance of LLC 
RUSAL Management Company. 
In 200� – Financial Director for the 
affiliate CJSC RUSAL Global Man-
agement B.V. 
From 2008 to the present – Gen-
eral Director of LLC En+ Manage-
ment. 
Since 200� – member of the Trust-
ees Committee of Non-Profit Or-

ganization Charitable Fund Good 
Home. 
Since 2008 – member of the 
Board of Directors of OJSC Euro-
SibEnergo.
Since 2008 – Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of LLC Unified 
Oil Group.
Since 2008 – Director of EN+ 
Group Limited (previously Eagle 
Capital Group Limited)
Since 2008 – Director of En+ Pow-
er Limited. 
Since 200� – Director of UC RUS-
AL Limited.
Since December 2�, 2008 – mem-
ber of the Board of Directors of 
OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel.
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GERARD hOLDEN 
 
mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs siNcE DEcEmBER 2008, 
chAiRmAN Of ThE AUDiT cOmmiTTEE

Born on January 8, 19��.
From 1981 to 198�, studied at 
Hons University College (London), 
where obtained a Bachelor of Sci-
ence degree in four main subjects: 
mathematics, physics, chemistry 
and general sciences. 
From 1999 to 200� – Managing 
Director and Head of the Interna-
tional Mining and Metallurgy Divi-
sion of Barclays Capital. 
From 200� to 2008 – Executive 
Chairman of Brinkley Mining Plc. 
From 200� to 200� – Executive 
Co-Chairman of Lonrho Africa Plc.
From 200� – Non-Executive Chair-
man of GCM Resources Plc. 
Since 2008 – Advisor at Rockbury 
Services Inc. 
On December 2�, 2008, was 
elected member of the Board of 
Directors of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel. 

vLADimiR sTRzhALkOvsky  
 
GENERAL DiREcTOR – chAiRmAN Of ThE 
mANAGEmENT BOARD siNcE AUGUsT 
2008, mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs fROm DEcEmBER 2008

Born May 29, 19�� in Leningrad 
(St. Petersburg). 
In 19�� graduated from V.I. Lenin 
Leningrad Institute of Electric Engi-
neering, majored in Applied Mathe-
matics. Mr. Strzhalkovsky has a PhD 
in Economics. 
From 1999 to 2000 – Deputy Min-
ister for Physical Culture, Sport and 
Tourism of the Russian Federation.
From 2000 to 200� – Deputy Min-
ister of Economic Development and 
Trade of the Russian Federation. 
From 200� to 200� – Chairman 
of the Executive Committee of the 
World Tourist Organization. 
From 200� to 2008 – Head of Fed-
eral Turism Agency.
From August 2008 until the present – 
General Director – Chairman of the 
Management Board of OJSC MMC 
Norilsk Nickel. 
From December 2�, 2008 until the 
present – member of the Board of 
Directors of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel. 



As of December �1, 2008, the members 
of the Management Board were: 
Mr. V. Strzhalkovsky, Mr. O. Lobanov, 
Mr. V. Matvienko, Mr. K. Parinov, 
Mr. O. Pivovarchuk, Mr. E. Potapov, 
Mr. V. Sprogis and Mr. V. Tomenko. 

On February �, 2009, the Board of Directors 
terminated the authority of Mr. O. Lobanov 
and at the meeting on February 2�, 2009, 
Mr. D. Kostoyev was elected as a member of 
the Management Board. 

On May 21, 2009, the Board of Directors de-
cided to increase the number of members of 
the Management Board to 9 persons. Evgeny 
Muravyov, was elected to the Management 
Board.

mANAGEmENT BOARD Of mmc NORiLsk NickEL
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vLADimiR sTRzhALkOvsky 
 
GENERAL DiREcTOR – chAiRmAN 
Of ThE mANAGEmENT BOARD 
siNcE AUGUsT 2008, mEmBER Of 
ThE BOARD Of DiREcTORs fROm 
DEcEmBER 2008 

Born May 29, 19�� in Leningrad 
(St. Petersburg).
In 19�� graduated from V.I. Lenin 
Leningrad Institute of Electric Engi-
neering, majored in Applied Math-
ematics. Mr. Strzhalkovsky has a 
PhD in Economics. 
From 1999 to 2000 – Deputy Min-
ister for Physical Culture, Sport and 
Tourism of the Russian Federation.
From 2000 to 200� – Deputy Min-
ister of Economic Development 
and Trade of the Russian Federa-
tion. From 200� to 200� – Chair-
man of the Executive Committee 
of the World Tourist Organization. 
From 200� to 2008 – Head of Fed-
eral Turism Agency.
From August 2008 until the pres-
ent – General Director – Chair-
man of the Management Board of 
OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel. 
From December 2�, 2008 until the 
present – member of the Board of 
Directors of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel. 

AT PREsENT, ThE mANAGEmENT BOARD cONsisTs Of ThE 
fOLLOwiNG PERsONs:

vALERy mATviENkO 
 
fiRsT DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR – 
mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT 
BOARD siNcE DEcEmBER 26, 2008

 

Born on June 21, 19��. 
Graduated in 19�� from the Ord-
zhonikidze Siberian Metallurgical 
Institute with a degree as a metal-
lurgist and engineer in ferrous met-
allurgy.
From 2002 to 200� – Director for 
Production of OJSC Russian Alu-
minum Management. 
From 200� to 200�, in various 
years served as Production Direc-
tor, Deputy General Director for 
Production and Deputy General 
Director for the Aluminum Busi-
ness of LLC RUSAL Management 
Company. 
In 200� – Deputy General Director 
for Engineering and Construction 
business of LLC RUSAL Manage-
ment Company. 
From 200� to 2008 – General Di-
rector of LLC Russian Engineering 
Company. 
From 200� to 2008 – Director for 
Engineering and Construction 
Business and member of the Man-
agement Board of CJSC RUSAL 
Global Management B.V.

From 2008 until the present – First 
Deputy General Director and mem-
ber of the Management Board of 
OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel. 
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OLEG PivOvARchUk 
 
fiRsT DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR – 
mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT 
BOARD siNcE OcTOBER 2008

Born on September 2�, 19��. 
In 19��, graduated from the Mos-
cow Institute of Steel and Alloys 
with a specialization as Engineer 
and Metallurgist (ferrous metals); in 
1992 graduated from the Russian 
Academy of Foreign Trade with a 
degree as Economist with knowl-
edge of a foreign language (inter-
national economic relations).
From 2002 to 200� – Deputy Gen-
eral Director for Commercial Issues 
of CJSC Management Company 
Dinamo. 
In 200� – Deputy Director for For-
eign Economic Activity of OJSC 
Avtovaz.
From 200� to 2008 – Executive Di-
rector of CJSC Dinamo-Telecom. 
Since 2008 – First Deputy General 
Director and member of the Man-
agement Board of OJSC MMC No-
rilsk Nickel. 

DmiTRy kOsTOyEv 
 
DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR – 
mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT BOARD 
siNcE fEBRUARy 2009

Born on May �, 19�� in Moscow.
Graduated from the Financial 
Academy of the Government of 
the Russian Federation and stud-
ied at law department of Lomono-
sov Moscow State University.
Graduated from a course for in-
creasing qualifications and re-
training managers and specialists 
at the Plekhanov Russian Acad-
emy of Economics. 
Worked at KPMG and Morgan 
Stanley. 
Served as Deputy General Di-
rector at auditing and consulting 
company Rosexpertiza, was a 
member of the Boards of Direc-
tors of Verkhnechonskneftegaz 
and ProfMedia.
Worked at CJSC Holding Com-
pany Interros from 200�; from 
December 200�, occupied the 
position of Managing Director for 
Investments. 
Used to be a member of the Boards 
of Directors of CJSC Holding Com-
pany Interros, CJSC Agros, OJSC 
Open Investments, LLC Soglasie 
and LLC Prof-Media Management. 
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EvGENy mURAvyOv 
 
GENERAL DiREcTOR Of kOLA mmc, 
mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT 
BOARD siNcE mAy 2009

In 198� graduated from Tyumen 
Industrial Institute with qualification 
of engineer-chemist-technologist, 
in 1991 graduated from Kuban 
State University with qualification 
of economist. Ph.D in Economics
From 1991 to 1999 worked in dif-
ferent commercial companies at 
Krasnodar.
From May, 1999 to January, 2001 – 
General Director of the state uni-
tary enterprise Kuban-les.
In 2000 was elected as a deputy 
of the State Duma of Krasnodar, 
Chairman of the Duma Committee 
for finance, budget, banks, taxes 
and investment policy.
From 2001 to 2002 – Chairman of 
the committee of natural resources 
and environment protection of the 
Krasnodar Territory.
Since August, 2002 – General Di-
rector of the department of eco-
nomic development, investments 
and external relations of the Kras-
noyarsk territory.
Since August, 200� – Deputy 
Head of the Krasnodar Territory 
Administration responsible for 
health resorts and tourism, Gen-

eral Director of the department for 
the development of Asov and Black 
Sea coast, health resort complex 
and tourism of the Krasnodar Ter-
ritory Administration.
Since December, 200� – Vice-
governor of the Krasnodar territory 
for education, culture, health care, 
social protection, health resorts 
and tourism.
Since January, 200� – Vice-gov-
ernor of the Krasnodar territory for 
economic development
From June, 2008 to January, 
2009 – First vice-governor of the 
Krasnodar territory.

kiRiLL PARiNOv 
 
DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR – 
mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT 
BOARD siNcE 2008

Born on October 21, 19�� in Moscow. 
Graduated from the Law Depart-
ment of Lomonosov Moscow 
State University and completed 
the Master’s Degree Program at 
the School of Law of Southern 
Methodist University (USA).
From 2001 to 2008, in various 
years was Director for Legal Is-
sues, Director of the Legal Depart-
ment, Deputy General Director for 
Legal Issues, member of the Man-
agement Board and Deputy Chair-
man of the Management Board at 
CJSC Holding Company Interros. 
From 2002 to 200� – General Di-
rector of CJSC Interros-Estate.
From 200� to 200� – General Di-
rector of CJSC Holding Company 
Invest.
From 200� to 2008 – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Open Investments. 
From 200� to 2008 – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Polyus Gold.
In 2008, occupied the post of 
Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors of LLC Group T-Invest.
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Since December 2008 – Chair-
man of the Board Council of No-
rilsk Nickel Pension Fund
Since 2009 – Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of OJSC  
OGK-�.
Since 2009 – member of the 
Board of Directors of OJSC Enisei 
River Shipping.
Since 2009 – member of the 
Board of Directors of Metal Trade 
Overseas AG.
From 2008 to the present – Dep-
uty General Director and mem-
ber of the Management Board of 
OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel. 

EvGENy POTAPOv 
 
DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR,  
mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT 
BOARD siNcE AUGUsT 2008 

Born on August �1, 19��. 
In 199�, graduated from Irkutsk 
State University with a degree in 
Law.
From 2002 to 200� – Executive 
Director of OJSC Kuznetsk Metal-
lurgical Plant. 
From 200� to 200� – President of 
OJSC Evrazruda
From 200� to 2009 General Direc-
tor of OJSC Kola MMC, and from 
200� to 2009– member of the 
Board of Directors. 
Since 200� – member of the Board 
of Directors of OJSC Kola Heating 
Company.
From August 2008 to the present – 
member of the Management Board 
of OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel. 

vikTOR sPROGis 
 
DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR siNcE 
2001, mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT 
BOARD siNcE 2005

Born in 19�1. 
In 198�, graduated with honors 
from Bauman Moscow State Tech-
nical University with a degree in Au-
tomated Management Systems. 
From 2000 to 2001 – First Deputy 
General Director of OJSC Razno-
import.
From 2001 to 200� – Deputy Gen-
eral Director for Sales of OJSC 
MMC Norilsk Nickel. 
Since 200� – Deputy General Di-
rector and a member of the Man-
agement Board of OJSC MMC 
Norilsk Nickel. 
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vikTOR TOmENkO 
 
mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT 
BOARD siNcE 2006, DiREcTOR Of 
ThE POLAR DivisiON

Born in 19�1. 
Graduated with honors from the 
Norilsk Industrial Institute with a 
degree in Economics and Man-
agement of Ferrous Metallurgy. 
From 2000 to 200� – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Norilsk Trade and Production As-
sociation and OJSC Torginvest. 
From 2001 to 2002 – member of 
the Boards of Directors of OJSC 
Kola Mining and Metallurgical 
Company, CJSC Krasnoyarsk 
Branch of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel and OJSC Novolipetsk Met-
allurgical Combine, also served 
as the Deputy General Director of 
the Polar Division of OJSC MMC 
Norilsk Nickel for Economics and 
Finance. 
From 2001 to 200� – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 
Norilskgazprom. 
From 2002 to 200� – First Deputy 
General Director and Chairman of 
the Management Board of the Po-
lar Division of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel. 
From 200� to 200� – member of 
the Board of Directors of OJSC 

Agricultural and Construction 
Complex Tes.
From 200� to 200� – Director of 
OJSC Zavenyagin Norilsk Mining 
Combine.
Since 200� – Director of the Po-
lar Division of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel and since 200� – member 
of the Management Board of the 
Company. 
For his immense personal con-
tribution to the development of 
metallurgy and high performance, 
was awarded a Certificate of Merit 
of the Ministry of Economy of the 
Russian Federation. 



189

OwNERshiP Of NORiLsk NickEL shAREs By mEmBERs Of mmc NORiLsk NickEL 
mANAGEmENT BODiEs

Name Number of shares (1) % of share capital (1)

Viktor Tomenko 2�1 0.0001�

Total of members of the Board of Directors 
and Management Board 261 0.00014

Note:

(1) As of December �1, 2008.

cORPORATE GOvERNANcE imPROvEmENT

Improving corporate governance has long 
been an area of great importance for No-
rilsk Nickel. The Company analyzes Russian 
and international corporate governance best 
practices and applies a policy of continuously 
improving corporate governance system and 
bringing it in accordance with the best inter-
national standards. 

Since 2002, the Company has followed the 
recommendations of the Code of Corporate 
Governance of the Russian Federal Com-
mission for the Securities Market and Federal 
Financial Markets Service (FCSM/FFMS). In 
accordance with the recommendations of 
the FCSM/FFMS, the Company continues to 
prepare a report on the compliance with the 
Code which is attached as Appendix 1 to this 
Annual Report.

On June �0, 2008, the Annual General Meet-
ing of Shareholders passed a resolution which 
approved changes in the Company’s Charter 
envisaged at enhancing transparency in deci-
sion-making and at imposing more stringent 
eligibility criteria for independent directors. 

In particular, the number of members of the 
Board of Directors increased from 9 to 1� in 
order to increase the number of independent 
directors and ensure a balanced representa-
tion of all of the main shareholders groups at 
the Board level. 

Amended eligibility criteria for independent 
directors raise the requirements for indepen-

dent directors. More specifically, the period 
during which a member of the Board, in order 
to be recognized independent, did not serve 
in a management body of the Company (with 
the exception of membership on the Board of 
Directors) and was not a Company’s employ-
ee, was extended from one to three years. In 
addition, during the three years period prior 
to election to the Board of Directors, an inde-
pendent director should not have been an ex-
ecutive at any of the Company’s joint-venture 
entities. 

A director recognized as independent cannot 
be a director, trust manager or employee of 
any commercial organization which receives 
material aid from the Company or its affiliated 
entities, or a large shareholder directly or in-
directly owning (including beneficial owner-
ship) jointly with affiliated entities more than 
10% of the voting shares of the Company or 
an affiliated person or employee of such a 
shareholder or entity in the event that such a 
shareholder or his affiliated entities might give 
instructions which are binding by virtue of a 
contract (excluding the case where the basis 
for affiliation is his/her position on the Board 
of Directors). 

An independent director should refrain from 
actions which could have a negative influ-
ence on his/her independence. If, following 
the election of an independent director to the 
Board of Directors, such a director ceases 
to be an independent director by virtue of 
changes or new circumstances, this member 
of the Board of Directors should immediate-
ly provide a written notification to the Board 
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of Directors (through the Secretary of the 
Company) and provide a full report on these 
changes or circumstances. 

The Charter of the Company was supple-
mented by regulations providing for the cre-
ation of the Board of Directors Committees for 
the preliminary review of the most important 
issues and preparation of recommendations 
for the Board of Directors for decision-mak-
ing on such issues. The Board of Directors 
Committees should be headed by members 
of the Board of Directors who are not mem-
bers of executive bodies of the Company and 
should include independent directors. Previ-
ously, these norms were only codified in the 
Regulations on the Board of Directors of the 
Company. In addition, a member of the Board 
of Directors should not head more than two 
Committees. 

The Board of Directors of the Company ap-
proves the Regulations defining the activity of 
the Board of Directors Committees and indi-
cating the number of members of the relevant 
committee, the minimum number of indepen-
dent directors who should be on the relevant 
committee as well as other regulations relat-
ing the activity of the Committees. 

In addition, the recommendations and draft 
decisions of the Board of Directors proposed 
by the Board of Directors Committees are 
subject to inclusion by the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors in materials included, with-
out changes, in the agenda of the meeting of 
the Board of Directors. 

The review of quarterly financial and opera-
tional reports provided by the Executive Man-
agement has been added to the remit of Board 
of Directors in order to improve the efficiency 
of the business of the Company as a whole 
and the Board of Directors in particular. 

The authority of the Board of Directors was 
also expanded in the area of decision-mak-
ing regarding the execution of transactions 
by the Company which are recognized as 
deals with related parties in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 

and decisions on questions regarding the 
procedure for voting by the Company in the 
General Meetings of shareholders (partici-
pants) of commercial organizations of which 
the Company owns stocks (shares in the is-
sued capital), on questions of the execution 
by Russian organizations of what are judged 
to be major transactions under Russian fed-
eral laws and the execution of transactions 
by foreign organizations of transactions 
which are subject to approval by the Com-
pany as shareholder (participation) of such 
foreign organizations in accordance with the 
legislation of the jurisdictions where they are 
incorporated.

mANAGEmENT BODiEs

GENERAL mEETiNG Of shAREhOLDERs

According to the Federal Law On Joint-Stock 
Companies and the Charter of MMC Norilsk 
Nickel, the Company’s highest management 
body is the General Meeting of Sharehold-
ers.

The Annual General Meeting of Sharehold-
ers shall be held once a year, not earlier than 
two months and not later than six months after 
the end of the financial year. General Meet-
ings, other than Annual General Meetings 
of Shareholders, are Extraordinary General 
Meetings of Shareholders and shall be held at 
a decision of the Board of Directors based on 
their own initiative, at a request of the Auditing 
Commission, the Company’s external auditor, 
or shareholder(s) owning at least 10% of the 
Company’s voting shares at the date of the 
request.

The procedure of Meetings of Shareholders 
is determined by the Company’s Regulations 
on the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

Notice of a General Meeting of Sharehold-
ers shall be published in Rossiyskaya Gazeta 
newspaper and in the Taimyr newspaper not 
later than �0 days prior to the date of the Gen-
eral Meeting. If a General Meeting is held by 
vote in absentia, notice of the Meeting shall 
be given in the above publications at least �0 
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days prior to the deadline for the collection of 
ballots.

A General Meeting shall be considered prop-
erly constituted (have a quorum) if the share-
holders who are present in aggregate hold 
more than �0% of the votes conferred by the 
outstanding voting shares of the Company. 

Shareholders owning at least 2% of the Com-
pany’s voting shares may add issues to the 
agenda of the Annual and Extraordinary Gen-
eral Meetings and nominate candidates to the 
Company’s Board of Directors and Revision 
Commission subject to the restrictions estab-
lished by the Federal Law.

A Shareholders’ Meeting is authorized to 
make decisions among others on the follow-
ing matters:

reorganization and liquidation of the 
Company; 
election of members of the Board of 
Directors, Revision and Accounting 
Commissions and early termination of 
their authority;
share split and consolidation, determin-
ing the number, par value, category 
(type) of authorized shares and rights 
conferred by these shares;
increase (decrease) of the Company’s 
share capital; 
approval of the selection of the indepen-
dent external auditors of the Company;
making changes and amendments to 
the Company’s Charter and approval of 
internal documents regulating the activi-
ties of the Company bodies; 
approval of annual reports, annual finan-
cial statements, including statements 
of profit and loss of the Company and 
distribution of profit, including payment 
(declaration) of dividends; 
making decisions on approval of major 
transactions and transactions posing 
conflicts of interests, in cases where this 
is provided for by Federal Law; and
making decisions on participation in 
financial and industrial groups and 
associations and other associations 

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

of business entities and other matters 
provided for by relevant legislation and 
the Company’s Charter.

BOARD Of DiREcTORs

The Board of Directors is the management 
body responsible for the general manage-
ment of the Company’s operations, with the 
exception of issues which fall within the com-
petence of the General Meeting of Share-
holders by Federal Law and the Company’s 
Charter.

Meetings of the Board of Directors (in person 
or in absentia) shall be held as necessary, but 
at least once every six weeks. Meetings shall 
be convened by the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors at his own initiative, at the request of 
a member of the Board of Directors, Revision 
Commission, external auditor, Management 
Board, General Director or shareholders 
holding at least 10% of the Company’s ordi-
nary shares. Such a request shall be made in 
writing and contain a description of the rea-
sons for convening the Meeting.

The procedure for convening and holding the 
meetings of the Board of Directors is deter-
mined by the internal document of the Com-
pany, Regulations on the Board of Directors. 

Members of the Board of Directors shall be 
elected by the Annual General Shareholders 
Meeting according to the procedure provided 
for by Federal Law for the period until the next 
Annual Meeting. The Board consists of 1� di-
rectors. 

A Meeting of the Board of Directors shall 
qualify (have a quorum) if at least one half of 
the elected members of the Board are pres-
ent. Decisions shall be made by the Board by 
majority vote of the Directors who participate 
in the meeting.
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kiRiLL PARiNOv

DEPUTy GENERAL DiREcTOR – mEmBER Of ThE 
mANAGEmENT BOARD siNcE 2008

BORN ON OcTOBER 21, 1967 iN mOscOw. 

GRADUATED fROm ThE LAw DEPARTmENT Of 
LOmONOsOv mOscOw sTATE UNivERsiTy AND 
cOmPLETED ThE mAsTER’s DEGREE PROGRAm AT 
ThE schOOL Of LAw Of sOUThERN mEThODisT 
UNivERsiTy (UsA).

fROm 2001 TO 2008, iN vARiOUs yEARs wAs 
DiREcTOR fOR LEGAL issUEs, DiREcTOR Of 
ThE LEGAL DEPARTmENT, DEPUTy GENERAL 
DiREcTOR fOR LEGAL issUEs, mEmBER Of ThE 
mANAGEmENT BOARD AND DEPUTy chAiRmAN 
Of ThE mANAGEmENT BOARD AT cjsc hOLDiNG 
cOmPANy iNTERROs. 

fROm 2002 TO 2004 – GENERAL DiREcTOR Of 
cjsc iNTERROs-EsTATE.

fROm 2005 TO 2006 – GENERAL DiREcTOR Of 
cjsc hOLDiNG cOmPANy iNvEsT.

fROm 2005 TO 2008 – mEmBER Of ThE BOARD 
Of DiREcTORs Of Ojsc OPEN iNvEsTmENTs. 

fROm 2007 TO 2008 – mEmBER Of ThE BOARD 
Of DiREcTORs Of Ojsc POLyUs GOLD.

iN 2008, OccUPiED ThE POsT Of chAiRmAN 
Of ThE BOARD Of DiREcTORs Of LLc GROUP 
T-iNvEsT.

siNcE DEcEmBER 2008 – chAiRmAN Of ThE 
BOARD cOUNciL Of NORiLsk NickEL PENsiON 
fUND

siNcE 2009 – chAiRmAN Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs Of Ojsc OGk-3.

siNcE 2009 – mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs Of Ojsc ENisEi RivER shiPPiNG

siNcE 2009 – mEmBER Of ThE BOARD Of 
DiREcTORs Of mETAL TRADE OvERsEAs AG.

fROm 2008 TO ThE PREsENT – DEPUTy GENERAL 
DiREcTOR AND mEmBER Of ThE mANAGEmENT 
BOARD Of Ojsc mmc NORiLsk NickEL.
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management of the company is committed to continued enhancement 
of the corporate governance system. Amongst other actions, in 2008, the 
amendments to the company’s charter were introduced, envisaging further 
growth of efficiency and transparency in managing the company, as well 
as applying more strict eligibility criteria for independent directors.
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The Board of Directors is authorized to make 
decisions among others on the following 
matters:

proposals to submit for consideration 
of the shareholders matters of the 
Company’s reorganization or liquidation 
as well as of increasing (decreasing) the 
share capital of the Company; 
determine the priorities in the operations 
of the Company, development concept 
and strategy of the Company as well 
as approve plans and budgets of the 
Company and approve any changes to 
the plans and budgets of the Company; 
recommending dividends paid per share, 
the payment procedure and approval of 
the dividend policy of the Company; 
Company’s participation in other entities 
and transactions with the shares in the 
charter capital or equities owned by the 
Company that may result in disposal or 
pledge of such shares or equities; 
other decisions that may result in a 
change of the size of the Company’s 
participation in other companies and 
other matters provided for by the 
effective legislation and the Company’s 
Charter.

In accordance with global corporate 
governance practices and the 
recommendations of the FCSM/FFMS Code 
of Corporate Governance, independent 
directors have been elected to the Board of 
Directors of OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel since 
2002. The Group uses the most conservative 
criteria to determine the independence of the 
members of its Board of Directors. During 
this reporting year, until the election of the 

•

•

•

•

•

new Board of Directors at the Annual General 
Shareholders Meeting on June �0, 2008, � 
independent directors sat on the Board:

Vladimir Dolgikh;
Guy de Selliers;
Kirill Ugolnikov; and
Heinz Schimmelbusch.

Following the election of the new Board of 
Directors at the Annual General Meeting on 
June �0, 2008, and until the election of new 
Board at the Extraordinary General Meeting 
on December 2�, 2008, � independent di-
rectors sat on the Board: 

Heinz Schimmelbusch;
Guy de Selliers; and
Michael Levitt.

Following the election of new Board of Di-
rectors of the Company at the Extraordinary 
General Meeting on December 2�, 2008, � 
independent directors sat on the Board:

Alexander Voloshin; 
Gerard Holden;
Bradford Mills; and
Ardavan Moshiri.

In 2008, �2 of the Board of Directors meet-
ings were held: 

20 meetings held in person;
22 meetings held in absentia.

The Board had 11 meetings in person and 
12 meetings in absentia before the Annual 
General Shareholders Meeting on June �0, 
2008.

•
•
•
•

•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•
•

ATTENDANcE AT BOARD Of DiREcTORs mEETiNGs hELD iN 2008

Director Number of meetings 
attended in person

Number of meetings 
attended in absentia

Mr. A. Bougrov 20 22
Mr. V. Dolgikh (2) 9 12
Mr. A. Klishas 20 22
Mr. R. Morgan (2) 11 12
Mr. D. Morozov (2) 11 12
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During 2008, the Board of Directors of MMC 
Norilsk Nickel reviewed various aspects of 
the Company’s business within its compe-
tence, including: 

acquisition and disposal of assets; 
major transactions and related party 
transactions (a list of such transactions 
is published in Appendix 2 of this Annual 
Report);
approval of the Company’s financial 
reports;
convening General Meetings of Share-
holders; and
other matters.

•
•

•

•

•

In the beginning of 2009, the Board of Direc-
tors created � Committees: 

Audit Committee;
Strategy Committee;
Budget Committee; and
Committee on Corporate Governance, 
Nomination and Remuneration.

AUDiT cOmmiTTEE

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Di-
rectors in conjunction with external auditors in 
reviewing financial reporting and evaluating 
the system for internal control. At present, the 
Audit Committee is headed by Gerard Holden 
(independent director) and includes Andrei 

•
•
•
•

Notes:

(1) On the Board of Directors elected at the Annual General 

Meeting of Shareholders on June �0, 2008. 

(2) Not on the Board of Directors elected at the Annual 

General Meeting of Shareholders on June �0, 2008. 

(�) On the Board of Directors elected at the Extraordinary 

General Meeting of Shareholders on December 2�, 2008. 

(�) Not on the Board of Directors elected at the 

Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on 

December 2�, 2008.

Director Number of meetings 
attended in person

Number of meetings 
attended in absentia

Mr. M. Prokhorov (1, �) 8 �
Ms. E. Salnikova (2) 11 12
Mr. G. de Selliers (�) 18 1�
Mr. K. Ugolnikov (2) � 8
Mr. H. Schimmelbusch (�) 1� 20
Mr. A. Bulygin (1) 8 �
Mr. O. Deripaska (1, �) � �
Mr. M. Levitt (1) (�) � 10
Mr. V. Potanin (1, �) 8 10
Mr. A. Voloshin (�) 1 0
Mr. A. Moshiri (�) 1 0
Mr. G. Holden (�) 1 0
Mr. B. Mills (�) 1 0
Mr. V. Soloviev (�) 1 0
Mr. D. Afanasiev (�) 1 0
Mr. M. Sokov (�) 1 0
Mr. V. Strzhalkovsky (�) 1 0
Mr. A. Polevoy (�) 1 0
Mr. S. Batekhin (�) 1 0
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Bougrov, Maxim Sokov and Ardavan Moshiri 
(independent director).

sTRATEGy cOmmiTTEE

The Strategy Committee is composed of four 
directors. The members of the Committee 
cannot be members of the Board of Direc-
tors of Company, who also occupy a position 
in the Company. The Strategy Committee 
was created for the purpose of assisting the 
Board of Directors with preliminary reviewing 
of strategy goals, developing priority areas for 
business, evaluating long-term efficiency and 
developing recommendations for the Board 
of Directors. The purpose is to adjust the ex-
isting strategic development of the Company, 
based on the necessity of increasing the ef-
ficiency of the Company’s business by taking 
into account trends in commodity markets, 
the capital markets and performance of the 
Company and its competitors. At present, 
the Strategy Committee consist of four mem-
bers of the Board of Directors (the Chairman 
of the Committee Sergey Batekhin, Vladislav 
Soloviev) including two independent directors 
(Bradford Mills, Ardavan Moshiri).

BUDGET cOmmiTTEE

The Budget Committee is composed of three 
members of the Board of Directors. The Bud-
get Committee was created for the purpose 
of assisting the Board of Directors through the 
preliminary review of matters and develop-
ment of recommendations to define policies 
related to finance, budgeting and business 
planning. At present, the Budget Commit-
tee is headed by Vladislav Soloviev and also 
includes Alexander Polevoy and Ardavan 
Moshiri (independent director). 

cOmmiTTEE ON cORPORATE GOvERNANcE, 
NOmiNATiON AND REmUNERATiON

The Committee on Corporate Governance, 
Nomination and Remuneration is composed 
of three members of the Board of Directors: 
Andrey Klishas – Chairman of the Commit-
tee, Alexander Polevoy and Ardavan Moshiri 
(independent director). The decision was 

taken through a resolution of the Board of Di-
rectors on February 2�, 2009, to transfer to 
the Committee on Corporate Governance, 
Nomination and Remuneration the functions 
of the Corporate Governance Committee. It 
was created with the purpose of assisting the 
Board of Directors through the preliminary re-
view of matters related to the corporate gov-
ernance, and other matters within the scope 
of the Board’s responsibilities and influencing 
the interests of the Company and the rights 
of its shareholders, including transactions 
with the shares of the Company, as well as 
the preparation of recommendations for the 
Board of Directors for making decisions. 

In 2008, the following Committees of the 
Board of Directors were functioning: 

Audit Committee;
Independent Directors Committee;
Corporate Governance Committee;
Strategy Committee;
Committee for the Preliminary Review 
of Material for Meetings of the Board of 
Directors;
Budget Committee;
Committee on Social Policy; and
Marketing Committee.

ExEcUTivE BODiEs

The General Director (sole executive body) 
and the Management Board (collective exec-
utive body) is responsible for the Company’s 
day-to-day activities.

The rights and obligations of the General 
Director and members of the Management 
Board with regard to the day-to-day activi-
ties of the Company are determined by Fed-
eral Law, other regulations of the Russian 
Federation, the Company’s Charter, internal 
documents of the Company and the contract 
defining their rights and obligations as con-
cluded with each of them and the Company.

The General Director and members of the 
Management Board are elected for an indefi-
nite period. The Board of Directors is autho-
rized to terminate the authority of and cancel 

•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
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the contract with the General Director or any 
member of the Management Board. 

The General Director shall act as the Chair-
man of the Management Board, act on be-
half of the Company without the need for any 
power of attorney necessary, including repre-
senting its interests, entering into transactions 
in the name of the Company, approving staff 
schedules, issue orders and instructions that 
are binding on all employees of the Company, 
approving internal documents of the Compa-
ny regulating production, technology, finan-
cial, accounting, business, human resources 
and social issues as well as labor and labor 
safety issues and paperwork and also decide 
on other matters of day-to-day operations 
of the Company that are not included by the 
Company’s Charter within the competence 
of the General Meeting of Shareholders, of 
the Board of Directors or the Management 
Board.

The Management Board runs the Compa-
ny within its competence as defined by the 
Company’s Charter, and ensures that all the 
decisions of the General Meetings of Share-
holders and the Board of Directors are imple-
mented.

The Management Board is authorized to 
make decisions, among others, on the follow-
ing matters:

preliminary consideration of materials 
prepared for the meetings of the Board 
of Directors regarding issues for deter-
mining the priorities for the operations of 
the Company, the development concept 
and development strategy of the Com-
pany, as well as approving plans and 
budgets the Company and approving 
any changes to the plans and budgets of 
the Company;
preparation of proposals for amending 
the Company Charter; 
preparation of proposals for transactions 
that require approval by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders or the Board of 
Directors;

•

•

•

analysis and assessment of the results of 
the Company’s business operations; and
development of proposals for the use of 
the Company’s reserve fund and other 
matters provided for by current legisla-
tion and the Company’s Charter.

The Management Board is composed of 9 
members. 

The composition of the Management Board 
was approved by the Board of Directors on 
August 8, 2008. The position of General Di-
rector – Chairman of the Management Board 
has been occupied by Mr. V. Strzhalkovsky 
since August 9, 2008. According to a reso-
lution by the Board of Directors on October 
20, 2008, from this date, Mr. O. Pivovarchuk 
replaced Mr. A. Popov on the Management 
Board. According to a resolution by the Board 
of Directors on December 2�, 2008, from 
this date, Mr. V. Matvienko replaced Mr. S. 
Batekhin on the Management Board. 

On February �, 2009, the Board of Directors 
terminated the authority of Mr. Lobanov and 
at the meeting on February 2�, 2009, Mr. D. 
Kostoyev was elected as a member of Man-
agement Board.

On May 21, 2009, the Board of Directors de-
cided to increase the number of members 
of the Management Board to nine persons. 
Evgeny Muravyov, was elected to the Man-
agement Board.

In 2008, �� meetings of the Management 
Board were held:

12 were held in person;
�2 were held in absentia.

•

•

•
•
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Notes:

(1) On the Management Board from January 9, 2008; mem-

ber of the Management Board as of December �1, 2008.

(2) On the Management Board from January 1, 2008; left 

the Management Board on August 8, 2008.

(�) On the Management Board from January 1, 2008; left 

the Management Board on July 1�, 2008.

(�) On the Management Board from January 1, 2008; mem-

ber of the Management Board as of December �1, 2008.

(�) On the Management Board from August 9, 2008; mem-

ber of the Management Board as of December �1, 2008.

LONG-TERm iNcENTivE PROGRAm fOR sENiOR 
mANAGEmENT

The Company maintains a long-term incen-
tive program for the senior management ef-
fective till 2011 and intended to align the in-
terests of shareholders and management in 
increasing the market capitalization of MMC 
Norilsk Nickel over the long term. 

DiviDEND POLicy

According to MMC Norilsk Nickel’s dividend 
policy, which was approved by the Board of 

ATTENDANcE AT mANAGEmENT BOARD mEETiNGs hELD iN 2008

Number of meetings 
attended in person

Number of meetings 
attended in absentia

Mr. O. Lobanov (1) 12 �2

Mr. Y. Kotlyar (2) � 2�

Mr. R. Morgan (2) � 20

Mr. D. Morozov (�) � 22

Mr. J. Rozenberg (2) � 22

Mr. V. Sprogis (�) 10 �0

Mr. V. Tomenko (�) 11 �0

Mr. M. Finsky (2) � 2�

Mr. V. Strzhalkovsky (�) � 9

Mr. S. Batekhin (�) � 10

Mr. A. Popov (�) 2 �

Mr. K. Parinov (�) � 9

Mr. E. Potapov (�) � 9

Mr. O. Pivovarchuk (8) 2 2

Mr. V. Matvienko (9) 0 0

(�) On the Management Board from July 21, 2008; left the 

Management Board on December 2�, 2008. 

(�) On the Management Board from August 9, 2008; left the 

Management Board on October 20, 2008. 

(8) On the Management Board from October 20, 2008; 

member of the Management Board as of December �1, 

2008.

(9) On the Management Board from December 2�, 2008; 

member of the Management Board as of December �1, 

2008.

Directors in 2002, the Company endeavors 
to distribute as dividends between 20% and 
2�% of its net profit for the year after tax ac-
cording to IFRS. Information on dividends for 
2008 is presented in the Share Capital and 
Stock Markets Chapter of this Annual Re-
port.

ExTERNAL AUDiT

Norilsk Nickel has engaged CJSC Deloitte & 
Touche CIS to perform the audit of the con-
solidated financial statement for the year 
ended December �1, 2008 issued in compli-
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ance with the International Financial Report-
ing Standarts (IFRS). 

The Company’s 2008 financial statements 
according to Russian Accounting Standards 
have been audited by LLC Rosexpertiza.

iNTERNAL AUDiT

To meet the listing requirements of Russian 
stock exchanges (MICEX and RTS), which 
are based on the requirements of the FCSM 
Regulation on the Activities Relating to the Or-
ganization of Trade in the Securities Markets, 
the Company has a division ensuring compli-
ance with the internal control procedures, the 
Internal Control Department.

Risk mANAGEmENT

Risks are managed in accordance with the 
Corporate Risks Management Program of 
MMC Norilsk Nickel approved by the Board 
of Directors in December 200�. This docu-
ment regulates risk management procedures 
which include the following elements:

risk classification and definitions;
methodological approaches to risk iden-
tification and assessment;
acceptable levels of risk (tolerance 
levels);
risk management methods;
distribution of responsibility in risk man-
agement;
control and reporting.

The Board of Directors considers the Com-
pany’s risk register and approves a program 
of critical risk mitigation activities on a regu-
lar basis. More details on the matter are dis-
closed in the Risk Management Chapter. 

•
•

•

•
•

•
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sTATEmENT Of mANAGEmENT’s REsPONsiBiLiTiEs 
fOR ThE PREPARATiON AND APPROvAL Of ThE 
cONsOLiDATED fiNANciAL sTATEmENTs fOR ThE yEAR 
ENDED 31 DEcEmBER 2008 
The following statement, which should be read in conjunction 
with the independent auditors’ responsibilities stated in the 
independent auditors’ report set out on pages 2-�, is made 
with a view to distinguishing the responsibilities of manage-
ment and those of the independent auditors in relation to the 
consolidated financial statements of Open Joint Stock Com-
pany “Mining and Metallurgical Company Norilsk Nickel” and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consoli-
dated financial statements that present fairly the consolidated 
financial position of the Group at �1 December 2008, the re-
sults of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity for the 
year then ended, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, manage-
ment is responsible for:

selecting suitable accounting policies and applying them 
consistently;
making judgments and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;
stating whether IFRS have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and explained in the 
consolidated financial statements; and
preparing the consolidated financial statements on 
a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Group will continue in business for the 
foreseeable future.

•

•

•

•

Management, within its competencies, is also responsible for:

designing, implementing and maintaining an effective 
system of internal controls throughout the Group;
maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance 
with local legislation and accounting standards in the 
respective jurisdictions in which the Group operates;
taking steps to safeguard the assets of the Group; and
detecting and preventing fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended �1 
December 2008 were approved on 21 May 2009 by:

•

•

•
•

v. i. sTRzhALkOvsky

General Director

Moscow, Russia
21 May 2009

D. R. kOsTOEv

Deputy General Director
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iNDEPENDENT AUDiTORs’ REPORT

TO shAREhOLDERs AND BOARD Of DiREcTORs Of OPEN jOiNT 
sTOck cOmPANy “miNiNG AND mETALLURGicAL cOmPANy 
NORiLsk NickEL”:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements of Open Joint Stock Company “Mining and Met-
allurgical Company Norilsk Nickel” and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheet at 
�1 December 2008, and the consolidated statements of in-
come, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then end-
ed, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes.

mANAGEmENT’s REsPONsiBiLiTy fOR ThE cONsOLiDATED 
fiNANciAL sTATEmENTs

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair pre-
sentation of the consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and main-
taining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or er-
ror; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.

AUDiTORs’ REsPONsiBiLiTy

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidat-
ed financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical require-
ments and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evi-
dence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial state-
ments, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropri-
ateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPiNiON

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments present fairly, in all material respects, the financial po-
sition of the Group at �1 December 2008, and the results of 
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

Moscow, Russia
21 May 2009
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cONsOLiDATED iNcOmE sTATEmENT fOR ThE yEAR ENDED 
31 DEcEmBER 2008 Us DOLLARs miLLiON

NOTEs yEAR ENDED
31/12/2008

yEAR ENDED 
31/12/2007

REVENUE

Metal sales 8 11,�99 1�,909

Other sales sales 9 2,181 1,210

ToTAL REVENUE 13,980 17,119

Cost of metal sales 10 (�,�0�) (�,�19)

Cost of other sales 1� (2,122) (1,1��)

GRoSS PRofIT 6,354 11,237

Selling and distribution expenses 1� (�2�) (��0)

General and administrative expenses 18 (1,0�1) (89�)

Impairment of non-financial assets 19 (�,�28) (1,8�9)

Income on derivatives classified as held for trading �� �� �8

Other net operating expenses 20 (2��) (���)

oPERATING (LoSS)/PRofIT (199) 7,437

Finance costs 21 (�9�) (�0�)

Income from investments, net 22 2�� 21�

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net 2� (�9�) 1��

Excess of the Group’s share in the fair value of net assets acquired
over the cost of acquisition

� �18 1��

Share of (losses)/profit of associates 28 (2�2) ��

(LoSS)/PRofIT BEfoRE TAx (273) 7,735

Income tax expense 2� (282) (2,��9)

(LoSS)/PRofIT foR THE YEAR (555) 5,276

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company (��9) �,�2�

Minority interest (10�) (�1)

(555) 5,276

(LoSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 18�,10�,1�1 182,��2,98�

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable to 
shareholders of the parent company (US Dollars)

(2.�) 29.2
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NOTEs 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 2� 10,��� 1�,981

Goodwill 2� 1,2�� �,��0

Intangible assets 2� 209 8�9

Investments in associates 28 9�1 8�9

Other financial assets 29 �2� 2,982

Other taxes receivable �0 �9 �8

Deferred tax assets 2� �0 89

Pension plans assets �0 – 8

13,764 23,186

Current assets

Inventories �1 1,9�9 2,108

Trade and other receivables �2 ��9 9�9

Advances paid and prepaid expenses �� 118 18�

Other financial assets 29 1,�1� �,���

Income tax receivable ��8 1��

Other taxes receivable �0 �21 �8�

Cash and cash equivalents �� 1,99� �,008

7,046 12,450

Assets classified as held for sale �� 1� �0

7,059 12,510

ToTAL ASSETS 20,823 35,696

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Share capital �� 8 8

Share premium 1,�90 1,�90

Treasury shares �� (2,�1�) ─

Other reserves �� (1,0�2) �,���

Retained earnings 1�,000 1�,��0

Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 10,731 19,503

Minority interest 1,0�� 2,�18

11,785 21,821

cONsOLiDATED BALANcE shEET AT 31 DEcEmBER 2008 
Us DOLLARs miLLiON
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NOTEs 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings �8 �,��8 �,101

Obligations under finance leases �9 �1 2

Employee benefit obligations �0 11 11

Share appreciation rights �1 � –

Environmental obligations �2 ��� �8�

Derivative financial instruments �� – �

Deferred tax liabilities 2� �2� 2,��1

6,912 7,441

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings �8 8�2 �,9�1

Obligations under finance leases �9 1� 2

Current portion of employee benefit obligations �0 �8� ��8

Share appreciation rights �1 � –

Trade and other payables �� �9� �8�

Advances received �9 �1

Income tax payable 22 �22

Other taxes payable �0 1�1 19�

Derivative financial instruments �� 1� 2�

Dividends payable � 80�

2,126 6,425

Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale �� – 9

2,126 6,434

ToTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 20,823 35,696

cONsOLiDATED BALANcE shEET AT 31 DEcEmBER 2008 
Us DOLLARs miLLiON (cONTiNUE)
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yEAR ENDED
31/12/2008

yEAR ENDED 
31/12/2007

oPERATING ACTIVITIES

(Loss)/profit for the year (555) 5,276

Adjustments for:

Income tax expense 282 2,��9

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment �,9�1 1,�00

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2� 2�

Impairment of goodwill 1,��1 1,0�9

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets �29 ��

Share of post-acquisition losses/(profit)  
and impairment of investments in associates

2�2 (�)

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments (118) –

Excess of the Group’s share in the fair value of net assets acquired over the cost of 
acquisition

(�18) (2�8)

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries � 18

Gain on disposal of associates (8) (�)

Impairment of other financial assets ��� �9

Change in provision for onerous contracts �1 –

Income on derivatives classified as held for trading (��) (�8)

Finance costs �9� �0�

Interest income (�11) (2��)

Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net �9� (1��)

Dividend income (11) (2�)

Other (�) (9)

5,855 10,187

Movements in working capital:

Inventories (2��) (1��)

Trade and other receivables �20 209

Advances paid and prepaid expenses �2 �1

Other taxes receivable (89) �1

Employee benefit obligations, pension plan assets and share appreciation rights 10� �

Trade and other payables (82) (1��)

Advances received � 11

Other taxes payable � ��

Cash generated from operations 6,225 10,262

Interest paid (���) (2��)

Income tax paid (2,���) (2,��2)

Net cash generated from operating activities 3,542 7,334

cONsOLiDATED cAsh fLOw sTATEmENT fOR ThE yEAR ENDED 
31 DEcEmBER 2008 Us DOLLARs miLLiON
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yEAR ENDED
31/12/2008

yEAR ENDED 
31/12/2007

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired, and increase of ownership in 
subsidiaries

(��1) (�,82�)

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries �� –

Acquisition and establishment of associates (���) (�,�2�)

Proceeds from disposal of associates 8 �

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,��0) (1,1�0)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 88 88

Purchase of intangible assets (��) (��)

Purchase of other financial assets (��0) (1,�1�)

Net change in deposits placed 2,201 (1,28�)

Proceeds from sale of other financial assets 1,922 ��2

Dividends received 1 2�

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 459 (12,753)

FiNANCiNG ACTiViTiES

Proceeds from borrowings �,�2� 10,18�

Repayments of borrowings (�,2�0) (�,91�)

Acquisition of special purpose entities – (�0)

Buy back of issued shares (2,�1�) –

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares from treasury stock, 
net of direct expenses and attributable income tax

– 1,8��

Dividends paid by the Company (1,��0) (8�9)

Dividends paid by the Group’s subsidiaries to minority shareholders (2) (2�)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (5,804) 7,177

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,803) 1,758

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 4,008 2,178

Effect of translation to presentation currency (210) 80

Cash and cash equivalents of disposal group – (8)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 1,995 4,008

cONsOLiDATED cAsh fLOw sTATEmENT fOR ThE yEAR ENDED 
31 DEcEmBER 2008 Us DOLLARs miLLiON (cONTiNUE)
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EqUiTy ATTRiBUTABLE TO shAREhOLDERs Of ThE PARENT cOmPANy

NOTEs shARE 
cAPiTAL

shARE 
PREmiUm

TREAsURy 
shAREs

OThER
REsERvEs

RETAiNED 
EARNiNGs

TOTAL miNORiTy 
iNTEREsT

TOTAL 

Balance at 31 December 2006 8 611 (999) 2,562 10,635 12,817 319 13,136

Increase in fair value of available-
for-sale investments – – – ��� – 465 – 465

Effect of change in classification of 
available-for-sale investments to 
investments in associates due to 
increase of ownership

– – – (18�) – (183) – (183)

Loss on cash flow hedge – – – (1�) – (16) � (12)

Translation of foreign operations – – – (20�) – (206) – (206)

Effect of translation to presentation 
currency – – – 1,201 – 1,201 �9 1,280

Net income recognised 
directly in equity – – – 1,261 – 1,261 83 1,344

Profit for the year – – – – �,�2� 5,327 (�1) 5,276

Impairment of available-for-sale 
investments – – – 2� – 24 – 24

Other reserves disposed of on 
disposal of subsidiaries – – – (�) � – – –

Total recognised income and 
expense – – – 1,280 5,332 6,612 32 6,644

Dividends �� – – – – (1,���) (1,634) – (1,634)

Issuance of ordinary shares from 
treasury stock, net of direct ex-
penses and attributable income tax

– ��9 999 (��) �� 1,778 – 1,778

Acquisition of special purpose 
entities – – – – (�0) (70) – (70)

Net decrease in minority interest 
due to increase of the Group’s 
share in subsidiaries

� – – – – – – (1,112) (1,112)

Minority interest in subsidiaries 
acquired during the year � – – – – – – �,0�9 3,079

Balance at 31 December 2007 8 1,390 – 3,765 14,340 19,503 2,318 21,821

cONsOLiDATED sTATEmENT Of chANGEs iN EqUiTy fOR ThE 
yEAR ENDED 31 DEcEmBER 2008 Us DOLLARs miLLiON
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EqUiTy ATTRiBUTABLE TO shAREhOLDERs Of ThE PARENT cOmPANy

NOTEs shARE 
cAPiTAL

shARE 
PREmiUm

TREAsURy 
shAREs

OThER 
REsERvEs

RETAiNED 
EARNiNGs

TOTAL miNORiTy 
iNTEREsT

TOTAL 

Balance at 31 December 2007 8 1,390 – 3,765 14,340 19,503 2,318 21,821

Decrease in fair value of available-
for-sale investments – – – (1,�99) – (1,�99) (1) (1,�00)

Impact of change in income tax rate 
in the Russian Federation – – – (�) – (�) – (�)

Gain on cash flow hedge – – – � – � – �

Translation of foreign operations – – – (20�) – (20�) – (20�)

Effect of translation to presentation 
currency – – – (�,2�0) – (�,2�0) (1��) (�,�2�)

Net loss recognised directly in 
equity – – – (4,963) – (4,963) (165) (5,128)

Loss for the year – – – – (��9) (��9) (10�) (���)

Realised loss on disposal of cash 
flow hedge – – – 2 – 2 2 �

Realised gain on disposal of 
available-for-sale investments – – – (10�) 2 (102) – (102)

Impairment of available-for-sale 
investments – – – 2�2 – 2�2 – 2�2

Impact of change in income tax rate 
in the Russian Federation – – – � – � – �

Other reserves disposed of on 
disposal of subsidiaries – – – (9) 9 – – –

Total recognised income and 
expense – – – (4,836) (438) (5,274) (269) (5,543)

Dividends �� – – – – (902) (902) (�) (90�)

Buy back of issued shares – – (2,�1�) – – (2,�1�) – (2,�1�)

Issuance of convertible notes – – – 19 – 19 1� ��

Net decrease in minority interest 
due to increase of the Group’s 
share in subsidiaries

� – – – – – – (1,00�) (1,00�)

Balance at 31 December 2008 8 1,390 (2,615) (1,052) 13,000 10,731 1,054 11,785

cONsOLiDATED sTATEmENT Of chANGEs iN EqUiTy fOR ThE 
yEAR ENDED 31 DEcEmBER 2008 Us DOLLARs miLLiON
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1. GENERAL iNfORmATiON

ORGANisATiON

Open Joint Stock Company “Mining and Metallurgical Com-
pany Norilsk Nickel” (the “Company” or “MMC Norilsk Nickel”) 
was incorporated in the Russian Federation on � July 199�. 
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) are exploration, extraction, refining and sale of 
base and precious metals. Further details regarding the nature 
of the business and structure of the Group are presented in 
note ��.

NOTEs TO ThE cONsOLiDATED fiNANciAL sTATEmENTs 
fOR ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DEcEmBER 2008

Major production facilities of the Group are located in Taimyr 
and Kola Peninsulas of the Russian Federation, Australia, Bo-
tswana, Finland, South African Republic and the United States 
of America. The registered office of the Company is located in 
Russian Federation, Krasnoyarsk region, Dudinka, postal ad-
dress: 2, Gvardeyskaya square, Norilsk, Russian Federation.

Shareholding structure of the Company at �1 December 2008 
and 200� was as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

shAREhOLDERs 
 

NUmBER Of 
OUTsTANDiNG 

shAREs

% hELD 
 

NUmBER Of 
OUTsTANDiNG 

shAREs

% hELD 
 

CJSC “ING Bank (Eurasia)” (nominee) ��,918,��� �2.0�% 82,���,�9� ��.��%

State corporation “Vnesheconombank” (nominee) ��,���,9�8 2�.�0% – –

Non-for-Profit Partnership “National Depository Centre” �2,���,�22 18.��% 1�,8��,�2� �.��%

OJSС “VTB Bank” (nominee) 1�,�29,�10 9.01% 1�,1�2,9�8 8.��%

OJSС AKB “Rosbank” (nominee) – – �1,999,�2� 1�.9�%

CJSC “Depository Clearing Company” – – 2�,�12,��� 1�.09%

Other, less than �% 22,��0,89� 1�.01% 1�,���,122 9.��%

Total 174,593,298 100.00% 188,916,863 100.00%

2. BAsis Of PREsENTATiON

sTATEmENT Of cOmPLiANcE

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”).

The entities of the Group maintain their accounting records 
in accordance with the laws, accounting and reporting regu-
lations of the jurisdictions in which they are incorporated and 
registered. Accounting principles in certain jurisdictions may 
differ substantially from those generally accepted under IFRS. 
Financial statements of such entities have been adjusted to en-
sure that the consolidated financial statements are presented 
in accordance with IFRS.

BAsis Of PREsENTATiON

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are pre-
pared on the historical cost basis, except for:

mark-to-market valuation of by-products, in accordance 
with IAS 2 Inventories;
fair value valuation of liabilities for cash-settled share 
appreciation rights, in accordance with IFRS 2 Share 
Based Payments; and
mark-to-market valuation of certain classes of financial 
instruments, in accordance with IAS �9 Financial Instru-
ments: Recognition and Measurement.

 
sTANDARDs AND iNTERPRETATiONs EffEcTivE iN ThE 
cURRENT yEAR

In the current year, the Group has adopted all new and revised 
International Financial Reporting Standards and interpreta-
tions issued by International Financial Reporting Interpretation 
Committee (“IFRIC”) that are mandatory for adoption in the an-
nual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. Adoption of 
these standards and interpretations resulted in amendments 
to certain accounting policies.

IFRIC 1� IAS 19 The Limits on a Defined Benefit Assets, Mini-
mum Funding Requirements and their Interactions This inter-

•

•

•
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pretation provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the 
amount of surplus in a defined benefit scheme that can be 
recognised as an asset under IAS 19 Employee Benefit. The 
majority of the Group’s benefit schemes have been in deficit 
and for the remained portion the pension plan assets are insig-
nificant. Accordingly the adoption of this interpretation had no 
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
However the Group has amended its accounting policy.

OThER ifRic iNTERPRETATiONs

The following interpretations issued by IFRIC were effective for 
the current period: IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 Group and Treasury Share 

sTANDARDs AND iNTERPRETATiONs
EffEcTivE fOR ANNUAL PERiODs

BEGiNNiNG ON OR AfTER

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (amended) 1 January 2009

IAS 1� Property, Plant and Equipment (amended) 1 January 2009

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (amended) 1 January 2009

IAS 20 Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance (amendment) 1 January 2009

IAS 2� Borrowing Costs (amended) 1 January 2009

IAS 2� Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (amended) 
(revised due to revision of IFRS �)

1 January 2009
1 July 2009

IAS 28 Investments in Associates (amended) 
(revised due to revision of IFRS �)

1 January 2009
1 July 2009

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (amended) 1 January 2009
IAS �1 Investments in Joint Ventures (amended) 
(revised due to revision of IFRS �)

1 January 2009
1 July 2009

IAS �2 Financial Instruments: Presentation (amended) 1 January 2009

IAS �� Impairment of Assets (amended) 1 January 2009

IAS �8 Intangible Assets (amended) 1 January 2009

IAS �9 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (amended) 1 January 2009

IAS �0 Investment Property (amended) 1 January 2009

IAS �1 Agriculture (amended) 1 January 2009

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (amended) 1 January 2009

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (amended) 1 January 2009

IFRS � Business Combinations (revised on applying the acquisition method) 1 July 2009

IFRS � Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (amended) 1 July 2009

IFRS � Financial Instruments: Disclosures (amended) 1 January 2009

IFRS 8 Operating segments 1 January 2009

IFRIC 1� Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2009

IFRIC 1� Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate 1 January 2009

IFRIC 1� Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 1 October 2008

IFRIC 1� Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners 1 July 2009

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers 1 July 2009

Transactions and IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrange-
ments. The adoption of these interpretations has not led to any 
changes in the Group’s accounting policies or disclosures pro-
vided in the consolidated financial statements.

sTANDARDs AND iNTERPRETATiONs iN issUE BUT NOT yET 
EffEcTivE

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial 
statements, the following Standards and Interpretations were 
in issue but not yet effective: 
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The management of the Group anticipates that all of the above 
standards and interpretations will be adopted in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements for the respective periods. 
The impact of adoption of those standards and interpretations 
on the consolidated financial statements of future periods is 
currently being assessed by management. 

3. siGNificANT AccOUNTiNG POLiciEs

BAsis Of cONsOLiDATiON

subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, from the date 
that control effectively commenced until the date that control 
effectively ceased. Control is achieved where the Company 
has power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Minority interest in the net assets (excluding goodwill) of con-
solidated subsidiaries is identified separately from the Group’s 
equity therein. Minority interest includes interest at the date 
of the original business combination and minority’s share of 
changes in net assets since the date of the combination. Loss-
es applicable to minority in excess of minority’s interest in the 
subsidiary’s net assets are allocated against the interest of the 
Group except to the extent that a minority has a binding obliga-
tion and is able to make an additional investment to cover the 
losses.

All intra-group balances, transactions and any unrealised prof-
its or losses arising from intra-group transactions are eliminat-
ed in full on consolidation.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group exercises sig-
nificant influence, but not control, through participation in fi-
nancing and operating policy decisions, in which it normally 
owns between 20% and �0% of the voting equity. Associates 
are equity accounted for from the date significant influence 
commenced until the date that significant influence effectively 
ceased.

Investments in associates are carried at cost, including good-
will, as adjusted for the Group’s share of post-acquisition 
changes in associate’s retained earnings and other move-
ments in reserves. The carrying value of investments in as-
sociates is reviewed on a regular basis and if any impairment 
in value has occurred, it is written down in the period in which 

these circumstances are identified. The results of associates 
are equity accounted for based on their most recent financial 
statements. 

Losses of associates are recorded in the consolidated finan-
cial statements until the investment in such associates is writ-
ten down to nil value. Thereafter losses are only accounted for 
to the extent that the Group is committed to provide financial 
support to such associates.

Profits and losses resulting from transactions with associates 
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the rel-
evant associates.

special purpose entities

Special purpose entities (“SPEs”) are those undertakings that 
are created to satisfy specific business needs of the Group and 
the Group has the right to the majority of benefits of SPE, or is 
exposed to risks associated with the activities of SPE. SPEs 
are consolidated in the same manner as subsidiaries. 

Accounting for acquisition

Where an investment in a subsidiary or an associate is made, 
any excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of 
the identifiable assets, including mineral rights, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities at the date of acquisition is recognised 
as goodwill. Goodwill in respect of subsidiaries is disclosed 
separately and goodwill relating to associates is included in 
the carrying value of the investment in associates. Goodwill 
is reviewed for impairment at least annually. If impairment has 
occurred, it is recognised in the consolidated income state-
ment during the period in which the circumstances are identi-
fied and is not subsequently reversed.

Where an investment in a subsidiary or an associate is made, 
any excess of the Group’s share in the fair value of acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over 
cost is recognised in the consolidated income statement im-
mediately.

Where an acquisition is achieved in stages, goodwill is calcu-
lated separately for each exchange transaction, based on the 
cost of each exchange transaction, and the appropriate share 
of the acquirer’s net assets based on net fair values at the time 
of each exchange transaction. When control is achieved, the 
acquired net assets are stated at net fair value at the date of 
acquisition and any adjustment to fair values related to previ-
ously held interests is a revaluation, which is accounted for as 
an adjustment directly in equity.
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On acquisition of additional shares of subsidiaries from mi-
nority shareholders, any excess of consideration paid over 
the acquired interest in the carrying value of net assets at the 
date of increase in ownership is recognised as a goodwill; and 
any excess of the Group’s share in the carrying value of sub-
sidiary net assets over cost of acquisition is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. 

imPAiRmENT Of GOODwiLL

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocat-
ed to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected 
to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. 
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated 
are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when 
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the re-
coverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its 
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated as follows: 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated 
to this unit, and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata 
on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. 
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in 
a subsequent period.

AssETs hELD fOR sALE

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held 
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition 
is regarded as met only when sale is highly probable within one 
year from the date of classification and the asset or disposal 
group is available for immediate sale in its present condition 
and management has committed to the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held 
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

DiscONTiNUED OPERATiONs

Discontinued operations are disclosed when a component 
of the Group either has been disposed of during the report-
ing period, or is classified as held for sale at the balance sheet 
date. This condition is regarded as met only when the disposal 
is highly probable within one year from the date of classifica-
tion.

Comparative information related to the discontinued opera-
tions is amended in the consolidated income statement for the 
prior period.

Assets and liabilities of a disposal group are presented in the 
balance sheet separately from other assets and liabilities. 
Comparative information related to discontinued operations is 
not amended in the consolidated balance sheet for the prior 
period.

fUNcTiONAL AND PREsENTATiON cURRENcy

The individual financial statements of each Group entity are 
presented in its functional currency. 

The Russian Rouble (“RUR”) is the functional currency of the 
Company and all foreign subsidiaries of the Group, except for 
the following subsidiaries operating with a significant degree 
of autonomy:

sUBsiDiARy fUNcTiONAL cURRENcy

Stillwater Mining Company US Dollar

Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta Oy US Dollar

Norilsk Nickel Finland Oy US Dollar

MPI Nickel Limited Australian Dollar

Norilsk Nickel Cawse Proprietary Limited Australian Dollar

Tati Nickel Mining Company Proprietary Limited Botswana Pula

The presentation currency of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group is US Dollar (“USD”). Using USD as 
a presentation currency is common practice for global mining 
companies. In addition, USD is a more relevant presentation 
currency for international users of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group.

The translation into presentation currency is made as follows:

all assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-mone-
tary, are translated at closing exchange rates at the dates 
of each balance sheet presented;

•



21� | MMC Norilsk Nickel | Annual Report 2008

income and expense items are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates 
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case 
exchange rates at the date of transactions are used;
all equity items are translated at the historical exchange 
rates;
all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a 
separate component in equity; and
in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash bal-
ances at beginning and end of each period presented 
are translated at exchange rates at the respective dates. 
All cash flows are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the periods presented. Resulting exchange 
differences are presented as effect of translation to 
presentation currency.

•

•

•

•

fOREiGN cURRENcy TRANsAcTiONs

Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the exchange 
rates prevailing at the date of transactions. At each balance 
sheet date monetary assets and liabilities denominated in for-
eign currencies are translated at the exchange rates prevail-
ing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at 
historical cost are translated at the exchange rate prevailing 
at the date of transaction. Non-monetary items carried at fair 
value are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date 
on which the most recent fair value was determined. Exchange 
differences arising from changes in exchange rates are recog-
nised in the consolidated income statement.

Exchange rates used in the preparation of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements were as follows:

2008 2007

Russian Rouble/US Dollar

�1 December 29.�8 2�.��

Average for the year ended �1 December 2�.8� 2�.�8

Botswana Pula/US Dollar

�1 December �.�2 �.1�

Average for the year ended �1 December �.82 �.11

Australian Dollar/US Dollar

�1 December 1.�� 1.1�

Average for the year ended �1 December 1.20 1.19

REvENUE REcOGNiTiON

metal sales revenue

Revenue from metal sales is recognised when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer 
and represents invoiced value of all joint products shipped to 
customers, net of value added tax. Revenues from sale of by-
products are netted-off against production costs.

Revenue from contracts that are entered into and continue to 
meet the Group’s expected sale requirements designated for 
that purpose at their inception, and are expected to be settled 
by physical delivery, are recognised in the consolidated finan-
cial statements as and when they are delivered.

Sales of certain metals are provisionally priced so that price 
is not settled until a predetermined future date based on the 

market price at that time. Revenue from these transactions 
is initially recognised at the current market price. Provision-
ally priced metal sales are marked to market at each reporting 
date using the forward price for the period equivalent to that 
outlined in the contract. This mark to market adjustment is re-
corded in revenue.

Other revenue

Revenue from sale of goods, other than metals, is recognised 
when significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred 
to the buyer in accordance with the shipping terms specified in 
the sales agreements.

Revenue from service contracts are recognised when the 
services are rendered and the outcome can be reliably mea-
sured.
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The Group provides the following principal types of services:

supply of electricity and heat energy; and
transportation services.

Dividends and interest income

Dividends from investments are recognised when the Group’s 
right to receive payment has been established.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate appli-
cable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to 
that asset’s net carrying amount.

LEAsEs

Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leas-
es. Assets subject to finance leases are capitalised as prop-
erty, plant and equipment at the lower of fair value or present 
value of future minimum lease payments at the date of acquisi-
tion, with the related lease obligation recognised at the same 
value. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over 
their estimated economic useful lives or over the term of the 
lease, if shorter. If there is reasonable certainty that the lessee 
will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the period of 
expected use is useful life of the asset.

Finance lease payments are allocated using the effective in-
terest rate method, between the lease finance cost, which is 
included in finance costs, and the capital repayment, which 
reduces the related lease obligation to the lessor.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating 
leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an ex-
pense in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term, except where another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which eco-
nomic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contin-
gent rentals arising under operating leases are expensed in 
the period in which they are incurred.

fiNANcE cOsTs

Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construc-
tion or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for 
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those as-

•
•

sets, until such time when the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale. 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of 
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capi-
talisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement in the period in which they are incurred.

GOvERNmENT GRANTs

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and all conditions and 
requirements attaching to the grant will be met. 

Government grants related to assets are deducted from the 
cost of these assets in arriving at their carrying value.

EmPLOyEE BENEfiTs

Remuneration to employees in respect of services rendered 
during a reporting period is recognised as an expense in that 
period.

Defined contribution plans

The Group contributes to the following major defined contribu-
tion plans:

Pension Fund of the Russian Federation;
Corporate pension option program; 
Shared accumulated pension plan; and
Stillwater Mining Company savings plan.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to these and other 
defined contribution plans is to make specified contributions in 
the period in which they arise. These contributions are recog-
nised in the consolidated income statement when employees 
have rendered services entitling them to the contribution.

Defined benefit plans

The Group operates a number of funded defined benefit plans 
for its employees. At management’s discretion and within the 
established annual budgets, the Group admits employees, 
who have met certain criteria, into one of the following retire-
ment benefit plans:

•
•
•
•
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Lifelong professional pension plan, whereby a retired 
employee receives a monthly allowance equal to 200% 
of the Russian Federation state pension for the rest of 
his/her life; or
Joint corporate pension plan, whereby a retired employ-
ee receives a monthly allowance equal to 1/1�0th of the 
total Starting and Counter capital for the rest of his/her 
life. Starting capital is determined on an individual basis 
taking into account seniority, salary level, etc. Counter 
capital consists of a contribution funded by the Group 
amounted to �% of salaries paid to an employee during 
the period of participation in the plan.

The Group’s liability recognised in the consolidated balance 
sheet in respect of defined benefit plans represent present val-
ue of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date 
less fair value of the plans assets and adjustments for unrec-
ognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The 
defined benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit 
credit method.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised as income or ex-
pense when the cumulative unrecognised actuarial gains or 
losses for each individual plan exceed 10% of the higher of de-
fined benefit obligation and the fair value of plans assets. The 
excess of cumulative actuarial gains or losses over 10% of the 
higher of defined benefit obligation and fair value of plans as-
sets is recognised over the expected average remaining work-
ing lives of the employees participating in the plans.

Past service cost is recognised immediately in the consolidat-
ed income statement to the extent that the benefits have been 
vested; the remaining portion is amortised on the straight-line 
basis over the period until the benefit becomes vested.

Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Group, nor 
can they be distributed at the Group’s discretion. Fair value 
of plan assets is generally based on market price information 
and in case of quoted financial securities from publicly avail-
able sources of financial information. The amount of plan as-
sets recognised in the consolidated financial statements is re-
stricted to the sum of any past service costs not yet recognised 
and the present value of any economic benefits available to the 
Group in the form of refund from the plan or reductions in the 
future contributions to the plan.

shARE APPREciATiON RiGhTs

The cost of cash-settled share appreciation rights is measured 
initially at fair value at the grant date using the Monte Carlo valu-
ation model and accrued as expense. The fair value of these 

•

•

rights is determined taking into account any market and non-
market based vesting conditions attached to the awards. The 
liability is subsequently remeasured at each reporting date and 
at settlement date to reflect the amount of anticipated or current 
awards expected to be vested by management. Any changes in 
the fair value of the liability are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.

iNcOmE TAx ExPENsE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable and deferred tax.

Income tax is recognised as an expense or income in the con-
solidated income statement, except when it relates to items 
recognised directly in equity, in which case the tax is also 
recognised directly in equity, or where they arise from the initial 
accounting for a business combination. 

In case of a business combination, tax effect is taken into ac-
count in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the 
acquirer’s interest in net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost of the busi-
ness combination.

current tax

Current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit 
differs from profit for the year as reported in the consolidated 
income statement because it excludes items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further 
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s 
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance 
sheet and the corresponding tax bases used in computation 
of the taxable profit, and are accounted for using the balance 
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised 
for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets 
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which those deductible temporary differences can 
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised 
if temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable 
profit nor accounting profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred 
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
associated with such investments and interests are only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be 
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of 
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in 
the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no lon-
ger probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally en-
forceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its cur-
rent tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUiPmENT

mineral rights, mineral resources and ore reserves

Mineral rights, mineral resources and ore reserves are recorded 
as assets when acquired as part of a business combination 
and are then amortised over the life of mine, which is based 
on estimated proven and probable ore reserves. Estimated 
proven and probable ore reserves reflect the economically 
recoverable quantities which can be legally recovered in the 
future from known mineral deposits and are determined by 
independent professional appraisers.

mining assets

Mining assets are recorded at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Mining assets include cost 
of acquiring and developing mining properties, pre-production 
expenditure, mine infrastructure, mining and exploration 
licenses and present value of future decommissioning costs. 

Amortisation of mining assets is charged from the date on which 
a new mine reaches commercial production quantities and is 
included in the cost of production. Mining assets are amortised 

on a straight-line basis over the lesser of their economic useful 
lives or the life of mine, varying from 2 to �9 years.

mine development costs

Mine development costs are capitalised and transferred to 
mining property, plant and equipment when a new mine reach-
es commercial production quantities.

Capitalised mine development costs comprise expenditures 
directly related to:

acquiring mining and exploration licenses;
developing new mining operations;
defining further mineralisation in existing ore bodies; and
expanding capacity of a mine.

Mine development costs include interest capitalised during 
the construction period, when financed by borrowings.

Non-mining assets

Non-mining assets include metallurgical processing plants, 
buildings, infrastructure, machinery and equipment and other 
non-mining assets. Non-mining assets are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Plant and equipment that process extracted ore are located 
near mining operations and amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the lesser of their economic useful lives or the life of mine. 
Other non-mining assets are amortised on a straight-line basis 
over their economic useful lives. 

Depreciation is calculated over the following economic useful 
lives:

plant, buildings and infrastructure 10 – �0 years
machinery and equipment � – 11 years
other non-mining assets � – 10 years

capital construction-in-progress

Capital construction-in-progress comprises costs directly relat-
ed to construction of buildings, processing plant, infrastructure, 
machinery and equipment. Cost also includes finance charges 
capitalised during construction period where such costs are fi-
nanced by borrowings. Depreciation of these assets commenc-
es when the assets are put into production.

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
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iNTANGiBLE AssETs, ExcLUDiNG GOODwiLL

Intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated am-
ortisation and impairment losses. Intangible assets mainly 
include patents and licenses, long-term favourable contracts 
and software. 

Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the follow-
ing economic useful lives of these assets:

Activox technology patent indefinite useful life patents 
and licenses, except for Activox technology – 2 – 10 years
long-term favourable contracts – � years
software – 2 – 10 years

imPAiRmENT Of TANGiBLE AND iNTANGiBLE AssETs, 
ExcLUDiNG GOODwiLL

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying 
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have 
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where 
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost to sell 
and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, 
for which the estimates of the future cash flows have not 
been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or 
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement 
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reversed, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the 
extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
original carrying amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods. A reversal 
of an impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement immediately.

•

•
•

REsEARch AND ExPLORATiON ExPENDiTURE

Research and exploration expenditure, including geophysical, 
topographical, geological and similar types of expenditure, 
is expensed in the period in which it is incurred, unless it is 
deemed that such expenditure will lead to an economically vi-
able capital project. In this case the expenditure is capitalised 
and amortised over the life of mine, when a mine reaches com-
mercial production quantities.

Research and exploration expenditure written-off before de-
velopment and construction starts is not subsequently capital-
ised, even if a commercial discovery subsequently occurs.

iNvENTORiEs

Refined metals

Joint products, i.e. nickel, copper, palladium, platinum and 
gold, are measured at the lower of net cost of production or net 
realisable value. The net cost of production of joint products 
is determined as total production cost less net revenue from 
sales of by-products and valuation of by-product inventories 
on hand, allocated to each joint product in the ratio of their 
contribution to relative sales value, divided by the saleable 
mine output of each joint product.

Production costs include on-mine and concentrating costs, 
smelting costs, treatment and refining costs, other cash costs 
and amortisation and depreciation of operating assets.

By-products, i.e. cobalt, ruthenium, rhodium, iridium, silver 
and other minor metals, are measured at net realisable value, 
through a mark-to-market valuation.

work-in-process

Work-in-process is valued at net cost of production based on 
the percentage of completion method.

stores and materials

Stores and materials consist of consumable stores and are val-
ued at the weighted average cost less allowance for obsolete 
and slow-moving items.

fiNANciAL AssETs

Financial assets are recognised when the Group has become 
a party to the contractual arrangement of the instrument and 
are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, ex-
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cept for those financial assets classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified cat-
egories:

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
held-to-maturity investments;
available-for-sale financial assets; and
loans and receivables. 

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recogni-
tion.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
(including transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where ap-
propriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt 
securities other that those financial assets designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss.

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling 
in the near future; or
it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instru-
ments that the Group manages together and has a 
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a 
hedging instrument. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at 
fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the con-
solidated income statement. The net gain or loss recognised in 
the consolidated income statement incorporates any dividend 
or interest earned on the financial asset. 

•
•
•
•

•

•

•

held-to-maturity investments

Promissory notes and debentures with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturity dates that the Group has the posi-
tive intent and ability to hold to maturity other than loans and 
receivables are classified as held-to-maturity investments. 
Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method less any allowance for im-
pairment. 

Amortisation of discount or premium on the acquisition of a 
held-to-maturity investment is recognised in interest income 
over the term of the investment. Held-to-maturity investments 
are included in non-current assets, unless they mature within 
twelve months of the balance sheet date.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets mainly include investments in 
listed and unlisted shares.

Listed shares held by the Group that are traded in an active mar-
ket are stated at their market value. Gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity in the in-
vestments revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment 
losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method 
and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets, 
which are recognised directly in the consolidated income state-
ment. Where an investment is disposed of or is determined to 
be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in the investment revaluation reserve is included in the consoli-
dated income statement for the period.

Investments in unlisted shares that do not have a quoted market 
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably 
measured are recorded at management’s estimate of fair value.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an ac-
tive market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and 
receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effec-
tive interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for 
short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would 
be immaterial.
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impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or 
loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance 
sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objec-
tive evidence that, as a result of one or more events that oc-
curred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the esti-
mated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. 

For unlisted shares classified as available-for-sale, a significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its 
cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade 
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a 
collective basis. 

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables 
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting 
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments 
as well as observable changes in economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of 
the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the 
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception 
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced 
through the use of an allowance for impairment. When a trade 
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are credited against the allowance. Changes in the allowance 
are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, 
if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the pre-
viously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the 
consolidated income statement to the extent that the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed 
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had 
the impairment not been recognised. 

When a decline in fair value of an available-for-sale investment 
has been recognised directly in equity and there is objective ev-
idence that investment is impaired, the cumulative loss that had 

been recognised directly in equity is removed from equity and 
recognised in the consolidated income statement even though 
the investment has not been derecognised. Impairment losses 
previously recognised through consolidated income statement 
are not reversed. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an 
impairment loss is recognised directly in equity.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or 
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the 
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the trans-
ferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the 
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. 
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues 
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collater-
alised borrowing for the proceeds received.

fiNANciAL LiABiLiTiEs

Financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured 
at fair value, net of transaction costs and subsequently mea-
sured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or where ap-
propriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
they expire.

DERivATivE fiNANciAL iNsTRUmENTs

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its 
exposure to the risk of changes in metal prices. Derivative fi-
nancial instruments are initially measured at fair value on the 
contract date, and are remeasured to fair value at subsequent 
reporting dates. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement immediately unless the de-
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rivative is designated as a cash flow hedge. 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivative finan-
cial instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges is recog-
nised directly in equity. The ineffective portion of cash flow hedges 
is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Amounts de-
ferred in equity are recycled in the consolidated income statement 
in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in the consoli-
dated income statement. However, when the forecast transaction 
that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or 
a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in 
equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial mea-
surement of the cost of the asset or liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the 
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge ac-
counting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that 
time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast 
transaction is ultimately recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to 
occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is 
recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement.

cOmPOUND fiNANciAL iNsTRUmENTs

The component parts of compound financial instruments issued 
by the Group are classified separately as financial liabilities and 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual ar-
rangement. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability com-
ponent is estimated using the market interest rate for a similar 
non-convertible instrument. This amount is recorded on an am-
ortised cost basis using the effective interest method until extin-
guished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. 
The equity component is determined by deducting the amount 
of the liability component from the fair value of the compound 
instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in equity, 
net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.

cAsh AND cAsh EqUivALENTs

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, cash 
deposits and highly liquid investments with original maturi-
ties of three months or less, which are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value.

PROvisiONs

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or con-
structive obligations as a result of a past event for which it is 

probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligations, and the amount of the obligations can 
be reliably estimated.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of 
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertain-
ties surrounding obligation. Where a provision is measured us-
ing the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

ENviRONmENTAL OBLiGATiONs

Environmental obligations include decommissioning and land 
restoration costs.

Future decommissioning costs, discounted to net present 
value, are capitalised and the corresponding decommissioning 
obligations are raised as soon as the constructive obligation to 
incur such costs arises and the future decommissioning cost 
can be reliably estimated. Decommissioning assets are deplet-
ed over the life of mine. The unwinding of the decommissioning 
obligations is included in the consolidated income statement 
as finance costs. Decommissioning obligations are periodically 
reviewed in light of current laws and regulations, and adjust-
ments are made as necessary.

Provision for land restoration, representing the cost of restoring 
land damage after the commencement of commercial produc-
tion, is estimated at net present value of the expenditures expect-
ed to settle the obligation. Change in provision and unwinding of 
discount on land restoration are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement and included in the cost of production.

Ongoing rehabilitation costs are expensed when incurred.

sEGmENTAL iNfORmATiON

The Group’s primary segment reporting format is business 
segments. A business segment is a group of assets and operations 
engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks 
and returns that are different to those of other business segments. 
The Group’s primary business segments are: 

mining and metallurgy;
energy and utilities;
transport and logistics; and
other.

The business segment “other” mainly includes entities engaged in 
research activities, maintenance and repair services and other.

•
•
•
•
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The Group’s secondary segment reporting format is geographic 
segments which are based on the geographic location of the 
Group’s operations. The Group mainly operates in:

Russian Federation; 
Europe; 
North America; 
Africa; 
Australia; and
Asia.

4. cRiTicAL AccOUNTiNG jUDGEmENTs AND kEy sOURcE 
Of EsTimATiON UNcERTAiNTy

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with IFRS requires the Group’s management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. The determination of estimates requires 
judgments which are based on historical experience, current 
and expected economic conditions, and all other available in-
formation. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The most significant areas requiring the use of management 
estimates and assumptions relate to:

useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment;
impairment of assets, excluding goodwill;
impairment of goodwill;
allowances;
environmental obligations;
defined benefit plans;
share appreciation rights;
income taxes; and
contingencies.

UsEfUL EcONOmic LivEs Of PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUiP-
mENT

The Group’s mining assets, classified within property, plant 
and equipment, are amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
lesser of their economic useful lives or the life of mine. When 
determining the life of a mine, assumptions that were valid at 
the time of estimation, may change when new information be-
comes available.

The factors that could affect the estimation of the life of mine 
include the following:

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

changes in proven and probable ore reserves;
the grade of mineral reserves varying significantly from 
time to time;
differences between actual commodity prices and com-
modity price assumptions used in the estimation and 
classification of ore reserves;
unforeseen operational issues at mine sites; and
changes in capital, operating, mining, processing and 
reclamation costs, discount rates and foreign exchange 
rates could possibly adversely affect the economic vi-
ability of ore reserves.

Any of these changes could affect prospective amortisation of 
mining assets and their carrying value. Useful economic lives 
of non-mining property, plant and equipment is reviewed by 
management periodically. The review is based on the current 
condition of the assets and the estimated period during which 
they will continue to bring economic benefit to the Group.

imPAiRmENT Of AssETs, ExcLUDiNG GOODwiLL

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and in-
tangible assets excluding goodwill to determine whether there 
is any indication that those assets are impaired. In making the 
assessment for impairment, assets that do not generate inde-
pendent cash flows are allocated to an appropriate cash-gen-
erating unit. Management necessarily applies its judgment in 
allocating assets that do not generate independent cash flows 
to appropriate cash-generating units, and also in estimating 
the timing and value of the underlying cash flows within the 
value-in-use calculation. Subsequent changes to the cash-
generating unit allocation or to the timing of cash flows could 
impact the carrying value of the respective assets.

imPAiRmENT Of GOODwiLL

Assessment whether goodwill is impaired requires an esti-
mation of value-in-use of the cash-generating unit to which 
goodwill is allocated. The value-in-use calculations require 
management to estimate the future cash flows expected to 
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount to 
calculate present value. Details of impairment loss calculation 
related to mining and non-mining business units of the Group 
are presented in note 19.

ALLOwANcEs

The Group creates allowance for doubtful debts to account 
for estimated losses resulting from the inability of customers 
to make the required payments. At �1 December 2008, the 
allowance for doubtful debts amounted to USD �� million 

•
•

•

•
•
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(200�: USD �2 million). When evaluating the adequacy of an 
allowance for doubtful debts, management bases its estimate 
on current overall economic conditions, ageing of the accounts 
receivable balances, historical write-off experience, customer 
creditworthiness and changes in payment terms. Changes 
in the economy, industry or specific customer conditions 
may require adjustments to the allowance for doubtful debts 
recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group also creates an allowance for obsolete and slow-
moving raw materials and spare parts. At �1 December 2008, 
the allowance for obsolete and slow-moving items amounted 
to USD �8 million (200�: USD 2� million). In addition, certain 
finished goods of the Group are carried at net realisable value. 
Estimates of net realisable value of inventories are based on the 
most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are 
made. These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of 
price or cost directly relating to events occurring subsequent to 
the balance sheet date to the extent that such events confirm 
conditions existing at the end of the period.

ENviRONmENTAL OBLiGATiONs

The Group’s mining and exploration activities are subject 
to various environmental laws and regulations. The Group 
estimates environmental obligations based on management’s 
understanding of the current legal requirements in the 
various jurisdictions in which it operates, terms of the 
license agreements and internally generated engineering 
estimates. Provision is made, based on net present values, for 
decommissioning and land restoration costs as soon as the 
obligation arises. Actual costs incurred in future periods could 
differ materially from the amounts provided. Additionally, future 
changes to environmental laws and regulations, life of mine 
estimates and discount rates could affect the carrying amount 
of this provision.

DEfiNED BENEfiT PLANs

The most significant assumptions used in estimation of defined 
benefit plans are the expected rate of return on plan assets, the 
discount rate, future salary increases, state pensions growth 
rate and mortality assumptions.

The overall expected rate of return on pension plans assets is 
calculated based on the expected long-term investment re-
turns for each category of assets. 

The present value of the benefits is determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-
quality government bonds that have terms to maturity approxi-

mating to the terms of the related pension obligations.

Estimation of future salary levels takes into account projected 
levels of inflation and seniority of personnel.

shARE APPREciATiON RiGhTs

The most significant assumptions used in estimation of the 
cost of share appreciation rights are expected prices of the 
Company’s share, HSBC index, risk-free interest rate and ex-
pected volume of nickel production by Norilsk Nickel Interna-
tional facilities.

Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of return 
on the Company’s share and HSBC index.

The risk-free rates used in the valuation model are in line with 
the US Treasury bonds yield curve at the valuation date.

Expected volume of nickel production is based on 2008-2010 
business plan of the Group and management expectations of 
meeting targeted volumes.

iNcOmE TAxEs

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. 
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide 
provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. 
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ul-
timate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates 
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax out-
come of these matters is different from the amounts that were 
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax 
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such deter-
mination is made.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable income will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. The estimation of 
that probability includes judgments based on the expected 
performance.

Various factors are considered to assess the probability of the 
future utilisation of deferred tax assets, including past operat-
ing results, operational plans, expiration of tax losses carried 
forward, and tax planning strategies. If actual results differ from 
these estimates or if these estimates must be adjusted in future 
periods, the financial position, results of operations and cash 
flows may be negatively affected.
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cONTiNGENciEs

By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one 
or more future events occur or fail to occur. The assessment of 
such contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant 
judgment and estimates of the outcome of future events.

5. REcLAssificATiONs

Certain comparative information presented in the consolidat-
ed financial statements for the year ended �1 December 200� 

has been reclassified. Reclassifications were based upon 
management’s decision to enhance disclosure of the Group’s 
financial position and results of operations through separate 
presentation of certain types of income and expenses, and 
assets and liabilities on the face of the consolidated income 
statement and consolidated balance sheet.

The effect of the reclassifications is summarised below:

AfTER 
REcLAssificATiONs

BEfORE 
REcLAssificATiONs

DiffERENcE 

CoNSoLIDATED INCoME STATEMENT

Impairment of non-financial assets (1,8�9) – (1,8�9)

Impairment of goodwill – (1,0�9) 1,0�9

Income on derivatives classified as held for trading �8 �2 �

Other net operating expenses (���) (1,1��) 800

Net income from investments 21� 22� (�)

CoNSoLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings �,101 �,10� (2)

Obligations under finance leases 2 – 2

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings �,9�1 �,9�� (2)

Obligations under finance leases 2 – 2

6. BUsiNEss cOmBiNATiONs

AcqUisiTiON Of cONTROLLiNG iNTEREsT iN sUBsiDiARiEs

sUBsiDiARiEs AcqUiRED PRiNciPAL AcTiviTy DATE Of AcqUisiTiON OwNERshiP, % cOsT Of 
AcqUisiTiON

for the year ended 31/12/2008

Malga Limited Investment holding 8 September 2008 100.0% 19

for the year ended 31/12/2007

OMG Harjavalta Nickel Oy and
OMG Cawse Proprietary Limited

Mining and metallurgy 1 March 200� 100.0% ���

LionOre Mining International Limited Mining and metallurgy 28 June 200� 90.�% �,2�2

OJSC “Third Generation Company of
the Wholesale Electricity Market”

Electricity production 
and distribution

� August 200� ��.1% �12

LLC “Geokomp” Drilling services 28 August 200� 100.0% 1

LLC “Pervaya Milya” Telecommunication 1� November 200� ��.0% 2

LLC “Direktsiya Proekta Metally Zabaikalya” Construction 2� December 200� 100.0% –

6,223
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AcqUisiTiONs Of cONTROLLiNG iNTEREsT  
iN sUBsiDiARiEs DURiNG 2008

malga Limited

On 8 September 2008, the Group acquired 100% of the issued 
shares of Malga Limited (“Malga”) for a cash consideration of 

USD 19 million. Malga is an investment holding company, own-
ing 100% interest in LLC “SGM”.

The initial accounting for acquisition of Malga has been made 
using provisional values at 8 September 2008, as follows:

PROvisiONAL vALUE

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 2�

Trade and other receivables 1

25

LIABILITIES

Borrowings 2

Deferred tax liabilities �

6

Group’s share of net assets acquired 19

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

Consideration paid in cash (19)

Net cash outflow on acquisition (19)

At the date of acquisition, Malga did not prepare financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS. Thus it was not practicable 
to determine the carrying amounts of the acquired assets and 
liabilities in accordance with IFRS immediately before the 
acquisition, and this information is not presented in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

Malga contributed USD nil of revenue, loss before tax and loss 
from the date of acquisition to �1 December 2008.

iNcREAsE Of OwNERshiP iN sUBsiDiARiEs DURiNG 2008

Ojsc “Arkhangelsk sea commercial Port”

On 19 March 2008, the Group acquired an additional 
19.�% interest in OJSC “Arkhangelsk Sea Commercial Port” 
(“ASCP”) for a cash consideration of USD � million, increasing 
its ownership in ASCP to �2.8%. The carrying value of ASCP 
net assets at the date of increase of ownership was USD 11 
million. As a result of this transaction, the Group recognised a 
decrease in net assets attributable to minority interest of USD 
� million.

Ojsc “Third Generation company of the wholesale Electric-
ity market”

During the period from 1� January to 1� February 2008, 
OJSC “Third Generation Company of the Wholesale Electricity 
Market” (“OGK-�”), a subsidiary of the Group, acquired 2,010 
million of its own shares for a cash consideration of USD ��2 
million. As a result of this transaction, the effective ownership 
of the Group in OGK-� increased to �8.0%. The carrying value 
of the OGK-� net assets at the dates of increase of ownership 
varied from USD �,�0� million to USD �,092 million. As a result 
of this transaction, the Group recognised a decrease in net 
assets attributable to minority interest of USD 2�2 million and 
an increase in goodwill in the amount of USD 80 million.

On 1 July 2008, as a part of reorganisation of RAO “United 
Electricity System of the Russian Federation” (“RAO “UES”), 
the Group received as predecessor owner of investments in 
RAO “UES” an additional �,�92 million shares of OGK-�. As a 
result of completion of RAO “UES” restructuring, the Group’s 
effective ownership in OGK-� increased to 82.�%. The carrying 
value of OGK-� net assets at the date of increase of ownership 
amounted to USD �,01� million. Accordingly, the Group 
recognised decrease in net assets attributable to minority 
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interest in the amount of USD ��� million. Excess of the Group’s 
share in the carrying value of net assets attributable to minority 
interest and appropriate allocated cost of investment in shares 
of OGK-� in the amount of USD �18 million was recognised in 
the consolidated income statement.

Ojsc “RAO Norilsk Nickel”

On 11 July 2008, the Group filed a mandatory minority share-
holders squeeze out offer of USD 1� million for 1.1% interest in 
OJSC “RAO Norilsk Nickel” (“RAO NN”), a 98.9% subsidiary 
of the Group. On 10 October 2008, the Group acquired 1.1% 
interest in RAO NN for a cash consideration of USD 1� million. 
The carrying value of RAO NN net assets at the date of manda-
tory squeeze out offer was USD 1,��� million. As a result of this 
transaction, the Group recognised a decrease in net assets at-
tributable to minority interest of USD 1� million.

AcqUisiTiON Of cONTROLLiNG iNTEREsT iN sUBsiDiARiEs 
DURiNG 2007

OmG harjavalta Nickel Oy and OmG cawse Proprietary 
Limited

On 1 March 200�, the Group acquired 100% of the ordinary 
shares of OMG Harjavalta Nickel Oy (“OMG Harjavalta”), a com-
pany engaged in nickel refining operations in Finland, and OMG 
Cawse Proprietary Limited (“OMG Cawse”), a company engaged 
in nickel mining and processing operations in Australia, for a total 
consideration of USD ��� million.

At the date of acquisition the fair value of identifiable assets and 
liabilities of OMG Harjavalta and OMG Cawse was as follows:

fAiR vALUE

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 2��

Intangible assets 1

Inventories 2�0

Trade and other receivables 19�

Advances paid and prepaid expenses �1

Other financial assets �0

Cash and cash equivalents �

758

LIABILITIES

Employee benefit obligations �

Environmental obligations �

Deferred tax liabilities ��

Trade and other payables 128

Income tax payable ��

Other taxes payable 9

245

Group’s share of net assets acquired 513

Less: Excess of the Group’s share in the fair value of net assets acquired over the cost of 
acquisition

(1��)

Total cost of acquisition 356

Consideration per agreement (��8)

Direct transaction costs (8)

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

Consideration and direct transaction costs paid in cash (���)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired �

Net cash outflow on acquisition (349)
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At the date of acquisition, OMG Harjavalta and OMG Cawse did 
not prepare financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Thus 
it was not practicable to determine the carrying amounts of the 
acquired assets and liabilities in accordance with IFRS immedi-
ately before the acquisition, and this information is not presented 
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

OMG Harjavalta and OMG Cawse contributed USD 92� million 
of revenue, USD 221 million of profit before tax and USD 1�� mil-
lion of profit from the date of acquisition to �1 December 200�.

LionOre mining international Limited

On 28 June 200�, the Group acquired 90.�% of the voting 
shares of LionOre Mining International Limited (“LionOre”), an 
international nickel producer with operations in Australia and 
Botswana, for a cash consideration of USD �,2�2 million.

At the date of acquisition the fair value of identifiable assets and 
liabilities of LionOre was as follows:

fAiR vALUE

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment �,�90
Intangible assets �0�
Investments in associates �80
Deferred tax asset 1��
Inventories 1�8
Trade and other receivables 2�2
Advances paid and prepaid expenses �
Other financial assets �8
Cash and cash equivalents ��8

6,852
LIABILITIES
Borrowings 8��
Employee benefit obligations 10
Environmental obligations 91
Derivative financial instruments 80
Deferred tax liabilities 1,�12
Trade and other payables 1��
Income tax payable �1

2,731
Net assets at the date of acquisition 4,121
Less: Net assets attributable to minority shareholders (8�0)
Add: Decrease in minority interest due to increase of interest in the subsidiary 2�9
Group’s share of net assets acquired 3,490
Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition 2,001
Less: Revaluation surplus representing the change in fair value of MPI net assets from the date of 
initial acquisition by the Group of 20% interest in MPI (refer to note 28) to the date when control was 
obtained

(��) 
 

Less: Pre-acquisition investment in MPI (refer to note 28) (19�)
Total cost of acquisition 5,252
Consideration per public offer (�,2�0)
Direct transaction costs (22)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

Consideration and direct transaction costs paid in cash (�,2�2)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired ��8

Net cash outflow on acquisition (4,814)
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At the date of acquisition, LionOre did not prepare financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS. Thus it was not practi-
cable to determine the carrying amounts of the acquired as-
sets and liabilities in accordance with IFRS immediately before 
the acquisition, and this information was not presented in the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

LionOre contributed USD �0� million of revenue, USD 90� mil-
lion of loss before tax and USD 8�� million of loss from the date 
of acquisition to �1 December 200�.

Goodwill that arose on the acquisition of LionOre was primarily 
attributable to the expected business synergy.

Ojsc “Third Generation company of the wholesale Electric-
ity market”

During July-August 200�, the Group acquired an additional 
�.2% interest in OGK-�, a company engaged in generation 
and sale of electricity and heat energy in Central, North-West, 
Siberia and Urals regions of the Russian Federation, for a cash 
consideration of USD �12 million, increasing its ownership in 
the company to ��.1%. Prior to this transaction, investment in 
OGK-� was classified as an investment in associate (refer to 
note 28).

At the date of acquisition the fair value of identifiable assets and 
liabilities of OGK-� was as follows:

fAiR vALUE

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 2,111

Intangible assets 2

Inventories 8�

Trade and other receivables 121

Advances paid and prepaid expenses 2�

Other financial assets 1,�8�

Cash and cash equivalents 1,�2�

5,452

LIABILITIES

Borrowings 1�1

Employee benefit obligations 21

Deferred tax liabilities ���

Trade and other payables 8�

Advances received �

Income tax payable �

Other taxes payable �

641

Net assets at the date of acquisition 4,811

Less: Net assets attributable to minority shareholders (2,209)

Group’s share of net assets acquired 2,602

Add: Goodwill arising on acquisition 1,���

Less: Pre-acquisition investment in OGK-� (refer to note 28) (�,���)

Total cost of acquisition 612

Consideration per public offer (�11)

Direct transaction costs (1)

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

Consideration and direct transaction costs paid in cash (�12)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 1,�2�

Net cash inflow on acquisition 812
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Acquisition of controlling interest in OGK-� was achieved in 
stages. Cost of acquisition and fair value of OGK-�’s identifi-
able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities and goodwill 
that arose at each stage are presented in the table below:

DATE Of TRANsAcTiON OwNERshiP fAiR vALUE Of  
NET AssETs

cOsT Of  
AcqUisiTiON

GOODwiLL 

2� December 200� 1�.�0%  1,���  �00 1�� 

2� March 200� 0.2�%  1,��1  21 1� 

2� March 200� �2.0�%  �,�82 �,119  1,1�� 

� August 200� �.20%  �,811  �12 2�� 

Effect of translation to presentation currency n/a n/a  8� �2 

Total 54.10% n/a 4,236  1,646

At the date of acquisition of controlling interest by the Group, 
OGK-� did not prepare financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS. Thus it was not practicable to determine the carry-
ing amounts of the acquired assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities in accordance with IFRS immediately before the ac-
quisition, and this information was not presented in these con-
solidated financial statements.

OGK-� contributed USD �2� million of revenue, USD �8 million 
of profit before tax and USD �9 million of profit from the date of 
acquisition of controlling interest to �1 December 200�.

The goodwill that arose on the acquisition related to the pre-
mium paid for control over OGK-�.

iNcREAsE Of OwNERshiP iN sUBsiDiARiEs DURiNG 2007

LionOre mining international Limited

In July-August 200�, the Group acquired an additional 9.�% 
interest in LionOre for a cash consideration of USD ��� million 
through a number of transactions with minority shareholders, 
increasing its ownership in this company to 100%. As a result 
of this transaction, the Group recognised a decrease in net as-
sets attributable to minority shareholders of USD ��� million, 
and goodwill of USD 209 million.

In July-August 200�, the holders of LionOre convertible notes 
exercised their right to convert notes into 2�.� million common 
shares. All these shares were acquired by the Group for a cash 
consideration of USD �1� million. In the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended �1 December 200� acquisition 
of additional shares was accounted for as a settlement of bor-
rowings acquired on the initial acquisition of controlling interest 
in LionOre. 

In August 200�, in accordance with the terms of stock option 
and share compensation plan LionOre issued additional 1.� 
million shares and granted them to key employees and direc-
tors. In August 200�, the Group acquired all those shares for 
a cash consideration of USD �� million. In the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended �1 December 200� 
acquisition of additional shares was accounted for as a settle-
ment of stock option liabilities acquired on the initial acquisition 
of controlling interest in LionOre. 

Ojsc “Third Generation company of the wholesale Electric-
ity market”

In August-September 200�, the Group acquired an additional 
8,��� million shares of OGK-� for a cash consideration of USD 
929 million, increasing its ownership to ��.2%. As a result 
of this transaction, the Group recognised a decrease in net 
assets attributable to minority interest in the amount of USD 
�29 million and increase in goodwill in the amount of USD �00 
million.

Ojsc “Norilsko-Taimyrskaya Energeticheskaya kompaniya”

On � May 200�, the Group acquired an additional �9% interest 
in OJSC “Norilsko-Taimyrskaya Energeticheskaya Kompaniya” 
(“NTEK”) for a cash consideration of USD 1 million, increasing 
its ownership in the company to 100%. The carrying value of 
NTEK net assets at the date of increase of ownership was USD 
20 million. As a result of this transaction, the Group recognised 
a decrease in net assets attributable to minority interest of 
USD 10 million. Excess of the Group’s share in fair value of 
net assets acquired over consideration paid in the amount 
of USD 9 million was recognised in the consolidated income 
statement.
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7. sEGmENTAL iNfORmATiON

BUsiNEss sEGmENTs – PRimARy REPORTiNG fORmAT

AT AND fOR ThE yEAR ENDED 
31 DEcEmBER 2008

miNiNG AND 
mETALLURGy

ENERGy  
AND UTiLiTiEs

TRANsPORT  
AND LOGisTics

OThER ELimiNATiONs TOTAL 

Third party transactions 11,88� 1,�9� �1� 8� – 13,980

Intra-segment transactions � ��� �9� ��� (1,�98) –

Total revenue 11,891 2,159 710 818 (1,598) 13,980

Operating profit/(loss) 9� (12�) (28) (1�0) – (199)

Share of losses of associates (1��) (12�) – – – (272)

(Loss)/profit before income tax (�21) 22� (�2) (1��) – (273)

Income tax expense (282)

Loss for the year (555)

Assets and liabilities

Investments in associates 2�� ��8 – – – 951

Segment assets 11,0�0 �,202 1,��8 �8� – 19,274

Intra-segment assets and eliminations 2,��� �9 �9 1�� (2,82�) –

Total segment assets 13,857 6,949 1,727 519 (2,827) 20,225

Segment liabilities �,90� 18� �� 12� – 8,293

Intra-segment liabilities and eliminations 2�0 1�8 2,2�0 1�9 (2,82�) –

Total segment liabilities 8,174 325 2,316 305 (2,82�) 8,293

Other segment information

Capital expenditures 1,�1� �1� ��� ��� – 2,526

Amortisation and depreciation 99� 2�� �2 �9 – 1,311

Impairment of non-financial assets �,��2 1�� 1� � – 4,728

Other non-cash expenses ��8 2�� 2� � – 672

Third party transactions 1�,9�9 �89 298 �� – 17,119

Intra-segment transactions � ��8 2�9 ��� (1,19�) –

Total revenue 15,964 1,137 567 647 (1,196) 17,119

Operating profit/(loss) 8,291 (���) (1�) (101) – 7,437

Share of profits of associates �� �� – – – 76

Profit/(loss) before income tax 8,��0 (�10) (2�) (102) – 7,735

Income tax expense (2,459)

Profit for the year 5,276

Assets and liabilities

Investments in associates ��� �0� – – – 879

Segment assets 22,902 10,1�� 1,092 ��� – 34,584

Intra-segment assets and eliminations 1,��� 2� 9 118 (1,90�) –

Total segment assets 25,230 10,476 1,101 563 (1,907) 35,463
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AT AND fOR ThE yEAR ENDED 
31 DEcEmBER 2008

miNiNG AND 
mETALLURGy

ENERGy  
AND UTiLiTiEs

TRANsPORT  
AND LOGisTics

OThER ELimiNATiONs TOTAL 

Segment liabilities 10,��1 1�1 9� 11� – 10,712

Intra-segment liabilities and eliminations 1�� 1�8 1,��8 1�8 (1,90�) –

Total segment liabilities 10,484 319 1,541 275 (1,907) 10,712

other segment information

Capital expenditures ��� 8� 21 ��0 – 1,209

Amortisation and depreciation ��8 129 22 �� – 955

Impairment of non-financial assets 1,08� ��� 2� 1� – 1,879

Other non-cash expenses 18 – � 12 – 34

Geographical segments – secondary reporting format

sEGmENT AssETs sEGmENT LiABiLiTiEs cAPiTAL ExPENDiTUREs

 
31/12/2008

 
31/12/2007

 
31/12/2008

 
31/12/2007

yEAR ENDED 
31/12/2008

yEAR ENDED 
31/12/2007

Russian Federation 1�,22� 2�,��0 8,02� 8,�0� 1,98� 91�

Europe 2,��� �,��2 1,0�� 2,299 �0 11

North America 80� 9�� �2� 8�1 10 2�

Africa �99 �,�8� 1�� 1�8 ��� 192

Australia ��9 �,�8� �02 ��� 11� �8

Asia 2� �� 20 �� – –

21,824 37,173 9,892 12,422 2,526 1,209

Eliminations (1,�99) (1,�10) (1,�99) (1,�10) – –

Total 20,225 35,463 8,293 10,712 2,526 1,209

Other segmental information

Metal sales by geographical location of the Group’s custom-
ers are presented in the note 8. Other sales of the Group were 
made primarily on the territory of the Russian Federation. 

Intra-segment sales of electricity, heat energy and telecom-
munication services were made at the prices established by 
the Federal Utility Committee and Federal Tariff Service, gov-
ernment regulators responsible for establishing and monitor-
ing prices of the Russian utility and telecommunication mar-
kets respectively.

Intra-segment sales of construction, transportation, repair and 
other services were made at prices equivalent to budgeted 
cost of services, generally determined based on Russian ac-
counting standards, plus a margin varying from 1% to 2�%.

Intra-segment loans were given at rates varying from �.�% to 
�.�% for RUR-denominated loans and �.�% for USD-denomi-
nated loans.
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8. mETAL sALEs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 TOTAL NickEL cOPPER PALLADiUm PLATiNUm GOLD

By origin

Russian Federation 9,801 �,9�2 2,�91 1,020 1,02� 11�

United States of America 647 9 � 2�0 �8� 8

Europe 588 �11 1�� 12 – –

Australia 440 ��� � – – –

Africa 323 2�� �0 10 9 1

11,799 6,081 2,893 1,282 1,420 123

By destination

Europe 5,989 �,821 1,�02 2�� �02 10

North America 2,204 �8� 22 �0� ��� �0

Asia 1,999 1,22� 2�1 28� 2�� –

Russian Federation 1,444 9� 1,0�� �8 22� ��

Australia 152 1�8 � – – –

South America 6 � – – – –

Africa 5 � 1 – – –

11,799 6,081 2,893 1,282 1,420 123

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

By origin

Russian Federation 14,054 8,9�� 2,89� 1,09� 1,00� 10�

Europe 820 ��� �0 1� – –

United States of America 509 20 � 21� 2�� �

Australia 387 ��� 1 – – ��

Africa 139 110 20 � � 1

15,909 10,216 2,948 1,325 1,272 148

By destination

Europe 9,968 �,9�� 2,209 ��� �2� 1�

Asia 2,248 1,��� � 2�� 2�� –

North America 2,237 1,0�9 20 ��2 �2� �9

Russian Federation 1,327 ��1 �1� �� 1�� ��

Australia 108 �� 1 – – ��

South America 13 1� – – – –

Africa 8 � 1 – – –

15,909 10,216 2,948 1,325 1,272 148

9. OThER sALEs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Energy and utilities 1,�9� �89

Transport and logistics �1� 298

Other 1�2 12�

Total 2,181 1,210
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10. cOsT Of mETAL sALEs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Cash operating costs

On-mine and concentrating costs (refer to note 11) 2,��8 2,0�1

Smelting costs (refer to note 12) 1,��1 1,1��

Treatment and refining costs (refer to note 1�) 1,08� 1,1�8

Other costs (refer to note 1�) �11 �9�

Sales of by-products (1,12�) (1,119)

Total cash operating costs 4,410 3,817

Amortisation and depreciation of operating assets (refer to note 1�) 1,0�9 82�

Decrease in metal inventories 2� �8

Total 5,504 4,719

11. ON-miNE AND cONcENTRATiNG cOsTs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Labour 1,002 9�2

Consumables and spares ��� ���

Outsourced mining services 22� ��

Repairs and maintenance 1�� 1��

Transportation 91 �9

Utilities �9 �0

Rent expenses �� �1

Insurance �� �8

Tailing pile maintenance and relocation �� �8

Sundry �� �9

Total (refer to note 10) 2,478 2,031

12. smELTiNG cOsTs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Platinum group scrap metals purchased �1� �10

Labour �81 ��8

Consumables and spares �2� 2�1

Repairs and maintenance �1 ��

Insurance �8 �9

Utilities �8 �0

External tolling �0 2�

Purchase of nickel concentrate 2� –

Transportation 21 18

Rent expenses � �

Sundry 19 11

Total (refer to note 10) 1,361 1,143
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13. TREATmENT AND REfiNiNG cOsTs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Purchase of nickel concentrate �0� ��8

Labour 2�� 2�0

Consumables and spares 20� 1��

Tolling fees 122 1��

Utilities �8 ��

Transportation �0 1�

Repairs and maintenance �� �2

Insurance 1� 20

Rent expenses 2 �

Sundry 2� 1�

Total (refer to note 10) 1,084 1,168

14. OThER cOsTs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Tax on mining and pollution levies 191 1�0

Cost of refined metals purchased from third parties 1�� 128

Transportation 12� 1�9

Exploration expenses 101 11�

Other 19 2�

Total (refer to note 10) 611 594

15. AmORTisATiON AND DEPREciATiON Of OPERATiNG AssETs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Mining and concentrating 8�9 �0�

Smelting 1�9 1��

Treatment and refining �� ��

Other 2� 1�

Total (refer to note 10) 1,069 824
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16. cOsT Of OThER sALEs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Consumables and spares 900 �0�

Labour �0� 22�

Utilities �8� 19�

Amortisation and depreciation 180 81

Repair and maintenance 88 �8

Transportation �1 2�

Taxes �1 29

Outsourced third party services 2� 1

Rent expenses 18 1�

Insurance � �

Other 8 2�

Total 2,122 1,163

17. sELLiNG AND DisTRiBUTiON ExPENsEs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Export customs duties �2� ���

Transportation expenses �2 �1

Labour 2� 2�

Commission paid 1� 1�

Insurance 8 �

Other � 9

Total 524 730

18. GENERAL AND ADmiNisTRATivE ExPENsEs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Labour ��� ���

Taxes other than mining and income taxes and pollution levies 11� 90

Consulting and other professional services �� �8

Advertising �� 102

Legal and audit services �� 2�

Depreciation 29 �2

Transportation expenses 21 21

External research costs 19 18

Repairs and maintenance 19 18

Insurance 1� 12

Other 12� 9�

Total 1,071 894
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19. imPAiRmENT Of NON-fiNANciAL AssETs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (refer to note 2�) 2,��� 800

Impairment of goodwill (refer to note 2�) 1,��1 1,0�9

Impairment of intangible assets (refer to note 2�) �91 –

Total 4,728 1,879

imPAiRmENT TEsT AT 31 DEcEmBER 2008

At �1 December 2008, the Group conducted annual impair-
ment review of property, plant and equipment, goodwill and 
intangible assets.

OGk-3

For the purpose of impairment test management of the Group 
measured value-in-use of OGK-� assets based on the dis-
counted cash flows expected to be generated by the individual 
cash-generating units, which are individual power generating 
facilities.

Cash flows were projected up to the year 2028 (expected 
remaining weighted average useful life of property, plant and 
equipment) based on the following assumptions.

Prices for electricity. Management of the Group forecasted 
regulated tariffs and non-regulated (market) prices for elec-
tricity. Forecast of regulated tariffs was made using the 2009 
prices approved by the Federal Tariff Service (“FTS”) adjusted 
for inflation. Expected increase of market prices for electric-
ity was based on the principle of fixed margin using fuel price 
forecasts. Heat tariff price forecast was based upon the an-
nounced government policy on indexation utilities tariff. 

Proportion of regulated and market sales varied from 2�% 
(during the year 2009) to 9�% (from the year 2011 and later) 
and was in line with the proportion of competitive and regu-
lated energy markets in accordance with the government De-
cree No. 20�. Output forecasts were based on historical level 
of annual load factor.

Natural gas price forecast assumed equal margins for domes-
tic and export sales of natural gas in accordance with the deci-
sions of the FTS. The long-term price forecasts for natural gas 
covered � years, were based on the management’s experi-
ence of the natural gas market and were within the range of ex-
ternal market forecasts. Thereafter management’s estimates 
of tariffs increases were in line with expected inflation.

Inflation indices were consistent with external sources of infor-
mation and varied from �% to 11% per annum.

Discount rate reflects management’s assessment of the risks 
specific to the utility business in the Russian Federation. Pre-
tax rate varied from 1�.�% to 19.8%.

Management of the Group identified that value-in-use of sev-
eral individual power generating facilities is lower than the car-
rying value of their property, plant and equipment. Accordingly, 
an impairment loss of USD 1�� million was recognised by the 
Group in respect of property, plant and equipment attributable 
to OGK-� at �1 December 2008.

No impairment was recognised with regard to goodwill which 
was not allocated to any individual power generating facilities.

Norilsk Nickel international

Value-in-use of Norilsk Nickel International (“NNI”) assets con-
sisted of the production assets of Harjavalta Nickel Oy, Cawse 
Proprietary Limited and LionOre Mining International Limited, 
was measured based on discounted cash flows expected to be 
generated by separate cash-generating units, being individual 
mines, smelting and refining operations. Cash flows were pro-
jected up to expected closure dates of mining and metallurgy 
operations and were based on the following assumptions.

Commodity price forecasts for nickel, copper and other metals 
were based on management’s experience of the specific com-
modities markets and were within the range of external market 
forecasts.

Economically recoverable reserves and resources were primar-
ily based on external mining engineers reports available at the 
date of impairment test or nearest date when appropriate evalu-
ation work was undertaken.

Inflation indices and foreign currency trends were in general 
consistent with external sources of information.
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inflation, %

Botswana �.99 – 10.�0

Australia 2.�� – �.�2

Exchange rates

Botswana Pula/US Dollar �.�� – �.90

Australian Dollar/US Dollar 1.�� – 1.��

Discount rates reflect management’s assessment of the risks 
specific to each production unit. These rates were based on 
the weighted average cost of capital specific to each cash-
generating unit.

Discount rates, %

Botswana 10.�0

Australia 9.�0

As a result of the impairment test at �1 December 2008 prop-
erty, plant and equipment and goodwill of Norilsk Nickel Inter-
national were impaired in the amount of USD 2,�81 million and 
USD 1,��1 million, respectively (refer to note 2� and 2�).

At �1 December 2008, included in intangible assets was the 
right to use a unique refining technology registered under the 
trade mark Activox with carrying value of USD 8� million, after 
recognition of impairment loss of USD �90 million (refer to 
note 2�).

Other

Additional impairment loss in respect of property, plant and 
equipment in the amount of USD 28 million was attributable 
to greater than expected wear and tear and suspended con-
struction projects.

imPAiRmENT TEsT AT 31 DEcEmBER 2007

At �1 December 200�, the Group conducted annual impair-
ment review of goodwill, property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets.

OGk-3

Recoverable amount of goodwill attributable to OGK-� was 
determined based on the market value of OGK-� shares at �1 
December 200� less cost to sell. As a result of the test, an im-
pairment loss in respect of goodwill in the amount of USD ��� 
million was recognised (refer to note 2�).

LionOre

For the purpose of impairment loss assessment management 
of the Group measured value-in-use of LionOre Group and its 
subsidiaries based on cash flows expected to be generated by 
cash-generating units, being the individual mines, smelting and 
refining operations.

Cash flows were projected up to expected closure date of min-
ing and metallurgy operations and were based on the assump-
tions presented below.

Commodity price forecasts for nickel, copper and other metals 
represented management’s estimates based on their experi-
ence on the specific commodities markets as at the date of the 
impairment test, and were within the range of external market 
forecasts but were slightly higher than the calculated market 
average prevailing at the time.

Economically recoverable reserves and resources were pri-
marily based on external mining engineers reports available on 
the date of impairment test or nearest date when appropriate 
evaluation work was undertaken.

Inflation indices and foreign currency trends were in general 
consistent with external sources of information and are pre-
sented as follows:

inflation, %

Botswana �.00 – 8.10

Australia �.�0 – �.�0

Expected exchange rates

Botswana Pula/US Dollar �.1� – 10.��

Australian Dollar/US Dollar 1.1� – 1.28

Discount rates reflected management’s assessment of the 
risks specific to each production unit. These rates were based 
on the weighted average cost of capital specific to each cash-
generating unit and presented as follows:

Discount rates, %

Botswana 10.�0

Australia �.8�

Impairment test in respect of goodwill attributable to LionOre 
was based on the assumptions used in the valuation of identifi-
able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of LionOre and 
its subsidiaries performed by independent qualified appraiser 
at 28 June 200�, the date of the acquisition.



2�0 | MMC Norilsk Nickel | Annual Report 2008

Subsequent to acquisition of LionOre, an extensive feasibility 
review of the Activox Refinery Project at Tati Nickel, a subsidiary 
of LionOre, was conducted by management of the Group and 
an independent third party. The review highlighted a substan-
tial project cost escalation from the feasibility study conducted 
by the previous owners. The major contributing factors to the 
substantial cost escalation were:

an increase in construction and equipment cost world-
wide; and
project management cost worldwide. 

In addition, short-term energy capacity constraints being ex-
perienced in Southern Africa region have been assessed as 
a risk that would have adversely affected the commissioning 
time to production and the overall economics of the Activox 
Refinery Project. 

Based on these facts and circumstances management of the 
Group made a decision to postpone the project indefinitely. As 
a result, at �1 December 200� mineral rights presented within 
mining assets and goodwill recognised on acquisition of Li-

•

•

onOre were impaired in the amounts of USD ��� million and 
USD �2� million, respectively (refer to note 2� and 2�).

LLc “Norilsk-Telecom”

On 2 November 200�, management of the Group made a 
decision to dispose of LLC “Norilsk-Telecom” (“Norilsk-Tele-
com”) and its subsidiaries. Accordingly, in the accompany-
ing consolidated financial statements associated assets and 
liabilities of Norilsk-Telecom were presented as held for sale 
(refer to note ��). The difference between the carrying value 
of Norilsk-Telecom’s net assets at �1 December 200� and the 
expected proceeds from disposal in the amount of USD 1� mil-
lion was recognised as an impairment of property, plant and 
equipment.

Other

At �1 December 200� the Group recognised additional im-
pairment loss of USD 20 million in respect of property, plant 
and equipment attributable to the greater than expected wear 
and tear and suspended construction projects.

20. OThER NET OPERATiNG ExPENsEs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Donations and maintenance of social sphere facilities 108 1�8

Change in provision for value added tax recoverable 8� 1�9

Change in provision for onerous contracts �1 –

Change in allowance for doubtful debts �2 (8)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2� 2�

Loss on disposal of investments in subsidiaries � 18

Change in provision for tax penalties (�2) 29

Other 1� �

Total 274 375

21. fiNANcE cOsTs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Interest expense on borrowings ��2 280

Unwinding of discount on environmental obligations (refer to note �2) �� 2�

Interest on obligations under finance leases 9 �

Interest on convertible notes � 1

Total 397 307
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22. iNcOmE fROm iNvEsTmENTs, NET

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

income/(loss) from available-for-sale investments

Realised gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments 118 –

Interest income on available-for-sale investments �� �

Dividend income on available-for-sale investments – �

Impairment of available-for-sale investments (2�9) (2�)

income/(loss) from held-to-maturity investments

Interest income on promissory notes receivable � 9

Impairment of promissory notes (�) –

income/(loss) from loans given and long-term accounts receivable

Interest income on bank deposits ��0 222

Interest income on loans given and long-term accounts receivable 9 9

Impairment of loans advanced (91) (18)

Income on disposal of investments in associates 8 �

Other � 1

Total 274 217

23. fOREiGN ExchANGE (LOss)/GAiN, NET

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) on operating activities, net ��8 (9�)

Revaluation of bank deposits and other financial assets, net 100 (82)

Revaluation of borrowings, net (1,1��) �2�

Total (397) 146

24. iNcOmE TAx ExPENsE

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Current income tax

Current income tax charge on profit for the year 1,�28 2,��0

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years (�) (8)

Total current income tax expense 1,423 2,622

Deferred income tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,08�) (18�)

Impact of change in income tax rate in the Russian Federation (1�9) –

Unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax 
assets

�8 2�

Recycled from equity to income 1� –

Total deferred tax benefit (1,141) (163)

Total 282 2,459
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A reconciliation of statutory income tax, calculated at the rate 
effective in the Russian Federation, the location of major pro-
duction assets of the Group, to the amount of actual income 
tax expense recorded in the consolidated income statement 
is as follows:

Deferred income tax

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Balance at beginning of the year 2,652 881

Benefit recognised during the year (1,002) (1��)

Impact of change in income tax rate in the Russian Federation (1�9) –

Revaluation of available-for-sale investments (�98) 1�9

Recycled from equity on disposal of investments classified as available-for-sale (1�) –

Effect of change in classification of available-for-sale investments to investments in 
associates due to increase of ownership

– (��) 

Acquisition of subsidiaries (refer to note �) � 1,�8�

Disposal of subsidiaries (refer to note ��) – (1�)

Hedging reserve – (�)

Effect of translation to presentation currency (�10) 9�

Balance at end of the year 693 2,652

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

(Loss)/profit before tax (273) 7,735

Income tax at statutory rate of 2�% (��) 1,8��

Impact of change in income tax rate in the Russian Federation (1�9) –

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (1) 1�

Tax effect of permanent differences 11� 28�

Tax effect of impairment of goodwill 2�8 2�9

Tax effect of impairment of investments in associates �� –

Tax effect of excess of the Group’s share in the fair value of net assets acquired 
over the cost of acquisition

(1�2) (�0)

Tax effect of change in provisions for tax penalties and recoverable amount of 
value added tax 

� ��

Deferred tax asset not recognised on impairment of financial assets 91 �

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years (�) (8)

Taxable losses of subsidiaries not carried forward �1 21

Effect of unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as deferred tax assets �8 2�

Total 282 2,459

During the year ended �1 December 2008, as a result of a 
change in income tax rate in the Russian Federation from 
2�% to 20% that was substantially enacted on 2� November 
2008 and effective from 1 January 2009, deferred tax 
balances of the Company and all Group’s subsidiaries 

operating on the territory of the Russian Federation were 
remeasured.

The corporate income tax rates in other countries where the 
Group has a taxable presence vary from 0% to �9%.
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The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to de-
ferred taxation is presented below:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Property, plant and equipment ��9 2,0�9

Intangible assets 2� 22�

Accrued operating expenses (9�) (111)

Valuation of receivables (��) (9)

Unrealised profit on intra-group transactions (2) (��)

Inventory valuation 2� 11

Valuation of investments 8 ���

Income tax loss carried forward (9�) (99)

Provision for tax losses and tax offsets recognised as deferred tax assets 1�2 1��

Other (��) (�2)

Total 693 2,652

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Deferred tax 

balances (after offset) presented in the consolidated balance 
sheet were as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Deferred tax liabilities �2� 2,��1

Deferred tax assets (�0) (89)

Net deferred tax liabilities 693 2,652

At �1 December 2008, the unutilised tax losses of the North 
American operations, which were available for offset against 
future taxable income earned in the United States of America 
in the amount of USD ��� million (200�: USD ��9 million), were 
not recognised as a deferred tax asset.

The Group did not recognise a deferred tax liability in respect 
of taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries of USD 29� million (200�: USD 1,�1� million), 
because management believes that it is in a position to control 
the timing of reversal of such differences and has no intention 
to reverse them in the foreseeable future.
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25. PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUiPmENT

miNiNG AssETs 
 
 
 

NON-miNiNG AssETs TOTAL 
 
 BUiLDiNGs, 

sTRUcTUREs
AND UTiLiTiEs

mAchiNERy, 
EqUiPmENT AND 

TRANsPORT
OThER

cAPiTAL 
cONsTRUcTiON-iN-

PROGREss

Cost

Balance at  
31 December 2006

4,175 3,206 2,343 161 904 10,789

Additions ��0 – – – ��� 1,163

Transfers – 91 ��2 �� (��8) –

Decommissioning asset 
raised (refer to note �2)

8� � – – – 89

Acquired on acquisition of 
subsidiaries (refer to note �)

�,221 8�� 1,�9� �� 21� 6,836

Disposed of on disposal of 
subsidiaries (refer to note ��)

– (81) (2) – (1) (84)

Disposals (�9) (�2) (10�) (�) (��) (227)

Reclassified as held for sale 
(refer to note ��)

– (1�) (�0) – (�) (69)

Effect of translation to 
presentation currency

�2� 2�� 211 � �� 935

Balance at  
31 December 2007

9,386 4,265 4,242 248 1,291 19,432

Additions 828 – – – 1,��� 2,463

Transfers – 1�� 8�� �� (1,0��) –

Decommissioning asset 
raised (refer to note �2)

�0 1 – – – 51

Acquired on acquisition of 
subsidiaries (refer to note �)

– 2� – – – 24

Disposed of on disposal 
of subsidiaries 

– – (8) – – (8)

Disposals (80) (��) (�9) (�) (��) (20�)

Reclassified as held for sale 
(refer to note ��)

– – – – (�1) (�1)

Effect of translation to 
presentation currency

(1,���) (�0�) (8��) (�2) (29�) (�,���)

Balance at  
31 December 2008

8,428 3,703 4,193 230 1,517 18,071

Accumulated 
amortisation, depreciation 
and impairment

Balance at  
 31 December 2006

(933) (883) (783) (34) (81) (2,714)

Charge for the year (�9�) (201) (299) (2�) – (918)

Disposed of on disposal of 
subsidiaries (refer to note ��) 

– 10 1 – – 11

Eliminated on disposals �� 1� �9 2 2� 114
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miNiNG AssETs 
 
 
 

NON-miNiNG AssETs TOTAL 
 
 BUiLDiNGs, 

sTRUcTUREs
AND UTiLiTiEs

mAchiNERy, 
EqUiPmENT AND 

TRANsPORT
OThER

cAPiTAL 
cONsTRUcTiON-iN-

PROGREss

Impairment loss  
(refer to note 19)

(���) (10) (1�) – (8) (800)

Reclassified as held for sale 
(refer to note ��)

– � �0 – – 34

Effect of translation to 
presentation currency

(��) (��) (��) (2) (12) (178)

Balance at  
31 December 2007

(2,122) (1,110) (1,086) (58) (75) (4,451)

Charge for the year (��2) (2�0) (��9) (�2) – (1,273)

Disposed of on disposal of 
subsidiaries 

– – � – – 3

Eliminated on disposals 2� 20 29 2 1� 90

Impairment loss  
(refer to note 19)

(2,2��) (81) (198) (�1) (81) (2,666)

Reclassified as held for sale 
(refer to note ��)

– – – – 28 28

Effect of translation to 
presentation currency

�18 21� 2�2 21 9 935

Balance at  
31 December 2008

(4,516) (1,186) (1,419) (108) (105) (7,334)

Carrying value

31 December 2007 7,264 3,155 3,156 190 1,216 14,981

31 December 2008 3,912 2,517 2,774 122 1,412 10,737

26. GOODwiLL

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year 4,439 25

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries (refer to note �) 80 �,2��

Effect of translation to presentation currency (82�) 1�8

Balance at end of the year 3,695 4,439

Accumulated impairment

Balance at beginning of the year (1,0�9) –

Impairment loss (refer to note 19) (1,��1) (1,0�9)

Effect of translation to presentation currency 190 –

Balance at end of the year (2,460) (1,079)

Carrying value

Balance at beginning of the year 3,360 25

Balance at end of the year 1,235 3,360
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Allocation of goodwill to separate cash-generating units

For the purpose of the annual impairment test the carrying 
value of goodwill was allocated to the following segments and 
smallest individual cash-generating units within respective 
segments:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Mining and metallurgy segment

LionOre – Botswana operations 1,��2 1,�91

LionOre – Australia operations ��8 �9�

Total allocated to mining and metallurgy segment 1,830 2,287

Energy and utilities segment

OGK-� 1,8�� 2,12�

Taimyrenergo 9 11

Total allocated to energy and utilities segment 1,852 2,136

Total allocated to transport and logistics segment 13 16

Total 3,695 4,439

At �1 December 2008 management reviewed carrying value 
of goodwill for impairment. As a result, impairment loss in the 
amount of USD 1,��1 million (200�: USD 1,0�9 million) was 
recognised (refer to note 19).

27. iNTANGiBLE AssETs

PATENTs 
AND 

LicENcEs

LONG-TERm 
fAvOURABLE 
cONTRAcTs

sOfTwARE 
 

OThER 
 

TOTAL 
 

Cost

Balance at 31 December 2006 7 103 46 16 172

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries  
(refer to note �)

�0� – 2 1 709

Additions 2 – 21 2� 46

Reclassified as held for sale – – (2) – (2)

Disposals – – (2) (1) (3)

Effect of translation to presentation currency 22 – � � 29

Balance at 31 December 2007 737 103 69 42 951

Additions � – �� 2� 63

Disposals – – (2) (10) (12)

Effect of translation to presentation currency (1��) – (1�) (9) (183)

Balance at 31 December 2008 585 103 85 46 819
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PATENTs 
AND 

LicENcEs

LONG-TERm 
fAvOURABLE 
cONTRAcTs

sOfTwARE 
 

OThER 
 

TOTAL 
 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Balance at 31 December 2006 (6) (44) (9) (6) (65)

Charge for the year (2) (1�) (1�) (8) (37)

Eliminated on disposals – – 2 – 2

Effect of translation to presentation currency – – (1) (1) (2)

Balance at 31 December 2007 (8) (58) (21) (15) (102)

Charge for the year (�) (12) (1�) (10) (38)

Impairment loss (refer to note 19) (�90) – (1) – (491)

Eliminated on disposals – – 2 9 11

Effect of translation to presentation currency � – � 1 10

Balance at 31 December 2008 (498) (70) (27) (15) (610)

Carrying value

31 December 2007 729 45 48 27 849

31 December 2008 87 33 58 31 209

Included in patents and licenses acquired in 200� is the right 
to use a unique refining technology registered under the trade 
mark Activox, owned by LionOre, a subsidiary of the Group. 
Fair value of the right was determined by an independent 
professional appraiser on 28 June 200�, the date of the 
acquisition of LionOre business, and amounted to USD �0� 
million. Activox is regarded as having an indefinite useful life 
because, based on an analysis of all the relevant factors, there 
is no foreseeable limit to the period during which this asset is 
expected to generate net cash flows. This right is not amortised 

and reviewed for impairment annually. At �1 December 
2008 management reviewed the carrying value of 
Activox for impairment. As a result, impairment loss 
in the amount of USD �90 million was recognised 
(refer to note 19) and carrying value of the right at �1 
December 2008 amounted to USD 8� million.

Intangible assets included long-term favourable 
sales contracts that are amortised over their terms of 
� years. 

28. iNvEsTmENTs iN AssOciATEs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Balance at beginning of the year 8�9 208

Acquired during the year ��0 �,298

Contribution into equity of the associate during the year 1� –

Share of post-acquisition profits 11 �

Established during the year – 28

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries (refer to note �) – �80

Disposed of during the year – (1)

Reclassified from investments available-for-sale due to increase of ownership – �2�

Reclassified to investments available-for-sale due to decrease of ownership (�9) (�)

Reclassified to investment in subsidiaries due to increase of ownership – (�,8�2)

Excess of the Group’s share in the fair value of associates’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities over the cost of acquisition

– �2

Dividends received (11) (20)

Impairment loss (28�) (1)

Effect of translation to presentation currency (2�0) 118

Balance at end of the year 9�1 8�9
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Details of the Group’s associates were as follows:

NAmE Of AssOciATE mARkET vALUE cARRyiNG vALUE 
Of iNvEsTmENT

TOTAL
AssETs

TOTAL  
LiABiLiTiEs

REvENUE PROfiT/
(LOss)

31/12/2008

RUSIA Petroleum (i) n/a �11 2,��1 �9� – (�)

Nkomati Nickel Mine (ii) n/a 2�� �99 �� 102 �0

Plug Power Incorporated (iii) �� �� 21� 8� – –

Smart Hydrogen Incorporated (iii) n/a �� 8� – – (�)

OJSC “TGK-1�” (iv) �1 29 1�9 �� 22� (2�)

OJSC “KTK” (ix) n/a 2� �0 – – �

OJSC “Norilskgazprom” n/a 2� 118 �0 1�9 �

951 3,778 737 484 30

31/12/2007

Nkomati Nickel Mine (vii) n/a ��� 1,190 �0 �8 (11)

Smart Hydrogen Incorporated (iii) n/a 111 222 – – –

OJSC “TGK-1�” (viii) �� �8 2�9 �� 19� (�)

OJSC “Krasnoyarskenergo” (v) 1�0 �0 21� �0 2�9 �1

OJSC “Norilskgazprom”  n/a �� 1�8 �9 1�� �

OJSC “KTK” (ix) n/a 28 �� – – –

OJSC “Kolenergo” (vi) �0 1� 9� 29 10� �

Other n/a 1� �� � ��� (�)

879 2,271 244 1,112 21

mOvEmENTs DURiNG ThE yEAR ENDED  
31 DEcEmBER 2008

(i) RUSiA Petroleum. On 20 October 2008, OGK-�, a sub-
sidiary of the Group, acquired 2�% of RUSIA Petroleum for a 
cash consideration of USD ��� million. At �1 December 2008 
management reviewed the carrying value of the Group’s invest-
ment in RUSIA Petroleum for impairment. As a result, no impair-
ment loss was identified.

(ii) Nkomati Nickel Mine. During October-December 2008, 
the Group made contributions into equity of Nkomati Nickel 
Mine in the amount of USD 1� million according to the terms of 
the partnership agreement between the joint venture parties.At 
�1 December 2008 management reviewed the carrying value 
of the Group’s investment in Nkomati Nickel Mine for impair-
ment. As a result, an impairment loss in the amount of USD 1�� 
million was recognised

(iii) Smart Hydrogen incorporated and Plug Power incor-
porated. Smart Hydrogen Incorporated is a joint venture formed 
in April 200� by the Group and Interros Holding Company, a re-
lated party. The Group owns �0% of the joint venture. In June 

200�, through this entity the principal investors acquired a ��% 
stake in Plug Power Incorporated, a US designer of environmen-
tally clean and reliable energy products. At 20 December 2008, 
Smart Hydrogen Incorporated disposed of its ��% ownership in 
Plug Power Incorporated to OGK-�, a subsidiary of the Group, 
for a cash consideration of USD �� million (refer to note ��).

At �1 December 2008 and 200� management reviewed the 
carrying value of the Group’s investment in Smart Hydrogen 
Incorporated. No impairment loss was identified (200�: USD 1 
million). 

At �1 December 2008 management reviewed the carrying value 
of the Group’s investment in Plug Power Incorporated for impair-
ment. As a result, impairment loss in the amount of USD �1 mil-
lion was recognised.

(iv) TGK-14. On 11 July 2008, the Group acquired 1�0,�02 
million additionally issued ordinary shares of OJSC “Territorial 
Generation Company No.  1�” (“TGK-1�”) for a cash consider-
ation of USD �1 million. After completion of this transaction the 
Group’s ownership in TGK-1� did not change.
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As a part of reorganisation of RAO “UES”, the Group obtained 
228 million ordinary shares of TGK-1� during July-October 
2008. As a result of these transactions, the Group became the 
owner of 0.0�% shares of TGK-1�.

At �1 December 2008 management reviewed the carrying 
value of the Group’s investment in TGK-1� for impairment. As a 
result, impairment loss in the amount of USD �� million (200�: 
USD nil) was recognised.

(v) Krasnoyarskenergo. On �1 March 2008, as a part of re-
organisation of RAO “UES”, the Group’s investments in OJSC 
“Krasnoyarskenergo” and OJSC “Tyvaenergoholding” were ex-
changed for �,��� million shares of OJSC “MRSK Sibiri”. At �1 
December 2008 investment in OJSC “MRSK Sibiri” was classi-
fied as available-for-sale (refer to note 29).

(vi) Kolenergo. On 1 April 2008, as a part of reorganisation of 
RAO “UES”, the Group’s investment in OJSC “Kolenergo” was 
exchanged for 2,��� million shares of OJSC “MRSK Severo-
Zapada”. At �1 December 2008 investment in OJSC “MRSK 
Severo-Zapada” was classified as available-for-sale (refer to 
note 29).

mOvEmENTs DURiNG ThE yEAR ENDED 31 DEcEmBER 2007

(vii) Nkomati Nickel Mine. On 28 June 200�, as a part of ac-
quisition of LionOre Mining International Limited (refer to note 
�), the Group acquired �0% of share capital of Nkomati Nickel 
Mine, a South African mining company.

(viii) TGK-14. On �0 January 200�, the Group acquired 21�,�12 
million ordinary shares or 2�.8% of the issued share capital of 
TGK-1� for a cash consideration of USD �� million. As a result 
of this transaction, the Group recognised in the consolidated in-
come statement the excess of its share in fair value of TGK-1� 
net assets over the cost of the investment in the amount of USD 
12 million. In August 200�, TGK-1� increased its share capital 
through the issuance of additional ordinary shares; as a result, 
the Group’s share in this company decreased to 2�.�%.

(ix) OJSC “KTK”. OJSC “KTK” is a joint venture established 
in December 200� for the purpose of power production. The 
Group contributed USD 28 million and became the owner of 
�0% of the issued share capital of this company.

(x) TGK-1. In May 200�, as a part of reorganisation of RAO 
“UES”, the Group’s investment in OJSC “Murmanskaya TEC” 
was exchanged for �,��� million shares of TGK-1. At �1 De-
cember 200� investment in TGK-1 was classified as available-
for-sale (refer to note 29).

(xi) MPi. On 1 March 200�, as a part of acquisition of nickel 
business of OM Group Incorporated, the Group acquired 20% 
of share capital of MPI Nickel Proprietary Limited for a cash 
consideration of USD 1�� million. As a result of this transac-
tion, the Group recognised in the consolidated income state-
ment the excess of its share in the fair value of MPI Nickel Pro-
prietary Limited net assets over the cost of the investment in 
the amount of USD �0 million.

On 28 June 200�, an additional 80% of share capital of MPI 
Nickel Proprietary Limited was acquired by the Group through 
the acquisition of LionOre (refer to note �).

(xii) OGK-3. On 2� March 200�, the Group acquired 1�,8�� 
million ordinary shares of OGK-� for a cash consideration of 
USD �,119 million. After completion of this transaction, the 
Group became the owner of ��.9% of OGK-�.During July-Au-
gust 200�, the Group acquired an additional �.2% of interest in 
OGK-� for a cash consideration of USD �12 million, increasing 
its ownership to ��.1% (refer to note �). After completion of this 
transaction OGK-� was consolidated.
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29. OThER fiNANciAL AssETs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Non-current

Available-for-sale investments, at fair value

Listed securities �11 2,�18

Unlisted securities 1 �

Held-to-maturity investments, at amortised cost

Promissory notes receivable 2� 12

Loans and receivables, at amortised cost

Bank deposits 11� �21

Loans given �1 19

Accounts receivable 22 �

Total non-current 523 2,982

Current

Available-for-sale investments, at fair value

Listed securities 19 11�

Promissory notes receivable – �18

Held-to-maturity investments, at amortised cost

Promissory notes receivable – ���

Loans and receivables, at amortised cost

Bank deposits 1,2�� 2,8�2

Loans given 2� 1�1

Total current 1,316 4,473

BANk DEPOsiTs

At �1 December 2008, short-term bank deposits in the amount 
of USD 1,2�� million (200�: USD 2,8�2 million) included notice 
deposits of USD �2� million (200�: USD 1,�10 million). The 
Group may withdraw cash from these deposits after bank 
notification. Notification period generally varies from � to 
�0 days.

Interest rates on long-term deposits held in banks varied from 
�.1% to �.�% (200�: �.1% to �.�%) per annum.

Interest rates on short-term deposits held in banks vary from 
9.0% to 10.�% (200�: �.0% to 8.�%) per annum.

Listed and unlisted securities available-for-sale consisted of 
shares of the following companies:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

OJSC “RusHydro” 10� –

OJSC “FSK UES” �9 –

OJSC “Holding MRSK” �� –

OJSC “TGK-1” 2� 281

Talvivaara Mining Company Limited 21 ��

U.S. Federal Agency notes 18 2�

OJSC “MRSK Sibiri” 18 –

OJSC “INTER RAO UES” 1� –
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31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Breakaway Resources Limited � 2�

OJSC “MRSK Severo-Zapada” � –

OJSC “RAO Energeticheskie systemy Vostoka” � –

OJSC “TGK-�” � 18

Canadian Royalties Incorporated 2 21

RAO “UES of Russia” – 1,88�

OJSC “OGK-�” – 10�

OJSC “Polyus Gold” – 89

OJSC “TGK-2” – 2

Other � 18

Total 331 2,540

AvAiLABLE-fOR-sALE iNvEsTmENTs iN LisTED sEcURiTiEs

OGK-5 and TGK-5. In September 200�, OJSC “Fifth Genera-
tion Company of the Wholesale Electricity Market” (“OGK-�”) 
and OJSC “Territorial Generation Company № �” (“TGK-�”) 
were spun-off from RAO “UES” as a part of its reorganisation. 
In accordance with the restructuring plan all shareholders of 
RAO “UES” received ordinary shares of OGK-� and TGK-� in 
proportion to their ownership RAO “UES”. As a result of the 
spin-off, the Group received �0� million ordinary shares of 
OGK-� and 20,0�� million ordinary shares of TGK-�.

On 8 February 2008, the Group sold its entire shareholding of 
�0� million ordinary shares in OGK-� for USD 109 million.

Polyus Gold. At �1 December 200�, current listed securities 
available-for-sale included an investment in OJSC “Polyus 
Gold” of USD 89 million. The classification was based on the 
decision of Board of Directors to sell this investment. On 1 April 
2008, the Group sold its stake in OJSC “Polyus Gold” for a 
cash consideration of USD 99 million.

RAO “UES” and other investments in utility companies. In 
July – October 2008, as a part of reorganisation of RAO “UES”, 
the Group received minority stakes in a number of generating 
companies of the wholesales electricity market (“OGKs”), ter-
ritorial generation companies (“TGKs”), interregional distribu-
tion grid companies (“MRSKs”), federal grid company (“FSK”) 
and other assets.

hELD-TO-mATURiTy iNvEsTmENTs

At �1 December 200�, promissory notes receivable included 
notes issued by OJSC “Rosbank” in the amount of USD ��� 
million due on 8 May 2008. The effective interest rate attribut-

able to these promissory notes was 8.�% per annum. These 
notes were redeemed at the maturity date.

LOANs GivEN

On �0 May 200�, the Group provided a loan to a related party 
(refer to note ��) amounting to USD �0 million and bearing in-
terest at LIBOR + 0.��% per annum. At �1 December 2008, 
the loan was secured by ��% of shares of Edgar Eclipse In-
corporated, a company holding a 99% interest in a property 
development business.

On 11 July 2008, the Group provided an additional loan to the 
same related party (refer to note ��) in the amount of USD �0 
million and bearing interest at LIBOR + 2.�% per annum. The 
loan is secured by 28.8�% of shares of Edgar Eclipse Incor-
porated. On � July 2008, a related party issued a guarantee in 
favour of the Group, which covers two of the loan agreements. 
On 11 February 2009, loan agreements terms were renego-
tiated; as a result the pledge and guarantee were cancelled 
and maturity dates were prolonged up to December 2012. Due 
to uncertainty regarding the recoverability of these loans they 
were fully impaired at �1 December 2008.

On �0 July 2008, the Group provided a loan to OJSC “Noril-
skgazprom”, an associate of the Group, in the amount of USD 
�9 million at interest rate of �.� % per annum and with a matu-
rity date at �0 July 2009. At �1 December 2008 the carrying 
value of the loan amounted to USD 21 million.

At �1 December 200�, short-term loans given included a loan 
to OJSC “Norilskgazprom” in the amount of USD 20 million at 
interest rate of �.�% per annum. The loan was repaid in full on 
�1 July 2008.



2�2 | MMC Norilsk Nickel | Annual Report 2008

On 1 October 2008, the Group provided a long-term loan 
to Mirabella Mineracao Do Brasil Ltda., in the amount of 
USD �0 million at a floating interest rate of LIBOR + �.�% 
per annum (effective rate �.9�%). The loan is to be repaid 
in equal monthly instalments from �0 September 2010 to �1 
December 2012.

At �1 December 200� promissory notes receivables com-
prised notes issued by OJSC “Sberbank” in the amount of USD 
�18 million. On 12 November 2008, these notes were fully re-
paid. The effective interest rate attributable to these promis-
sory notes was 8.��% per annum.

At �1 December 2008, short-term loans given include loans to 
several exploration companies, related parties of the Group, in 

the amount of USD 11 million (200�: USD �� million) at interest 
rates varying from �.�% to 8.�% per annum, due in 2009. Tak-
ing into account that majority of these operations are frozen or 
substantially decreased their activities, the Group recognised 
an impairment loss in the amount of USD 11 million (200�: USD 
nil) at �1 December 2008.

AccOUNTs REcEivABLE

During 2008, the Group renegotiated the terms of receivables 
in the amount of USD �� million for utility sales. Under the new 
terms they are repayable on a monthly basis by equal instal-
ments till 201�. At �1 December 2008, a portion of these re-
ceivables in the amount of USD 19 million repayable after 2009 
was classified as other non-current financial assets.

30. OThER TAxEs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Taxes receivable

Value added tax recoverable ��� �8�

Customs duties �� ��

Other taxes � 8

639 658

Less: Allowance for value added tax recoverable (�9) (��)

Total 600 623

Less: Non-current portion (�9) (�8)

Current taxes receivable 521 585

Taxes payable

Value added tax �� 28

Property tax 29 �1

Provision for tax fines and penalties 1� ��

Tax on mining 1� 1�

Unified social tax 1� 1�

Other �� �0

Total 171 197
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31. iNvENTORiEs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Refined metals

at net production cost ��2 �8�

at net realisable value 2� 19

By-products at net realisable value 91 190

Work-in-process

at net production cost �9� ��9

at net realisable value �� 11�

Total metal inventories 1,010 1,148

Stores and materials at cost 98� 98�

Less: Allowance for obsolete and slow-moving items (�8) (2�)

Net stores and materials 949 960

Total inventories 1,959 2,108

32. TRADE AND OThER REcEivABLEs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Trade receivables for metal sales �1� �1�

Other receivables 291 288

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (��) (�2)

Total 569 949

In 2008 and 200� the average credit period on metal sales var-
ied from 0 to �0 days. Trade receivables are generally non-in-
terest bearing. The Group has fully provided for all receivables 
which were due in excess of 180 days based on historical ex-
perience that such receivables are generally not recoverable. 
Trade receivables that are past due for less than 180 days are 
generally not provided for. 

The payment terms for Tati Nickel Mining Company Pty Lim-
ited (Botswana) are set out in the related ore and concentrate 
purchase agreements, which stipulate that payments are due 
within 1�0 days for base metals, and varies from 2�0 to �00 
days for precious metals. However for certain agreements, 
provisional amounts of �0% for nickel and 90% for other met-
als are receivable within �0 days.

The average credit period on sales of electricity and other 
products and services for the year ended �1 December 2008 
was 1� days (200�: 2� days). No interest was charged on these 
receivables. The Group has provided fully for all other receiv-
ables over ��� days based on historical experience that such 

receivables are generally not recoverable. Provision in respect 
of receivables that were less than ��� days old is determined 
based on past default experience.

The Group did not hold any collateral for accounts receivable 
balances.

Included in the Group’s other receivables at �1 December 
2008 were debtors with a carrying value of USD �� million 
(200�: USD �� million) that were past due but not impaired. 
Management of the Group believes that these amounts are 
recoverable in full. 



2�� | MMC Norilsk Nickel | Annual Report 2008

Ageing of other receivables past due but not impaired was as 
follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Less than 180 days �� ��

180–��� days 11 ��

More than ��� days – �

66 76

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts was as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Balance at beginning of the year 52 71

Change in allowance �1 (9)

Accounts receivable written-off (�8) (1�)

Reclassified to long-term accounts receivable (1�) –

Effect of translation to presentation currency (�) �

Balance at end of the year 35 52

Included in allowance for doubtful debts is a specific allowance 
against other receivables of USD 21 million (200�: USD 1� mil-
lion) from entities placed into bankruptcy. The allowance rep-
resents the difference between the carrying amount of these 

33. ADvANcEs PAiD AND PREPAiD ExPENsEs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Advances paid 91 1�1

Prepaid insurance 2� �2

Total 118 183

receivables and the present value of the expected proceeds 
on liquidation. The Group did not hold collateral in respect of 
these balances.

At �1 December 2008, advances paid were presented net of 
impairment of USD � million (200�: USD � million). During the 
year ended �1 December 2008, an impairment loss of USD � 
million (200�: USD 1 million) was recognised.
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34. cAsh AND cAsh EqUivALENTs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Current accounts

- foreign currencies 1,2�1 �8�

- RUR 281 �20

Bank deposits 

- foreign currencies �1� �,08�

- RUR 12 209

Restricted cash �� �

Other cash and cash equivalents 2 2

Total 1,995 4,008

Restricted cash consists of cash equivalents that were held as 
collateral for outstanding letters of credit.

35. AssETs cLAssifiED As hELD fOR sALE

At �1 December 2008, construction-in-progress in the amount 
of USD 1� million attributable to Activox Refinery Project was 
classified as asset held for sale and presented separately in 
the consolidated balance sheet (refer to note 2�).

On 2 November 200�, management of the Group made 
a decision to dispose of LLC “Norilsk-Telecom” and its 
subsidiaries (“Norilsk-Telecom”). The principal activity of 
Norilsk-Telecom was to provide telecommunication services 
in the Krasnoyarsk region.

Assets and liabilities attributable to Norilsk-Telecom were 
classified as a disposal group held for sale and presented 
separately in the consolidated balance sheet. The Group’s 
share in Norilsk-Telecom was sold in May 2008 for a cash 
consideration of USD �� million (refer to note ��). The 
difference between the carrying value of assets and liabilities 
and the expected proceeds from disposal of USD 1� million was 
recognised as impairment of property, plant and equipment.

The major classes of assets and liabilities classified as held for 
sale at �1 December 200� were as follows:

31/12/2007

Property, plant and equipment (refer to note 2�) ��

Trade and other receivables 11

Cash and cash equivalents 8

Inventory 2

Other assets �

Total assets held for sale 60

Trade and other payables �

Employee benefit obligations 2

Other liabilities �

Total liabilities associated with assets held for sale 9

Net assets held for sale 51

Management of the Group determined that the sale of Norilsk-
Telecom does not constitute a discontinued operation.
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36. shARE cAPiTAL

AUThORisED, issUED AND fULLy PAiD shARE cAPiTAL

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

NUmBER Of 
shAREs

OUTsTANDiNG 
BALANcE

NUmBER Of 
shAREs

OUTsTANDiNG 
BALANcE

Ordinary shares at par value of RUR 1 each 190,�2�,��� 8 190,�2�,��� 8

Total 190,627,747 8 190,627,747 8

TREAsURy shAREs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

NUmBER Of 
shAREs

OUTsTANDiNG 
BALANcE

NUmBER Of 
shAREs

OUTsTANDiNG 
BALANcE

Balance at beginning of the year 1,710,884 – 9,209,834 (999)

1� November 200�: re-issuance of shares – – (�,�98,9�0) 999

September 2008: acquisition of shares �,�1�,28� 889 – –

October – December 2008: acquisition of shares �,�10,2�9 1,�2� – –

Balance at end of the year 16,034,449 2,615 1,710,884 –

On 1� November 200�, �,�98,9�0 of the Company’s shares 
were re-issued from treasury stock at USD 28� per share for 
a total consideration of USD 2,1�� million. Direct expenses in 
the amount of USD 10 million and income tax associated with 
reissuance in the amount of USD 2�2 million were deducted 
from proceeds.

In September 2008, three subsidiaries of the Group – OJSC 
“Norilsky Kombinat”, OJSC “Kolskaya Mining and Metallurgical 
Company” and OGK-� transferred cash in the amount of USD 
1,01� million under trust management agreements to OJSC 
AKB “Rosbank” and CJSC “Investment company “Troika-Dia-
log”. At �1 December 2008, USD 889 million of this amount, 
including direct expenses associated with acquisitions, was 
used to acquire �,�1�,28� shares of the Company. According-
ly, in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
�1 December 2008, these shares were presented as treasury 
stock.

Immediately after acquisition of the Company’s shares, OJSC 
AKB “Rosbank” as a trustee signed a number of forward con-
tracts to sell �,9��,�11 shares on 18 September 2009 at a 
10% mark-up on the cost of acquisition.

On 22 August 2008, the Group announced a voluntary buy-
back of up to �,9��,000 of its issued ordinary shares. At �1 
December 2008, the Company acquired �,�10,2�9 of its own 
shares for a cash consideration of USD 1,�2� million. 

At 1� January 2009, the Company acquired a further 9�,8�� 
ordinary shares for a cash consideration of USD 20 million (re-
fer to note �2).
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37. OThER REsERvEs

OPTiON PREmiUm 
ON cONvERTiBLE 

NOTEs

iNvEsTmENTs 
REvALUATiON 

REsERvE

hEDGiNG  
REsERvE 

REvALUATiON 
sURPLUs 

TRANsLATiON 
REsERvE 

TOTAL 
 

Balance at 31 December 2006 – 997 (15) – 1,580 2,562

Increase in fair value of available-for-sale 
investments

– ��� – – – 465

Effect of change in classification of available-
for-sale investments to investments in 
associates due to increase of ownership

– (222) – �� (�) (183)

Loss on cash flow hedge – – (1�) – – (16)

Translation of foreign operations – – – – (20�) (206)

Effect of translation to presentation currency – – – – 1,201 1,201

Net income recognised directly in equity – 243 (16) 43 991 1,261

Impairment of available-for-sale investments – 2� – – – 24

Other reserves disposed of on disposal of 
subsidiaries

– – – – (�) (5)

Total recognised income and expense – 267 (16) 43 986 1,280

Issuance of ordinary shares from treasury 
stock, net of direct expenses and attributable 
income tax

– – – – (��) (77)

Balance at 31 December 2007 – 1,264 (31) 43 2,489 3,765

Decrease in fair value of available-for-sale 
investments

– (1,�10) – – (89) (1,499)

Impact of change in income tax rate in the 
Russian Federation

(�) – – – (6)

Gain on cash flow hedge – – � – – 6

Translation of foreign operations – – – – (20�) (204)

Effect of translation to presentation currency – – – – (�,2�0) (3,260)

Net loss recognised directly in equity – (1,416) 6 – (3,553) (4,963)

Realised loss on disposal of cash flow hedge – – 2 – – 2

Realised gain on disposal of available-for-sale 
investments

– (102) – – (2) (104)

Impairment of available-for-sale investments – 2�2 – – – 232

Impact of change in income tax rate in the 
Russian Federation

– � – – – 6

Other reserves disposed of on disposal of 
subsidiaries

– – – – (9) (9)

Total recognised income and expense – (1,280) 8 – (3,564) (4,836)

Issuance of convertible notes 19 – – – – 19

Balance at 31 December 2008 19 (16) (23) 43 (1,075) (1,052)
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38. BORROwiNGs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

cURRENcy RATE, % OUTsTANDiNG 
BALANcE

RATE, % OUTsTANDiNG 
BALANcE

Bank loans, including:

Societe Generale, syndicated loan (i) USD LIBOR+ 
0.��-0.�0

�,�8� LIBOR+ 
0.��-0.�0

�,��� 

Calyon, syndicated loan (ii) USD LIBOR+ 
0.8�-1.00

1,�89 – – 

Societe Generale, syndicated loan (iii) USD LIBOR+0.�� ��0 LIBOR+0.�� 200

Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschafts-
bank, syndicated loan

(iv) USD LIBOR+0.�0 ��8 – – 

Sampo Bank (v) USD LIBOR+0.�� �0 – –

BNP Paribas (vi) USD – – LIBOR+ 
0.�0-0.�0

2,�9� 

Sberbank (vii) RUR – – 8.�� �12

Toronto Dominion (viii) USD – – LIBOR+2.�0 9�

ANZ Syndicate (ix) AUD – – BBSY+ 
0.�1-1.01

�� 

Other varies varies 18 varies 21

Promissory notes (x) RUR – – �.�0 �80

Guaranteed notes (xi) USD �.12� �00 �.12� �99

Exempt Facility Reversal Bonds 
Series 2000

(xii) USD 8.�� 29 8.�� 29 

Convertible notes Stillwater Mining 
Company

(xiii) USD �.�0 80 – – 

Total 6,440 8,072

Less: current portion due within 
twelve months and presented as 
short-term borrowings

(872) 
 

(3,971) 
 

Long-term borrowings 5,568 4,101

The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings was as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Due within one month 1� 8

Due from one to three months – �9�

Due from three to twelve months 8�9 �,���

Total short-term borrowings 872 3,971

Due in the second year �,190 82�

Due in the third year 1,219 2,2��

Due in the fourth year 8�8 ���

Due in the fifth year �� ���

Due thereafter 28� �1

Total long-term borrowings 5,568 4,101

Total 6,440 8,072
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(i) Societe Generale – A USD �,�00 million syndicated loan, 
which includes two credit lines for USD 2,000 million and USD 
1,�00 million, arranged by Societe Generale and BNP Paribas. 
The credit line in the amount of USD 2,000 million is arranged 
for five years at floating rate of LIBOR + 0.��% (effective rate 
1.00%, comparative �.�9%) per annum up to 29 June 2010 
and LIBOR + 0.��% (effective rate 1.10%, comparative �.�9%) 
per annum thereafter and secured by assignment of rights for 
proceeds from metal supply agreements of Metal Trade Over-
seas S.A. and Norilsk Nickel Europe Limited, subsidiaries of 
the Group. The secured credit line in the amount of USD 2,000 
million is to be repaid in equal quarterly instalments after a 
twenty four month grace period with the final instalment due on 
29 June 2012. The credit line in the amount of USD 1,�00 mil-
lion is unsecured and arranged for three years at floating rate 
of LIBOR + 0.�0% per annum (effective rate 1.0�%, compara-
tive �.��%), and is due in full in June 2010. Interest is payable 
on a monthly basis at the rate varying based on the credit rating 
of the Company. The Group is obliged to comply with a number 
of restrictive financial and other covenants, including maintain-
ing certain financial ratios and restrictions on pledging and dis-
posal of certain assets.

(ii) Calyon – A USD 1,�00 million syndicated loan arranged by 
Calyon, the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ Limited, Bayerische 
Hypo- und Vereinsbank AG, ING Wholesale Banking, Societe 
Generale, Sumitomo Mitsui Finance Dublin Limited, The Royal 
Bank of Scotland Plc and WestLB AG includes three credit lines 
of USD ��0 million secured long-term loan, a USD ��0 million 
secured revolving credit facility and a USD 200 million unse-
cured revolving facility. The credit lines of USD ��0 million and 
USD ��0 million were arranged for three years at floating rate of 
LIBOR + 0.8�% (effective rate 1.�2%) per annum and secured 
by assignment of rights for proceeds from metal supply agree-
ments of Metal Trade Overseas S.A. and Norilsk Nickel Europe 
Limited, subsidiaries of the Group. The credit line in the amount 
of USD 200 million was arranged for three years at floating rate 
of LIBOR + 1% (effective rate 1.��%) per annum. These credit 
lines are to be repaid in six equal quarterly instalments after 
an eighteen month grace period with the final instalment due 
on 2� June 2011. Interest is payable on a monthly basis for the 
revolving credit facilities of USD ��0 million and USD 200 mil-
lion and on a quarterly basis for secured long-term loan of USD 
��0 million.The Group is obliged to comply with a number of 
restrictive financial and other covenants, including maintaining 
certain financial ratios and restrictions on pledging and dis-
posal of certain assets.

(iii) Societe Generale – A USD ��0 million syndicated unse-
cured revolving credit facility arranged by Societe Generale, 
Barclays Capital and ING Wholesale Banking, with a floating 

rate of LIBOR + 0.��% (effective rate 0.90%, comparative 
�.��%) per annum, is due in full on 12 March 2012. Interest is 
payable on a monthly basis.

The Group is obliged to comply with a number of restrictive 
financial and other covenants, including maintaining certain 
financial ratios and restrictions on pledging and disposal of 
certain assets.

(iv) Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank – A USD 
��� million term credit facility arranged by Deutsche Zentral-
Genossenschaftsbank, ING Bank N.V., Bayerische Landes-
bank and Calyon Deutschland consisting of four tranches. At 
�1 December 2008, the Group obtained a ten-year loan of 
USD ��� million under this credit facility, at floating rate of LI-
BOR + 0.�0% (effective rates vary from 1.��% to 2.�9%) per 
annum. The loan was guaranteed by Euler Hermes Kredit-
versicherungs-AG, Hamburg, Germany. All tranches are to 
be repaid in twenty equal semi-annual instalments with the 
final instalments due on �1 July 2018, 1� November 2018, 
11 December 2018 and 28 January 2019. Interest is payable 
semi-annually.The Group is obliged to comply with a number 
of restrictive financial and other covenants, including maintain-
ing certain financial ratios and restrictions on pledging and dis-
posal of certain assets.

(v) Sampo Bank – A USD �0 million unsecured loan arranged 
by Sampo Bank at a floating rate of LIBOR + 0.��% per annum 
(effective rate 1.91%). The loan is to be repaid in twenty eight 
equal monthly instalments after a one year grace period with 
the final instalment due on �1 December 2012. Interest is pay-
able quarterly.

(vi) BNP Paribas – A USD 2,�00 million unsecured loan con-
sisted of two credit lines for USD 1,000 million and USD 1,�00 
million. The credit line in the amount of USD 1,000 million was 
arranged at floating rate of LIBOR + 0.�0% per annum (effec-
tive rate �.1�%). Credit line in the amount of USD 1,�00 million 
was arranged at LIBOR + 0.�0% per annum (effective rates 
�.2�% and �.��% for different tranches). The loan was repaid 
in full on �0 June 2008.

(vii) Sberbank – A USD �12 million unsecured loan, with a fixed 
rate of 8.��% per annum. The loan was repaid on 12 November 
2008

(viii) Toronto Dominion – A USD 2�0 million credit facility ar-
ranged by Stillwater Mining Company (“SWC”), a subsidiary of 
the Group, at floating rate of LIBOR + 2.�0% per annum (effec-
tive rate �.�8%). The loan was repaid in full on 12 March 2008.
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(ix) ANZ Syndicate – A USD 118 million credit facility ar-
ranged by LionOre Mining International Limited, a subsidiary 
of the Group, was secured by shares of subsidiaries of LionOre 
Group located in Australia and repayable in equal monthly in-
stalments starting from March 200�, with the final instalment in 
December 2008. The loan was repaid in full at maturity date. 
The interest rate varied from the Bill Rate of the Reserve Bank 
of Australia (“BBSY”) + 0.�1% (effective rate 8.18%) to BBSY + 
1.01% (effective rate 8.�8%) per annum.

(x) Promissory notes – Promissory notes were issued by 
OJSC “MMC Norilsk Nickel” in September 200� with an ef-
fective interest rate �.�0% per annum. The promissory notes 
were redeemed in full during the period from February to April 
2008.

(xi) Guaranteed notes – On �0 September 200�, Norilsk 
Nickel Luxemburg S.A., a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Group, issued USD �00 million �.12�% notes. The notes were 
issued at par with an interest payable semi-annually in arrears 
on �0 March and �0 September, and the principal due on �0 
September 2009. 

The notes are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by 
OJSC “MMC Norilsk Nickel”.

(xii) Exempt Facility Reversal Bonds Series 2000 – A USD 
29 million bond issued by Stillwater Mining Company, a sub-
sidiary of the Group, on � July 2002, with an effective interest 
rate of 8.��% and due in full on 1 July 2020. Interest is payable 
semi-annually.

(xiii) Convertible Notes Stillwater Mining Company – On 
12 March 2008, SWC issued 181,�00 convertible notes, at 
USD 1,000 per note, out of which 80,000 notes were acquired 
by the Group. 

Conversion may occur at any time between 12 March 2008 
and 1� March 2028 at a premium of �2% to the price of SWC 
share at the date of issuance of convertible notes. If the notes 
are not converted, they can be redeemed during the period 
from 22 March 201� to 1� March 2028 but not later than 1� 
March 2028 at USD 1,000 per note. Interest of 1.8��% per an-
num is payable semi-annually in arrears on 1� March and 1� 
September until the settlement date. 

The net proceeds received from the issue of the notes have 
been split between the liability element and an equity com-
ponent, representing the residual attributable to the option to 
convert the liability into equity of the Group, as follows:

Proceeds from issue (net of debt issuance costs) 9�

Liability component at date of issue (�8)

Equity component 19

The interest charged for the period is calculated by applying 
an effective interest rate of �.�%. The liability component is 
measured at amortised cost.The option premium on convert-
ible notes represents equity component (conversion rights) on 
101,�00 (net of 80,000 held by the Group) 1.8��% convertible 
notes issued during the period.

39. OBLiGATiONs UNDER fiNANcE LEAsEs

miNimUm LEAsE PAymENTs PREsENT vALUE Of  
miNimUm LEAsE PAymENTs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Due within one year 20 � 1� 2

Due in the second year 1� 2 11 2

Due in the third year 22 – 18 –

Due in the fourth year 1� – 12 –

72 5 54 4

Less: Future finance charges (18) (1) n/a n/a

Present value of lease obligations 54 4 54 4

Less: Amount due for settlement within one year 
and shown under current liabilities

(13) (2) 

Amount due for settlement after one year 41 2
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The Group leases production equipment and transport under 
a number of finance lease agreements. The average lease 
term is � years (200�: � years). For the year ended �1 Decem-
ber 2008 the weighted average effective interest rate was 1�% 

(200�: 10%). Majority of the leases are on a fixed repayment 
basis and denominated in Botswana Pula. The Group’s obliga-
tions under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to 
the leased assets.

31/12/2008 31/12/2007 

Carrying value of leased production equipment �� 9

40. EmPLOyEE BENEfiT OBLiGATiONs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Defined benefit pension plans assets – 8
Total assets – 8

Wages and salaries 19� 20�

Accrual for annual leave 1�� 1��

Defined benefit obligations 10 �

Defined contribution obligations 9 11

Other 11 2

Total obligations 397 389

Less: Non-current obligations (11) (11)

Current obligations 386 378

DEfiNED BENEfiT PLANs LiABiLiTiEs/(AssETs)

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Present value of defined benefit obligations 22� 2�0
Fair value of plans assets (118) (1�8)

Present value of unfunded obligations 106 92

Plan assets above limits � 19

Unrecognised past service cost (�) (1)

Unrecognised actuarial losses (9�) (112)

10 (2)

Net benefit expense recognised in the consolidated income 
statement

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Current service costs 2 2
Expected return on plans assets (12) (8)

Additional cost arising from new plan members 8 1�

Net actuarial losses recognised during the year �1 22

Plan assets above limits recognised during the year � 19

Gain arising from curtailment – (�)

Interest expense 1� 10

Total 49 55

Actual losses/(returns) on plan assets �1 (�)
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Movements in the fair value of plans assets were as follows:

LifELONG PROfEssiONAL PENsiON PLAN jOiNT cORPORATE PENsiON PLAN

Balance at 31 December 2006 – 11

Contributions from the employer �0 ��

Expected return on plans assets � �

Actuarial gain – (2)

Benefits paid (�) (�)

Effect of translation to presentation currency � �

Balance at 31 December 2007 72 76

Contributions from the employer 19 1�

Expected return on plans assets � �

Actuarial gain (20) (21)

Benefits paid (9) (1)

Effect of translation to presentation currency (11) (1�)

Balance at 31 December 2008 57 61

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obliga-
tions were as follows:

LifELONG 
PROfEssiONAL 
PENsiON PLAN

jOiNT cORPORATE 
PENsiON PLAN 

OThER 
 

Balance at 31 December 2006 81 38 –

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries – – 1�

Benefits paid (�) (�) –

Current service cost – 1� 1

Interest cost � � 1

Actuarial loss/(gain) 92 (�) (2)

Gain on curtailment – – (�)

Effect of translation to presentation currency � � –

Balance at 31 December 2007 179 50 11

Benefits paid (9) (1) (1)

Current service cost – 8 2

Interest cost 11 � 1

Actuarial loss � � �

Effect of translation to presentation currency (�0) (1�) (�)

Balance at 31 December 2008 157 54 13

Starting from 200�, all of the Group’s pension plans are man-
aged by a non-state Pension Fund “Norilsk Nickel”. Contribu-
tions from the Group to this Fund during the year ended �1 
December 2008, amounted to USD �� million (200�: USD 201 
million).
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The major categories of pension plans assets and the expect-
ed rate of return at the balance sheet dates for each category 
were as follows:

ExPEcTED RETURN fAiR vALUE Of PENsiON PLANs AssETs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Equity instruments 2�.2% 9.8% 18 ��

Bonds 10.�% �.�% �� ��

Deposits 12.�% �.�% 2� ��

Weighted average expected return 13.1% 7.4% 118 148

The following tables summarise the present value of defined 
benefit obligations and fair value of the pension plans assets 

and experience adjustments for them for the current year and 
previous four annual periods:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007 31/12/2006 31/12/2005 31/12/2004

Defined benefit obligations 22� 2�0 119 10� �0

Plans assets (118) (1�8) (11) – –

Deficit 106 92 108 104 70

Experience adjustments on plans assets (�1) (1) – – –

Experience adjustments on plans liabilities (�1) (�0) (�) – –

Key assumptions used in estimation of defined benefit 
obligations were as follows:

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Discount rate 9.1% �.�%

Expected rate of return on plans assets 1�.1% �.�%

Pre-retirement increases to capital accounts 9.1% �.�%

Future salary increases 12.9% �.�%

Future pension increases 9.9% 9.2%

Average life expectancy of members from the date of retirement 1� years 1� years

DEfiNED cONTRiBUTiON PLANs

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement in 
respect of defined contribution plans were as follows:

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Pension Fund of the Russian Federation 20� 199

Shared accumulated pension program �� 1

Stillwater Mining Company savings plan � �

Corporate pension option program – ��

Other � 1�

Total 254 274
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41. shARE APPREciATiON RiGhTs

Ojsc “mmc NORiLsk NickEL” LONG-TERm kEy mANAGE-
mENT PERsONNEL cOmPENsATiON PLAN

On � April 2008, the Group granted Share Appreciation Rights 
(“SARs”) to key management personnel of Russian entities 
of the Group that entitle them to a cash payment (“MMC NN 
incentive plan”). The amount of the cash payment is determined 
based on a number of vested “phantom” shares, increase in 
the share price of the Company and achievement of a targeted 
growth in total shareholders return in excess of the total growth 
in shareholders return of companies comprising HSBC index, 
between the grant date and vesting dates. The expected 
future dividends were incorporated in the option fair value 
determination by adding them back to the estimated weighted 
average price of the company at the corresponding point of 
time. The program is divided into three stages and is effective 
until � April 2011.

NORiLsk NickEL iNTERNATiONAL LONG-TERm EmPLOyEE 
iNcENTivE PLAN

On 1 January 2008, the Group granted SARs to key 
management personnel of foreign entities of the Group that 
entitle them to a cash payment (“NN International incentive 
plan”). The amount of the cash payment to eligible employees 
is determined based on number of vested “phantom” shares, 
volume-weighted share price of the Company for the calendar 
quarter preceding vesting date and achievement of targeted 
volumes of saleable nickel production, between grant date and 
vesting dates. In calculation of fair value of share appreciation 
rights for each of the vesting years, the present value of 
dividends assumed to be paid before the movement of vesting 
is subtracted from the value of the stock as at valuation date, 
which is a start value of the future share price development. 
The program is divided into three stages and is effective until 
�1 December 2010. 

The compensation cost related to SARs and the correspond-
ing liability, are set out in the table below:

mmc NN iNcENTivE PLAN NN iNTERNATiONAL iNcENTivE PLAN

Expense arising from SARs granted for the year 2� �

Effect of changes in fair value of SARs (1) –

Forfeited during the year (12) (2)

Exercised during the year – (1)

Balance at end of the period 11 1

The significant assumptions used in the valuation model re-
garding amount of liabilities for cash-settled arrangements 
were as follows:

mmc NN iNcENTivE PLAN NN iNTERNATiONAL iNcENTivE PLAN

Expected volatility of the Company share on MICEX �9.0% �9.0%

Expected volatility of the Company share on LSE �0.0% n/a

Expected volatility of HSBC index ��.0% n/a

Risk-free interest rate 0.�% 0.�%

Dividend yield on HSBC index 1.�% n/a

Expected salable nickel production volumes for 2008 year, tonnes n/a 89,18�

Expected salable nickel production volumes for 2009 year, tonnes n/a 8�,1��

Expected salable nickel production volumes for 2010 year, tonnes n/a 8�,1��
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42. ENviRONmENTAL OBLiGATiONs

DEcOmmissiONiNG 
OBLiGATiONs

PROvisiON fOR 
LAND REsTORATiON

TOTAL 

Balance at 31 December 2006 318 4 322

New obligations raised (refer to note 2�) � – �

Change in estimate (refer to note 2�) 8� – 8�

Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries (refer to note �) 89 � 9�

Unwinding of discount on decommissioning obligations  
(refer to note 21)

22 1 2�

Charge to income statement 2� � �0

Effect of translation to presentation currency 2� – 2�

Balance at 31 December 2007 569 14 583

New obligations raised (refer to note 2�) �� – ��

Change in estimate (refer to note 2�) 1� – 1�

Unwinding of discount on decommissioning obligations  
(refer to note 21)

�� – ��

Charge to the income statement – (2) (2)

Effect of translation to presentation currency (99) (2) (101)

Balance at 31 December 2008 554 10 564

During 2008, the Group reassessed the amount of decommis-
sioning obligations for its operations in the Russian Federation 
due to changes in inflation and discount rates, and the results 
of an independent audit of ore reserves affecting the expected 
mines closure dates. As a result, additional decommissioning 

obligations were raised, which was presented as change in es-
timate.

Key assumptions used in estimation of environmental obliga-
tions were as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Discount rates �.0% – 12.0% �.0% – �.�%

Future expected increase of expenses 2�.0% 2�.0%

Expected closure date of mines up to 20�� up to 20��

Present value of expected cost to be incurred for settlement of 
environmental obligations was as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Due from second to fifth year 209 1�8

Due from sixth to tenth year 19 �2

Due from eleventh to fifteenth year �� ��

Due from sixteenth to twentieth year 18� 1��

Due thereafter �9 1��

564 583
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43. TRADE AND OThER PAyABLEs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 281 ��2

Insurance payable � 22

Payables for acquisition of property, plant and equipment �8 ��

Payables for treasury shares �� –

Other creditors 1�� 1�8

Total financial liabilities 545 586

Non-financial liabilities

Provision for onerous contracts �1 –

Total non-financial liabilities 51 –

Total 596 586

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities was as fol-
lows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Due within one month �22 �0�

Due from one to three months 1�1 ��

Due from three to twelve months �2 1��

Total 545 586

44. DERivATivE fiNANciAL iNsTRUmENTs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Cash flow hedges

Nickel future contracts � 10

Platinum future contracts – �

Total cash flow hedges 4 16

At fair value through profit and loss

Derivatives held for trading 11 11

Total at fair value through profit and loss 11 11

Less: current portion due within twelve months and presented 
under current liabilities

(15) (24)

Long-term derivative financial liabilities – 3
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The maturity profile of the Group’s derivative financial liabilities 
was as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Cash flow hedges

Due within one month 1 2

Due from one to three months 1 �

Due from three to twelve months 2 �

Total 4 16

AT fAiR vALUE ThROUGh PROfiT AND LOss

Due from one to three months 11 2

Due from three to twelve months – �

Due from one to five years – �

Total 11 11

Derivative financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit and loss were as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Derivatives held for trading, at fair value 11 11

11 11

Change in fair value due to change in market risk factors – �2

Realised gain on derivatives held for trading �� �

income on derivatives classified as held for trading 44 78

Derivatives held for trading represent nickel futures that were 
entered into by Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta Oy and valued at �1 
December 2008 at fair value of total portfolio of futures con-
tracts. The portfolio consisted of contracts with expiration 
dates between January and March 2009. 

At �1 December 200�, derivatives held for trading represented 
nickel and copper forward contracts entered into by Norilsk 
Nickel Africa after the approval of Activox Project in August 
200�, valued at fair value and closed at the end of December 
2008.

45. DiviDENDs

On �0 June 2008, the Company declared a final dividend in 
respect of the year ended �1 December 200� in the amount of 
RUR 112 (USD �.��) per share. The total amount of USD 902 
million, recognised in the consolidated financial statements, 
net of USD 8 million due to Group subsidiaries, was paid to the 
shareholders on 29 August 2008.

On 21 December 200�, the Company declared an interim divi-
dend in respect of the year ended �1 December 200� in the 
amount of RUR 108 (USD �.��) per share. The total amount 
of USD �92 million, recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements, net of USD � million due to Group subsidiaries, 
was paid to the shareholders on � February 2008.

On 28 June 200�, the Company declared a final dividend in 
respect of the year ended �1 December 200� in the amount of 
RUR 120 (USD �.��) per share. The total amount of USD 8�2 
million, recognised in the consolidated financial statements, 
net of USD 8 million due to Group subsidiaries, was paid to the 
shareholders on 1� August 200�.

46. DisPOsAL Of sUBsiDiARiEs

On � May 2008, the Group sold its interest in LLC “Norilsk-Tele-
com”, a 100% subsidiary of the Group, for a cash consideration 
of USD �� million. The carrying value of Norilsk Telecom net as-
sets at the date of disposal amounted to USD �� million.
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On 2� March 2008, the Group sold its interest in Nor-Med Lim-
ited, a ��% subsidiary of the Group, for a cash consideration of 
USD 2 million. The carrying value of Nor-Med Limited net assets 
at the date of disposal amounted to USD � million.

On 2� May 200�, the Group sold its interest in Vimon Invest-
ments Limited BVI, a company which owned the entire share 
capital of CJSC “Kraus-M”, a subsidiary of the Group, to a re-
lated party for a cash consideration of less than USD 1 million 

(refer to note ��). Under the terms of the sale agreement, intra-
group debt of Vimon Investments Limited amounting to USD �1 
million was assigned to the buyer. The carrying value of Vimon 
Investments Limited net assets at the date of disposal amounted 
to USD 18 million.

At the dates of disposal aggregated net assets of the subsidiar-
ies disposed of were as follows:

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Property, plant and equipment �� ��

Intangible assets 1 –

Trade and other receivables 22 �

Inventories � –

Other taxes receivable 1 �

Cash and cash equivalents 8 –

Employee benefit obligations (2) –

Deferred tax liabilities (�) (1�)

Borrowings (�) (�8)

Trade and other payables (11) –

Group’s share of assets disposed of 58 18

Loss on disposal (�) (18)

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary 55 –

Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (8) –

Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries 47 –

47. RELATED PARTiEs

Related parties are considered to include shareholders, affili-
ates and entities under common ownership and control of the 
Group’s major shareholders and key management personnel. 
The Company and its subsidiaries, in the ordinary course of 

their business, enter into various sale, purchase and service 
transactions with related parties. Transactions between the 
Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of 
the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are 
not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the 
Group and other related parties are disclosed below.

TRANsAcTiONs wiTh RELATED PARTiEs sALE Of GOODs AND sERvicEs PURchAsE Of GOODs AND sERvicEs

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Entities under common ownership 
and control of the Group’s major 
shareholders

�� 
 

200 
 

92 
 

102 
 

Associates of the Group 21 1� 12� 2��

Total 85 215 216 357
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On 20 December 2008, OGK-� purchased from the Smart 
Hydrogen Incorporated, an associate of the Group, ��% of 
Plug Power Incorporated for a cash consideration of USD �� 
million (refer to note 28).

During the year ended �1 December 2008, the Group pro-
vided loans to entities under common ownership and control 
of the Group’s major shareholders in the amount of USD �8 
million and to associates of the Group in the amount of USD �� 
million (200�: USD �1million and USD 21 million, respectively).

Interest income received by the Group from entities under com-
mon ownership and control of the Group’s major shareholders 
amounted to USD 12 million and from associates of the Group 
amounted to USD 1 million for the year ended �1 December 
2008 (200�: USD 2� million and USD 1 million, respectively). 

In May 200�, the Group sold its investment in a subsidiary to 
entity under common ownership and control of the Group’s 
major shareholders for a cash consideration of less than USD 
1 million (refer to note ��). 

iNvEsTmENTs AND cAsh AccOUNTs REcEivABLE

OUTsTANDiNG BALANcEs wiTh RELATED PARTiEs 31/12/2008 31/12/2007 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Entities under common ownership and 
control of the Group’s major shareholders

– 1,�88 2� 29

Associates of the Group 21 20 1 �

Total 21 1,508 24 32

LOANs AND BORROwiNGs REcEivED AccOUNTs PAyABLE

OUTsTANDiNG BALANcEs wiTh RELATED PARTiEs 31/12/2008 31/12/2007 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Entities under common ownership and 
control of the Group’s major shareholders

– 8 9 22

Associates of the Group – – 21 1�

Total – 8 30 37

All balances are expected to be settled in cash. At �1 Decem-
ber 2008, the Group recognised impairment provision for loans 
provided to the related parties of the Group in the amount of 
USD 1�0 million (200�: USD �0 million) (refer to note 29) and 
for accounts receivable from the related parties of the Group in 
the amount of USD � million (200�: USD � million).

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Sales to and purchases from related parties of electricity, heat 
energy and natural gas supply were made at prices established 
by the Federal Utility Committee and Federal Tariff Service, 
government regulators responsible for establishing and moni-
toring prices on the utility and telecommunication markets in 
the Russian Federation.

Sales of construction, transportation, repair and other servic-
es were made at prices calculated at budgeted cost, generally 
determined based on Russian accounting standards, of ser-
vices plus a margin varied from 1% to 2�%. 

Loans were provided to related parties at the rate �.�% for 
RUR-denominated loans (200�: from �.�% to 8.0%) and from 
�.�% to �.1% for USD-denominated loans (200�: �.1%).
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cOmPENsATiON Of kEy mANAGEmENT PERsONNEL

Remuneration of key management personnel of the Group 
was as follows:

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Salary and performance bonuses �� �9

Termination benefits 2� 1

Share appreciation rights � –

Social security taxes 2 1

Total 87 41

48. cOmmiTmENTs

cAPiTAL cOmmiTmENTs

At �1 December 2008, contractual capital commitments 
amounted to USD 890 million.

OPERATiNG LEAsEs

The land in the Russian Federation on which the Group’s pro-
duction facilities are located is owned by the state. The Group 
leases land through operating lease agreements, which ex-
pire in various years through 20��. According to the terms of 
lease agreements rent fees are revised annually by reference 
to an order issued by the relevant local authorities. The Group 
entities have a renewal option at the end of lease period and 
an option to buy land at any time, at a price established by the 
local authorities.

Future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable 
operating lease agreements at �1 December 2008 were as 
follows:

31/12/2008

Due within one year 12

From one to five years 21

After five years 28

Total 61

iNTERGOvERNmENTAL AGREEmENT wiTh kiNGDOm Of 
NORwAy

In 2001, the governments of the Russian Federation and 
Kingdom of Norway signed an intergovernmental agreement in 
respect of provision of technical assistance in the reconstruction 

of metallurgical facilities of Pechenganickel Combine, a branch 
of OJSC “Kolskaya Mining and Metallurgical Company”. Total 
investments in the reconstruction of metallurgical facilities 
were agreed to be USD 1�� million, financed as follows:

Grants from Kingdom of Norway �2

Loan from Nordic Investment Bank �0

Contribution by the Group 10�

Total 175

At �1 December 2008, total investment of the Group in recon-
struction of metallurgical facilities of Pechenganickel Combine 
amounted to USD 18 million. 

LONG-TERm cONTRAcT wiTh TALvivAARA

OMG Harjavalta, a subsidiary of the Group, has entered into 
a ten-year agreement with Talvivaaran Kaivososakeyhtii  OyOy 
(“Talvivaara”) to purchase total output of intermediate product 
containing nickel and cobalt at future prevailing market prices. 
During this period the Group is obliged to purchase at least 
�00,000 tons of nickel.

LONG-TERm cONTRAcTs wiTh Om GROUP

In 200�, the Group entered into a five-year supply agreement 
with OM Group Incorporated to supply up to 2,�00 metric tons 
(mt) per year of cobalt, up to 2,�00 mt per year of cobalt con-
tained in cobalt hydroxide concentrate and up to 1,�00 mt per 
year of cobalt contained in cobalt sulphate solution, along with 
various nickel and copper based raw materials produced by 
Harjavalta Nickel Oy. 
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sOciAL cOmmiTmENTs

The Group contributes to mandatory and voluntary social pro-
grams and maintains social assets in the locations where it has 
its main operating facilities. The Group’s social assets, as well 
as local social programs, benefit the community at large and are 
not normally restricted to the Group’s employees. These contri-
butions are recorded in the period in which they are incurred.

The Group’s commitments will be funded from its own cash 
resources.

49. cONTiNGENciEs

LiTiGATiON

At �1 December 2008, unresolved tax litigation amounted to 
approximately USD 18 million (200�: USD �� million). Manage-
ment believes that the risk of an unfavourable outcome of the 
litigation is possible.

In 200� Federal Service for Supervision of Natural Resource 
Usage of the Russian Federation (“Federal Service”) required 
the Group to compensate for the damage of water resources 
in the amount of USD 2�0 million. In 2008 Federal Service has 
filed a lawsuit against the Group in the amount of USD 1�8 mil-
lion. Management of the Group estimates the risk of satisfying 
this claim as possible.

In addition, the Group had a number of claims and litigation 
relating to sales and purchases of goods and services. Man-
agement believes that none of these claims, individually or in 
aggregate, will have a material adverse impact on the Group.

TAxATiON cONTiNGENciEs iN ThE RUssiAN fEDERATiON

The taxation system in the Russian Federation is at the devel-
opment stage, and is characterised by numerous taxes, fre-
quent changes and inconsistent enforcement at federal, re-
gional and local levels.

The government of the Russian Federation has commenced 
a revision of the Russian tax system and passed certain laws 
implementing tax reform. The new laws reduce the number of 
taxes and overall tax burden on businesses and simplify tax 
litigation. However, these new tax laws continue to rely heav-
ily on the interpretation of local tax officials and fail to address 
many existing problems. Many issues associated with practical 
implication of new legislation are unclear and complicate the 
Group’s tax planning and related business decisions.

In terms of Russian tax legislation, authorities have a period 
of up to three years to re-open tax declarations for further in-
spection. Changes in the tax system that may be applied ret-
rospectively by authorities could affect the Group’s previously 
submitted and assessed tax declarations.

While management believes that it has adequately provided for 
tax liabilities based on its interpretation of current and previous 
legislation, the risk remains that tax authorities in the Russian 
Federation could take differing positions with regard to inter-
pretive issues. This uncertainty may expose the Group to ad-
ditional taxation, fines and penalties that could be significant.

With regards to matters where practice concerning payment of 
taxes is unclear, management estimate possible tax exposure 
at �1 December 2008 to be USD 2�� million (200�: USD 1�� 
million).

ENviRONmENTAL mATTERs

The Group is subject to extensive federal, state and local envi-
ronmental controls and regulations in the countries in which it 
operates. The Group’s operations involve the discharge of ma-
terials and contaminants into the environment and the distur-
bance of land that could potentially impact on flora and fauna, 
and give rise to other environmental concerns.

The Group’s management believes that its mining and pro-
duction technologies are in compliance with all current exist-
ing environmental legislation in the countries in which it oper-
ates. However, environmental laws and regulations continue to 
evolve. The Group is unable to predict the timing or extent to 
which those laws and regulations may change. Such change, if 
it occurs, may require that the Group modernise technology to 
meet more stringent standards.

The Group is obliged in terms of various laws, mining licenses 
and ‘use of mineral rights’ agreements to decommission mine 
facilities on cessation of its mining operations and to restore 
and rehabilitate the environment. Management of the Group 
regularly reassesses environmental obligations related to its 
operations. Estimates are based on management’s under-
standing of current legal requirements and the terms of license 
agreements. Should the requirements of applicable environ-
mental legislation change or be clarified, the Group may incur 
additional environmental obligations.

RUssiAN fEDERATiON Risk

As an emerging market, the Russian Federation does not pos-
sess a fully developed business and regulatory infrastructure 
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including stable banking and judicial systems, which would 
generally exist in a more mature market economy. The econ-
omy of the Russian Federation is characterised by a currency 
that is not freely convertible outside of the country, currency 
controls, low liquidity levels for debt and equity markets, and 
continuing inflation. As a result, operations in the Russian 
Federation involve risks that are not typically associated with 
those in more developed markets. Stability and success of 
Russian economy and the Group’s business mainly depends 
on the effectiveness of economic measures undertaken by the 
government as well as the development of legal and political 
systems.

REcENT vOLATiLiTy iN GLOBAL AND RUssiAN fiNANciAL 
mARkETs

In recent months a number of major economies around the 
world have experienced volatile capital and credit markets. A 
number of major global financial institutions have either been 
placed into bankruptcy, taken over by other financial institutions 
and/or supported by government funding. As a consequence 
of the recent market turmoil in capital and credit markets both 
globally and in Russia, notwithstanding any potential economic 
stabilisation measures that may be put into place by the Rus-
sian Government, there exists as at the date these consolidated 
financial statements are authorised for issue economic uncer-
tainties surrounding the continual availability, and cost of credit 
both for the Group and its counterparties, the potential for eco-
nomic uncertainties to continue in the foreseeable future and, 
as a consequence, the potential that certain assets may be not 
be recovered at their carrying amount in the ordinary course of 
business. In addition, in development of certain of the Group’s 
critical estimates and areas of critical judgment, management 
uses projected cash flows. These projected cash flows are 
dependent on various assumptions including historical experi-
ence and growth rates. As a result of the volatility in the global 
and Russian financial markets, management’s estimates may 
change and result in a significant impact on the Group.

50. fiNANciAL Risk mANAGEmENT

cAPiTAL Risk mANAGEmENT

The Group manages its capital structure in order to safeguard 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maxi-
mise the return to shareholders through the optimisation of 
debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which in-
cludes long- and short-term borrowings, cash and cash equiv-
alents and equity attributable to shareholders of the parent 

company, comprising issued capital, other reserves 
and retained earnings.

Management of the Group regularly reviews its gear-
ing ratio, calculated as the proportion of net debt to 
equity to ensure that it is in line with the Group’s in-
vestment grade, international peers and current rat-
ing level requirements. 

The Group is subject to external capital requirements 
imposed by banks on certain loans, such as gearing 
ratio of not exceeding ��%. During 2008 the Group 
complied with external capital requirements. 

fiNANciAL Risk fAcTORs AND Risk mANAGE-
mENT sTRUcTURE

In the normal course of its operations, the Group is 
exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk (in-
cluding interest rate, currency and equity investments 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group has 
in place risk management structure and control pro-
cedures to facilitate the measurement, evaluation 
and control of these exposures and related risk man-
agement activities.

Risk management is carried out by a financial risk 
management department, which is part of treasury 
function. The Group has adopted and documented 
policies covering specific areas, such as market risk 
management system, credit risk management sys-
tem, liquidity risk management system and use of 
derivative financial instruments. 

interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest 
rates will adversely impact the financial results of 
the Group. The Group’s interest rate risk arises from 
long- and short-term borrowings at floating rates. 

The Group performs thorough analysis of its interest 
rate risk exposure regularly. Various scenarios are 
simulated. Based on these scenarios, the Group is 
able to calculate the financial impact of an interest 
rate shift of �%. The table below details the Group’s 
sensitivity to a �% increase in those borrowings sub-
ject to a floating rate. The sensitivity analysis is pre-
pared assuming that the amount of liabilities at float-
ing rates outstanding at the balance sheet date was 
outstanding for the whole year. 
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LiBOR-imPAcT

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

Loss 2�� 2�1

Management believes that the Group’s exposure to interest 
rate risk fluctuations does not require additional hedging ac-
tivities.

currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument denominated in foreign currency will 
fluctuate because of changes in exchange rates.

The major part of the Group’s revenue and related trade 
accounts receivable is denominated in US dollars and therefore 
the Group is exposed primarily to USD currency risk. Foreign 
exchange risk arising from other currencies is assessed by 
management of the Group as immaterial.

The carrying amounts of monetary assets and liabilities de-
nominated in foreign currencies other than functional cur-
rencies of the individual Group entities at �1 December 2008 
and 200� were as follows:

AssETs LiABiLiTiEs

31/12/2008 31/12/2007 31/12/2008 31/12/2007

USD 1,999 �,2�� �,��9 �,���

EURO 1�2 �� �� 8�

AUD – 2 – –

Other currencies 2� 21 �8 1�

Total 2,165 5,362 6,450 6,864

Currency risk is monitored on a monthly basis utilising sensi-
tivity analysis to asses if a risk for a potential loss is at an ac-
ceptable level. The Group calculates the financial impact of 
exchange rate fluctuations within 20% on profit for the year in 
respect of USD-denominated assets and liabilities. The fol-
lowing table presents the increase/(decrease) of the Group’s 
profit before tax to a 20% strengthening of the functional cur-
rencies of the Group entities against USD. 

Us DOLLAR – imPAcT

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

USD/RUR 8�9 ���

USD/BWP (11) (��)

USD/AUD – –

Management has assessed the Group’s exposure to currency 
risk is at an acceptable level and thus no exchange rate hedg-
es are used.

Equity investments price risk

The Group is also exposed to equity investments price risk 
arising from equity investments. Certain portion of the Group’s 

investments is held for strategic rather than trading purposes. 
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on 
exposure to equity price risks at the reporting date.

If equity prices had been 1�% higher:

loss for the year ended �1 December 2008 would have 
been unaffected as the quoted investments are classi-
fied as available-for-sale (200�: USD nil);
investment revaluation reserve within equity balance 
would increase by USD �0 million (200�: USD �80 million).

If equity prices had been 1�% lower:

loss for the year ended �1 December 2008 would in-
crease by USD 8 million as a result of increase of impair-
ment loss (200�: USD nil);
investment revaluation reserve within equity balance 
would decrease by USD �2 million (200�: USD �80 
million).

In 2008, the Group’s sensitivity to equity investments price risk 
changed significantly compared to 200� due to recent volatil-
ity in global and Russian financial markets and significant de-
crease of fair value of all available-for-sale investments. 

•

•

•

•



2�� | MMC Norilsk Nickel | Annual Report 2008

credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. 
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits 
with banks as well as credit exposures to customers, including 
outstanding uncollateralised trade and other receivables. The 
Group’s exposure to credit risk is continuously monitored and 
controlled.

Prior to dealing with new counterparty, management assesses 
the credit worthiness of a potential customer or financial insti-
tution. Where the counterparty is rated by major independent 
credit-rating agencies, this rating is used to evaluate credit-
worthiness; otherwise it is evaluated using an analysis of the 
latest available financial statements of the counterparty.

Credit limits for the Group as a whole are not set up.

The balances of ten major counterparties are presented below:

OUTsTANDiNG BALANcE

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Bank A 1,28� �,��8

Bank B 1,21� ���

Bank C 180 ��2

Bank D �� �9�

Bank E �0 ��0

Total 2,805 5,888

Company A �� 10

Company B 1� ��

Company C 12 �0

Company D 8 �1

Company E � �

Total 105 133

The Group is not economically dependent on a limited number 
of customers because majority of its products are highly liquid 
and traded on the world commodity markets. Metal and other 
sales to the Group’s customers are presented below:

yEAR ENDED 31/12/2008 yEAR ENDED 31/12/2007

NUmBER Of 
cUsTOmERs

TURNOvER, UsD 
miLLiON

% NUmBER Of 
cUsTOmERs

TURNOvER, UsD 
miLLiON

% 

Largest customer 1 89� � 1 1,�92 8

Next 9 largest customers 9 �,�02 2� 9 �,�89 2�

Total 10 4,397 31 10 5,981 35

Next 10 largest customers 10 1,��� 1� 10 1,98� 12

Total 20 6,171 44 20 7,967 47

Remaining customers �,809 �� 9,1�2 ��

Total 13,980 100 17,119 100
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The Group had a concentration of cash and bank deposits with 
a related party commercial bank that at �1 December 200� 
represented 9% of total cash and bank deposit balance. Dur-
ing the year ended �1 December 2008, this bank ceased to be 
a related party of the Group.

The Group believes that there is no other significant concen-
tration of credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for cash and cash equiv-
alents, loans and trade and other receivables is as follows:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Cash and cash equivalents 1,99� �,008

Loans, trade and other receivables 2,0�� �,��9

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle 
all liabilities as they fall due. 

The Group has a well-developed liquidity risk management 
structure to exercise control over its short-, medium- and long-
term funding. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining 
adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing 
facilities. Management continuously monitors rolling cash flow 
forecasts and performs analysis of maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities, and undertakes detailed annual budget-
ing procedures. 

Presented below is the maturity profile of the Group’s borrow-
ings (maturity profiles for other liabilities presented in notes �9, 
�� and ��) based on contractual undiscounted payments, in-
cluding interest:

31/12/2008
 
 

TOTAL 
DUE 

wiThiN 
ONE 

mONTh

DUE  
fROm ONE 
TO ThREE 
mONThs

DUE fROm 
ThREE TO 

TwELvE 
mONThs

DUE  
iN ThE

sEcOND 
yEAR

DUE  
iN ThE
ThiRD
yEAR

DUE  
iN ThE

fOURTh
yEAR

DUE
iN ThE
fifTh
yEAR

DUE  
ThERE- 
AfTER 

Fixed rate bank loans  
and borrowings

Principal 627 9 – �0� 1 1 – – 110

Interest 84 � � 20 � � � � �8

711 12 7 526 5 5 4 4 148

Floating rate bank loans

Principal 5,813 � – ��� �,189 1,218 8�8 �� 1��

Interest 167 � 12 �2 �0 22 8 � 12

5,980 10 12 405 3,239 1,240 846 39 189

Total 6,691 22 19 931 3,244 1,245 850 43 337

31/12/2007

Fixed rate bank loans 
and borrowings

Principal 1,745 8 ��� 82� �0� 2 – – �1

Interest 148 10 19 �� 29 2 2 2 19

1,893 18 395 889 533 4 2 2 50

Floating rate bank loans

Principal 6,331 – 222 2,��� �2� 2,2�� ��� ��� –

Interest 606 29 �� 18� 190 11� �2 2 –

6,937 29 279 2,726 513 2,358 697 335 –

Total 8,830 47 674 3,615 1,046 2,362 699 337 50
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At �1 December 2008 and 200�, the Group had following fi-
nancing facilities for the management of its day to day liquidity 
requirements:

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Committed credit lines

Credit lines arranged by BNP Paribas (Suisse) S.A. and Societe Generale �,�00 �,000

Syndicated credit facility arranged by Calyon, Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ Ltd., Bayerische  
 Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG (a member of UniCredit Group), ING Wholesale Banking, 
Societe Generale, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, The Royal Bank of Scotland Plc

1,�00 –

Syndicated revolving credit facility arranged by Barclays Capital, ING Bank N.V. and  
Societe Generale

��0 ��0

Syndicated credit facility arranged by Bayerische Landesbank, Calion Deutschland, DZ BANK AG 
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main and ING Bank N.V., Frankfurt Branch

��� –

OJSC “Gazprombank” �� –

OJSC “Sberbank” – �11

Syndicated revolving credit facility arranged by Societe Generale – �00

Total committed credit lines 5,870 7,461

Uncommitted credit lines

OJSC “Bank of Moscow” �00 –

CJSC “Commerzbank (Eurasia)” 200 �0

CJSC “Calyon Rusbank” 1�0 ��

CJSC “BNP Pariba” 12� ��

CJSC “ING Bank (Eurasia)” 100 100

CJSC “Raiffeisenbank” 100 �0

LLC “Deutsche Bank” �� �8

OJSC “Uralsib Bank” �0 �0

CJSC “BSGV” �0 �0

VTB Bank (France) SA 2� �89

OJSC AKB “MBRR” 20 20

CJSC “West LB Vostok” 12 8�

Barclays Bank PLC � –

CJSC “Drezdner Bank” � �0

CJSC “Natexis Bank” – �0

LLC “HSBC Bank (RR)” – �0

OJSC “Eurofinance Mosnarbank” – �8

CJSC “Citibank” – 2�

Total uncommitted credit lines 1,186 1,263

Bank overdraft facilities

ING (Switzerland) 100 100

Rosbank (Russia) 8� 102

BNP Paribas Suisse (Switzerland) �� ��

Credit Suisse (Switzerland) �� ��

Natexis (France) �� ��

Banque Cantonale Vaudoise (Switzerland) �0 �0

UBS (Switzerland) �0 �0
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31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Sampo (Finland) – ��

Total bank overdraft facilities 500 562

Total borrowing facilities 7,556 9,286

Less: Outstanding letters of credit (��0) (�8�)

Less: Obtained bank loans related to the above facilities (�,80�) (�,811)

Net facilities available at the end of the year 1,221 1,888

51. fAiR vALUE Of fiNANciAL iNsTRUmENTs

Management believes that the carrying value of financial 
instruments such as cash (refer to note ��), short-term ac-
counts receivables (refer to note �2) and payables (refer to 
note ��), short-term loans given (refer to note 29), derivative 
financial instruments (refer to note ��), short-term and long-
term available-for-sale investments (refer to note 29), values 
of which were mainly determined with reference to quoted 
market prices, approximate their fair value.

Certain financial instruments such as held-to maturity financial 
assets, long-term accounts receivable and finance leases 
obligations were excluded from fair value analysis either due to 
their insignificance or due to the fact that assets were acquired or 
liabilities assumed close to the reporting dates and management 
believes that their carrying value either approximates their fair 
value or may not significantly differ from each other.

Presented below is information about loans and borrowings, 
whose carrying values differ significantly from their fair values.

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

cARRyiNG vALUE fAiR vALUE cARRyiNG vALUE fAiR vALUE

Loans and borrowings

Fixed-rate guaranteed and convertible notes �09 ��9 �28 ���

Variable-rate loans and borrowings �,8�1 �,��� �,��2 �,��2

Total 6,440 6,174 6,880 6,895

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities presented in 
table above is determined as follows:

the fair value of fixed rate guaranteed and convertible 
notes was determined based on market quotations exist-
ing at the reporting dates; and
the fair value of variable-rate loans and borrowings at �1 
December 2008, was calculated based on the present 
value of future cash flow (principle and interest), dis-
counted at the best management estimation of market 
rates, taking into consideration currency of the loan, 
expected maturity and risks attributable to the individual 
borrower exists at the reporting date. The discount rates 
ranged from 2.1�% to �.80% for USD-denominated 
loans and borrowings. The fair value of variable rates 
loans and borrowings at �1 December 200� approxi-
mate their carrying value.

•

•

52. EvENTs sUBsEqUENT TO ThE BALANcE shEET DATE

BUy-BAck Of ThE cOmPANy issUED ORDiNARy shAREs

At 1� January 2009, the Company acquired 9�,8�� of its shares 
for a cash consideration of USD 20 million (refer to note ��).

chANGE Of ExPORT cUsTOm DUTiEs

The government of Russian Federation amended customs tar-
iffs on certain metal exports, which are effective from 29 Janu-
ary 2009. As a result, the following export customs tariffs are 
applicable to certain Group’s products:

2009 – 10% (2008: 10%) of the relevant customs value 
for refined copper and untreated copper alloy;
2009 – nil (2008: 10%) of the relevant customs value for 
copper cathode and cathode sections; and
2009 – nil (2008: �%) of the relevant customs value for 
unalloyed nickel.

•

•

•
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Had the new export custom duties been applicable during the 
year ended �1 December 2008, loss before tax for the year 
would have decreased by USD �1� million as a result of de-
crease of selling and distribution expenses.

AUsTRALiAN OPERATiONs

On 1� February 2009, management of the Group made a de-
cision to place on indefinite care and maintenance the Black 
Swan and Lake Johnson nickel operations in Australia.

53. iNvEsTmENTs iN siGNificANT sUBsiDiARiEs AND AssOciATEs

sUBsiDiARiEs By BUsiNEss sEGmENTs cOUNTRy NATURE Of BUsiNEss EffEcTivE % hELD

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

Mining and metallurgy

OJSC “RAO “Norilsk Nickel”1 Russian Federation Investment holding 100.0 98.9

CJSC “NORMETIMPEX” Russian Federation Distribution 100.0 100.0

OJSC “Kolskaya Mining and 
Metallurgical Company”

Russian Federation Mining 100.0 100.0

LLC “Institut Gypronickel” Russian Federation Science 100.0 100.0

OJSC “Norilsky Kombinat”1 Russian Federation Rental of equipment 99.9 98.8

OJSC “Kombinat “Severonickel”1 Russian Federation Rental of equipment 100.0 98.9

OJSC “Gornometallurgichesky 
Kombinat “Pechenganickel”1 Russian Federation Rental of equipment 100.0 98.9

LLC “Norilskgeologiya” Russian Federation Geological works 100.0 100.0

LLC “GRK “Bystrinskoye”1 Russian Federation Mining 99.9 98.8

Norilsk Nickel (Asia) Limited China Distribution 100.0 100.0

Norimet Limited Great Britain Investment holding 100.0 100.0

Norilsk Nickel Europe Limited Great Britain Distribution 100.0 100.0

Norilsk Nickel Finance Luxembourg S.A. Luxembourg Financing 100.0 100.0

Norilsk Nickel Holding S.A. Switzerland Investment holding 100.0 100.0

Metal Trade Overseas S.A. Switzerland Distribution 100.0 100.0

Stillwater Mining Company United States of America Mining ��.� ��.�

Norilsk Nickel USA United States of America Distribution 100.0 100.0

Norilsk Nickel (Cyprus) Limited Cyprus Investment holding 100.0 100.0

Norilsk Nickel Harjavalta Oy2 Finland Metallurgy 100.0 100.0

Norilsk Nickel Finland Oy2 Finland Investment holding 100.0 100.0

Norilsk Nickel Cawse Pty Limited2 Australia Mining 100.0 100.0

MPI Nickel Limited2 Australia Mining 100.0 100.0

Norilsk Nickel Australia Pty Limited2 Australia Mining 100.0 100.0

Norilsk Process Technology Pty Limited2 Australia Science 100.0 100.0

Tati Nickel Mining Company Pty Limited2 Botswana Mining 8�.0 8�.0

Norilsk Nickel Africa Pty Limited2 Republic of South Africa Mining 100.0 100.0

Energy and utility

OJSC “Taimyrgaz”1 Russian Federation Gas extraction 98.� 98.�

OJSC “Norilsko-Taimyrskaya 
Energeticheskaya Kompaniya”� Russian Federation

Electricity production  
and distribution

100.0 100.0
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sUBsiDiARiEs By BUsiNEss sEGmENTs cOUNTRy NATURE Of BUsiNEss EffEcTivE % hELD

31/12/2008 31/12/2007

OJSC “Taimyrenergo”1 Russian Federation Rental of equipment 99.9 98.8

OJSC “OGK-�”� Russian Federation
Electricity production  
and distribution

82.� ��.2

Transport and logistics

OJSC “Yenisey River Shipping Company” Russian Federation River shipping operations ��.9 ��.9

OJSC “Arkhangelsk Sea Commercial 
Port”� Russian Federation Sea shipping operations �2.8 ��.1

CJSC “Alykel” Russian Federation Airport 100.0 100.0

CJSC “Taimyrskaya Toplivnaya 
Kompaniya”

Russian Federation Supplier of fuel 100.0 100.0

Other

LLC “Norilsknickelremont”� Russian Federation Repairs 100.0 100.0

LLC “UK “Zapolyarnaya stolitsa” Russian Federation Subcontractor in construction 100.0 100.0

LLC “Norilsk Telecom” Russian Federation Telecommunications – 100.0

LLC “Zapoliarnaya stroitelnaya companiya” Russian Federation Construction 100.0 100.0

LLC “Norilskyi obespechivaushyi 
complex”8 Russian Federation Production of spare parts 99.9 98.8

Mining and metallurgy

Nkomati Nickel Mine9 Republic of South Africa Mining �0.0 �0.0

Energy and utility

Smart Hydrogen Inc. British Virgin Islands Holding company �0.0 �0.0

Plug Power Inc.10 United States of America Designer of energy products 28.8 1�.�

RUSIA Petroleum11 Russian Federation Gas extraction 20.� –

OJSC “TGK-1�”12 Russian Federation
Electricity production and 
distribution

2�.8 2�.�

OJSC “Krasnoyarskenergo”1� Russian Federation
Electricity production and 
distribution

– 2�.�

OJSC “Norilskgazprom” Russian Federation Gas extraction 29.� 29.�

OJSC “Kolenergo”1� Russian Federation
Electricity production and 
distribution

– 2�.9

OJSC “KTK”1� Russian Federation Steam and hot water production �0.0 �0.0

Notes:

1 Increase of ownership in 2008 due to acquisition of shares in OJSC 

“RAO “Norilsk Nickel” (refer to note �).

2 Acquired in 200� (refer to note �).

� Increase of ownership in 200� (refer to note �).

� Acquired in 200� with subsequent increase of ownership in 2008 

(refer to note �). 

� The Group effective ownership in OGK-� was calculated as follows:

 •  �0.�% of shares are held by the Company;�0.�% of shares are held by the Company;

 •  1�.1% of shares are held by OJSC “Intergeneratsiya”,1�.1% of shares are held by OJSC “Intergeneratsiya”, 

      a subsidiary of the Group;

 •  �.�% of shares are transferred under repurchase agreements;�.�% of shares are transferred under repurchase agreements; 

 •  �.�% of own shares acquired by OGK-� in January-February 2008.�.�% of own shares acquired by OGK-� in January-February 2008.

� Increase of ownership in 2008 (refer to note �).

� Classified as asset held for sale at �1 December 200� and disposed 

in 2008 (refer to note �� and ��).

8 Increase of ownership in 2008 due to acquisition of shares in OJSC 

“RAO “Norilsk Nickel” (refer to note �).

9 Acquired in 200� (refer to note 28).

10 Smart Hydrogen Incorporated disposed of its ��% ownership in 

Plug Power Incorporated to the OGK-� (refer to note 28).

11 Acquired in 2008 (refer to note 28).

12 Increase of ownership in 2008 (refer to note 28).

1� Reorganaised to OJSC “MRSK Sibiri” and OJSC “MRSK Severo-

Zapada” with decrease of Group’s ownership (refer to note 28).

1� Established in 200� (refer to note 28).
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APPENDix 1
REPORT ON cOmPLiANcE wiTh ThE cORPORATE GOvERNANcE cODE Of ThE fEDERAL  
cOmmissiON fOR ThE sEcURiTiEs mARkETs (1)

N PROvisiON Of ThE cODE  
Of cORPORATE GOvERNANcE

iN cOmPLiANcE/ 
NOT iN cOmPLiANcE(2)

NOTEs 

General Meeting of Shareholders 

1. Notice given to shareholders not less than �0 
days prior to the General Meeting regardless 
of the issues on the agenda, unless legislation 
provides for a longer period of notice.

In compliance According to Clause � of the Regulation on the 
General Meeting, “Notice of the meeting shall 
be given to shareholders in the manner and 
in time determined by the Federal law and the 
Company’s Charter”.
According to paragraph 1 of clause �.� of the 
Charter: “Notice of the Meeting shall be published 
in Rossiyskaya Gazeta newspaper and in Taimyr 
newspaper not later than �0 days prior to the date 
of the Meeting. If a General Meeting is held by cor-
respondence, notice of the Meeting shall be given 
in the above publications at least �0 days prior to 
the deadline for the collection of ballots”. 

2. Access of the shareholders to the list of persons 
entitled to attend the General Meeting, starting 
from the date of announcement of the General 
Meeting until the closing of the General Meet-
ing held in person, and in the case of a General 
Meeting held by correspondence – until the 
deadline for the collection of voting ballots.

In compliance In accordance with Article �1 of the Federal Law 
“On Joint Stock companies” Clause 12 of the 
Regulation on the General Meeting stipulates that 
the “Access to the list of persons authorized to 
participate in the Meeting shall be made available 
by the Company at the request of persons includ-
ed in such list and having at least 1% of votes”. 

�. Access of the shareholders to information (ma-
terials) to be provided during the preparation for 
the General Meeting through electronic media, 
including the Internet.

In compliance The shareholders have access to such materials 
20 days before the date of the General Meeting 
at shareholder assistance offices or on the cor-
porate Internet site (in Russian and English). 

�. Ability of a shareholder to put an issue on the 
agenda of the General Meeting or require a 
General Meeting to be called without present-
ing an extract from the shareholder register if 
title to shares is recorded in the shareholder 
register system, and by presenting only a state-
ment from the depot account if title to shares is 
recorded in a depot account.

In compliance When collecting proposals for the agenda of the 
General Meeting, including those regarding the 
candidates to the Board of Directors, the Com-
pany requests confirmation from the sharehold-
er register on its own.

�. The Charter or internal By-laws of the company 
contain a requirement for the obligatory pres-
ence of the General Director, members of the 
Management Board, members of the Board of 
Directors, members of the audit commission 
and the external auditor of the company at the 
General Meeting.

Not in compliance Such persons are usually present at the Gen-
eral Meetings held by the Company; however 
the Charter and By-laws have no provisions 
stipulating their responsibility to be present at 
the General Meetings.

�. Obligatory presence of the nominees for the 
positions of members of the Board of Directors, 
the General Director, members of the Manage-
ment Board, members of the audit commission 
and external auditor during consideration by the 
General Meeting of their election and appoint-
ment.

In compliance According to Article 29 of the Company’s Regula-
tion on the General Meeting “if the agenda of the 
Meeting includes the election of directors and/or 
the approval of the auditor, the persons included 
in the list of nominees for director voting and/or 
authorized representatives of the auditors (audi-
tor) proposed for approval by the Meeting should 
be necessarily invited to the Meeting”.
According to Clause 9.�.9 of the Charter, the 
formation and termination of authorities of the 
executive bodies of the Company are included 
in the competence of the Board of Directors.
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N PROvisiON Of ThE cODE  
Of cORPORATE GOvERNANcE

iN cOmPLiANcE/ 
NOT iN cOmPLiANcE(2)

NOTEs 

�. The By-laws of the company establish a reg-
istration procedure for the participants in the 
General Meeting.

In compliance According to Clause 19 of the Company’s Reg-
ulation on the General Meeting “the Registrar 
of the Company exercising the functions of the 
Counting Commission, verifies the authorities 
and registers persons participating in the Meet-
ing… “and the time of the start of the registration 
is determined by theBoard of Directors (Regu-
lation on the General Meeting, Clause �).

Board of Directors

8. The company’s Charter provides for the author-
ity of the Board of Directors to approve annual 
financial and operating plans.

In compliance Charter of the Company, Clause 9.�.1

9. The company has a risk management proce-
dure approved by the Board of Directors.

In compliance Existing edition of the Charter (Clause 9.�.��). 
Risks are managed in accordance with Corpo-
rate Risk Management Framework approved by 
the Board of Directors (the minutes of meeting 
No. ГМК/2�-пр-сд dated 1� December 200�). 
This document regulates risk management pro-
cedures which include the following elements: 
risk classification and definitions;

methodological approaches to risk identifi-
cation and assessment;
acceptable levels of risk (tolerance levels);
risk management methods;
distribution of responsibility in risk man-
agement;
control and reporting.
The Board of Directors considers the 
Company’s risk register and approves a 
Program of critical risk mitigation activities 
on a regular basis. 

—

—
—
—

—
—

10. The company’s Charter provides for the right of 
the Board of Directors to take a decision on sus-
pending the authorities of the General Director 
appointed by the General Meeting.

In compliance Charter of the Company, Clause 9.�.9

11. The Charter of the company provides for the 
right of the Board of Directors to establish re-
quirements for the qualifications and the level 
of compensation of the General Director, mem-
bers of the Management Board and managers 
of the key structural divisions of the company.

In compliance Charter of the Company, Clauses. 9.�.9, 9.�.2�, 
9.�.�0, 9.�.�1.
The Board of Directors has such authorities in 
respect of the General Director, members of the 
Management Board, Internal audit staff and the 
Corporate Secretary.

12. The company’s Charter provides for the right 
of the Board of Directors to approve the terms 
of the contracts with the General Director and 
members of the Management Board.

In compliance Charter, Clause. 9.�.9.

1�. The Charter and By-laws of the company con-
tain a requirement that votes of the members 
of the Board of Directors who act as the Gen-
eral Director and members of the Management 
Board should not be taken into account when 
the terms of the contracts with the General Di-
rector (managing entity, manager) and mem-
bers of the Management Board are approved.

In compliance Charter, Clause 8.11.

1�. The Board of Directors includes at least � inde-
pendent directors meeting the requirements of 
the Code of Corporate Conduct.

In compliance The Board includes four independent directors. 
The Group uses the most conservative criteria 
to determine the independence of the members 
of its Board of Directors.
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N PROvisiON Of ThE cODE  
Of cORPORATE GOvERNANcE

iN cOmPLiANcE/ 
NOT iN cOmPLiANcE(2)

NOTEs 

1�. There are no persons on the Board of Directors 
recognized as guilty of committing offences in 
the sphere of economic activity; against the 
government or against the interests of the fed-
eral, regional and local government service; 
or that have been subjected to administrative 
penalties for offences in the sphere of entre-
preneurial activities or in the sphere of finance, 
taxes and levies and the securities market.

In compliance According to Clause �.8 of the Charter, propos-
als made by shareholders regarding candidates 
to the Board of Directors should include, among 
other, the following information on such candi-
dates:

past convictions for crimes in the economic 
sphere and crimes against government.

—

1�. There are no persons on the Board of Directors 
who serve as members, the General Director 
(manager), members of the management body 
or employees of any competitor to the company.

In compliance Regulation on the Board of Directors, Clause 1.�.

1�. The company’s Charter contains a requirement 
that the Board of Directors be elected by cumu-
lative vote.

In compliance According to Clause 8.2 of the Charter “Mem-
bers of the Board of Directors shall be elected 
by the Annual Meeting in the manner dictated 
by Federal Law”. In accordance with Clause � 
of Article �� of the Law “On Joint Stock Com-
panies” members of the Board of Directors are 
elected by cumulative vote.

18. The By-laws of the company include the obliga-
tion of the members of the Board of Directors 
to refrain from any actions that will or may po-
tentially lead to a conflict of interests with the 
company, and in the case of such conflict –their 
obligation to disclose information on such con-
flict to the Board of Directors

In compliance Regulation on the Board of Directors, 
Clause �.1.

19. The By-laws of the company provide for the ob-
ligation of the members of the Board of Direc-
tors to notify the Board of Directors in writing of 
their intention to perform any transactions and 
disclose information on any transactions per-
formed with securities of the company or sub-
sidiaries (associates) of the company.

In compliance Regulation on the Board of Directors, 
Clause �.1.

20. The By-laws of the company contain a require-
ment that a meeting of the Board of Directors 
should be held at least once every six weeks.

In compliance Charter, Clause 8.8.
Regulation on the Board of Directors,  
Clause �.1

21. Meetings of the Board of Directors of the com-
pany were held at least once every six weeks in 
the year for which the annual report is present-
ed.

In compliance During the reporting year, �2 meetings of the 
Board of Directors were held.

22. The By-laws of the company establish a proce-
dure for the conducting of the meetings of the 
Board of Directors.

In compliance Regulation on the Board of Directors, section �
“Meetings of the Company’s Board of Direc-
tors”.

2�. The By-laws of the company include a provision 
on the need to have approval of the Board of 
Directors for company transactions amounting 
to 10% or more of the company’s asset value, 
other than transactions performed in the ordi-
nary course of business.

In compliance According to Clause 9.�.��. of the Charter, the 
Board of Directors decides on any transactions 
involving an amount of two or more percent of 
the carrying value of the Company’s assets.

2�. The By-laws of the company provide for the 
right of the members of the Board of Directors 
to receive information necessary for the per-
formance of their functions from the executive 
bodies and managers of the key structural divi-
sions, and liability of the latter for non-provision 
of such information.

In compliance Regulation on the Board of Directors, Clause 
1.�
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N PROvisiON Of ThE cODE  
Of cORPORATE GOvERNANcE

iN cOmPLiANcE/ 
NOT iN cOmPLiANcE(2)

NOTEs 

2�. There is a strategic planning committee of the 
Board of Directors or functions of such com-
mittee are assigned to some other committee 
(other than the Audit Committee or the Nomina-
tion and Compensation Committee).

In compliance According to the Charter of the Company, 
Clause 8.1�, the Board of Directors creates 
Committees of the Board of Directors com-
posed of members of the Board of Directors 
for the preliminary review of the most important 
issues and preparation of recommendations 
to the Board of Directors for the taking of deci-
sions on such matters.
The members of the Strategy Committee were 
elected by a resolution of the Board of Direc-
tors (minutes No. ГМК/1-пр-сд dated February 
�, 2009):
Sergey Batekhin (non-executive director) – 
chairman;
Bradford Mills (independent director);
Ardavan Moshiri (independent director);
Vladislav Soloviev (non-executive director).
The Regulation on the Committee of the Board 
of Directors on Strategy was confirmed by a 
resolution by the Board of Directors (minutes 
No. ГМК/�-пр-сд dated February 2�, 2009).

2�. There is a committee (Audit Committee) of the 
Board of Directors that recommends an exter-
nal auditor to the Board of Directors and com-
municates with the external auditor and the in-
ternal audit commission of the company.

In compliance The new edition of the Regulation on the Com-
mittee of the Board of Directors of OJSC MMC 
Norilsk Nickel on Audit was approved by the 
Board of Directors (minutes No. ГМК/�-пр-сд 
dated February �, 2008).
The edition of the Regulation on the Committee 
of the Board of Directors of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel on Audit was confirmed at the meeting of 
the Board of Directors dated February 2�, 2009 
(minutes No. ГМК/�-пр-сд).
The members of the Audit Committee were 
elected by a resolution of the Board of Direc-
tors (minutes No. ГМК/2�-пр-сд dated July 1�, 
2008):
Guy de Selliers (independent director) – chair-
man;
Andrei Bougrov (non-executive director);
Alexander Bulygin (non-executive director).
A new Board of Directors of the Company was 
elected by the Extraordinary General Meeting 
of Shareholders of OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel 
on December 2�, 2008.
The new composition of the Audit Committee (min-
utes No. ГМК/1-пр-сд dated February �, 2009) is:
Gerard Holden (independent director) – chairman;
Andrei Bougrov (non-executive director);
Ardavan Moshiri (independent director);
Maxim Sokov (non-executive director)
In accordance with Section 2 of the Regulation 
on the Committee of the Board of Directors on 
Audit, its covers (along with other authority):
development of recommendations to the Board 
of Directors on the selection of an independent 
auditor;
interaction with the Company’s Auditing Com-
mission.



28� | MMC Norilsk Nickel | Annual Report 2008

N PROvisiON Of ThE cODE  
Of cORPORATE GOvERNANcE

iN cOmPLiANcE/ 
NOT iN cOmPLiANcE(2)

NOTEs 

2�. The Audit Committee includes only indepen-
dent and non-executive directors.

In compliance In accordance with Clause �.2 of the Regulation 
on the Audit Committee of the Board of Direc-
tors, “the Audit Committee may include only in-
dependent (meeting independence criteria set 
out in Clause 8.1� of the Company’s Charter) 
and non-executive (those who are not the sole 
executive body of the Company and (or) mem-
bers of the Company’s collective executive 
body) members of the Board of Directors”.

28. The Audit Committee is chaired by an indepen-
dent director.

In compliance In accordance with Clause �.� of the Regulation 
on the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, 
“the Audit Committee may be chaired only by an 
independent member of the Board of Directors”.
On July 1�, 2008, the Board of Directors elect-
ed Mr. Guy de Selliers, an independent director, 
as the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors.
At the present time, the chairman of the Audit Com-
mittee is Gerard Holden, an independent director. 

29. The By-laws of a joint stock company provide 
for access by all members of the Audit Commit-
tee to any company documents and information 
company subject to non-disclosure of confi-
dential information.

In compliance The Regulation on the Board of Directors 
(Clause 1.�) provides for the right for all direc-
tors to “obtain any information relating to the 
activities of the Company from any divisions and 
functions of the Company” and the responsibil-
ity of the directors (Clause 1.�) “not to disclose 
confidential information that became known to 
them about the activities of the Company and 
not to disclose insider information”.
The Regulation on the Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors (Section �) provides for the 
right of members of the Committee to request 
information and documents pertaining to mat-
ters within the competence of the Committee 
from the Board of Directors, the Management 
Board, the General Director, the Revision com-
mission and auditor of the Company.

�0. There is a committee (Nomination and Com-
pensation Committee) of the Board of Direc-
tors that is responsible for the determination 
of the criteria for the selection of candidates to 
the Board of Directors and development of the 
company’s compensation policies.

In compliance The Charter (Clause 9.�.�8) and Regulation on the 
Board of Directors (Clause 1.8) provide for the pos-
sible creation of Committees of the Board of Direc-
tors including members of the Board of Directors.
According to the Charter of the Company, Clause 
8.1�, the Board of Directors creates Committees of 
the Board of Directors composed of members of 
the Board of Directors for the preliminary review of 
the most important issues and preparation of rec-
ommendations to the Board of Directors for the tak-
ing of decisions on such matters.
The members of the Corporate Governance, Nom-
ination and Remuneration Committe were elected 
by a resolution of the Board of Directors (minutes 
No. ГМК/1-пр-сд dated February �, 2009):
Andrey Klishas (non-executive director) – chairman
Gerard Holden (independent director)
Maxim Sokov (non-executive director)
The Regulation on the Committee of the Board 
of Directors on Corporate Governance, Nomi-
nation and Remuneration was confirmed by a 
resolution by the Board of Directors (minutes 
No. ГМК/�-пр-сд dated February 2�, 2009).
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N PROvisiON Of ThE cODE  
Of cORPORATE GOvERNANcE

iN cOmPLiANcE/ 
NOT iN cOmPLiANcE(2)

NOTEs 

�1. The Nomination and Compensation Committee 
is headed by an independent director.

Not in compliance In accordance with Clause 1.8 of the Regulation 
on the Board of Directors “… Committees of the 
Board of Directors shall be chaired by members 
of the Board of Directors who are not members 
of the executive bodies of the Company, and 
they shall include independent directors”.

�2. There are no executives of the company in the
Nomination and Compensation Committee.

In compliance In accordance with Clause �.2 of the Regulation 
of the Committee of the Board of Directors on 
Corporate Governance, Nomination and Remu-
neration, members of the Committee may only 
be members of the Board of Directors who do 
not occupy executive positions in the Company. 

��. The existence of a risk committee of the Board 
of Directors or the assignment of the functions 
of such a committee to another committee (oth-
er than the Audit Committee or the Nomination 
and Compensation Committee).

Not in compliance The Charter (Clause 9.�.�8) and Regulation on the 
Board of Directors (Clause 1.8) provide for pos-
sible creation of Committees of the Board of Direc-
tors including members of the Board of Directors.
The Company does not have a Risk Committee 
of the Board of Directors. 

��. The existence of a committee for the settlement 
of corporate conflicts of the Board of Directors 
or the functions of such a committee are as-
signed to another committee (other than the 
Audit Committee or the Nomination and Com-
pensation Committee).

Not in compliance The Charter (Clause 9.�.�8) and Regulation 
on the Board of Directors (Clause 1.8) provide 
for the possible creation of Committees of the 
Board of Directors including members of the 
Board of Directors.
The Company does not have a committee of the 
Board of Directors for the settlement of corpo-
rate conflicts.

��. There are no executives of the company on the 
committee for the settlement of corporate con-
flicts.

Not applicable The Company does not have a committee of the 
Board of Directors for the settlement of corpo-
rate conflicts.

��. The committee for the settlement of corporate 
conflicts is headed by an independent director.

Not applicable The Company does not have a committee of the 
Board of Directors for the settlement of corpo-
rate conflicts.
Meanwhile, in accordance with Clause 1.8 of 
the Regulation on the Board of Directors “… 
Committees of the Board of Directors shall be 
chaired by members of the Board of Directors 
that are not members of the executive bodies of 
the Company, and they shall include indepen-
dent directors”.

��. The company has internal By-laws approved by 
the Board of Directors providing for the proce-
dure of formation and operation of the Commit-
tees of the Board of Directors.

In compliance The order of formation and work of the Commit-
tee of the Board of Directors for Audit, the Com-
mittee of the Board of Directors for Strategy, the 
Committee of the Board of Directors for Corpo-
rate Governance, Nomination and Remunera-
tion is regulated in accordance with the Regu-
lations confirmed by a resolution of the Board 
of Directors dated February 2�, 2009 (minutes 
No. ГМК/�-пр-сд). 

�8. The company’s Charter provides for a proce-
dure to determine the quorum of the Board of 
Directors that would ensure obligatory partici-
pation of independent directors at the Board 
meetings.

In compliance Charter, Clause 8.1�.

Executive bodies 

�9. The company has a collegiate executive body
(Management Board).

In compliance Charter of the Company, section 10 “Executive 
bodies of the Company”.
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N PROvisiON Of ThE cODE  
Of cORPORATE GOvERNANcE

iN cOmPLiANcE/ 
NOT iN cOmPLiANcE(2)

NOTEs 

�0. The Charter or By-laws of the company contain 
provisions on the need to have approval of the 
Management Board for real-estate transactions 
and loans received by the company unless such 
transactions are major deals or are performed 
in the ordinary course of business.

In compliance Charter, Clause. 10.8.�.

�1. The By-laws of the company establish proce-
dures for the approval of transactions which are 
outside the scope of the company’s financial 
and operational plan.

Not in compliance Virtually all operations outside the scope of the 
Company’s financial and operational plan are con-
sidered by the Company’s Board of Directors.
In accordance with Clause 9.�.�� of the Compa-
ny’s charter, the competence of the Company’s 
Board of Directors includes decisions on trans-
actions in the amount of 2% or more of the book 
value of the Company’s assets according to the 
accounting data at the latest reporting date.

�2. There are no persons on executive bodies who 
serve as members, the General Director (man-
ager), members of the management body or 
employees of any competitor of the company.

In compliance The recommendation is complied with; how-
ever, the Charter and By-laws of the Company 
contain no provisions that would require com-
pliance with the limitations established by the 
recommendations from the members of the 
Company’s executive bodies.

��. There are no persons on management bod-
ies recognized guilty of committing offences 
in the sphere of economic activity; against the 
government, against interests of the federal, 
regional and local government service; or who 
have been subject to administrative penalties 
for offences in the sphere of entrepreneurial 
activities or in the sphere of finance, taxes and 
levies and the securities market. If the functions 
of the sole executive body are performed by a 
managing entity or a manager – whether the 
General Director and members of the Manage-
ment Board of the managing entity or manager 
meet the requirements established for the Gen-
eral Director and members of the Management 
Board of the company.

In compliance The recommendation is complied with; how-
ever, the Charter and By-laws of the Company 
contain no provisions that would require com-
pliance with the limitations established by the 
recommendations from the members of the 
Company’s executive bodies.

��. The Charter or By-laws of the company con-
tain a prohibition for the managing organiza-
tion (manager) to perform similar functions for a 
competitor or have any other property relations 
with the company other than the provision of 
management services. 

Not applicable The functions of the sole executive body of the 
Company have not been transferred to a man-
aging organization (manager).

��. The By-laws of the company include the obliga-
tion of the members of the executive bodies to 
refrain from any actions that will or may poten-
tially lead to a conflict of interests with the com-
pany and in the case of such conflict – of their 
obligation to inform the Board of Directors of the 
existence of such a conflict.

Not in compliance The By-laws of the Company do not provide for 
such an obligation. Meanwhile, according to the 
Charter (Clause 10.9) “The General Director 
and members of the Managing Board, in exer-
cising their rights and responsibilities, shall act 
in the interests of the Company, and exercise 
their rights and responsibilities in respect of the 
Company faithfully and reasonably…”

��. The Charter or By-laws of the company contain 
criteria for the selection of the managing orga-
nization (manager).

Not applicable The functions of the sole executive body of the 
Company have not been transferred to a man-
aging organization (manager).

��. Executive bodies provide monthly reports on 
their activities to the Board of Directors.

Not in compliance Reports on the Company’s operations are pro-
vided to the Board of Directors on a quarterly 
basis.
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NOTEs 

�8. The contracts made by the company with the 
General Director (managing organization, man-
ager) and members of the Management Board
stipulate liability for violation of the provisions on 
the use of confidential and insider information.

In compliance The contracts made by the company with the 
General Director (managing entity, manager) 
and members of the Management Board stipu-
late liability for violation of the provisions on the 
use of confidential and insider information.
In accordance with Clause 10.9 of the Charter, 
General Director and members of the Manage-
ment Board “shall be liable to the Company for 
losses incurred by the Company as a result of 
their wrongful acts (omissions) in accordance 
with the laws of the Russian Federation”.
In accordance with Clause �.1 of the Regulation 
on Insider Information, for unlawful disclosure 
and use of insider information of the Company, 
General Director and members of the Manage-
ment Board “shall be held liable in accordance 
with the current legislation, by-laws of the Com-
pany and the terms of agreements concluded 
with the Company”.

Secretary of the Company

�9. There is a special official in the company (com-
pany secretary) whose function is to ensure 
that the company’s bodies and officials comply 
with procedural requirements guaranteeing the 
exercise of the legal rights and interests of the 
company’s shareholders.

In compliance Charter, Clause 11.
On December 1, 2008, by a resolution of the 
Board of Directors (minutes No. ГМК/�9-пр-
сд), Mr. O.V. Surikov was appointed secretary of 
MMC Norilsk Nickel

�0. The Charter or By-laws of the company estab-
lish a procedure for the appointment (election) 
of the company secretary and responsibilities of 
the company secretary.

In compliance Charter, Clause 11.

�1. The company’s Charter contains requirements 
for the candidate for the position of the com-
pany secretary.

Not in compliance These qualifications are not defined in the Char-
ter.

Major corporate actions 

�2. The Charter or By-laws of the company contain 
a requirement on approval of any major deal be-
fore it is concluded.

In compliance Charter, Clause 9.�.1�.

��. Obligatory engagement of an independent ap-
praiser to determine the market value of any 
property that is subject to major transactions.

In compliance The recommendation is complied with.
However, the issue is not regulated by the
Company’s Charter and by-laws.

��. In the event of acquisition of any large stakes in 
the company (takeover), the Charter of the com-
pany prohibits the taking of any actions aimed at 
the protection of interests of the executive bodies 
(members of such bodies) and members of the 
Board of Directors, and also such actions that 
make the position of shareholders worse than 
their current position (in particular, prohibition of 
a decision by the Board of Directors to issue ad-
ditional shares, securities convertible into shares 
or securities granting the right to acquire shares 
in the company before the end of the expected 
time of the acquisition of shares, even if the right 
to take such decision is granted by the Charter).

Not in compliance These qualifications are not defined in the Char-
ter. At the same time, according to the Charter 
(Clause 10.9) “The General Director and mem-
bers of the Managing Board, in exercising their 
rights and responsibilities, shall act in the inter-
ests of the Company, and exercise their rights 
and responsibilities in respect of the Company 
faithfully and reasonably…”
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NOTEs 

��. The company’s Charter contains a requirement 
for the obligatory engagement of an indepen-
dent appraiser to determine the current market 
value of shares and potential changes in their 
market value as a result of takeover.

Not in compliance The Group’s shares are traded on the leading 
Russian stock exchanges: on the Moscow Inter-
bank Currency Exchange (MICEX) and the
Russian Trading System (RTS), and in the form
of ADRs over-the-counter in the United States, 
on the over-the-counter section of the London 
Stock Exchange and Berlin Stock Exchange, 
which determine their current market value.

��. The company’s Charter contains no exemption 
of the acquirer from the obligation to offer a buy-
out of the company’s ordinary shares (other se-
curities convertible into ordinary shares) to the 
shareholders upon takeover.

Not in compliance On 2� June 200�, the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders made the decision to exclude 
the provision from the Company’s Charter ex-
empting the acquirer (of �0% or more of the 
Company’s shares) from the obligation to of-
fer a buyout of the Company’s shares to other 
shareholders.

��. The Charter or By-laws of the company contain 
a requirement for the obligatory engagement 
of an independent appraiser to determine the 
proportion for the conversion of shares upon 
reorganization.

Not in compliance This requirement is not defined in the Charter or 
By-laws of the Company.

information disclosure

�8. There is an internal document approved by the 
Board of Directors determining policies and 
procedures used by the company for the dis-
closure of information (Regulation on Informa-
tion Policies).

In compliance Such regulation was approved by the Compa-
ny’s Board of Directors.

�9. The By-laws of the company contain a require-
ment for the disclosure of the purposes of a 
placement of shares, persons that intend to ac-
quire shares placed, including large stakes, and 
participation of company officials in the acquisi-
tion of the shares placed.

Not in compliance This requirement is not defined in the By-laws of 
the Company.

�0. The By-laws of the company contain a list of in-
formation, documents and materials that should 
be provided to shareholders for the decision on 
the issues put for the consideration of the Gen-
eral Meeting.

In compliance Charter, Clause �.�; Regulation on the General 
Meeting, Clause 9.

�1. The company has a web site and regularly disclos-
es information about the company on the web site.

In compliance Charter, Clause �.�

�2. The By-laws of the company contain a require-
ment to disclose information about any deal 
carried out by the company with persons who 
are senior executives of the company in accor-
dance with the Charter, and deals of the com-
pany with entities of which senior executives of 
the company directly or indirectly hold 20% or 
more of the share capital or upon which such 
persons may otherwise exercise significant in-
fluence.

Not in compliance This requirement is not defined in the By-laws of 
the Company.

In accordance with Clause 8.�.1 (Para. e) of the 
Regulation on Information Disclosure by Issuers 
of Emitted Securities, approved by the Resolu-
tion of FCSM of Russia No. 0�-�/пз-н dated 1� 
March 200�, the Company discloses informa-
tion on a deal carried out with interested parties 
if the price of the deal is equal to or exceeds �% 
of the carrying value of assets of the Company 
as per its financial statements for the last report-
ing date before the deal is approved by an au-
thorized body of the Company as stipulated by 
Russian law.
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N PROvisiON Of ThE cODE  
Of cORPORATE GOvERNANcE

iN cOmPLiANcE/ 
NOT iN cOmPLiANcE(2)

NOTEs 

��. The By-laws of the company contain a require-
ment to disclose information on all transactions 
that may affect the market value of
the company’s shares.

Not in compliance This requirement is not contained in the By-laws 
of the Company.
In accordance with the requirements of the Reg-
ulation on Information Disclosure by Issuers of 
Emission Securities approved by the Resolution 
of FCSM of Russia No. 0�-�/пз-н on 1� March 
200�, the Company discloses information that 
may affect the market value of the Company’s 
shares and information in the form of material 
events reports.
In addition, the Company discloses, on a regular 
basis, information on all significant transactions 
through dissemination of press-releases and 
posting information on the corporate Internet site.

��. There is an internal document approved by the 
Board of Directors on the use of significant in-
formation on the activity, shares and other se-
curities of the company and transactions with 
such shares and other securities, which is not 
publicly available and the disclosure of which 
may have material impact on the market value of 
shares and other securities of the company. 

In compliance The Regulation on Insider Information, ap-
proved by the Board of Directors on �0 Decem-
ber 200�, is in effect in the Company.

Control of financial and economic operations

��. There are internal control procedures over the 
financial and operational activities of the com-
pany approved by the Board of Directors.

In compliance Clause 1.�.� of the Regulation on internal control 
over financial and operating activities of OJSC 
MMC Norilsk Nickel approved by the Board of 
Directors of the Company on 1� July 200�.

��. There is a special division in the company en-
suring compliance with internal control proce-
dures (internal control service).

In compliance In accordance with Clause 2.2 of the Regulation 
on internal control over the Company’s financial 
and operational activity, control over the obser-
vance of procedures for internal control is car-
ried out by the Department for Internal Control.
The Company has a division ensuring compli-
ance with the internal control procedures – the 
Internal Control Department. This department 
does not fully comply with the requirements 
for the internal control service. However, it fully 
complies with listing requirements for the lead-
ing Russian stock exchanges (RTS, MICEX) 
based on the requirements of the Regulation 
on the Organization of Trade in the Securities 
Market approved by the Resolution of FCSM of 
Russia No. 0�-102/пз-н on 9 October 200�.

��. The By-laws of the company contain a require-
ment that the structure and members of the in-
ternal control service should be determined by 
the Board of Directors.

In compliance In accordance with Clauses 9.�.2�, 9.�.28, 9.�.29 
of the Charter, the confirmation of the Regulation 
of the Control and Auditing Service, the confirma-
tion of requirements for candidates to work in the 
Service and the appointment of the head of the 
Service falls under the authority of the Board of 
Directors.
The structure and composition of the Control 
and Auditing Service created in the Company is 
defined by the Regulation of the Department for 
Internal Control and the instructions of from the 
Department.
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N PROvisiON Of ThE cODE  
Of cORPORATE GOvERNANcE

iN cOmPLiANcE/ 
NOT iN cOmPLiANcE(2)

NOTEs 

�8. There are no persons in the internal control ser-
vice recognized as guilty of committing offenc-
es in the sphere of economic activity; against 
the government, against interests of the federal, 
regional and local government service; or that 
have been subjected to administrative penalties 
for offences in the sphere of entrepreneurial ac-
tivities or in the sphere of finance, taxes and lev-
ies and the securities market.

In compliance The recommendation is complied with. How-
ever, the By-laws of the Company contain no 
provisions that would require compliance with 
the limitations established by the recommenda-
tions from the staff of the Company’s Internal 
Control Department.

�9. There are no persons in the internal control ser-
vice who serve as members of the executive 
bodies of the company, as well as members, the 
General Director (manager), members of the 
management bodies or employees of any com-
petitor of the company.

In compliance This recommendation is complied with. How-
ever, the By-laws of the Company contain no 
provisions that would require compliance with 
the limitations established by the recommenda-
tions from the staff of the Company’s Internal 
Control Department.

�0. The By-laws of the company establish dates for 
the submission of documents and materials to 
the internal control service for the assessment 
of financial and operational transactions per-
formed, and liability of officials and employees 
of the company for failure to provide them in 
time.

Not in compliance This requirement is not defined in the By-laws of 
the Company.

�1. The By-laws of the company provide for the ob-
ligation of the internal control service to com-
municate any violations detected to the Audit 
Committee, and where there is no such com-
mittee to the Board of Directors.

In compliance In accordance with Clauses �.� and �.� of the 
Regulation on internal control over financial 
and operating activities of OJSC MMC Norilsk 
Nickel approved by the Board of Directors of the 
Company on July 1�, 200�, the Head of the In-
ternal Control Department shall inform the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors and the 
General Director of the identified breaches of 
internal control procedures.

�2. The company’s Charter contains a requirement 
on preliminary assessment of the practicality of 
transactions not envisaged in the company’s 
financial and operational plan (unusual transac-
tions) by the internal control service.

Not in compliance The Company’s Charter contains no such re-
quirement.

��. The By-laws of the company establish a proce-
dure for the agreement of any unusual transac-
tions with the Board of Directors.

Not in compliance Actually all unusual transactions are considered 
by the Company’s Board of Directors.

��. There is an internal document determining the 
procedure of audits of the financial and operat-
ing activities by the internal audit commission 
approved by the Board of Directors. 

In compliance Regulation on the internal audit commission, 
section � “Procedure of audits (inspections)”.

��. The Audit Committee performs an assessment 
of the auditor’s report before it is presented to 
the shareholders in the General Meeting.

In compliance Clause 2.�.1 (e) of the Regulation of the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors provides 
that it is within the competence of the Audit 
Committee to “review financial statements and 
results of audits, discuss them with external au-
ditors and management of the Company before 
they are presented to the Board of Directors of 
the Company”.
In accordance with Clause �.� of the Charter, 
“the review of the Auditor’s Report, prepared by 
the Audit Committee” constitutes “information 
(materials) to be made available to persons eli-
gible to participate in a Meeting in the course of 
preparation for the Meeting”.
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N PROvisiON Of ThE cODE  
Of cORPORATE GOvERNANcE

iN cOmPLiANcE/ 
NOT iN cOmPLiANcE(2)

NOTEs 

Dividends 

��. There is an internal document approved by the 
Board of Directors used as guidance by the 
Board of Directors in developing recommen-
dations on the size of dividends (Regulation on 
Dividend Polices).

In compliance The minutes of meeting of the Board of Direc-
tors No. ГМК/18-пр-сд dated June �, 2002.

��. The Regulation on Dividend Policies contains a 
procedure for the determination of the minimum 
share of the net profit of the company used for 
the payment of dividends, and conditions under 
which dividends are not paid or are not paid in 
full on preferred shares for which the size of divi-
dends is determined in the company’s Charter.

In compliance The minutes of meeting of the Board of Direc-
tors No. ГМК/18-пр-сд dated June �, 2002.
The recommendations regarding terms of divi-
dend payment on preferred stock are not ap-
plicable to the Company due to the absence of 
this class of shares.

�8. The publication of information on dividend 
policies of the company and any amendments 
thereto in a periodical stipulated in the compa-
ny’s charter for the publication of announce-
ments on General Meetings, and on the web 
site of the company on the Internet.

In compliance Information on dividend policies is provided in
annual reports, social reports, quarterly re-
ports, on the Company’s corporate web-site 
and in other media.

Notes:

(1) This report on compliance with the Corporate Governance Code 

was prepared in accordance with the Methodical recommendations 

approved by the Directive of the FCSM of Russia No. 0�-8�9/р 

dated �0 April 200�.

(2) For the purposes of this annual report, “in compliance”/“not in com-

pliance” answers in respect of a specific provision of the Corporate 

Governance Code should be interpreted as compliance/noncom-

pliance by the Company with the principal (material) part of the 

provision in accordance with the Company’s Charter or bylaws ef-

fective at the time of preparation of this annual report and/or based 

on the existing corporate governance practices at the Company. 

For the purposes of this annual report, “not applicable” in respect 

of a specific provision of the Corporate Governance Code should 

be understood as non-applicability of the recommendation to the 

Company due to the absence of the respective institute/procedure 

in the Company.
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APPENDix 2
iNfORmATiON ON mAjOR AND RELATED PARTy TRANsAcTiONs

DATE Of 
TRANsAcTiON

DEscRiPTiON  
Of TRANsAcTiON

Transactions with Open Joint Stock Company AKB ROSBANK (approved by the Company’s Board of Directors) 

2�.01.2008 Signing of Additional Agreement No.2 to Contract No.НН/11�-200� dated February 12, 200�.
2�.01.2008 Signing of Additional Agreement No.1 to Contract No. НН /�1�/-200� dated April 2�, 200�.
�1.0�.2008 Deposit in the amount of USD �00 million for a period of six months .
10.11.2008
28.11.2008

Signing of Additional Agreement to Contract for cash settlement service dated July 11, 199� .
Signing of Additional Agreement to Contract for the opening and maintaining of a current account in rubles 
No. 1����/01 dated December 21, 1998.
Signing of an Additional Agreement to the Contract for the opening and maintaining of a current foreign currency 
account No.1����/GBP/0� dated April 18, 1998.
Signing of an Additional Agreement to the Contract for the opening and maintaining of a current foreign currency 
account No.1����/EUR/02 dated February 20, 2002.
Signing of an Additional Agreement to the Contract for the opening and maintaining of a current foreign currency 
account No.1����/USD/01 dated December 21, 1998.

Other related party transactions (approved by the Board of Directors of the Company)

20.02.2008 
 
 

Transfer of sublease of non-residential premises by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel to OJSC RAO Norilsk Nickel until 
September �0, 2008.
Transfer of sublease of non-residential premises by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel to OJSC RAO Norilsk Nickel until 
December �0, 2008.

28.0�.2008 Provision by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel of investment in the charter capital of JSC RioNor-Geolograzvedka.
21.0�.2008 
 
 

Transaction between OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel and OJSC RAO Norilsk Nickel (signing of Additional Agreement 
No.1 to Loan Contract No. НН/80�-200� dated July 2�, 200�.
Transaction between OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel and OJSC RAO Norilsk Nickel (signing of Additional Agreement 
No.1 to Loan Contract No. НН//8�8-200� dated July 18, 200�.

28.0�.2008 
 
 

Completion of a transaction for liability insurance for members of the Board of Directors and Executive Manage-
ment of OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel and indemnification of losses caused by them.
Interested-party transactions by the Company with members of the Board of Directors (Agreements on confi-
dentiality).

22.08.2008 Interested-party transactions by the Company with independent members of the Board of Directors (on the pay-
ment of compensation and reimbursement of expenses).

0�.10.2008 
 
 
 

Provision by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel of expenses to OJSC RAO Norilsk Nickel connected with the distribu-
tion and publication of requirements for the repurchase of ordinary and privileged shares of OJSC RAO Norilsk 
Nickel.
Interested-party transactions by the Company with independent members of the Board of Directors (on the pay-
ment of compensation and reimbursement of expenses).

10.11.2008 Transaction by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel with OJSC Kola MMC for the transfer by OJSC Kola MMC to the own-
ership of OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel of ��0 (+/- 10%) tons of cobalt concentrate.

2�.12.2008 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Transaction by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel with OJSC Kola MMC for the transfer by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel for 
processing by OJSC Kola MMC of 1��,�99 tons of copper-nickel matte.
Transaction by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel with OJSC Kola MMC for the transfer by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel 
to the ownership of OJSC Kola MMC for subsequent processing and refinement of �20 tons of waste material 
containing precious metals.
Transaction by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel with OJSC Kola MMC for the provision to OJSC Kola MMC of a loan by 
OJC MMC Norilsk Nickel in the amount of RUB �,�00,000,000.
Transaction by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel with CJSC Taimyr Fuel Company for the transfer of non-residential 
premises by OJSC MMC Norilsk Nickel into lease by CJSC Taimyr Fuel Company.
Transaction by the Company with independent member of the Board of Directors Guy de Selliers (compensation 
for carrying out of the function of Chairman of the Committee for Independent Directors of the Board of Directors 
from January 1 to June �0, 2008).

In 2008, the Company did not approve any major transactions. 
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APPENDix 3
GLOssARy

Acid leaching Leaching using acids (acid solutions) as reagents.

ADR
American Depositary Receipt; a security representing the right of ownership in the deposited securi-
ties of a foreign company, certified by receipts issued by a US depositary bank.

Agglomerate Sintered ore produced in the process of agglomeration.
Agglomeration A method of formation of relatively large porous blocks (agglomerates) from fine ore or powder ore 

by sintering (roasting) of ore. In this process, easily fusible materials fix solid particles with each other 
while getting harder.

Anode Crude metal (nickel or copper) obtained from anode smelting and fed for electrolytic refining (elec-
trolysis) whereby it is dissolved.

Blasting operations Detonating explosives in natural rock formations for the purpose of controlled destruction and re-
moval or changing its structure and form.

Cake Solid residue from pulp filtering received as a result of leaching of ores, concentrates or intermediate 
metallurgical products as well as the purification of technological solutions.

Cathode Pure metal (nickel or copper) obtained as a result of electrolytic refining of anodes.
Concentrate A product resulting from ore enrichment, with a high grade of extracted mineral. The concentrate is 

named after the prevailing metal (copper, nickel, etc.).
Concentration Artificial improvement in the mineral grades in the rock for metallurgic purposes by removing a major 

portion of waste rock not containing any beneficial minerals.
Conversion Autogenous pyrrometallurgical process, where ferrous and other detrimental impurities are oxidized 

and removed as slam. The result of the conversion is blister copper (copper concentrate smelting) or 
high grade matte (copper and nickel concentrate smelting).

Cuprous ores Ores containing from 20% to �0% of sulfides. Mineralization is as follows: nickel – 0.2–2.�%, cop-
per – 1–1�%, platinum group metals – �–�0 g/t.

Deposit stripping Permanent mining that opens access to the entire mineral deposit from the surface or its part of it, and 
provides for the preparatory mining.

Dilution Contamination of a mineral resource with non-commercial grades and surrounding formations which 
leads to decreased content of a useful component in the mined material as compared to its original 
content. Dilution results in increased mining and transportation costs of the mineral resource, and de-
terioration of the technical and economic performance of concentrators. The level of dilution depends 
on the mode of occurrence, equipment used, development methods and mining work organization. 
For ore deposits with favorable geological conditions the dilution factor may be up to 10%, and goes 
up to ��-�0% for difficult occurrence positions.

Disseminated ores Ores containing from � to �0% of sulfides, from 0.2 to 1.�% of nickel, from 0.� to 2% of copper, from 
2 to 10 g/t of platinum group metals.

Drying Removal of moisture from concentrates, performed in designated drying furnaces (to a moisture level 
below 9%).

Electrolysis A series of electrochemical oxidations through reactions at electrodes in contact with an electrolyte 
by the passage of an electric current from an external source.

Extracted ore Natural minerals containing metals or their compounds in the economically valuable amounts and 
forms.

Filtration The process of reducing the moisture of the concentrates by moving liquids or gases through a po-
rous medium.

Flash smelter An autogenous smelter for processing of dry concentrates. Smelting occurs during the flow of crushed 
rock and gas oxidizer (air, oxygen) which suspends particles of melted metal. The heat generated by 
the oxidizing reaction is actively used in the process.

Floatation A process of concentration by selectively attaching air bubbles to mineral particles within pulp. Dry 
mineral particles do not attach well to the air bubbles and rise through the suspension to the top of the 
pulp, producing foam. The minerals that moisten well do not attach to the bubbles and remain in the 
pulp. In this way, the metals are separated.

Gas condensate Product produced from natural gas fields and representing a mixture of hydrocarbon liquids.
Heap leaching Leaching conducted at a specific artificial or natural site with impermeable ground through spraying 

piles (heaps) of ore with chemical solutions.
High-grade matte All workings located along a specific layer and designated for mining. 
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Horizon All workings located along a specific layer and designated for mining. 
Indicated mineral 
resources

Resources representing that part of mineral resources for which tonnage, densities, shape, physical 
characteristics, grade and mineral content can be estimated with a reasonable level of confidence. It 
is based on exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through appropriate techniques 
from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes. The locations are too wide-
ly or inappropriately spaced to confirm geological and/or grade continuity but are spaced closely 
enough for continuity to be assumed.

Inferred mineral 
resources

Resources representing that part of mineral resources for which tonnage, grade and mineral content 
can be estimated with a low level of confidence. It is inferred from geological evidence and assumed but 
not verified geological and/or grade continuity. It is based on information gathered through appropriate 
techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes which is limited or 
of uncertain quality and reliability.

Leaching Selective dissolution of any or a number of components of the processed solid material in organic 
solvents or water solutions of inorganic substances.

Matte Intermediate product in the form of alloy of ore sulfides and non-ferrous metals with varying chemical 
composition. Matte is the main product in which precious and auxiliary metals are accumulated.

Measured mineral 
resources

Resources representing that part of mineral resources for which tonnage, densities, shape, physi-
cal characteristics, grade and mineral content can be estimated with a high level of confidence. It is 
based on detailed and reliable exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through ap-
propriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes. The 
locations are spaced closely enough to confirm geological and/or grade continuity.

Metal extraction Ratio between the quantities of a component extracted from the original material to its quantity in the 
original material (as a percentage or fraction of an integer).

Metal grade The ratio between the amount of metal in the material and the total gross weight of the material, ex-
pressed as percentage or grams per ton (g/t).

Mine A mining location for extraction of ores.
Mineral deposit A mass of naturally occurring mineral material near to the surface or deeper underground, which is 

suitable for economic use in terms of quantity, quality and conditions.
Mineral resources A concentration or occurrence of material of intrinsic economic interest in or on the Earth’s crust in 

such form, quality and quantity that there are reasonable prospects for eventual economically viable 
extraction.

Mine workings The general term for parts of a mine or quarry that have been excavated during mining.
Open mining The process of extracting minerals by surface excavations in open mining.
Ore body Natural occurrence of ores linked to a certain structural and geologic element or a combination of 

such elements.
Ore mixture A mixture of materials in a certain proportion needed to achieve the required chemical composition in 

an end product. The metallurgical ore mixture may include ores, ore concentrates and agglomerates, 
return slag, dust from dust collecting units, metals (mostly in scrap).

Ore reserve The economically mineable part of a measured or indicated mineral resource. It includes diluting ma-
terials and allowances for losses, which may occur when the material is mined.

Oxide A compound of a chemical element with oxygen.
Probable ore 
reserves

The economically mineable part of an indicated, and in some circumstances, a measured mineral 
resource. It includes diluting materials and allowances for losses which may occur when the material 
is mined.

Proved ore reserves Ore reserves that represent the economically mineable part of a measured mineral resource. It in-
cludes diluting materials and allowances for losses which may occur when the material is mined.

Pulp A mixture of crushed minerals with water or a water solution.
Pyrometallurgical 
processes

Metallurgical processes performed at high temperatures. In accordance with the technological char-
acteristics, the following types of pyrometallurgical processes are distinguished: roasting, smelting 
and conversion.

Refinement The process of extracting high purity precious metals through their separation and removing impuri-
ties.

Rich ores High-sulfide grade (over �0%) ores. Mineralization is as follows: nickel – 2–�%, copper – 2–2�%, 
platinum group metals – �–100 g/t.

Roasting A process performed upon heating and keeping various materials (ores, concentrates and etc.) to 
eliminate light components and change the chemical composition of such material at temperatures 
enabling various chemical reactions between solid components of the processed material and gases 
and insufficient for the melting of solid components.

Shop area A part of (metallurgical) shop.
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Skip A device in the form of an automatically unloading case that is moved along the pulleys of a skip-wind-
ing machine, designed to transport minerals or rock along vertical and reclining shafts to elevate an 
ore mixture.

Slag Melted or solid substance with a varying composition covering the liquid product in the course of 
metallurgical processes (obtained from melting of ore mixture, processing of melted intermediate 
products and metal refining) and including waste rock, fluxing substances, fuel ash, sulfides and metal 
oxides, products of interaction between processed materials and lining of melting facilities.

Sludge Powder product containing precious metals precipitated during electrolysis of copper and other met-
als.

Smelting A pyrometallurgical process performed at temperatures enabling the complete melting of the pro-
cessed metal.

Suction system A mechanical device used to draw away (remove by force of suction) pollutant emissions and gases 
from workplaces and get samples of air or gas to test its contents and dust condition.

Sulfides A compound of metals and sulfur.
Tailing pit A complex of hydraulic structures used to receive and store mineral waste/tailings.
Tailings Waste materials left over after concentration operations containing primarily waste rock with a minor 

amount of precious metals.
Thickening The separation of liquid (water) from solid particles within the dispersion systems (pulp, suspension or 

colloid) based on natural precipitation of solid particles under gravity in waste basins, thickeners and 
centrifugally in cyclones.

Underground  
(sub-surface) mining

A set of stripping, preparatory and sloped excavation works on a natural resource.

Vanukov furnace An autogenous smelter for processing of concentrates. Smelting is performed in a bath of liquid slag 
and matte which is intensively rabbled by a mixture of air and oxygen. The heat generated by the oxi-
dizing reaction is actively used in the process.

Waste heat boiler 
(WHB)

A heat-retrieval unit used to produce steam without a furnace using the hot byproduct
gas from metallurgic operations, industrial furnaces, power generators or
combustion engines.

ABBREViATiONS AND ACRONYMS

ARM African Rainbow Minerals
AUD Australian dollar 
BWP Botswana pula 
Company Open Joint-Stock Company Mining and Metallurgical Company Norilsk Nickel 
CHOP Private Security Company
CRU Commodities Research Unit – a consultancy specializing in metal market research 
CUSIP Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures – Identification code assigned to securi-

ties issues in the US and Canada.
DMS Dense Media Separation – technology for concentration in difficult environments
ESPC Enriched Stored Pyrrhotite Concentrate
FCSM Federal Commission on Securities Markets
FFMS Federal Financial Markets Service
GFMS Gold Fields Mineral Services – a consultancy specializing in metal market research 
Group Open Joint-Stock Company Mining and Metallurgical Company Norilsk Nickel and its subsidiary 

companies
IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
IISI International Iron and Steel Institute
IOB International Order Book

London Stock Exchange market trading in the most liquid international securities
ISIN International Securities Identification Number A unique 12-digit alphanumerical code to identify a 

security assigned by national numbering agencies.
ISO International Standardization Organization
JORC Code Australasian code for the reporting of reserves of ores and metals developed by the Australasian 

Institute for Mining and Metallurgy, the Australian Institute of Geoscientists and Australasian Joint Ore 
Reserves Committee.

KZCM OJSC “Krasnoyarsky Zavod Cvetnykh Metallov” (Krasnoyarsk Non-Ferrous Metal Plant)
LionOre LionOre Mining International Ltd.
MICEX Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange
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Micon Micon International Co Limited.
MMC Mining and Metallurgical Company
MMC Norilsk Nickel Open Joint-Stock Company Mining and Metallurgical Company Norilsk Nickel
MSA Matte Separation Area
Norilsk Nickel Open Joint-Stock Company Mining and Metallurgical Company Norilsk Nickel and its subsidiary 

companies
OGK Wholesale Generating Company
OTC MARKET Over the Counter Market (US)
NOF Norilsk Enrichment Plant
PGM Platinum group metals in a complex or in any combination of platinum, palladium, rhodium, ruthenium, 

osmium and iridium
RAS Russian Accounting Standards
RTS Russian Trading System
SEC US Securities and Exchange Commission
SEDOL Stock Exchange Daily Official List

A � digit alphanumerical identification code assigned to all securities traded on the UK’s organized 
securities market.

SPC Stored Pyrrhotite Concentrate
TOF Talnakh Enrichment Plant
TGK Territorial Generating Company
WBMS World Bureau of Metal Statistics

APPENDix 4
mEAsUREmENT UNiTs cONvERsiON

Length Area Weight

1 kilometer 0,�21�  
miles 1 square meter 10,���9  

square feet 1 kilogram 2,20��  
ponds

1 meter �,2808  
feet

1 square  
kilometer

0,�8�1  
square miles 1 metric tonne 1 000  

kilograms

1 centimeter 0,�9��  
inches 1 hectare 2,��10  

acres
1 short ton 90�,18  

kilograms

1 troy ounce  �1,10��  
grams

Length Area Weight

1 mile 1.�09���  
kilometer 1 square feet 0.09290�0�  

square meter 1 pound 0.����92�  
kilogram

1 feet 0.�0�8  
meter 1 square miles 2.�89988  

square kilometer 1 gram  0.0�21�0��  
troy ounce

1 inch 2.��  
centimeter 1 acres 0.�0��8��  

hectare
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EvENT cALENDAR fOR 2009

jANUARy

APRiL

mAy

jUNE

jULy

OcTOBER

DEcEmBER

Beginning of the financial year
Preliminary results of the operational activities for the prior year

Preliminary results of the operational activities for the first quarter of the current year

Results of the audited consolidated IFRS financial statements for the prior year

Annual Report
Social Report
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

Preliminary results of the operational activities for the first half of the current year

Preliminary results of the operational activities for the first nine months of the current year
Results of the consolidated IFRS financial statements for the first half of the current year

End of the financial year
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cONTAcT iNfORmATiON
cORPORATE wEBsiTE
www.nornik.ru/en

iNvEsTOR RELATiONs DEPARTmENT

Alexey Ivanov
Director for Investor Relations

Sergey Belyakov
Deputy Head of Investor Relations

Address: 22 Voznesensky Pereulok,
Moscow, 12�99�, Russia
Tel.: +� (�9�) �8�-8�-20
Fax: +� (�9�) �9�-8�-1�
E-mail: ir@nornik.ru

REGisTRAR

CJSC National Registry
Company
FCSM License No. 10-000-1-002�2, dated � 
September 2002, valid indefinitely
www.nrcreg.ru

Central office:
Address: � Veresaeva St., Moscow, 121���, Russia
Tel.: +� (�9�) ��0-��-��, ��0-�9-18/20/29, ��0-�9-
�0/��
Fax: +� (�9�) ��0-��-��
E-mail: info@nrcreg.ru
Helpdesk operating hours: Monday-Thursday from 
10:00 to 1�:�0, Friday from 10:00 to 1�:00 (without 
breaks)

Norilsk Division
Address: 1� Leninsky Prospect
Norilsk, Krasnoyarsky Krai, Russia
����01
Tel.: +� (�919) �22-1�1
Fax: +� (�919) �2�-1��
Helpdesk operating hours: Monday-Thursday from 
10:00 to 1�:00, Friday from 10:00 to 1�:00, Lunch 
break from 1�:00 to 1�:00

shAREhOLDER AssisTANcE OfficEs

Norilsk
Natalia Plotnikova
Address: 1� Leninsky Prospekt, Norilsk,
Krasnoyarsky Kray,
����01 Russia
Tel.: +� (�919) �22-1�1
E-mail: nornrc.zaonrc@norcom.ru,
info@nrcreg.ru

Monchegorsk
Natalia Logvinova
Tatiana Gavrilova
Address: ��-2 Metallurgov Prospekt,
Monchegorsk, Murmansk Oblast,
18��00 Russia
Tel.: +� (81���) �28-01, �2�-1�
E-mail: info@nrcreg.ru, aaergardt@
mur.rosbank.ru

Zapolyarny
Elena Kulichkova
Address: 1-A Lenina Street, Zapolyarny,
Murmansk Oblast,
18���0, Russia
Tel.: +� (881�-��) �89-01, ��8-�0

Krasnoyarsk
Yulia Mnogogreshnova
Svetlana Rukosueva
Address: �-a, Prospect Mira
Krasnoyarsk, ��00�9, Russia
Tel.: +� (�912) 918-0��, ��0-���
E-mail: uvmn@krn.sibovk.ru

ADR DEPOsiTARy

The Bank of New York Mellon
Depositary Receipts Division
101 Barclay Street, 22nd Floor West,
New York, NY 1028�
Tel.: +1 (212) 81�-229�
Fax: +1 (212) ��1-�0�0/1/2
www.bnymellon.com

AUDiTORs

JSC Rosexpertiza
Address: � Tikhvinsky Pereulok,
Bld. � Moscow, 12�0�� Russia
Tel.: +� (�9�) �21-�8-8�
Fax: +� (�9�) 9�2-��-00
E-mail: rosexp@online.ru
www.rosexpertiza.ru

CJSC Deloitte & Touche CiS
Address: Mokhovaya Business
Center, �/� Vozdvizhenka Street,
Bld. 2, Moscow 12�009, Russia
Tel.: +� (�9�) �8�-0�-00
Fax: +� (�9�) �8�-0�-01
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OThER PUBLicATiONs

Social Report of MMC Norilsk Nickel:  
http://www.nornik.ru/en/investor/report/
Norilsk Nickel Magazine:  
http://www.nn.nornik.ru/
Corporate blog:  
http://community.livejournal.com/norilsk_metal/

If you wish to receive the printed versions of the MMC 
Norilsk Nickel publications above, please forward your 
request to the Investor Relations Department:

Address: 22 Voznesensky per.,  
Moscow, 12�99�, Russia
Tel.: +� �9� �8�-8�-20
E-mail: ir@nornik.ru

You can also order these publications from the 
Company’s web site: www.nornik.ru

•

•

•
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fEEDBAck

MMC Norilsk Nickel seeks to maximize its compliance with shareholder and investor requirements and 
wishes. Therefore the Company would appreciate your assistance in improving the quality of its annual 
reports and consolidated financial statements by taking the time to answer the questions below.

Please fax the completed form to +� �9� �9�-8�-1� or send it by mail to: Investor Relations Department, 
MMC Norilsk Nickel, 22 Voznesensky Pereulok, Moscow, 12�99�, Russia.

You can also complete this form on the Company’s web site: http://www.nornik.ru/investor/report/annual/

1. Please provide your assessment of the 2008 Annual Report of MMC Norilsk Nickel in terms of:

level of disclosure
convenience of finding information
content and structure
design and style
wording

(� – excellent, � – good, � – satisfactory, 2 – unsatisfactory)

2. Which part of the annual report was the most interesting for you?

�. What additional information would you like to see in the next annual report of MMC Norilsk Nickel?

�. Your comments:

�. Which category best describes you?

Shareholder/investor
Company employee
Analyst
State body/public organization representative
Journalist
Academic/student
Other

�. Would you like to receive MMC Norilsk Nickel annual reports in the future?
YES NO

If YES, please give us your contact details:

Thank You. We will take all of your thoughts into consideration.

�   �   �   2
�   �   �   2
�   �   �   2
�   �   �   2
�   �   �   2




